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ABSTRACT	

Keywords:	Yangmingshan,	Tamsuy,	sulfur,	VOC,	 	

	

The	purpose	of	the	research	is	to	establish	a	historical	collection	about	

Yangmingshan	and	surrounding	area	in	16th	and	17th	centuries	by	a	long-term	

perspective	of	social	and	economic	history,	for	construct	a	reliable	history	of	

Yangmingshan.	The	primary	source	of	this	research	is	based	on	VOC	archives.	The	

main	results	are	to	make	a	systematic	collation	of	produce	from	Yangmingshan	and	

surrounding	area,	and	provide	further	explanations	for	related	place	or	villages	

names,	and	nouns	of	measurement	units	at	that	time.	The	results	revealed	that	

sulfur	as	an	important	product	of	Yangmingshan,	had	a	significant	and	long-lasting	

effect	on	Yangmingshan's	historical	development.	Moreover,	the	redoubt	Anthonio	

in	Tamsuy,	as	an	administration	center	in	northern	Taiwan	during	that	period,	also	

had	an	inseparable	relationship	with	Yangmingshan's	history.	
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ȉ�ȇ	 	ǭȁȥʗ	

� ǭȁȥʗ	

	 	 	 	ˇчŝΐԘ՘ܒʝªܷ2࣐ï-2U\؁ɾŞʂϑ࠵ήɧōòvߕƸ1թࠢ՘ԃԶΜ࡚՘
ή֏ޘ؁.ZɑԃԶߍ޺࣐ՆƸŇ¢ќ�ōǫª՘Һ࣐�Νپӏ.yΰْ࣐yΰ՘פƱ,Ůǋ

.ӏپƸ1Yeߕήɧōòv࠵«Ýӝʹ̋S࣐Ƹ�ōѷҏƸ1חǧϩ.̢-êҥ࣐Ѳ.ɬ࠶

	.Ưؖ؟՘ƎКߥ
	 	 	 	Ϝޮٺ�ʘʕª�ª࣐ƷփֿΜѻXSը©ԸоكȡԾ՘3ޮ�ćϗŝ࣎Early	Modern4࣏
ĂϗМ˖࣐Ł2ïČ2í\؁đϗчŝ࣐�ϗåϓپӏ؛ч܈-۞ڮԡԀ-ήߩČҟđϗ݀ח

΂ж̖ԶԵ՘ĂϗƏ࣐࡯eζzʵܹ֜Ϗ؛Ӈŝ࠙ϗؔП՘Օɡ޾ߍ޺.˜ط߃ٿШ՘փֿΜ

ѻ࣐ϜиŝΔͽܗࡁՄɉśܷή2ï-2U\࠵؁ήɧƸ1Ʒϥwŝټ�࣐\Ծŝe`՘Ƹ

ѥЩԵٿը͊Jٿ͊ࠝٺ�Ϝ࣐ƷŝΔX࣐ŗǫ.׏S܋ԺтϗǓs`ֲś࣐Ш՘̋ϫ޾. 

バ͂b̸e1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ211࠙ٿȫϊ·2݊ܗܤՄ�ª࣐Ʒٍ݊࢕؛XࡃՂϑʫЩ࣐�

lҟИՆζٺʁ݈܋Z̋߂ށ՘࣐̎ܵࠈεϑзِ˹՘`݊ܨzϑZɑ.ϜиܗՄ՘էХeS

εΌԥŝΔ_ͩ…޿´ܷή�¬Ǳճ©Ը࣐΃ŝΔͭߚX�էđΤĄe`݊ō݊ڢŝΔӘb࣐

_ƷΌԥܖِ`ֱߍ¸сΤϑٍ݊`՘Ə࣐࡯©ϜиܗՄƷΌԥ࠵ٿήɧթࠢeаЃeǫ࣐z

ϑ̌ٺвܚ�ɎȡԾ-֜Ϗݠݚe˲ن.	
	 	 	 	ϜܗՄbپ۞ڮ�܉ӏаЃ`՘ǋ֗ŝΔ1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ޮ࣐ʕʂ؛ԺѥЩԵバ͂Ȩ̋
ëƪõ՘`ΐٍ݊.тǫڮ࣐۞ȡّ,Тŝ࣎Leonard	Blusséڮˇ�ח࣏۞ưȳаЃ̖ۙࢆŇ
ȋаЃٿΐԘߚ࣐͟ÿϑࠢڮѵζ�eپӏŇ¢ќݦΔ̋݊بܳڢ�࣐ƪõe The	Formosan	
encounter.b޾�܉ìߥŝΔӘǋ࣐֗JӢò�ΐԘ̎аЃ࣎Ȇ܈ԡԀŝΔ Spaniards	in	
Taiwan-Һױ-ΥܳΐԘ࣐࣏Όԥ_ϼɎӢŇΐԘ࣐Èÿ࠵ήɧōòޮߪvƱ՘јޗс֏eŝ
Δ࣐͐¬ϑ˲ƝܪʫП2ï-U\࠵؁ήɧvƱ՘.پߥӏчŝّωś࡙eΐԘ.	
	 	 	 	ϜܗՄʉϕߍ޺ȆX̖ܕ՘ŝΔΌԥōĂϨپݍܓ࣐ӏ.ߥe࠵ήɧթࠢƸ1࣐εkƷޮ
�ćϗ�ª࣐¯óϑư࠺˜Ͼࣔپӏ՘ƶƸࠜՕ؛ٿӇ`ˎՕɡ՘чֱ࣐εkȆ޿´ܑ˖̖ܷ

3Ժ:ْ.4ࣔ.پӏƷчŝX࣐ϫկȆ:پߥӏªܷӘ˃߆e1ْࣔ࠵ήɧթࠢƸ1eԶК

ՕɡŌεȆ¥ࣔ࠵ߍ޺ήɧōòࠧޮ՘ŝΔ࣐�fśթՆֱʝƫ̂-̎͐¬޾Μ࡚՘ćуܓ

	.ך

																																																								
1	 Ϝ�Sը©Ը1پӏǄΥܰ2e݊f࣐ԥԺεŇϊϊ࡯Ȇт࣐ŗSΜ࡚پ3࣐ӏ4ìș3ޗ࣐Ӫ۞

.΃�¶ԿŇϑ՘ϊf࣐Ƌт̖ۡ͐ō՘εΤĄÿӾž࣐ܝ4ΰΝܶߖ 	
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" ǭȁŎƩ�ʳǺ	

	 	 ϜܗՄݦΔΌԥeζࠝפƱ࣐Ә2U\࣐؁Ł 1622-1688ʕࠝԶԵ՘ŝΔ.�1Ӫ۞ߖǄ
Υܰ2ٿ The	Formosan	EncounterìǾϊױeŝΔӘb࣐_Όԥ-͟܈܉ԡԀŝΔ Spaniards	in	
TaiwanΝ/2U\࠵؁ήɧvߟчŝǱq܀�࣐0ܝá 1642ʕeđ࠵ήɧƸ1՘թ࣐ࠢࠄܝ
ࡁڿْص 17\؁ò࠵ٿ�ήɧթࠢŝΔ۲߆]࣐ʸΌ.	
	 	 	 	ϜܗՄ՘փֿΜѻ࣐ǋϜXεÓؘ՘ŝΔ࠮.ܖِٿࡁڿoࡁڿeǫ࣐ɉ1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥ
ܰ2`՘թٍࠢ݊߸Κ˚ِ-¸Ϳ࣐εϜܗՄ߸܉՘ɽ§eS.	
	 	 	 	ƷϜиփֿ࣐`ֱߍɉϜܗՄ՘ƸԥפՇȭƷٿ�Υ࠵ήɧưȳîƲթࠢeƸ1࣐΃ɉò
ࠪčƷҖўƸ1࣐lɕε̖݃՘؃љǄ-ҖўѲ҈Ǉ�.࣐ѷ࠵ڻήɧѷɧ՘ƸԥפƱ࣐Ōࡆ

ήɧƸ1࠵-ҖўٿƷڠӝ࣐࠮ͅߺɉգ`ࡁΔͽݦƷ࣐ߒߍƱפՄթࠢƸԥܗϜࡇƸ1Ƭ׳

թࠢζ࣐Zśߜç՘《ѸYɉͽ܋࣎.ࠄYࡢփֿפƱ1Ǉƴ࣏	
	 	 	ԺΝŝΔêȴߍĂ࣐ࡅࣃƷ۲߆Ăٿࡳͽࡁ՘࣐`ֱߍɉòĂӘ/ƸƴʸΌ0-/ŝΔʸ
Ό0-/2U\࠵؁ήɧvߟчŝǱq0ܝ./ƸƴʸΌ0ĐεΌԥ࠵ٿήɧōvߕƸ1թࠢeŕ

Ƹƴ /࣓ŝΔʸΌ0ĐεΌԥ࠵ٿήɧōvߕƸ1թࠢŝΔ࣐�ʕͅĆ_ِ݇-¸ܓܤٿܖ.

/2U\࠵؁ήɧvߟчŝǱq0ܝӘ©ɉϜиŝΔʸΌωΰo࣐ܓeШ�ʕͅĆ࣐_ɉ/ŝ

ΔʸΌ0`՘êȴĂࡼ׽ࡳ-y޿-ֈ֕-Ň¢ќ-ыќ-ĤГԃחïִ࣐_գ׬ߺƘ࣐͟܉

ò`ج…Ә DZӘ1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2࣐FE̹ The	Formosan	Encounte࣐STε Spaniards	in	Taiwan.
/2U\࠵؁ήɧvߟчŝǱqٿ0ܝ/ŝΔʸΌ0śթsɎӢ.	
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ȉ"ȇ	 	ǭȁǝ「	

ȉ�ȍ 	 	 �Ōĸɣ 	

	 	 	 	 Ѳ۞ǈょچ࢏חߡ2҄фr2tʕtϐϑ3しȞࠄϑvّܾ�1ήȿ࣐eđں`؁\16
ֈࢶΝҏҁߊ࣐ǱټࡺࡷɐԦԣԾ࣐Őўۻяّí࣐ޘܝ4ٮˆࢅ࣐�bʴ2ƪ\؁ɕʂϑǫ

�ªČپӏ.ߥょֈ.2Z3࣐ߍѲ۞ǈ4Ƹfڄߩ݀܋࣐ě1ΥϜS࣐2ࠕεƷ�ǸكǱɱԶ

ֈeۡ.3zϑȡّbʴß�ѧǱҚ՘1ɱǷˑՂ2࣐ԦԣߥĂε̹پӏ࣐�ȡԾ�Ϛȭܾ.Ӝ

ܾȆ¥2࣐ï\ں`؁e˃࣐ήϖȫΜΐԘʂή֏̹ÿ3࣐eȦ-ҏӂ-ࣂҫ-ҽҊ-ܦȦח

ۡȃ˅࣐ѕʕƪ-tϐࠝsؗΐʰ࢐࢏࣐Ӛֵ࣐ڌʾ֣ɀࠓޘ-.ң࣐́ࢢō׳ࡆݟ-Җў

ݞחև߾܁ʾʾّ࣐֨
++++

Þ࣐ưȫΜʂՕ۲ǉӢ`܋4ś࣐Âeȿ4޿ϑ࣐ef׾ݟӜ࣐Âݹҿ࣐

Җ-׳ࡆˇΨʂ࣐ž֡ߐӸӐۛŇΔ̑ח3ֈ֕4࣐`ΰ.òݥ-ࢢ́׳ࡆ-Һ�đªҖўܡ

ў֫ȸޟÿ.ْ[߆½࣐̌SуśծČ࣐ՆζΥϜ-`ưڷڽٿԀ-܈ԡԀ࠿ڌÉԿΝҖў՘

	.ࠄ؁
	 	 	 ٺ	 17\؁ 30ʕ�ࠜȋ1࣐Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2`࣒ޘܝӜܾε܈ԡԀ࣐̎�εߧ࣐�۞ڮˆ
ưƎž.1633ʕ`ݣҺ�ªょߍ޺ 3ϐ 22Υ࠙ڌ Claes	Janssenϳԕʎڻʘ,Մϑ܈ԡԀƎХ
e׳ࡆˇ܉࣐׷ࢳđʾࢍɘ̫e`ưڌ.࠿ڌX�Ƃֵ࣐ٝεΝIʕ࣐ƷӜ۲݇޿《ѸYࡇډ

֣ɻđʾ׳ࡆˇ࣐׳ࡆđʾࢍɘ̫.܈ԡԀșєХ֛՘ݞԃ࣐b܉՘ε׷ࢳ-ɐ࣐ࢲSvԱơ

Żòࡅ�ԃ.1633ʕ 7ϐ 29Υڮ࣐۞�Դټhѹɻ՘ҏٿߎʣࠚҤ࣐ͮ�ōhSȫژߩ࣎
Ǯ٪࠿ڌ۞ڮeζlʉϕ࣓ݬݣ۲޿ԺٺȦҏ-ѹɻ-࣏Chancheeu࣎Ѣ٪Ʒҏӂ-ҽɻ܉࣏ࣂ
ȦëƷࢽҋɹ-ʣࠚ-әɹ-ҍɹōò�Ûړ՘ÉѺۡÉ࡙.1654ʕ 8ϐ 13Υ࣐ܰ͐Čڮ۞
ϑSȭ՘Ƹ¤࣐`Ưؖ؟ӏ՘ƎКپߥ.Һ�Ʒ܋ӡ֎.śߌޘ׳ࡆʾҖўŻ҇܉ڌרԸࡂ�

 .	
	 	 	 	`ǫΐԘ`࣐ۡۡś܋ՆζҺ�ʂد࡭ƸʾªΝǋ࣏׳ࡆ࣎࠶-ҖўSʎ޾࣐vۻήϖȫ
ƂʹȴӘ3˕ǧȅƞʖƭÄ˻4՘�ќ࠮࣐o3įȄȀŏɃƹ4࣐Łپ:eǫ࣐εkϏȆƷΥ

ϜSШ3ːÉÌŏ�ô4࣐ś٪lʂƷ.ߥƸ1ʹ̋Һ�ٚڹ.	
	 	 	 	тǫ࣐	 1635ʕ�˃܈࣐ԡԀ�ƬŲȧ:ݎߥn࣐ݺޱҾӜοࡴōپӏ࣐ҾҠپӏ.ߥ՘
Ǝ�ʂࠜȋđ࣏:پ࣎ӏپѵY՘ؘ�۞ڮ࣐Җўͥñ.ϑ˲˚՘εˇټԴ࣐1638ʕ࣐ޓࢎ
ª۲߆yΰ.e˃࣐͊ύ܈ԡԀؘѵ՘ڮ۞�ʂúܡҺ�ɛ¢׳ࡆ-Җў࣐ˇqݥΰ-ުٔח

q.1655ʕ 6ϐ 28Υپ࣐ӏ݋ܧϏ՘Ϗ݋X҇܉ܾܚ࣐S࠿ڌڑđʾ٨ޘߌ_࣐׳ࡆД-ۜ
ϙ-̎ࠇ-߾òݞ�ԃ࣐�¯nʰ֣ɻ̎εֲ.՘ѰǆƎ�đªݥΰ࣐±©Ǝݥࢆΰ҆ĤωĜ

																																																								
2
� ɐںԹҙݥ߿߻1࣐ΰŝ�փֿ2࣎ϥ|࣒ѻ΂ǱȡÿӾɚࡢ࣐࣏1976࣐ ܤ࣐194 21. 	

3	 ࡢ࣐2ࠕ1ΥϜS࣐ěڄߩ 408. 	
4	 ࡢ࣐2łƪࡁ1΋Żǌ࣐ҏ֡Չ0޿Չ/࣐ߒțܡ 27. 	
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�࣐ߥ.Ʊ͌ʾפΰݥӏ՘پϥĿʝîşϑɉ۞ڮ֛ࡵ.ؖ҆ 1655ʕ˃.پӏՑՋ߃ʕ࣐ư
ȍӺª܇՘ÓܕZΛ࣐тq̋΄Ȇ¥࣐ϑˀ߆Sуö͉؋.	
	 	 	 	ϽズϜиΌԥŝΔ՘࣐̌`ֱߍ½ՕԢƷ.ߥ՘yΰƯޅ׵ֶ�࣐ֈ֕eyΰɔӘׂÿ.
тǫŘ̸܉ϑ࣐۲݇޿Ժپӏ.ߥÿS՘࠿ڌZƷɑΎߍ޺࣐oܓòÿSݞžϑĞΝɎ࠵ήɧ

ōòvߕƸ1ԃԶ٪߆Sуoܓ.тǫڮ࣐۞ϥĿʝîşɎ.ߥϩϙݦҨܪƴ۲͉߆ĥ࣐lݏ

̌½Ɏ2U\࠵ں`؁ήɧƸ1ōòࠧޮ՘Гԃֲ࣐ϑćуeԥ޲׬ڧ.ܓȆY࣒	
S-ֶ׵	
	 	 	 	Ɏ2U\پ.؁ӏ՘ǫªّªܷخࡼ׽࣐εוS�ӣ』՘q.Ն܈ԡԀ�ćて.پӏζ࣐
Ł©ߍ޺ԸфĚhŇ¢ќŐˆZɑֶ࣐׵�ZČSʕɕߊČࡼ׽Zށ՘Əټڌ҇܉ࡍ࣐࡯ϴǅ

Ɂ׵ݱ.Նζ.پӏŇ¢ќǱǬϑˇqࡳ�Ϊ§՘ު࣐ٔԶߺȆ¥࣐ΐԘէđ�ZȨÐ࣐�Ժ

ԢϑݦΔ`࣐śՕ܏Ň¢ќ՘ުٔթࠢ֡ː؛࣐ʏڮٿ۞�sĤζՕԵƏْ࣐߆.࡯ՆҖўٿ

۞ϑˇƣԫټԴ࣐ªߌƸחϴǅɁ-ـ�ōτ࣐ΥϜ-`ưˇ܉ࡍʾʾ࣐ζށZ׵ࡼՕԵ׳ࡆ

ͽْݱª.˃ّƷ2U\؁՘࣐`ࠄ؁ʏεҖў׳ࡆٿ՘܉߸ࡼ׽׽׵ԶƸ.Ժ1Υܰ2ޘܝ

ªծ࣐ȆƷڮٿ׳ࡆ۞�sĤد࡭՘࣎߷,߻Kimaurij࠮࣐�࣏Ͱࢢ́چ�ǫ࣐Ʒࡼ׽Zށ
ζ࣐lϏͰچʾ˃ɧƣԫ۞yΰֶ׵.	
	 	 	 	Նζ.پӏ՘ֶࢽ؛׵īִ§˃࣐�ʂϑSȭ՘ԵԶ޾�࣐ߺvֹ׵՘ԵԶ࣐ϑζlۻՆ
Җў՘YʌƎĦȫ،ࢎѢ܉݋Ѫ¯ࢆӏƎپ1648ʕ࣐Ƭт.׽ќԵSࡘӇ§ԃْ؛̋ Antony	
PlockhoyܠѻƦ֡�¥ֹԃߌۻʾ`ư.ԺΝۻֹ׵Ն̋yΰࡤէٺ࣐ʁȚ׽Zށζ࣐ˆhǫ
Ȇ».ݣݱ 1655ʕ࣐Җў׳ࡆٿՕԵ7.ګࡽϐ 24ΥƷپӏ݋ܧϏ՘ܡśY࣐ˇҺ�Ժ`ư
Čߌ׵v޾.Ň¢ќ׳ࡆ-՘Җў`ګࡽԸ�͖ĞсƷ࣐׵ۺoS3ݱͽ࣐`ԃݞӏ՘پªߌ

ҖўŻ࣐˃׳ࡆˁ○ɕۻŇ¢ќݣä.	
r-Ĥԃ	
	 	 	 	Ʒ 1631ʕ՘࣐ޘܝҖўϑˁǬՆƸɛќ̷ࢯ-ɧ࣎قrheeח࣏߹ԵĤԃ࣐�ōўϫƶԶ
ªyΰ.5ࢯ-ɧ࣎قrhee࣏Đε�՛Әyΰ࣐rheeࡃӝƷо҅޿ʏ̹3ɧ࣐4ف�Ʒw҅ؖ٭
1ϥӋ݈࣎ҟ�ΐԘ§3ҖўՃ֜ϑԘԒ՛ّ4.4قʏř3޿ò`Ŝ࣐ܳ4ࢰĐ̹3Ԓ4-3࣐`

Ղ2࣐࣏Ł̹ҖўŇ¢ќԸɧق՛ࢯ.؄ݜ-ɧ࣎قrhee࣏.тǫ࣐ɓś܋Ůԁ-ࢗ-ࢍȘ.6ҏ

ԶĐʏ܋ϑۮ-وࢢࢦ-Җٿڴҏ࣎ڴgroente࣏eۮ7ْ.ࡳѐlεՆζտӑ՘߸܉ªҨ.	

																																																								
5 ѥЩԵ݊1࣐Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1 õࡢ࣐ 49.  
6	 L. Blussé, N. Everts, The Formosan Encounter, Vol. 4, p. 153	
7 ѥЩԵ݊1࣐Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 112-124. 	
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	 	 	 ŜڅӏՔXޮ�ćϗ\Ծپ�ε࣐ކՄ`_Ϛɍ̜ČׁɧԻ՘ՏܗӝϜиࡃ࣐тeǫ࠮	
	Duyvel	den࣎࢟ࢡӏپeֵ࣐ʏȅǹࡘŌ࠘҃՘ׁɧԻ࣐IރªރƸ࠴о҅�ɎΝɱX࣐˃
van	Tajovan,	the	Devil	of	Formosa8ׁ.࣏ɧԻ࣐Ŝܳ޿ʏř lâ-lí࣐ΐԘXҺșΐࡀ-Ә3࣐4ࢥࢧ
Zռ¥΃ݸԗϏ…̋ʎϑ࣐ߥࢢȅÖlѮٟߍϑ�ׁ̠ɧԻř̋ lêng-lí.ΤӝϑׁɧԻ࣐ކގ
Ӣԥ̂ϏŏβƷƸfX.ÖɠϥޒǄࠧޮٺŕɕϑ3ࢥࢧҫ4࣓ �đϑƸfř3Ϙ࣐Ǳ٢ߥ`

؁\�2U̖࣐ǳǹԅo࢟ࢡӏپࣔ】ʾׁɧԻΜ࡚͌ٶεkǱ࣐Ň¢ќܳࡘڠ࣐4࣏lâ-si࣎٩
�ªɕϑо҅�̡Ե࢚̎ÈХϜ޷ƫо

ˆ²ư՘ʽ࣐ż.1717ʕࠕՔXƴߞ࣐҅
ǱʊI࣐۞ڮͽݱoS ࡘʏϑfڮ۞�

՘ͽۙž.ҟƘ`࣐ϑ3֣ӻ͡Ѱɱپӏ

࢟ࢡ Taoaansche	Duivel	van	’t	Eyland	
Formosa4࣏.	
	 	 	 	ԁ࠿՘࣐�ߥƷ࠵ήɧvߕƸ1࣐է
đś܋՘ݦΔ࣐֛ࡵΝ�Υࢱɧ࣎ࢿdorren	
hoeck࣏Ƹ1࣐Νڮ۞ζ�ϑࠜȋࢂԁْ࣐
֏1Υܰ2śȨëˇ࣐࠿ӏ՘ԁپéޟ

ȭ࣐ؕǱߥĂεԺӃҥߌª.	

ƴ	 2-1	ׁɧԻ࣎lâ-lí࣏	

	 	

	 	 	 	
	

	

	

	

	

	

ƴ	 	࣏ƴ޲�ңS͏۞ڮӻ͡Ѱ֣࣎࠿ζ�ԁ۞ڮ	2-2

	ࢆӏļԃپ׉ư࣒ΔªҨݦ 	

																																																								
8	 Campbell,	Formosa	under	the	Dutch,	p.	255,	541.	

	࣒ΔªҨݦ Albertus	Seba,	Locupletissimi	rerum	naturalium	thesauri	accurata	
descriptio.	Amstelaedami	:Apud	J.	Wetstenium,	&	Gul.	Smith,	&	Janssonio-
Waesbergios,	1734-1765.	
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W-ϩϙݦҨ	
	
	Șא.1
	 	 	 	 1642ʕڮ۞�ƷҖўʫؘ׉ѵ˃࣐¯ZΛ܉ѢҖўѲѷɬŇ¢ќאߌȘČҖўǏǡ.ˇ
ś�【ÖƷ½࣐̌ºʟ-¢ȣeԸ.Ƭт-ג״-ñӮ߂Ըªʫ܉Șεאv޾࣐ŝΔśռط˃

Җў؃љǄvƱ�ҳאɞ-אƱ՘λ̕߂א�.ݕɞZٓӐ࣐ŝΔXϑǬиߕő֟۫eӓ՘؁

΃࣐˜Ș§ӘʫϟlZóٓdא.ࠄ 1642-43ʕࠝԺ Thomas	Pedelʫ߂՘אɞ࣐ZČ2ʕŁ
○ٰӵä.	
	
	ײ.2
	 	 	 	ŝΔ`پ࣐ޘܝӏ.ߥÿԶ̎ÿSܡǬ࣐ײ˟˙ԶٺΝ࠵ήɧX࣐ӘтƸ1՘߸܉ԃԶ.
vƱϑ࣐Ǐǡ՘ζÀ߂ȆƷҖўʫ࣐޼lϑ§ӘƮȭԃž՘Ը࣐ơԃǫ߂܄¬�oÿS࠮ײْ

ϙϷ3࣐ǏǡvƱϑϙϷ࣐ϙϷεԸײЉؚ¢ۑϙϧ࣎dun	hout࠮4.9࣏тeǫ࣐ƸΜϏ̎݋Ø

ʮ̖©Ը՘Ǳ࣐�ײߺ˟˙lٿϜƸϑࠢײ�࣐�՘߂܄ƸZSȭƷҖў.	

	
ƴ	 	�ƴײ	2-3

Ԫǧ�Ññ࣒ΔªҨݦ Caspar	Schmalkalden̗سƴ	 	

																																																								
9	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1 õࡢ࣐ 49. 	 	
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3.ò�Гԃٿϙϟ	
	 	 	 	тиǓs`࣐̌½ϺсoSvϫЩ࣐ȆЬ-ЅٿЄЖeǫ࣐l̹ÿ࠵ήɧƸ1ϑړȅ՘ϙ
ϟ.10ڮ۞�Ʒ 1650ʕ�ϑˁֻЛ՘̢éܹϳ.ࡃӝˆϑ《Ǔ֛ࡵƳɧXܡ۝ۙǬś�ÈӘ
ЏУ՘ϙϟ࣐�ȿܹ࠺ϳ˃ńѮՕԢ�¥ގʻ.11Әo̜ɍʫܠԸ՘ϩϙ࣐Ȏ�o࠙࠷

Thomas	PedelƷ׳ࡆҖўSʎȿ۲͉ϳ࣐ò`lˆČo܈ԡԀݣݱϙϟ×ࠅ՘թࠢ《Ǔ.12Ͻ

ズ Pedel՘ܹϳؔϫ࣐Җўࠧޮ՘Аϩ܂ϑś�ÈӘЂϝŻʫϟ՘ϙ࣐࡬Ň¢ќlࡲ˲Ʒͼ�
ӝࡃ�Ɏт̸¶Կ՘〕ʝ.13۞ڮ�࣐ČҖўߌʒ˓ɉϙϟ࣐ў՘đ͐Yە Pedel՘ܹϳεȆ
тТܑ࣐�XʌƎĦȫ Pieter	ElsevierĐթɎ¶ȥծˀࡃ࣐ӝՕԢܡǬ՘ЧЩ࣐�_ѮծČ�
¥՘ں߼ЩٿЮЩْ࣐[äε޷ߌւY՘ϙϟɕϏεSࡈڔࡤ՘ɽ§.14ƬӘȆтپ࣐ӏƎࢆ

Ѫȭςζ͵ؼ�ϙ՘ܗՄ.15.	
	 	 	 ήɧƸ1ώ࠵ٿ.Ƹ՘АϩחY-ƳɧٲĥoҖўѲс˃Μ՘Ň߹-֕ɧ͉½�࣐`ֱߍ	
ϑࠢ՘࣐ӘҖўѲс˃ΜeŇ߹.Ͻズ Pedel՘Ǔs࣐ՆƸϑЧЩ-ЮЩ-greyneחЩִ.ْ
Elsevierlޘܝoֈ֕ɧٲYϑЧЩАϩܭ࣐ю͏޲Ɏo࠵ܓήɧɉϑSȭʒĞ.	
	 	 	 ݍܓ֏ѥЩԵバ͂Ѯ٪сٿ�Ϝ࣐Iߍ	 greyneε¥Щִ࣐�էđʂĈήεٿ pinus	
sylvestrisթ�eࡃ.ࡳӝִ޾ЩϙӘ.оȻʎƸ1՘Щִڮ�࣐۞��ө˥՘ܨʸ͏ٺ޲ʁࠨ
Ե՘Гԃ࣐zӘсʏeq.΃ greynê̹ϯִϦЩ.Ժт«࣐ZŘśܷήȡ۳˃ÿْ࣐׺ޢ
zś݇ήߍ޺чŝܳܕeپ࣐ݍܓӏ՘чŝԯǚŝߞϑˁǬ΃qś….	
	
ƪ-Ň¢ќ	
	 	 	 	ƷϜܗՄ՘Ճ֜`̓֜ێߍ޺ڠ࣐S۹ªծ࣐̂ɥΝҖўƸΜࡁϏ1eS.ҖўƸΜࡁϏ
1Ͻズ`ϠȜˑ՘Όԥ࣐,Ů׳ࡆ-ҖўѲ҈Ǉ-Κʛҫ҈Ǉ-ࣄɶƸ1-ҖўǏǡ�:࣎Җ

ўѲ�:࣏�ōƣԫ۞Ƹ1.կсɥΝϜܗՄ՘ŘϑҖўƸΜ�ōҖўѲ҈Ǉ�.࣐�Y׬Ć

	࣒fڹ՘Ϡࠄܝ1ϑܭ
	
Ϡڹf	 Һ݊f	 	ࡠ̶ܳڮ
Kirabaraba	 ƚƞĉ̢࣏.࣎	 	
Kimassauw	 	هљɑ-هɑࢴ Kimassouw	/	Kimassou	/	Kimassouw	/	

Kimassau	/	Malsaou	/	Masiaou	

																																																								
10 ѥЩԵ݊1࣐Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 637. 	
11 ѥЩԵ݊1࣐Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 3 õࡢ࣐ 290.L. Blussé, N. Everts, The Formosan Encounter, Vol. 3, 

pp. 506-507. 	
12 L. Blussé, N. Everts, The Formosan Encounter, Vol.4, pp. 29-33.  
13	 L. Blussé, N. Everts, The Formosan Encounter, Vol.4, pp. 63-64. 	
14	 L. Blussé, N. Everts, The Formosan Encounter, Vol.4, pp. 73-76. 	
15	 L. Blussé, N. Everts, The Formosan Encounter, Vol.4, pp. 97-98. 	
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Lisiouck	 	 ߷΢	 Litsoeck	/	Litsiongh	/	Litsock	/	Litsouck	/	
Litsvongh	/	Kiliessouw	

Kipatauw	 	 	 .̢	 Kijpatauw	/	Kijpatou	/	Kipatauw	/	
Kippatauw	/	Kipatou	/	Kipatouw	/	
Kijpatauw	/	Kijpatou	

Touckunan	 ǹԔࣄɶ֜-Ǳɦɧ֜	 Touckenan	/	Towquenan	/	Touckunan	
Kirragenan	 	 ǹ߷ɬ-Ɖ߷ɬ	 /Kieraanganon	/	Kerannanna	/	

Kernannananna	/	Quiranganan	
Pourompon	 ʄԤҀ-ǱҋҀ-Ǳࣂɭ	 Pourompom	/	Paronpon	/	Paronghpo	
Kimoitsie	 	 	 	 ǹф8-ǻʜٚ	 Kimoijtsie	/	Kimaltsiou	/	Kimoutsiou	/	

Kimoetsiouw	/	Kijmoutsiou	/	kinoitsie	/	
kimoijtsie	/	kimaltsion	/	kinouthie	/	
kieuwetchie	/	kimoitsie	

	 Cattayo	 イイ;	 Kataya	/	Cattaja	/	Kataijo	/	Kataijo	/	
Cattaye	/	Kaijtaijo	/	Catajou	/	Catuya	/	
Cattia	/	Kattia	

Kimalitsigowan	 	Sࠇ-Łp߷ࢴ /Malotsigauan	/	Kimalotsigauan	/	
Malessekou	/	Malotserouaen/	
Kimadaminadauw/	Madomadou	

Kipangas	 	 ɰ�ɮ	 Kipanas	/	Kipangas	/	Kypanas	/	Ratsecan	
Chinaer	 ϩȘ֜	 Sinack	/	Senaer	/	Chinas	/	Cenaer	/	

Chinar	/	Chinaer	/	Chettaer	/	Cginaar	/	
Senaer	/	Cenar	/	Caenaer	/	Cenor	/	
Cenner	/	Chinaen	/	Chinaar	

Kypabe	 ɐ֜׳ࡆ	 Kaggilach	/	Cackerlack	/	Cackerlac࣓Kipas	
/	Kypabe	/	Kibabbe	

Cackerkack	 ɐ֜׳ࡆ	 	
Toetona	 Ǳɦɧ֜	 	
Tappare	 Ѱí߷	 Tapare	/	Tappare	/	Taparri	/	Tapparij	
¨ه23࣓-1࣐࣏2001࣐ߨֶ࣒ث.Ŝ࣐࣎ӏŝփֿ2Yłپ�ζ۞ڮ1࣐ϠȜˑ`࣒ΔªҨݦ
	.2006࣐ߨֶ࣒ث.Ŝ࣐ŕƸƴِ߶2.پ1Ǳ࣐ࡠ 	
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ȉ"ȍ 	 	 ˜ŗê'ʭ 	

	 	 	 ԡԀթࠢ܈ٺ�۞ڮԡԀÓバǧ�ō܈Ͻズ࣐޿՘ªʾyࢺズ܉߸«ì޾Җўٿ׳ࡆٜؖ	
�ǧ̙ٟª՘࣐ࠄܝǋϜXٜؖ޾ì»ズࢺśݸ�ҏވ࠴ٿވìִ.ڠϽズ 1631ʕڮ۞аЃ
՘׳ࡆˇڠ࣐ޘܝČҖў࣐ѷڻѷɬԺҏXٜؖìƸ࣐Ǳݸ۲ࡍ؂ 111î߷16࣐�εѷ޼ϑҝ

ӎZΰވ࠴۲࣓17ډ՘؂ݸ۲࣐ܬ 222î߷̎࣎ 148î߷࣐18࣏ϑìִ࣐˄޼Sִεѷڻҏ

ɬ࣐Sִεݸê࣐࠴ズֵ޾ìִߧވ࠴εߔa۲ݸ՘ʔ࠹19.ވߎࡥʕ՘ Diego	Aduarte֠ӹ…
Y�۲ݸΝ׳ࡆ-Җўeࠝܗ�۲ٺ࣐Ǳ؂ϑ 110î߷20࣎	league࣐࣏đʾҖўε۲ݸҏ࣐ވ
�ҏݕZȅ࣐ƫֱĐͿ20.ވ࠴ݸ�ƷeS»аЃ`࣐�Ōֵ׳ࡆ-Җўì»ズࢺeࠝ؂࣐ϑ

165î߷30࣎	league࣏.	
	 	 	 	ɕ࠴Xy܈ࡘ࣐ؕܕْ޿ԡԀ-ڮ
۞�ªe˃しΚ۲ْ࣐ࠜࠣεƷՆƸɛ

ќʎࡪeY࣐࠙d�ª՘˸۲ވߎ.ɕ

Ö̌eđ̖ܷ3޿࣐ވʏεՃ̎ݸ�ÿ

ª՘.421޾εƬтߍ޺аЃ̖͏޲՘

޿Әɛќ՘ٜؖìƸ՘y܍ɉò࣐ވߎ

-׳ࡆČٜؖ͐܂޾ْ.ߍlZӘވߎ

Җўވ࠴ϑìִ࣐Ŝִܭε؛Ժ.ҏ

ɬ՘࣐ވߎŗSִĐεߍ޺Ѳ҈࣐Ȇ

Diego	Aduarte֠ӹ̖…࣐òƫֱ՘ζÀ
Ν܋�22eШlś࣐׳ࡆԺѲ҈ƫČ؛

ٗǧǋ¦֠ӹ࣎Fr.	J.	Esquivel࣏՘Ǔs
3ˇ9٘Ǭήƃ࣎Santo	Domingo࣏:Ǆ
քʾê؂࣐ݸ࠴ 	࣐࣏league࣎߷܈2-3

ƴ	 2-4	y֛إވ޿˲ƴ	

																																																								
16	 15 mijll	1࣐࣏mijllen࣎߷ڮ ε 	 7.407 î߷. 	
17	 ŗJِ 1654 ʕŕƸƴǓs`࣐Җўʾ׳ࡆ՘ҏ1܋.إވވǱŜ.΃Ƹƴ2ࡢ࣐ 241. 	
18	 30 §ŗSēϜ࣐߷ڮ 20 ߷ڮ ,	VOC	1103,	fol.	345.	
19	 VOC	1102,	fol.	553v,	VOC	1103	fol.	345.	J.	Borao,	Spainiards	in	Taiwan,	vol.	1,	p.	149࣓The	Formosan	

Encounter,	vol.1,	p.	194,	195;	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1 õࡢ࣐ 49࣓DZI,	p.	52.	
20	 J.	Borao,	Spainiards	in	Taiwan,	vol.	I,	p.	190,191.	
21	 Y޲ 1632 ʕٗǧǋ¦֠ӹ࣎Fr.	J.	Esquivellޘܝ࣏ε܈ԡԀǧñ½3ՕԢ4o޾Љ޾࣐ވε3ܵ

Ϗ4. J.	Borao,	Spainiards	in	Taiwan,	vol.	I,	p.	166,167	
22	 J.	Borao,	Spainiards	in	Taiwan,	vol.	I,	p.	190,191.	the	river	flanked	by	many	stony	banks.	Thus	we	had	to	

drag	our	vessel	across	the	waters	and	then	walk	for	about	a	league	more	through	dense	mountain	forest.	

	ǱŜ.ŕƸƴ࣒ΔªҨݦ
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Ѳ҈Ă̋ìͼ࣐ò`SЉfř Quimacon࣎Kimazón࣐࣏Ժтśߏ޿тɱ׳ࡆ̹࣎ɱ۔࣏٘̎ӻ
԰ǬǄ……࣐ŗSЉʾфũӏ࣎Pulauan423.……࣏Ƭт࣐ˇҖў׳ࡆߎ՘ܭ࣐̂إވވ࠴ε؛

Ժ࣎׳ࡆQuelanghsche࣏Ѳ24࣐Ł�Υ՘ǋ࠶Ѳ.	
	 	 	 ߍ޺�ś࣐إވވ࠴Љ޾޲՘X؎ܮωܓo܉ڠ	 1654ʕŕƸƴǓs`՘͏࣐޲ȆeX
Ѳ࣐إވѲ҈̎ɧɶìЉڻśѷߎ…Ն`ŌωҟИ޾࣐ݸ۲إވ՘࠴ČҖўśԺê׳ࡆԺ࣐޲

҈ŁX޲՘׳ࡆѲߍ؛íππࡍ࣐͹ӷ 1»ɐζߍݽтɧ࣐し٪۲.251664ډطصʕ࠙࠷
Pieter	Boon՘ΥܰΝ 5ϐ 2Υޘܝ.Ժ׳ࡆイڙ؂ڌo 9»ɐζªČ߷΢֜҈ࡥڻ26࣐͊Y࣐

Ǳڙ؂ 1-2ɐζŁČҖў.27lεeШ՘࣐إވɕ�Υْ࣐ܕɕεԺǋߍ؛࠶UǕ-tǕ-

ѣрѷڻǋ࠶Ѳ͊éҖўѲ.	
	 	 	 	Ł©Ȇт1644࣐ʕ 10ϐ 5Υ՘1Υܰ2`…3࣐ߎΨX͕̹࣐ȫؗߡv○ڎ՘bןŻࢎ
Ν�θéǭ࣐đʾҖў࣐ҫ҈Yªˇ	࣐ވȫࠞYɕ̟ޮ͕̹࣐˃՘Săź�e܉ࡍ̖ߏYޓ
�đてߏҖў.428޾юݦΔࡃӝφγ࣐ńؗSv֛࣐͐ŁҖў׳ࡆٿeࠝ՘࣐ވߎś٪ɓϑ

	.4ވ3ޮ
	 	 	 	
	
	

																																																								
23	 J.	Borao,	Spainiards	in	Taiwan,	vol.	I,	pp.	166-167	
24	 Ōֵǋ࣎ߑࢍKimaz(n࣏Ѳ-߷΢࣎Ritsouquie࣏Ѳ-ࢴɑ࣎هKimassouw࣏ҫ.1ǱŜ.΃Ƹƴ2ࡢ࣐

31-32. 	
25	 1ǱŜ.΃Ƹƴ2ࡢ࣐ 245-246. 	
26	 ϑࠢ߷΢֜࣎Lisiouck1܋࣐࣏ǱŜ.΃Ƹƴ2ࡢ࣐ 45-50. 	
27	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1 õࡢ࣐ 269. 	
28	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 364. 	
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ȉ�ȇ	 	˜ŗê°Ǯǰ	
Ψϗֈ֕yΰ	
	 	 	 	�ǲ՘࠵ήɧưȳîƲ࣐Ʒپӏޮ�ćϗчŝXɡ࣐ܒ࡬ࡓò,ŮƷ3׳ࡆ-Җў4՘פ
Ʊ.3׳ࡆ-Җў4§Әޮ�ćϗϥwވډ՘؛࣐۶܉ʏۻ§Әވ߼՘ХܰƸߥ.ٿ࣐Ň¢ќ

yΰ҆Ĥl̋ӘòƷчŝԿf՘ŇƬeS࣐ò`؛ʏޘܝۻ՘ɕεپӏ.ߥՠԶֈ֕16࣐\
؁ϛϗ̋ϊ՘˵̃1ݩƪǷʨ2ܝɕ׳ࡆ3ޘܝư-Җўư¹࣐ÿֈ࣐ࢶϣڂݟ�ֆ۸ϓ͓

e¹࣐ֈƶ֣ټޘʫҏӂ429ֲ.……ث˃ 17\؁ć̋ϊ՘1ϥ܈ҁِ2l͐Čپӏϑֈ֕.	 	
	 	 	 	Ʒ3đڮ۞ζ�4࣐Ł 16\؁ϛϗ࣐ҺۗΐԘʂ̹ÿ࠵ήɧƸ1ώڻf՘ԃԶӘֈ֕ߍ࣐
Iփֿl̹ÿҖў׳ࡆƸ1՘ݥΰԉѸ2Ă࣐҆ޏȆ1ϥ܈ҁِ2`¯͐ČҖў࣐�׳ࡆٿ�

》ε`ưƎ�yΰ�۸ϓyΰֈ֕՘¯ܝ̖`2ܝʀՅ.30ْ1ƪǷʨٿǫ�yΰ՘ԉѸٿ

ΐڮ܈՘թࠢࡁڿՄܗϜиߍ޺ś�sթx̂.�YɕߧޘܝΐԘڮ܈ª՘˃ٿv《Ѹ޾࣐ʹ

Ԙܾܚ۲߆.	
	
Җў׳ࡆɎǫݥΰ	
	 	 	 	 	Җў-׳ࡆƸۡϥwډҏإވߍ؛eS࣐ŌƬƸԶֈ࣐֕©òƷ3đڮ۞ζ�4ʂ܋ä
ΝҺױΐԘ࠮࣐oX1޲ϥ܈ҁِ2-1ƪǷʨ2ܝǫ1600࣐ʕđ˃՘ή�ȫƂӦήߊzϊ࣐
ϥՃ`3ɧe׳ࡆ-Җўώfّ݋࣐к̉ؼòࠝٿҏ`݀Ƿʆ.431˲ŁܺČҖў-ٿ�׳ࡆ

ǫưƎ�՘yΰ.ωή֏ޘܝĐś܋Ν 1631ʕªࢍٺɘ̫՘ߎήϏÓバǧ Jacinto	Esquivel࣐
Ν 1632ʕ̖…Yڻf՘֣ӻ͡ѰqĦթࠢࠄܝܭ࣐ࠄܝӘփֿپӏ.ޮߥ�ćϗe߸܉ϟΔ
eS.	
	 	 	 	Ն`ޘܝֈ֕ՠԶΝҖўѲ࣐ԅĉε.̢֜࣎Quipatao࣐࣏ŗǫS»֙٭εѰʄ߷
�ε˃ªՆƸ࣐࣏sangleys࣎3Եԥ�4ؗݬ_ՠԶֈ࣐֕ԡԀ�ªeđ܈Ѱʄ߷Ʒ	,࣏Taparri࣎
�Éрょ࣐֙ƬӘょ֙ϏʎªD32.ߌśռΨƷ 1620ʕ��đ̖࣐݃՘`ưƎ�ʂٿ؛Җў
SʎŇ¢ќ۲߆yΰٿ࣐ΐԘ`̖3ܝϣڂݟ�ֆ۸ϓ͓e¹࣐ֈƶ֣ټޘʫҏӂ4ثZْ݂

a.࠮ࠄܝܭoɓ͐Čyΰ《Ѹ-Ύٿߺ×Ͼߥ޾࣐�˃࡚öܺٿْ࣐ǫư�՘yΰ՘࣐ޘܝ

Đׂࡵo2ï\؁ϛČ2U\؁ć3đڮ۞ζ�4՘ϥwݥΰٿؖ؟Җў-׳ࡆɛ`՘Ƹ .	
	 	 	 	ƷÓバǧ Jacinto	Esquivel՘ޘܝśռټߎɑƷ 1630ʕ�εԺ`ưƎٿ�ҖўŇ¢ќ՘�
ԃΰԃyΰ.Ȇđ̖࣐޲`ưƎ�ƷҖў-׳ࡆyΰֈ֕ˇ 16\؁ϛ�ªōś࣐܋òپӏ.

																																																								
29	 7ή8˵̃1࣐ݩƪǷʨ2ܝY࣒.پ࣎`ǵƴϊࡢ࣐࣏1985࣐ࢆ 2	-22. 	
30	 7ή8ʴӱ1࣐ϥ܈ҁِ2ł ࡢ࣐5 �œϊ. �Ŀī�ģ¥ľ3RĈĜā0ęŁÁIޔ࠰《࣐17

ĝľ7õ���Łßĩ�ÕÑ<ĶľAĖÌ�~ľ:-¡�¹õ��ºľā~âħŀ2-Ð¥ľú

$|~ ;ľÚ¹~Qïľ�ýq�Ł¡ĤĢs©ľ$ēSnŀ�Úľļı�ýøŁ¥¿���ľ

ĞSĊÅM�ľĳİġĉÞĀ'ľ$ª���Ł½´
¦ľć�ĽĮ�Ĩ. 	
31	 7ή8Ӧή1ߊΐը۲ϊܫΐ2ΐߚł .ďϜࡐ�ѵ2UʕӦࡥҟ࣐13 	
32	 Spaniards	in	Taiwan,	Vol.	1,	p.	168	
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1641ʕ࣐`ࠄܝ۞ڮƬтƷ࣐Ƹ1՘Ň¢ќyʾԴdߥ 11ϐ 6đʾҖўÌϳ՘WesselinghƬ
ӘҖўŇ¢ќۻֈ֕`ưƎ�ӥĤْϚőČ9Ğ.33ْˇ˃ªڮ۞�՘͏࣐`޲Ʒ Jacinto	
Esquivelࠄܝ`՘`ưȫƂܭ࣐̂εª֣ٺɻ՘ȫƂ.34Նζ֣ɻپٿӏ.ߥ՘yΰªʾʂϑ

ˁǬփֿ࣐ƷтɕZ޲ݳ.	
	 	 	 	 Jacinto	Esquivel̖͊őČ՘࣐、ܘϑªٺŇ¢ќ-`ưƎ��ōΥϜ�.࠿ڌªډϑˇΥ
Ϝ-`ư࣐ΥϜ�̂εªyΰؙؙ̎ذž-ْ`ưĐεªyΰֈ࣐֕Ն`ϑ`ư՘¡࠸ȫƂٿ

SڊƎ�.࠮oƷҖўԕˆֈ࣐֕`ưֈ֕՘ԕˆªٺΥϜٿֈ࣐֕Ȇޘܝ 1631ʕ࣐`ưϑ
࣐ڑεѕʕӘoưԛIԦԣ՘ì࣐̎9ΥϜ:ֈ֕ƫªڻޘƫֱ࣐ݬIΥϜؙޘڌϧڇڑ80
ƫªڻޘֈ֕.35ٿ޾ҺױΐԘޘܝ《ѸʀZǬ֘�࣐Νb܂޾࣐࡯Ȍ[Zܺ.	
	 	 	 	Җў-3ٿ׳ࡆϥҁ4إډ`՘ࠢ°ȸăeǫ࣐ԺΝ 1626ʕ܈ԡԀ¤پࡪӏ.࣐˃ߥ`
ư-Җўࢍٿ׳ࡆɘ̫eࠝ՘إډlZࠝΛ.1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2`ώΨÿԢ3ֈ֕4՘ζࠝӘ

1633ʕ 3ϐ 23Υ.ڮ۞�ƬͽČÓٛ Hoetsee܉Ʒࢠң-rϩŻࢯң࣎Betgilem࣏ࠝĠ͇ڌ
ْ࣐࠿ 3ϐ 13ΥѪ࠙ڌ҇݋ Claes	Janssenđʾ΀ͮҏաْ࣐Ʒ 3ϐ 22Υ࠙ڌ Claes	JanssenƷ
࣐׳ࡆεIʕԺ֣ɻđʾ࠿ڌڑ޾࣐ƏܩΥ࠹؛36࣐ڌרԡԀ�՘܈ڑŚ߄rϩeࠝٿңࢠ

öˇ׳ࡆđʾࢍɘ̫ח࣐ˀȝ࣐ࡷöˇࢍɘ̫đʾ࣐׳ࡆƬтڌXޘϑ܈ԡԀԃžڌ࣐`ʎϑ

Ň¢ќɎǫy׳ࡆ-ՆӝҖў	3000Ζ.37࣏silfer	ongeraffineert࣎ÿ՘Ϛ͐Ӟֈƶߌ׳ࡆˇ̂
ΰʂεчŝXϑfߍ޺ْ࣐`ưϥ:ѷҏ࣐ԅĉε֣ʫɎΝֈ֕՘ࡍѢ࣐±©Җў-ݥˇ׳ࡆ

ΰؖ؟X࣐ʾ.ś͊Ԧԣ-ΥϜ࣐ʾ:ś͊ࢍɘ̫.	
	 	

																																																								
33	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 7. 	
34	 թࠢޘܝś1܋Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 31. 	
35	 Spaniards	in	Taiwan,	Vol.	1,	p.	172	
36	 ޮª̌bʴƫČчŝf࣐ܨɉߍIٍ§3̊å3-4ڌ`ưʮʈח4ڌ Junk eٍ݊ڌר�࣐Ő�e. 	
37	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1 õࡢ࣐ 84-85࣓DZI,	p.88.	 	
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ֈ֕ԶƸ	
	 	 	 	ϑࠢپӏֈ֕՘ԶƸ࣐ˇ 1644ʕS»ª࣎߷,߻ٺKimaurij࣏՘޿q Theodoreڮٿ۞�
՘Əࠄܝך`͐Č3ҖўÿԶ׵Żֈ֕…….438޾εʂռ՘qȿ࣐Ʒđ޲ Jacinto	Esquivell͐
Čֈ֕ՠԶΝҖўѲ࣐ԅĉε.̢֜࣎Quipataoߞ39ْ࣐࣏ϑS»֙٭εѰʄ߷࣎Taparri40࣐࣏ś

�ռߎƷپӏ.ߥҖўѲ҈ǇεԶ֕̎Ň¢ќょ֕՘ƸΜ࣐ըČ 1642ʕ 10ϐ 14Υڮ۞�ª
ČҖў41ϑoјޗή֏՘࣐ࠄ؁śج�ɐפƱ.ܭǓs̹ÿ`ư�՘ߡ3ˇڌרЉѲ4҈Y	

ª࣐ɓϑòڻޘ࠿ڌ�ֈ֕ÉƷѲ҈XҤ.42ڌרӘoޘֈ֕ԺѲɺ߆۲ډéܭْ࣐ֈ֕ԶƸ

	Ә޲ò͏࣐ȫƂϳծ۞ڮԺ؛ʞֈ֕ɧߡ࣐lεƷѲ՘ࠧޮ࣐Әֈ֕ɧֵۻ

� 30	�N�(BĥĂľ���""�ăăėėľ±t>�+ċ��Ø(��r�ľ��W

çXîo!ľ�Ď&pĺUêĻ)�Ĵľ�����J��éóŁgC�+zñgľ·Ę�ğ

ä)éóľñI¤�rľr����Ö��ĄlI6ľ
Ħ�+zñgľ�¡íĄçX�!Ł
43	
	

																																																								
38	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 274. 	
39	 1ǱŜ.ŕƸƴِ2ڮ࣐۞�§ Kipatauw. 	
40	 Spaniards	in	Taiwan,	Vol.	1,	p.	168.	
41	 ʨѼ̹՘εҖўѲ҈Ǉࡘْ࣐�Υԍن՘Җў. 	
42	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 36. 	
43	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 119. 	

ƴ	 3-1	֙ҫթࠢ ؼ˲֛ƴ࣎ɾ࣒ŕƸƴХۤōѲɺ ࣓ؼŞ࣒�ΥѲɺ ࣏ؼ	

�.ˎ`ºÜܘݦƸԥؾўĊ࣐ǱŜ.ŕƸƴ࣓Şƴ࣐ɾƴ࣒ΔªҨݦ$$!�������&"��� %�$&�����������������#��#!'	
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	 	 	 ࣐۲՘Ѳ҈ډ٪�lϑZ࣐۲ډ�εś؛ɧ՘ࠧޮϑѲ҈࣐՘ֈ֕ɧ̂ϑ̹ԅȭƸ1܂޾	
ӘҬѹ.2Ăހw՞ӝ՘εɎӢ 50ʕ˃ҟȫƂߢџѲ͉ϳ֙ƾވ˄lε2Ăթߢ44࣐�џѲ

ƷΝòイ࡯Ə࣐ѮϑՊƏܭ࣐̂ݑ4�ΥǬ6ܱӘεֈ֕־Ժê.9̢:֜ƥɏ̹ʰ՘3ֈ؛

h࣐࣏ڍڏ࣎ڼڲѷҫ߆˃՘ܭْ࣐إވҫεkӘҟ�ΐԘ`՘3֕ҫ43࣐֕ҫ43֕ٿɧ4

ŌӘ¥ࣔ	
	 	 	 	ΨƷ1ϥ܈ҁِ2ʂÿԢ3Ԯɧ4S3֕ٿ࣐̂45࣐ܨɧ4-3ֈ֕ɧ4eߧ࣐ƬӘֈ֕y

ΰƷ 17-18\؁§Әپӏ.ߥ՘ƸХeS3ْ࣐֕ҫ4՘ ࣐ؼĐԆҒČ1ǱŜ.ŕƸƴ
ו`2ِ וٿ࣏Kimassouw	van	Sprijt࣎ҫͼ҈هɑࢴ13ۤ 15ۤ֕ҫ࣎Swavel	spruijt࣏՘ِ
	.ܖ
	 	 	 	Ʒ1ǱŜ.ŕƸƴِ2Sϊ`ו࣐ וْ࣐ҫͼ҈§Ә�Υ՘֕ҫهɑࢴ13ۤ 15ۤ֕ҫ§
וȘƾҫ.ӝƷݢ 16ۤࠢҡ࣎Ruijgen	Hoeck࣏ΟʂܱۻӘεӘݢȘƾҫ՘ś٪˜ޗǱ࣐Ƭт
 Νו 14ۤƉ߷ɬ࣎Kirananna࣏Ο՘ו 15ۤ֕ҫڠӘݢȘƾҫƷ ؼXƏ࡯lˁǱ.ْו
34ۤ.̢֜Әǫ.̢࣐đΜ÷Ӡ՘ƸΜ̂ܭε�Υ.̢ֈْ࣐֕ݑòӜfɧ࣐࡬Ͻズđ޲
1Υܰ2̂ܭśֵeӘֈ֕ɧ.	
	 	 	 ו՘ε࡯ϑƏ࣐ؼ ƴ�ōɧĩ׿Ͻズ�Υўڠ	 15ۤ֕ҫ-ו  ҫͼ҈՘هɑࢴ13ۤ
՘ݑѷ.̢éֈ࣐֕Șƾҫݢթࠢ՘ҫ҈ϑࠢҡΟ՘ߎś�ռ࣐ƴ׿ΥϜǏƴČ�Υўˇ.ؼ

֕ңҫ࣐ƉƄɬɧ-֕ҫɧΟ҈؛տӿ-ǲєӘ֕ҫ.ڠƘɕڮ۞ŕƸƴ՘Ƹԥ ؼªծו࣐

15ۤ֕ҫ Νֈ֕ɧeŞْ࣐ê.̢֜ Νֈ֕ɧeɾٿ࣐�Υ2Ăթޮ࣐Ƭтו 15ۤ֕ҫ
̂Ә�Υ֕ҫוْ࣐ 	.aԥޗј࣐ҫࡄҫͼ҈Әǫهɑࢴ13ۤ
	 	 	 o͐Č.̢ֈ֕࠮ӏˑՂ2پɓϑȅʘۡ.1࣐o.̢eǫ࠮࣐Ƹ1՘ֈ֕ԶƸߥ.ӏپ	
ɧeǫ࣐Ʒ߻,߷zϑ֕46࣐־΃1mپ࠶ӏޠƴ2̖3֕سң4̂1ٿҖўʩˑ2ޘܝe࣐

Ә�Υ߻ɧ՘֕ҫ࣐΃؂3Җ.e࣐ۡח̢֜.-߷,߻ՙԶֈ֕.447࠮тeǫ࣐ɓϑùў

ׅ-Ǳ֕ɧחԶƸ.48_ΝäؤWʕöиܪょ.̢-Ѵƾ-ח߷,߻Ƹֈ֕.49Ʒ 19\؁e
1ƪǷʨ࣐ζ�4۞ڮƫČ̖݃՘3đ܉ɕ܂޾.εֈ֕՘ࠜょ1Ǉߧ`لƷΌ»Ǳɦɧ࣐˃

	4.……ࢶ¹ÿֈ࣐ư-Җўư׳ࡆČ3͐`2ܝ
	 	 	 	Ό» 16\؁ϛō 17\؁՘پӏ.ߥֈ֕Զ1ࡘ_࣐ŘϑҖў࣐Նζ׳ࡆlεϑߌÿֈ֕
՘ْ࣐ࠄ؁ 1642ʕڮ۞�ªČҖў-࣐˃׳ࡆlࠄܝoS ֣ɻȫƂªČҖў܉࣐Ѣ܉ƫʂ

																																																								
44	 ΐœ࣐2ߋҏ؁܃1࣐¥џߢ ࡢ࣐44 24-25	
45	 3Ԯɧ࣎ԦԮѝѕ§࣐Ӑäѷɧ࣏ࠗޑ-Ѱʄ߷-Ǳʒƾ-ǱƳ-ǒң.47ή8ʴӱ1࣐ϥ܈ҁِ2

ł ࡢ࣐5 .œϊޔ࠰《࣐16 	
46
ࡢ࣐ӏˑՂ2پ1࣐ 60. 	

47	 ࡢ࣐1Җўʩˑ2࣐ǊЀ࠱ 337. 	
48	 3ֈ֕ԶΝ߻,߷-ùўׅ-Ǳ֕ɧ-.̢4.ۡחǪԘپ1࣐ؠӏޠƴ2ΐœ ࡢ࣐45 38. 	
49	 ˑ2ΐœ޿ӏپ1࣐ßؐۓ-ޣʋۊ ࡢ࣐130 258. 	
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՘࣏Jago	St.࣎֜ݘWࡤ�мࡧ 10,000Ζֈƶ.50śռ࠮ođ޲Җў՘.̢Ƹ1eǫ࣐ŗǫƷࡆ

Ʒ࣐ҫSʎ.Ƭт֕޲lɕεđ࣐ɧSʎ߻՘ԶƸĐε�Υ׳ 1642ʕ 10ϐ 14Υ͕̹࣐ȫ
Lamotius҇�đʾϳծԶֈƸࢺϳծ˃࣐Ѫ݋ӘoîşĊ՝࣐̂ɉ3ǱߥĂ4՘ֈ֕ɧ
	51.ޡןĆéîş࣏zwavelberg࣎
	 	 	 	Ʒڮ۞аЃ`޲͏࣐ֈ֕ɧś�ε܅Ύ՘࣐ƷԶ1ZŘSۡ՘《ѸY࣐ըČ 19\؁ϛ࣐
ΥϜ�ώćɎپӏ՘ԶКܹϳࠄܝªծ࣐lś�x̂.lɕε�ҖўѲߟ޾՘�.̢חƸ՘ֈ

֕ɧ࣐�ō�Υ߻ɧƸ1՘Ѵ֙ƾٿǱ֙Ɵחֈ֕ɧ.52lɕεپ࣐ӏÓؘ՘ԶֈƸ1εӘ�

Υ࠵ήɧưȳîƲêǱɐÿԶֈ֕՘ɧ.	
ֈ֕ࠜょ《Ѹ	
	 	 	 Č࣐ߺӏֈ֕yΰ՘Զپ	 19\؁ʂϑՔܝƷõ࣐�εƷ 17\؁đϗ࣐Ř٪Ըࡋα՘ࠄ؁
�ō1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2�1.�͌ޘܝӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ʕ�-ޘܝ_ϚȨë࣐ϑζŘ࠿ڌޘܝ

ӝƷࡃ.ߺΎܝ�Ϛ࣐ۡ¥ټžݞ޷ߌ 1642ʕ�˃׳ࡆ۲޿࣐-Җў՘ڠ࣐࠿ڌӜîş۲޿
޿ϑ̸ࡍ࣐yΰֈ֕܉�Җў՘`ư-׳ࡆª݋1643ʕ_Ѫ࣐ϳすۻɼʭČɕϏۻSΦ࣐݇
࣐۲݇޿Ѹ[ϑ࣐ߺÿSΎޘܝ؎ܮǄΥܰ2_Ϛߖ۞53�ε1Ӫ࣐؄ֈ֕ÿSְش_࣐۲݇

΃࣐ÿˁǬݼSȭјԢϑΎズߺ΃ÿSΎ࣐Č`ư׳ࡆ-śը͊ˇҖў࣐��Sְ՘ߍ؄ش]

էđŘ٪ߍ޺аЃ`՘ΎߺչܓՆζyΰeӽʻ.	
	 	 	 	Ʒ 1642ʕđ࣐Ř٪ߍ޺đ޲ Jacinto	Esquivel࣐ࠄܝªծՆζ՘yΰ《Ѹ.ò̖͏޲՘Җ
ўŇ¢ќŘ͊ő�ԃΰԃyΰ࣐ԅĉε۸Δ54࣐Sǖ۸Δ؂ś͓ 200-250Ζ؂Ã 1.5-1.6	߷
ӻ.ْՆƸŇ¢ќƷԅȭζ࣐ࠝしϑࠜょֈ࣐֕ȆƷ 1632ʕ࣐ŘϑƷ 9-10-11-12ϐŇ¢
ќしϑょ֙_yΰ.55ϑࠢࠜょ՘Ύ࣐ߺ� 1631ʕӘ«࣐ªٺ`ư՘¡࠸ȫƂŁ3Եԥ�4࣐
o؂ݣ 100,000Ζ՘ֈ֕56ْ࣐Ň¢ќߞŗǫؗݬo܈ԡԀo࣐ƬтՆζ՘Զߺś٪ߍݼ

100,000Ζ.	
	 	 	 	Ʒڮ۞аЃ`࣐ώΨࠄܝČӘđ޲ 1633ʕ࠙ڌ Claes	Jansseńԕ՘ڌe`࣐Ϛ͐Ӟֈƶ
ε 3,000Ζ.öªɕε࣐Ʒڮ۞�՘ÞܡY1640࣐ʕ 8ϐ`ưƎ�íƃ࣎Peco࣏Ż Campe҇
WڌרڑIҖў10࣐ϐ`Đڻޘ 100,000ΖԵֈƶ࣎sulfur࣏ƫČŜ:࣐[ɉƷŜ:۲؅߆
ƫª՘ޘ.- 100,000Ζ`ϑ 20,000ΖεǱǖ[޺ή՘࣐òߧ�ε׷ϛܭ࣐̂ɉǱǖ՘ֈ֕؅

																																																								
50	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣐îşؗ׳ࡆČؗߌ֜ݘֈƶώ˃Wܭ.31 2

õࡢ࣐ 38. 	
51	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 36-37.1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 119࣓DZII,	p.121.	
52	 Ŝҧأոʜќ΂ɚыԷ1࣐ߥŜҧԷКܹϸ࣎2ࠉϥ|ʆ࣒Ŝҧأոʜќ΂ɚыԷ175࣐࣏1896࣐ߥ-

194. 	
53	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 188-201. 	
54	 eШyΰ《Ѹś܋Ν˃ªҟ�ΐԘ. 	
55	 ˃ª1پӏǫ2ܝĐֵ3׳ࡆֈ̖֕Զ࣐ώՠΝǪ֩ 	 ࡢ࣐2ܝӏǫپճ.41ٚ�ࡈ࣐΃tֹZԵ࣐

375-376. 	
56	 Spaniards	in	Taiwan,	Vol.	1,	pp.	168-172.	
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.§܄߁○٪しߏてݞܖˀ`ư՘חɉ࣐57ϜƸZǮ࣏oly	ofte	roet࣎՘Ѵ٫܉ࡍ�εò̖࣐-
58	eʕ 11ϐ 6Υō 12ϐ 27Υپˇ࣐ӏÿS՘ĂĉϑČʄ؞ߏw՘ڌר Uytrechtۤ`ϑ 200
Ζֈ࣓֕○ڎ De	Pauۤߌʾۜԅ̫࣎Suratte࣏ŻѽΙޘ࣐ϑߍ-؅՘ֈ֕ 32,475Ζ.59ڑ޾

De	Pau̖ۤޘ՘؅-˃ֈ֕ 32,475ΖεƷپӏh`ưݣ�՘ْ࣐eđíƃ࣎Peco࣏ˇҖўޘ
ČŜ:՘ߍ؛࣐o؂S»6ϐ࣐Z؅ߍ-o 17,000Ζ࣐Ն` 10,000ΖɉԺXʌƎĦȫ
Hartsinck޷Čϥ|࣐ĒY 2,000ΖĜXªٺΥϜ՘ 5,000Ζɉ޷ČϴǅɁ.60eǓs`ܭ࣐̂

εƷ 1640ʕʕʚđ࣐zϑڌרW׳ࡆˇڑ-Җў࣐ʎª՘ԵֈƶӘ 120,000̎ 130,000Ζ࣐
Ȇϫ؅-e˃ɉĒZČ 50,000Ζ࣐ĒYߧεƶǥ࣐Yиöˇپӏ޷ÿ.61	
	 	 	 	 1640ʕśמܗ՘پӏֈ֕Զܭ࣐̂ߺε`ưƎ�íƃ࣎Peco࣏Ż Campe̖ょ՘ 100,000
Ζ�ōŗǫ՘ 120,000-130,000Ζ࣐ð؂ܗ 230,000ΖԵֈƶڠ࣐Ȍ[ɉîşŗǫh`ưݣ�
՘؅-˃ֈ֕ 32,475Ζlמé࣐Եֈƶ̂ߍݼ 	Ζ.62ڸ30
	 	 	 	 1641Č 1643ʕć՘1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2аЃΊǶ࣐�YεϽズ1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2�ō1ʄ
1641ʕ.ܗΔÈS»ǱМ՘ؘݦá܀wǄΥܰ2՘؞ߏ 1ϐ 14-25ΥĂĉˇپӏÿՕڌ○࣐
Oostcappelۤō࣏fluytschip࣎ De	Meerman࣐ۤđّIϴǅɁޘ࣐ϑ 2,026Ζ؅-˃ֈ֕
࣓࣏solpher	geraffineerde࣎ ϑޘّ˃63 10,000Ζ՘žݮȅ՘ࠊ׺ֈ֕࣎solpher3,105-64࣏Ζۜ
̫ԅ՘׺Ӟևտ࣎salpeter65࣏ÿ؛܉ډԺϥ|đʾʄ؞ߏw.664ϐ`࣐ʘfεîşܱȭӘɊ
�ょֈSٞ՘íƃܼ࣐Ѣîş՘۵݌Yöʝ҇ìڌרڑđʾҖўyΰֈƶ.11ϐ`đ޲Ǝ�
íƃ-Samsjacqueٿ Sitsick67࣐Ժٿ�۞ڮ`ư�ؒ̋՘࠷ڌƷ࣐îşڌרҖўۤ՘۵݌Y࣐

																																																								
57
1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ٍ݊̋տ֎ϑ࣐ܵƷ1ʄǄΥܰ2`ˁήࡵ՘εѴ.1OLGEDǄΥܰ22ࡢ࣐

38	
58	 1OLGEDǄΥܰ22ࡢ࣐ 38࣓Dagregister	Batavia	anno	1640-1641,	p.	118.	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2z

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣐�тۡ�1ʄǄΥܰ2Әb࣐ࠄƘ̟׬ 1 õࡢ࣐ 474. 	
59	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1 õࡢ࣐ 474-477࣓DZI,	p.	501,	504.	
60	 1OLGEDǄΥܰ22ࡢ࣐ 108࣓Dagregister	Batavia	anno	1640-1641,	p.	176	
61	 1OLGEDǄΥܰ22ࡢ࣐ 109࣓Dagregister	Batavia	anno	1640-1641,	pp.	176-177.	
62	 ՆʕΥϜƎࢆhΥϜݣ՘ֈ֕ 5,000 Ζܭ࣐̂Ѯϑ߆Čپӏْ࣐ը͊đʾϥ|.1OLGEDǄΥ

ࡢ࣐22ܰ 73 1࣓ʔ̔IPQM;CƎࢆΥܰ24ࡢ࣐ 409. 	
63	 Ň݊Ч1ٱӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1 õࡢ࣐ 479࣓DZI,	p.	506.	 1OLGEDǄΥ܋ࠄܝw؞ߏČʄڌܭ

ࡢ࣐�2ܰ ���.�

64	 Ň݊Чٱ.Dagregister	Batavia	anno	1640-1641,	p.	248.	
65	 Ň݊ֈ֕. 	
66	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1 õࡢ࣐ 479࣓DZI,	p.	507.	 ࡢ࣐�1OLGEDǄΥܰ2܋ࠄܝw؞ߏČʄڌܭ

��	.ؔϫ 10,000 Ζ՘ࠊ׺ֈ֕�Čմʄ؞ߏw.�
67	 Peco,	Samsiacq	en	Jan	Soetecau,	���"���#$�"���$�%������ ���
����
���p.	57.	
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đIҖўょֈ.681642ʕ 1ϐ 7ΥƷپӏ࠙ȫ…ؗϥĿʝخո՘ϊ·`࣐ƷŜ:՘ֈ֕ʂ؍؛
ֻČ ټ200,000 250,000Ζ࣐�ƬӘعߧgЕȘѴ࣎klapper	olieْ࣏Ӝѻ͐Ӟ.69	lś�ܷƷ
đSʕֻ̖؍՘ょֈ̋ϫټɑӘ ټ200,000 250,000Ζ՘Եֈƶ.	
	 	 	 	 1642ʕ 9ϐڮ۞�ʂ͋؛čoҖў-࣐׳ࡆɉǱߥĂ՘ˎĚڙƷʫǏǡٿvߕĩĚ՘ʫ
Եֈƶ`ڌר�Řϑ͝ǿª՘`ưࠄܝՆζ՘ֈ࣐֕׉ 72,000Ζ࣐тǫ`ư֣ɻȫƂ܉ªW
Őƫeđ؂ȭ՘֜ݘ 10,000Ζֈ֕޾࣐ìזÿԶߧε׳ࡆ՘ԶֈƸ1.đʾҖў-׳ࡆ՘ょ
ֈڠ࣐࠿ڌѮϑ̸îş՘ߧ۲݇޿ϏۻîşすԿْ࣐ 1643ʕϑࠄܝ՘ょֈ࠿ڌӘ ÿS࣐ڑ36
؅-ֈ֕؂ 8,300Ζ࠮࣐o`ưƎ�íƃ࣎Peco࣏ÿڌS؅ڑ-ֈ֕ 5300Ζ࣐òߧ�εđʾ
`ư.eʕپӏ݋ϏѪ3࣒݋�˃Ʒٿ׳ࡆҖўߍ-؅࣐՘ֈ࣐֕ŁтƸώ؅՘ֈ֕شࡦˏ࣐

؄�Sְ.470ì»ϐ˃ŌѪ݋ѕ 10,000ΖԵֈ࣐֕؄ְ܉ҖўӘ 20߷ӻ-׳ࡆ 30߷ӻ.
711644ʕ࣐ˇҖўߌČŜ:؂ 15,600Ζ࣐ÿSԵֈƶ 600Ζْ࣐ϑ̷࠿ڌoܡś݇ɕը͊ˇ
Җў-׳ࡆƫČ`ư࣐ƬтѮϑΎࠄܝߺ.	
	 	 	 	 1645ʕ՘ょֈࠄܝεէđώȨΌ࣐ǱߥĂ߆ÿS՘ߧ࣐࠿ڌϑΎ1644࣐ࠄܝߺʕ 12ϐ
27Υپӏ࠙ȫľ࠶…ؗϥĿʝخո A.	van	Diemen՘ϊ·͐Č࣐ƬӘ`ưê̑՘ا΃࣐`ư�
ɎΝپӏݞԃ՘ࡍѢӘֈ֕Ż72࣐߾ʪطIʕ1945࣐ʕ՘ֈ֕ÿSՠѸ�Ʒ࣐ϽズؘܗÿS
188118.7Ζ࣐Ն`ϑࠄܝ՘؅-˃ֈ֕ 2,000Ζ࣐Եֈƶ 80,000Ζْ࣐ˇҖў-ߌ׳ࡆªŜ
:՘؂ϑ 861,000Ζ࣐Ն`ϑࠄܝ՘؅-˃ֈ֕ 20,000Ζ-Եֈƶ 223,000Ζ.	
	 	 	 	 1646ʕÿS 69953.2Ζ�ō ֈ֕˃-؅ࠄܝ73Ն`ϑ࣐࣏canassers࣎ׯ54 7616.8Ζ-Եֈ
ƶ 25458.4Ζߌߥ.࣐ª՘ŘϑS࣐ࠄܝڑª׳ࡆٺ 1,794Ζ.1647ʕŘϑޘܝ 1,000Ζ՘࣐
[ŘϑSڑªٺҖўޘϑ 30,000Ζ՘1648.ࠄ؁ʕÿS 50,000Ζ.1651ʕҖў-ߌ׳ࡆª
138,000Ζ1654࣐ʕ�ϑܡ̸࠿ڌś࣐݇đʾҖў࣐Őˆֈ֕e˃śը͊ƫ`ư࣐ò`؅ߌ܁
-˃ֈ֕ 30,000Ζ՘`ư؅࣐ڌר�-˃ֈ֕ѕ 10,000Ζͽְ 40߷ӻ.741655-1656ʕŘϑ
1665ʕ࣐ࠄܝֈߌ׳ࡆ-Ƙ`ư�đʾҖў׬ 9ϐپ࣐ӏ݋ϏӘoîşݬʾåـϋˆӻҏɬ
çͽְ.751657]࣐ֈƫČŜ:͐ӞߌđʾҖў࠿ڌư`ڑSߍ޺࣐՘ֈ࣏֕Choromandel࣎

																																																								
68	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 4-8.1OLGEDǄΥܰ22ࡢ࣐ 128-145.Dagregister	Batavia	

anno	1641-1642,	p.	111.	
69	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 12.1OLGEDǄΥܰ22ࡢ࣐ 204. 	
70	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 118.DZII,	p.	187.	tem	dat	men	een	ider	bij	placcate	aencundigen	sal	dat	

voortaen	van	de	swavel	die	in	Quelang	en	Tamsuy	thien	ten	hondert	suyver	suyveren,	swavel	van	de	

suyvere	swavel	alhier,	alsmede	van	alle	in	te	brengen	graenen,	'tzij	rijs,	tarruwe,	meel,	boon-	tjens	etc.	

thien	per	cento	betaelen	sullen.	
71	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 201.DZII,	p.	199.	 	 	
72	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 378 1࣓OLGEDǄΥܰ22ࡢ࣐ 328. 	
73	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 524࣓DZII,	p.490.	 	 	
74	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 3 õࡢ࣐ 361࣓DZIII,	p.375.	
75	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 3 õࡢ࣐ ןӏ࠙ȫ…ؗҖўbپ.551 Pieter	Elsevier ՘·܋ܮ࣐� VOC	1212	

fol.380.	
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ʕŘϑߌ׳ࡆª 100Ζ՘࣐ࠄ؁ώ˃ڮ۞�ƷӪ۞ߖǄ՘ώ˃ҟݛࢺԶ1661࣐ʕ 8ϐ 31Υº
ʟ܂՘Țݞ`ϑ 525Ζֈ֕.76	
	 	 	 	Ʒîşؘѵ˃ϗ࣐ϑࠢֈ֕՘ࠄ؁Ʒ1Υܰ2ʘfˁɑ࣐b܉ś٪ε̸࠿ڌo࣐˃۲݇޿
Ʒپӏ.شߥȨְ࣐ɕśը͊ÿʈđʾէ՘Ƹ.ټɑէđ̖ռ1645࣐ʕ�˃͐ߥ.࣐Ӟֈ֕
ʂś܉ڠ࣐܋đʾ`ư࣐Zö܉ࡍƫČŜ:͐Ӟ޾࣐ś٪εώb܉՘ŇƬeS.	
	ӏƶֈ֕پ 	
	 	 	 	Ǝ�íƃח� 1640ʕࠜȋđʾҖў-׳ࡆょֈߧ࣐εãɉֈƶߌƫŜ:ö࣐܄�ώθČ
o 1645ʕټ࣐ɑپӏ.ߥʂϑƸΜ۲؅߆-ֈƶ.ò«݇ɕε¥Α՘ӹ࣐܎Ǝ� Kimptingh
Ʒ࣐࣏ȭࣔ߻¥࣎ 1643ʕՆîş޿q࣐ò࠿ڌªʾΝ`ư-Җў-ʨ:ōپӏƎࢆe࣐ࠝ,Ů
ÃˆѾ˲՘ε࣐ÿֈ֕ߌߥ.ˇ 1645ʕ 8ϐ 30Υ	 KimptinghˇҖўߌª 700スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕
Ż 200ス͐Ӟߍ՘ֈ֕.77ś࣐܋ò˃ռf՘ҟϖȫƂƷ.̢Զ1ࠧޮ؅-ֈƶlZεSΥe

q.	
	 	 	 	ƷŜ:Μ࡚࣐Đε 1640ʕࠜȋ؅-ֈ֕ƶ࣐Նζʒîş؅-ֈƶ՘Ǝ�íƃݠݚ࣐�ח
ČҖўߌֈ˃࣐ƫČŜ:࣐-۲؅߆ɉIݮࡅ˃՘֕ֈy�îş.Sࠜȋîşε� 100Ζ 3߷
ӻ՘×Ͼ࣐�íƃhîş̦˝ϑƭ࣐˃ࡈѮǬdĐͿӘ 100Ζ 3.5߷ӻ.íƃ͐Čԕˆࡰ߻Z
܉78100Ζɕ࣏oly	ofte	roet࣎ư՘Ѵ٫`ٺƬӘ�̖©Ըª࣐ށ 8߷ӻ.79ϑࠢ؅-ƶֈ̖֕

Đε3࣐͆˃ƫ֣ʫޘ࣐ư-Җўư4՘ֈƶ׳ࡆ3ٺªܷ̖ݩ̃˵ƫ【Č½̌ݏ࣐՘Ѵ܉ࡍ

Sƾ࣐ĜԁѴÈ̋.480޾εΨΝ1ñ2ࠄ©ԸԁѴ؅-՘࣐ޘܝZߍò3͆Sƾ4՘Μʮª

ծܭ࣐̂ј˃ª՘Μʮ׬Ƙ.ɕէđ̖܋ҺۗΐԘ՘࣐ޘܝ`ư؅-ֈࢶϑĂ߳ۛōӐۛԸ࣐

߳ۛԸ՘ΜʮÿԢޗΨْ࣐ӐۛԸĐś܋Ν Ѵ-ԁѴࢴXśĂӘԸў-Ը࢚Ǳ࣐˃�؁\16
ّ̎εࢴ-ԁѴқԸ�ōԸ࣐ۛחڪZeΜʮ̖ˆ؅ʝZe.ټɑČo ՘-؅࣐ں`؁\17
ΜʮʀZǬ࣐©ԸԁѴ՘ӟӤѻӘbْ࣐Z�ޮ�֪ȡ̖©Ը՘࢈ۂѻ.81	�òȿ؅-̖ょ
Ő՘Μʮܭ࣐̂ε܍ò̋Ă̖ȭ.	
	 	 	 	Ʒپӏ՘ӞֈΜʮ࣐SȆđ3͆޲Sƾ࣐ĜԁѴÈ̋4.Ʒ ܝ̖ױĂҺߥǱ࣐ں`؁\17
ӏÿԶ՘ֈ֕ϑŝõֵeӘ3ƶֈپْ.ݮࡅ�òחƶ࠮öI࣐࢚εĜԁѴɉòӧ-Әғߧޘ

Żԁ٫ӟ࣐Υ`σm࣐րƶߟċŐɧ࣐࡬׳ࡆΜʮ3ϑɧf-ò؅޲6Å2͏ࡀhڪ1Ϝ࣐4ࢷ

																																																								
76	 1649-1652-1653-1658-1661 ʕ�՘ߥĂаЃߛǶ. 	
77	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 3 õࡢ࣐ ࣐453 	
78	 	 roet .ח٫ف-ԅĉεԁ࣐zӘĤԃѴ٫࣐o˲̹3ӕ4eǫ࠮ 	
79	 1OLGEDǄΥܰ22ࡢ࣐ 38-108-109࣓Dagregister	Batavia	anno	1640-1641,	pp.	118,	176.	
80	 7ή8˵̃1࣐ݩƪǷʨ2ܝY࣒.پ࣎`ǵƴϊࡢ࣐࣏1985࣐ࢆ 2	-22. 	
81	 Ęʨȭ࣐/`ưԸֈŝփֿ࣒ŕ�؅-ֈ֕ѻć͉01࣐`ư֪ȡŝܾ࣎2ࡁŜ.ʆپ࣒ǱÿӾ`ˎ࣐

ࡢ࣐࣏2002 377-390. 	
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փIրƶ࣐ҷÿҟѡ࣐me࣐Łƶֈࢷl.482	ܭƶֈ֕3éۛz¨4܉ڠ�࣐éۛĐߍ؛܉
ò�ֱʙIٻѝٿі˜.©ԸԁѴεƬӘ3�ԁѴeӀя֕ӯ˜࣐ZŁӫٖ.483̎�ԁѴ9

ĞI࣐ݮࡅ�ε3ڠѴeۙ�Νّ࣐֕SњϚҗĐ֕˜ؑZԏl.4΃Ҧڠϕ̖ܝeѻ࣐�ў

3ζζ܉ɽ�Đ࣐ɉò3Ѵƶթ۫4࣐ࠋџѲζzε�թՆǱ՘ߢټĞ�3Ѵǁìգ4.84ըޚ

࣐ӐÀ܍�ɽْ࣐ƷѴࡃۡࠎZōĐǜѴ.4΃ֵ3࣐ࠢĐҞƶߍ࣐ӌׂΟȽe࣐Őѡࠍࠓ�

�zϑˋжl.485ZܾεѴ̎εӟӤɽֱߍ࣐�`ώb܉ɕε3Zś©SњڻӐ࣐zZś©

SњѶ࣐486ࠋkĐɉϏՕԵӳӗ.	
	 	 	 	ƫ࡬ªծ1645࣐ʕ 7ϐپ˝̦�۞ڮ࣐ӏ۴࣏:پ࣎ƬӘ`ưɛќƷȳ՘đ࡚̎˃࡚̎
Ʒࠧޮ՘îðǔ̖۲؅߆۲߆-ֈƶ࣐lZεѮϑŇƬ.ˇՆʕ՘ֈƶԶߺªծ࣐͐Ӟ՘҆Ĥ

̂εȆӐȆگ՘࣐۲߆ԸԢƷ՘ղä�Նζ՘̞۳ծª࣐lε��ˎ࣐މٶ࢖S»Zɐˎ࣐ɕ

ś٪ʰݺq΃.îşlܱӘӟӤֈƶ©۴࢙ߎn࣐͐Ӟ՘ӠlϑȲÊʡ࣐ϏʰݺƇƓ-٦Ӕח

ՌՍ࣐΃ן۲߆č܉࣐Ѣɛќと࠮ɞȣđ˃ӴӒߎחó܉ڠ࣐ӟӞŘࠪȭƷݷɴ࣎Saccam࣏î
şࢍʢ࣎Ŝ:Ӛ࢟uࠧޮ࣏˃࡚՘ƸΜ.87	
	 	 	öّ࣐đ޲`ưƎ�íƃ̖ȭݱӟӞֈƶ̖܉©Ը՘Ѵ࣎roetࡃ࣐࣏ӝˁϑś٪εԁѴe
ǫ࣐�Ʒ 1641ʕʚ࣐ࠄܝƎ�½ƬӘعgӟӞ՘ЕȘѴ࣎klapperolie࣐࣏©Ʒپӏ՘ 200,000
Č 250,000Ζ՘ֈƶӜѻӟӞ.88­ӢҺױΐԘ՘࣐ޘܝZܾεԁѴ̎εࢴѴ࣐ֈƶٿѴ՘ј

«Ә 5ј ܉ࡍɑټ࣐Ƭт࣐1 40,000Č 50,000ΖѴªӟӞ̖࣐�Zܾε©ԸԁѴ̎εЕȘ
Ѵߧ࣐ε܉ࡍթՆ՘࣐ߺlÃˆ߆SуփֿِٿȽ.	
	 	

																																																								
82	 7ή8զe1࣐࡫Ϝڪh6ࡀÅ2ł 2łࠉ1ñݧѤ¥ٿΜʮܭ.ҟΐҚࠞƪʟëϊϜ࣐6 13-Ƞß

2łװ2rעҦÁ߻ѻ֠Э2łY-Ϟե1܈1- 4 թ�.¥Ѥ1ݧñ2ࠉł 133֕Ը࣐Եّ¨࣐

ãア֌Iրƶ࣐˃ԸԁѴӤ࣐֕ӐZśǳン࣐�ϙЍラࠋޢʚ࣐ծ֕Ү-ζ࣐Μࢴ�ʇ§Ӊʅ࣐Ӊ

Ʒظê࣐ĐѴҌɛΝX࣐֕ȼѭΝʚI࣐ѴԸ֕փ࣐؎ٟԸ.4 	
83	 Ƞß-܈1࣐ѻ֠Э2łYࡢ࣐ 12. 	
84	 Ҧڠϕ1࣐Ӑ΀̺2܉ł`ࡢ࣐ 3. 	
85	 ࡢ࣐2ߋҏ؁܃1࣐џѲߢ 24.Ŝ߿Ӿ 	
86	 Ƞß-܈1࣐ѻ֠Э2łYࡢ࣐ 12. 	
87	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 434࣓DZII,	p.	409.	 	 	
88	 ࠙ȫ P.Traudenius Ν 1642 ʕ 1 ϐ 7 Υ…ؗخո A.van	Diemen ՘ϊ· 	 A.vanDiemen ՘ϊ·.1Ӫ۞ߖ

ǄΥܰ2ו 2 õࡢ࣐ 12.1OLGEDǄΥܰ22ࡢ࣐ 201࣓Dagregister	Batavia	anno	1640-1641,	pp.	

111.	
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ȉ¨ȇ	 	ȝʃɄăʉ	

ȉ�ȍ 	 	 ȝʃ 	

	 	 	 	ϜиܗՄ՘ώćէХeS࣐ŁӘΌԥŝΔ_ͩ…޿´ܷή�¬Ǳճ©Ը࣐΃ŝΔͭߚX�
էđΤĄe`݊ō݊ڢŝΔӘbߍ޿.ܤ۲݊_࣐ϜиܗՄ࣐Ϝ�ɉߥĂթࠢe݊fö۲ِ݇

۷ȿԃߺɉԃԶ̎ʝ࣐ܖ¸՘ِ݇ߍ޺ʉϕ܉b࣐۷Μ࡚ߺԅĉεϑࠢΝԃԶ-ʝ࣐ܖ¸_

--ś【Ö-ߏ�࣐ČǱճ̎փֿّ࣐śߍ޺�ɎԃԶ՘չ۹࣐ܓԢՆζ࠵ήɧvߕƸ1՘ζ

�˜-\Ծ˜ؔٿП˜.	
	 	 	 	ϜܗՄ՘փֿƸԥפՇӘ�Υ࠵ήɧưȳîƲթࠢeƸ1ٿ࣐òώթࠢ՘ɕεҖўƸ1࣐
óܕْ࢚Đε؃љǄ-ҖўѲ҈Ǉ�.࣐�ōѷ࠵ڻήɧѷɧ՘ƸԥפƱ.΃ϜܗՄࡁڿo

1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2_イ߬ Spaniards	in	Taiwan-The	Formosan	EncounterìǾ ӏթࠢپ؁\17
՘ŝΔࠄ؁.тǫ࣐l܀áࡁڿo3đڮ۞ζ�4ߩ3ٿћζ�4թࠢ՘`-ǫΐŝΔ3࣐đ

Υٿ۞ڮoࡁڿћζ�4Đߩ3ْ࣐ԀÓバǧթࠢŝΔڷڽ-ԡԀ܈ŝΔōױζ�4ϑҺ۞ڮ

ϜɎߩћζ�ɎҖўƸ1՘ŝΔ࣐ޘܝ©ϜܗՄࡁڿ 1622-1688ʕթࠢŝΔߏČáѱ.	
	 	 	ƷϜܗՄ`࣐Ϝ�ōòƵܖ¸࠷՘̋ϫ࣐ƷԃԶΜ࡚͐ÿ rheêӘɧ࣓قgreynê̹ϯִ
ϦЩ࣓orangappelen࣎oranjeappel̹࣏ϰ-Ьe࣓ࡳLimoen࣐Đ̹Ѕ-Ўe࣓߰ࡳϫЩڝ
�đ࣐roet࣓ڴӘҏ࣏groente࣎ڴی࣓ࢸɥ࣏̂mijlie࣎׵Ԛ࣓ڝӘЄЩЩ࣏besieboomtjenࣈ
ٍ̋3Ӡӡ4̹࣐࣐̂ܵԁѴ̎ĤԃѴࡳ٫.тǫ࣐ɎΝʝ۷ߺlգܓܤߺȆ¥͓࣎3מŜ࣏

Ζ4-3îɗ43ٿî߷4࣐͐¬©ԸّϚª۲߆Sуؘܗ-փֿԸ.܂޾ɎΝĤГԃ՘¸࣐ܖ

Ʒ׊࣐Δݦթࠢߍ޺࣐ʝܒε�чŝȡ՘ْ࣐ ȭ֏׺࣐ࢺƷSִĤԃȡ-Гԃȡ՘ܑ׊ࡘ_

Նζ՘ζ׀-ԯǚ̹ÿ_¸Ϳْ࣐͐¬թࠢĤԃȡ-Гԃȡ̎ļԃȡחȡّSִś٪˜࣐ś߆

Sуփֿپӏ՘ĤГԃ.	
	 	 	 	ƷݦΔࡁڿ՘ࡃ࣐`ֱߍӝը̹͊ÿ࠵ήɧưȳîƲթࠢ՘˟˙Řϑֈ֕חԃԶ࣐ֈ֕ń
lε࠙ϗ�ªپ࣐ӏ.ߥթՆ߸܉՘ԃԶߍ޺࣐ֈ֕՘ݥΰپ©±࣐ӏ.ߥƷ3đڮ۞ζ�4

ɕÿԢƷчŝڅŜ࣐Čoҟ�-ΥѵlεS܉߸ࡤԃԶ࣐ȆeϜ؛�ʏʵܹ՘3чŝ՘ؔП

ڻѷ࣐тǫ.ݕ՘чŝλހɉϏˆČթՆ՘ϑ࣐ドƷ࠙ϗؔПªծ࣐ԃԶࡤ޾ɉֈ֕ڠ࣐4˜

ή࠵ɉߧ࣐Ե҆Ĥ؞-ȆŇ¢ќ՘ΥʏԵ࣐҆ȺݔĤlεթՆ҆ٿԃԶ࣐ήɧưȳîƲvƱ࠵

ɧưȳîƲٿòvߕƸ1ؔa࣐̋ӘSǖȸZśĂ՘Ƹ1.Ȇ࠵ήɧԶ࣐ײ΃پӏ.ߥÿSթ

ՆΎߺ՘ײ࣐ײl̂ԸƷΥʏԵ࣐҆�εώÃˆѾէĐε3࣐�4ײƷҖўƸΜࡁϏ࣐ɕεƷ

ƷҖў؃љǄْ࣐©Ը՘̋�ײӘØʮࠢ°՘߸࣐ˌݕ܉˲ǫƸ࣐ɉҖў؃љǄ࠵ٿήɧࠝ͊

՘ݺ͊߃ª.Ƭт࣐Җў؃љǄ࠵ٿήɧưȳîƲƷчŝXϑSִȸZśĂ՘ࠢ°ڠ࣐ɉª߆

Sуa§-ؘΌ࣐̂śߏČݶࡄ՘ɚ࡚.	
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˘ˌ�	 	ʭBŋȇ	

	ήɧ՘Ψϗчŝ࠵ 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	ʈ߇ϩ+ࡠ¨ه

	
S-࠵ήɧڪ࣎ɧ࣏¥ζÿԢƷΐԘX	
	
ڗSӽ࣐Ƣϑֈ֕Ӡѝeǫ࠮܂޾܋�Һپª࣐˃�؁\ε2ïܡl࣐ɧڪŇf࣐ήɧ࠵

ʁ՘ֵٺϏϑ࣐vɧ޾Ɏ࣐ήɧvƱ՘Ň¢ќ࠵Ʒ¢࣐ɧ.Նӝڪֵ˸يƬт࣐ɧلΝۅ܊ڪ

x.ś》࣐ΐԘZ࣐ށէđ̌½ռČˁɑ࣐ò`࣐`ΐΐԘޘܝ՘3ǹԔࣄɶ Ki-tok-ku-lûn4࣐
ΐԘ՘ܳڮٿ Touckinanܡ࣐̎ε࠵ήɧߥĂƸࢺefن˲�࣐Zܮ.	

	
lХ࣐թՆϑf࣐ϥwчŝX࣏؁\2ïČ2í࣎Ʒޮ�ćϗ࣐Զֈ֕ޮࠧٿήɧ࠵ߥ.

Ʒ3Җ̲,ۻήɧ࠵࣐˃�؁\2ï࣐ܷܬŜ.͓Ŗڅҏζ�՘ډӏϜɱʂǌǌՔXǱپڻܰ

ў࣎Tamsui41࣏Ǉ`࣐ʂϑśŏ݇܊ή՘ݦΔÿԢƷ`ǫΐԘ܂.Җў࣐SΜ࡚࣐§ӘҏX
ϥw࣐˃�؁\ԺΝ2ï࣐eS.�ŗSΜ࡚ࢺƸ֨ݸεّ࣐̎Ѩў࣐׊޼`՘yΰل�࠿ڌ

࣐̋фơωʨѼ©ԸРօ.ӐۛŇΔeS՘ֈ࣐֕ên-̑Ӹٹưê࡚࣐ư`ٿȆΥϜ࣐؁\

ӘʆǔXǹݞśɛeƎž.Զֈ՘࠵ήɧ࣐ΝεޏX\Ծчŝ.̖ץ޾࣐�ΐ࣐׌b܉ε�ֈ

֕ª݅࠵ήɧ՘Ψϗ΃q.	

	
�đ՘փֿّ࣐όϽズ2ƪ\؁ß��ѧǱҚ՘1ɱǷܰՂ2ϑԦԣ3ƸԶѰݓࢶ-߻-

۞Ѳچ࢏חߡϑ3しȞ࣐ʕ࣏1392࣎фr2t҄ޘܝ2ࠄ�ōήϖ1՚ήȿ࣐4ࢶȘ-Ԧࢸ
ǈ࣐ょֈ֕Νҏҁ.ߊǱټࡺ࣐ࡷɐԦԣԾ4ܱ࣐Ә.پߥӏ՘ֈ֕ʂӘǫԾ̖ռ.޾�Z

Ɏ࣐ԛǱҚ̖͏޲՘Ԧԣ࣐Ȇ�փֿّǱܱ࢚Әε̹ԢƷ՘ѯټ.زΝ1՚ήȿ2ࠄX՘3Ѳ

۞ǈ-ɐԦԣԾ42࣐ï\؁ήϖڄߩ�ě՘1ΥϜS࣐2ࠕʂ؛֏݇ε̹ѯߟ.ز՘3ǸكǱ

ɱ4࠵½̌ٿ࣐ήɧѮϑࠢ°.ӜӸ݋՘чŝqȿ2ˇˆ࣐ï\؁˃6ݺ݅˃�ں.	

	
r-࠵ήɧYŇ¢ќ	

	
2ï\؁˃6࠵࣐ںήɧٿvƱƸ1՘чŝޝ࣐ʤ˷˷ƸࠜȋrԢ.Čo2U\࣐؁ˇǫ

߷řѰʄ࣐ҖўѲSSʎɛ¢՘Ň¢ќ࣐ʂśˆռ½࣐̌`Ƚؘܑ׿о҅�՘ٿư`̲,࣐�

ࢍř࣐�ɥeS΢࣏Kimpaulij࣎߷,߻ŻʔɱōɎɬSʎ՘࣏׳ࡆ࣎࠶ǋٿ࣐�࣏Tapparij࣎
ӏˇqyپߥϥٿƷ.ҏɬ࣐چƑΝͰ_࣐ܔǫԾʂϑ͊ٿ½�࣐ϗ�ª࠙.�࣏Basaijo࣎ݲ
ΰ.޾»΢࣐لƷΥϜζۻ࣐�ΥϜȡّͿԸSִΐԘXZȴΰöв݇՘˞Յ΢f࣐Ł࣒þߏ

Ͼ۞΢࣎Ketagalan޾.࣏vŇ¢ќ࣐ӘҖў-ǋ࠶ώΨɛќ࣐�ΥϜζ�ޫ࣐�_Zۻ΂ʜ̝
ܱӘѻ˂X՘Ň¢ќ.	

	
2U\؁ć՘ήϖ�ʴӱ1ϥ܈ҁِ2࣐ε޾ШʹȴҖў࣒�׳ࡆٿ	
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'ř�Á)ɅɁ
ƻːüǟțđʕ�ưƠ)ʌ
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ț。ɠN���Ɂ¢)�ê
ʄĤ§ʆ˧ȴ
ʡʜʞ…ɂ

ċÕ
0ˀ˲čġ�ȞíÃÒ
(ɀǜɍŦ˩��

	
Ժтś࠵࣐܋ήɧY՘Ň¢ќ_ZٿǫԾٿ࠮࣐ؕ࠹ǫԾϑyΰ۲Әǫ࣐ԴټɎǫª՘Ǝ

�۹Ԣȅȯ۲Ә࣐ϑࠢ°ړȅ՘S࡚.ْ[࣐߷,߻3࣐εҖўɐ࣓֜zԶֈ.�˜ʀɿ࣐ռ

Ϗ࣐֜ܗ�Z٪л4ࠄܝ࣐lݲࢍ֛ࡵ΢Ň¢ќ_ZεȨëɥΝŇȋ֜Ϗ3Z݈Zռ4՘ԉ

Ѹ.	

	
lܡZɑ�ϏƏ࣐�ǲ՘࠵ήɧ1Ǉê࣐Ʒޮ�ćϗ`࣐ϑӜŇ¢ќٚڹ՘ȚƷࣔէđΐԘ՘

Ň¢ќۻʏ࣐ϑАϩƸʎޮࠧٿήɧ࠵՘ࢶԶֈ࣐ΐԘǬɑʂ̹ÿ۞ڮ.ґЛޗś٪ј࣐Ѓך

	࣒ˑ2lܷثـՍ.ҟ�1݀ٽ�©Әֈ֕ѝΰܱ࣐࣏Marenasberg࣎Ә֡ː՘ɧ1܍
	

˽æȰ RuĪ
±ǰê�ñ�
ƛƟɑ˸
ɫ́Řę�ˇˉɔʟȴ
�Ŋœǟ˿

ɇ
ʄǙù0ȕƠƪǩ�Qêĳǰ
ē0y¾
œb^~Ɨ�0²ǀȵ)��ȶ���

	
	 	 	 	ޮ�ćϗ՘`ǫΐԘS࣐֛ࡵٽ­Նζ՘࠵࣐˸ي´ࡷήɧ̂Zߔa̋׉ʏɛʮ՘ٚڹ.
XݦځΔܷŇ¢ќʏʏԸ3׻ў4҂ղյ࣐ˁɿ՘ε࣐̌½ś�ƷݦܳڮΔ`࣐ծČ:پߥӏ

	.ў4ªҖў׻3ޘߌʏ࠿ڌ

	
W-ǫ�՘Čٹ	

	
đ࡚ܷ࣐ߍԺΝ2ï\࣐ں`؁ΥϜٿ`ư՘ên.SӘ̑ưζ�eΥϜ࣐SӘࢁő3.

ۣ:Â4ǫ˧՘ήϖ.ĜX܈ΜڷڽԀ�ϥª࣐�½Ʒϥ:wʂڵٿ�ϑ̖͊ߣ¦**3࣐ܔ

Э**ڡӜȆʽ࣐ࠀ**ʽ`ϑʨ�ЗW-̒ήّ࣐xźòưd࣐գܿۛ܄ࠀࠔeѻ41࣎ΐը

۲ϊܫΐ2࣓࣏ 1540ʕ࣐�ϥ:w՘࠯�ڵeڷڽԀ�ࠜ࠿ڌ࢐ҡΥ࣐Ʒjɻ՘ִȘɱÓ͂Υ
Ϝ�3ࠓօ4࣐lεݍчŝ՘ߧ�ռߎ՘q.Ӑ࣐ۛƷՆζƬтࡍѢߺǱǜ.	

	
	 	 	 	ή�ΐԘʏ֣ܕʫƎ�3׳ࡆݟ-Җўّ࣐ʾʾ֨߾܁-և࣐ݞחҿݹÂ4࣐тǫ1࣐ƪǷ
ʨ2ܝl͐Č׳ࡆ3࣒ư-Җўư¹࣐ÿֈ࣐ࢶϣڂݟ�ֆ۸ϓ͓e¹࣐ֈƶ֣ټޘʫҏӂ

ٿ࣐࠶۸ϓªҖў-ǋڂԸ½�࣐�ҏ՘Ǝݟɕε֣ʫ࣐ĜԁԺÈ̋4.3ϣ�4࣐Sƾ࣐͆ث

Ň¢ќyΰֈƶŇΔޘ࣐ƫҽɻҏӂĜɽ.͓Ŗߒ࣐ܷܬƷ2U\؁j,ʕ�ϛ҉ѥߢ�џѲ

ªپょֈeđ׹࣐ࠟҏƎ࣐Ψʂˇ2ï\ࠜں`؁ȋƷҖўSʎ࣐̎ή̎ρyΰֈ֕o.ֈ֕

yΰ࣐Ʒ܈ԡԀ-ڮ۞ΐԘ`ߞ࣐śծČԺ֣ʫլǄ࣐Ł֣ɻ՘ȫƂ҇࠿ڌߓđªͽݱ.	
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2ï\؁˃6�ª࣐Ǳή`ư՘ڵ�ªҖў࣐׳ࡆٿˇ`ǫΐԘªծٿ½�࣐ՆƸ՘Ň¢

ќࠢ°ߞZ『.1ʄ؞ߏwǄΥܰ2͐Č 1664ʕڮ۞�öʝ¤޻࢔࣐׳ࡆࡪՆƸڵ�ζڵ࣐�
	.ӝĜ�ͽȴ׋ҖўŇ¢ќ࣐ČҖў޸

	
Җў-׳ࡆŇ¢ќƑˀ࣐�ڵZεѮϑŇƬ.`ǫΐԘǬɑכࡓ޺`·、.	

ή��ȏΠ1ࡓϊ2ܷ࣒	
	

uƳ��X)ňèƻ�ː
ěǔː�˰ƺˮǤ��«w)0�ɁX²
fċƙ��$

w)0�
fċ˒ģȵʸġ�ı˹ʪ˼ȴ)QX¸
ē_ʕǔː°Ñ��

	
Ňª࣐Նڵ��Ύɑζߧ࣐ϏؗŇ¢ќ࡬է֥ԃ࣐Ǭɑ۹֛Ɍ΋.Ǳ؂ 1610đ˃࣐ƷΥϜ՘
ֺٗϏǧϊ·`࣐͐ČΥϜ�όߓ�ªۻ�࣐׳ࡆŇ¢ќ̖я.ϊ·Ōܷ޾࣒εՆƸŇ¢ќ΍

ߡ�ԿƷڵܡ�Þ̖࣐�ϑy3ְ4ؗŇ¢ќڵƬӘ࣐ԅĉޗ�ڵɎ½�࣐ߍZ࣐ǫ�e΃܍

	.܂
Ƭт࣐X࡚̖ځʴӱ՘ΐŖ3ټƎ�Xɧ̖࣐݀Ɲّ݈࡚ޏދޙ࣐ʪٽʽȳ4࣐ϑqȿϽ

ズ.ܕْخe࣐ɕεƷǫª3΂ж4ɓϚŐˆжĚeđڵ࣐�ǬɑZΉn߂и࣐ƷƎܕƎ࣐Ƭ

�.Ň¢ќթȦɑ۶ׂٿْ

	
ƪ-܈ԡԀ-ߩٿ۞ڮћζ�	

	
ӝْ2࣐ï\ڵ׹ࠟ࠮࣐˃�ں`؁�ǫ࣐Ōϑã˃ϑZe՘ǫª΢لé®࣐ɚĩ޻Ҿޢ

ޘڌרڑܭ.�ԀƎڷڽ۾bεϑf՘Ԑڌ࣐࣏jonk࣎ڌר՘ډÿࠚӄˇڑϑS࣐1582ʕ.ݎ
ҳؙݞࡳ؝ԃ܉࣐đʾΥϜݟƊ࣐ńƬࡷƷҖўѲSڌ࣐ࡈڌXΊnݞԃӘҖўŇ¢ќ̷̖

I࣐ƬӘڷڽԀ�Zռ�½εƅSִ΢࣐ŘٟČS`Sը݅3Katiu4̖࣐�ɕςζֵҖўŇ¢
ќӘ Katiu΢.Katiuε࣐ܳݲࢍ˲˚ε34ݸ.	

	
ʘʕ˃࣐Ł 1594ʕ܈࣐ԡԀߎήϏ՘ڻf֠ӹ Juan	Cobo࣎Һf࣒ƙŶS࣏مÿ©ΥϜޯࢍ

ɘ̫ࡷߕ`޼࣐σ࣐ÉѺΝپӏ࣎Isla	Hermosa࣐࣏ӘŇ¢ќ̖я࣐փĈlεҖўѲSSʎ޾࣐
l©ˆ܈ԡԀ�ϑ˲ʿ�.ŜŇ¢ќ.ҖўŇ¢ќΝεƷޮ�ćϗ՘оܳΐԘ࣐̎ƴÖ`࣐̋

Ә3âՃ4˲ݕ.Җў࠵ήɧчŝࠜȋٍ܈.ޢԡԀ¤׳ࡆࡪɹҖўϗ࣐ࠝҖўSը̋޲͏ۻ

Ǭne1.࣐˃ࡪ¤ط͊�۞ڮđϗٽĚΝʰ߆ĤГԃ࣐�ōҺ�đªࠜǟڮ࣐۞�Դټϑ˲

l࣐ࠜ̋ʹҾ޻Ϗ֜لǬ΢࣐ζŽp.1650ʕ�ϛϗ࣐ߍӇ߸ˎʾ.֯ČҖўª.Z؛̠
ȋϑo΢لeࠝ՘֜Ϗܳڮ࣐؉؀ŝΔˁҟИƸ۹ήo޾»ԉѸ.	

	
ōߩټћ΂жڮݸ࢔۞îşڮ࣐۞îşZdŌ¤׳ࡆࡪƪʕ࣐࣏1664ࣕ1668࣎ƷҖў՘ߩ

ҖۙݡζْáՆ࣐ήɧΟ՘Җў؃љǄɁ࠵.ɎɬǱҟ`ưפࠥࡍl࣐�۞ڮて̣ࡍSΜ࡚ޓ

ў1՘ֹ࣐׵ζْՆࠥ۵ズ࣐ࢺԴټε΂ѵ࢝ӸǶĊ՘҈ドǔ̖.Җў߉Ʒִ޾《ѸY࣐Zö

εȫΜŝõX͏޲՘1Ǉ.ӝْ޾࣐_Z�۹Җў࠵ήɧöʝ̋ӘېګeƸ.	
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t-чŝߛԶ	

	
ӜܾȆ¥ޮ࣐�ćϗ�ª࠵࣐ήɧ՘ֈ֕ʂ̋Әپӏчŝ߸܉Sߥ�.ˇŇΔょ̽ߌ࣐ʾ

֣ʫ̋܄ž࣐ՕɡČڮ۞ζ�ɉֈ֕ŇΔߌČ܄:پ§.ҟʡӨWïʕߢ࣐࣏1697࣎џѲƬ֣
ɻլ̋عֈْ֕ªょֈ࣐lƷپ.Ԣǔ࣐§܄ś݃ߧε࠵ήɧ࠙ϗчŝSԯף.Ǳҟ`ưپࡪ

܄ֈ֕Zö࣐�ϑҟSܷڠ�.ȫΜζْ҇�ֆǢ-͍ǃֈƾ࣐SʝόƦ࣐֡ょֈ̎ょ࣐֙˃

	.lZaqȿ˙˟࣐yΰٿ§

	
l࣐εҖўѲωXҤSʎ՘ϩϙټԴ࣐ήɧ࠵�oょ࠮½�࣐ΐԘªծˇ࣐�ѵζؘ۞ڮ

ʰ߆ȆڬϬ-ϲȘٿЄЖeࡳГԃ.࠵ήɧ1Ǉê࣐ϑٿǱڳթࠢ՘Ƹf࣐lZͅ࠮εڮ۞ζ

�ÓČ܂޾ª.ƬӘՆζϿǊǱ࣐࣏ࡖۘ࣎ڳʂ۸§܄ԃϱΔ࣐εîş՘߸܉Μ߼eS. 
 
ŗSΜ࡚ڮ࣐۞ϥĿʝîşlࢽī࠵ήɧYʔƸ՘ުКࠜǟ࣐Դߥ:ˇټʰ߆ԁ࠿ª࠵ή

ɧࠧޮࢂы.ԁ࠿eٔ§ǫ࣐ԁ՛zśÿSߩ࣐ћζ�՘ÿSž`࣐ɕϑԁ՛S࣐]ْ.ࡤϽ

ズڮ۞ΐԘ࣐ֈ֕܄§ζߞ࣐ˆ࡙Ѵ࣐٫ԁѴƬтáՆ߸܉ŇΔSߥ�. 
	
݋�Նζϑ3ƸΜϏ࣐ˎ`Ӈ؛ϚӘՕɡ̋΂ѵࡃήɧ-ҖўƸ1࠵࣐�ζ۞ڮ

Landdag4čʝ࣐ëپĂ̋ƪ»Ϗ࣐1݋ϑވ.-:࣒ƸΜϏ7-݋:ƸΜϏ࣐݋�ōҖўƸ
ΜϏ݋.ҖўƸΜϏ࣐݋ɕƷ�ǲҖў؃љǄΟ۲ځ.Čoҟ࣐�΂ѵ`ˎƫш:࣐ߥ�ȫñ

Җў࣐ɑټ.߀Ŝґڅήɧ_ϚƷчŝ࠵Җў࣐ČҖў؃љǄ3ȵΥ4ْޯ࣐εˆӢ«.ɼߞ

Ƹ1՘ֈ֕-ֹ׵­ӝε߸܉՘֙Զ؛ٿӇ§ԃ࣐Zś٪ټт`Λ2ח܉࣐j\؁しöࠜ.Ն

ӝߧ޾࣐ϑˀփֿّ߆طصSу̽͆ΚݦΔ࣐�ōڂݍܓΐԘ.	

	
	
	

圖片請參見圖1-1及圖2-2。
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˘ˌ"	 	²®Ĉŉ	
1. ǱŜ.ŕƸƴ	
ϜƸƴӘփֿ࠵ήɧōòvߕƸ1ώ߸܉՘Ƹƴ࣐Ն`ХܷۤܓܤήՆζ՘Ƹԥٿ�ΐԯǚ࣐

	.ƱפήɧưȳîƲe࠵Łε�Υ࣐ɧلɧōòࠧޮ֕`޼
	

	
ƴ	ࠧ 2-1	ǱŜ.ŕƸƴ࣏1654࣎	

	ࡠ¨ه࣒ΔªҨݦ
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2. Ųȧɱ-֣ӻ͡Ѱɱō`ư՘ߥĂѷɬƴ	
ϜƴԺ܈ԡԀ҇ࢍࢎɘ̫՘ޓȫ̖࣐سΝ 1597ʕɾŞʂس؛ÿҖўѲSōò҈Ǉ.	
	

ƴ	ࠧ 2-2	Ųȧɱ-֣ӻ͡Ѱɱō`ư՘ߥĂѷɬƴ࣏1597࣎	

	Ŝѥܐح1࣐ޞبخäӋࢶ࣐ѵݫ࢛࣒ΔªҨݦ :	ǱƂƪ՗ʕƸޠƴ2࣐Ŝ:ʆ࣒ŜѥưȳîƲ2012.10࣐.	
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3. ֣ӻ͡Ѱ-`ưߥĂōࢍɘ̫ɱ͏޲ƴ	
Ϝƴ`پӏ.ߥ՘Җў-׳ࡆ_ϚХÿ࣐��ś܋ҖўѲ҈Ǉ.ŏ¾εW࠵۞-ܒݘҫS՘٘

ľߏϩ࣎؄Catalina࣏Хÿ֛ࡵ࣐òɎ޾vƸΜࠢˎ.ْ٘ľߏϩ࣎؄Catalina࣏ӏY࡚Đεۜ
ӄӏ࣎Lorenzo࣏	

	

ƴ	ࠧ 2-3	֣ӻ͡Ѱ-`ưߥĂōࢍɘ̫ɱ͏޲ƴ࣏1626࣎	

	Ŝѥܐح1࣐ޞبخäӋࢶ࣐ѵݫ࢛࣒ΔªҨݦ :	ǱƂƪ՗ʕƸޠƴ2࣐Ŝ:ʆ࣒ŜѥưȳîƲ2012.10࣐.	
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	ҖўңSƴ-׳ࡆس̖�۞ڮ .4
ϜƴӘڮ۞�ܹϳ.ߥ《Ѹ̖࣐سś܋�Υ࠵ήɧưȳîƲɧٲY՘Җў؃љǄܝܤۻ࣐ӘҖ

ўɁ࣎de	Rondout	Tamsuij࣏	

	

ƴ	ࠧ 	࣏1629࣎ҖўңSƴ-׳ࡆس̖�۞ڮ	2-4

	Ŝѥܐح1࣐ޞبخäӋࢶ࣐ѵݫ࢛࣒ΔªҨݦ :	ǱƂƪ՗ʕƸޠƴ2࣐Ŝ:ʆ࣒ŜѥưȳîƲ2012.10࣐.	

	ήɧ࠵
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5. ֣ӻ͡ѰɱŻӃҥلɱƸƴ	
ϜƴӘԺ Johannes	Vingboons̖س�Υ2Ăڻf՘پӏɱƸƴ࣐ƴ`ҟμś܋�Υ࠵ήɧîƲ
eلɧْ࣐ɧٲYߪآҖўѲSōò҈Ǉ.	

	
ƴ	ࠧ 2-5֣ӻ͡ѰɱŻӃҥلɱƸƴ࣏1636࣎	

	Ŝѥܐح1࣐ޞبخäӋࢶ࣐ѵݫ࢛࣒ΔªҨݦ :	ǱƂƪ՗ʕƸޠƴ2࣐Ŝ:ʆ࣒ŜѥưȳîƲ2012.10࣐.	
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	ӏҏƴپ .6
ϜƴӘW.	J.	Blaeu̖Օ۲࣐ƴ`Х֛ڻҖў࣎Tamsuijٿ࣏ǋ࠶.	

	
ƴ	ࠧ ؂࣎ӏҏƴپ	2-6 	࣏1638

	Ŝѥܐح1࣐ޞبخäӋࢶ࣐ѵݫ࢛࣒ΔªҨݦ :	ǱƂƪ՗ʕƸޠƴ2࣐Ŝ:ʆ࣒ŜѥưȳîƲ2012.10࣐.	
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	ӻ͡Ѱɱƴ֣܄س�Ԁڷڽ .7
ϜƴӘڷڽԀ�̖܄س՘S׿ĆߒϥƸƴ`eS.ϜɱŘسÿޅ׳ࡆǱӏ׳ࡆߪآْ࣐՘Y

	.ś٪ӘҖўƸ1࣐࡚
	

	
ƴ	ࠧ ؂࣎ӻ͡Ѱɱƴ֣܄س�Ԁڷڽ	2-7 	࣏1644

	date:2015/11/20	http://www.e-corpus.org/notices/73154/gallery/401147	e-corpus࣒ΔªҨݦ
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	ӏɱƴپس̗ .8
ϜƴӘˍưǧñŝࢍľٖՔ࣎Caspar	Schmalkaldenس̖࣏ëɱƴ࣐Ն`ʂХܤҖў࣎Tamsuij࣏
eǫ؃࣐љǄҟμś܋eǫ࣐ҖўѲ҈ǇlҟИسÿ࣐Ƭтśռ؃љǄXΜ࣐Ѳ҈.ΜĐε�

Υ࠵ήɧưȳîƲפՇ.	
	

	
ƴ	ࠧ 	࣏1648࣎ӏɱƴپس̗	2-8

	Ŝѥܐح1࣐ޞبخäӋࢶ࣐ѵݫ࢛࣒ΔªҨݦ :	ǱƂƪ՗ʕƸޠƴ2࣐Ŝ:ʆ࣒ŜѥưȳîƲ2012.10࣐.	
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9. `ưѷҏ�ō֣ӻ͡Ѱҏɱƴ	
ϜƴӘ KeulenӹȘ̖س՘ëɱƴ࣐ХܝӘҖў࣎Tamsu࣏	؃.љǄXΜśل܋ɧ࣐ŌϑХ֛	
de	hooge	Berg	van	Tamsu࣐ӘҖў՘࢛ɧ࣐̂Ә�ΥǱɦɧ-אȘɧSʎ.ѷڻҖўѲ߆éŜ
.՜Ƹ࣐ХܝyΰeƸ࣎Handel	plaats࣏ǱМӘڍڏƸ1.	 	
	

	
ƴ	ࠧ 2-9	`ưѷҏ�ō֣ӻ͡Ѱҏɱƴ1660࣎ʕđ˃࣏	

	Ŝѥܐح1࣐ޞبخäӋࢶ࣐ѵݫ࢛࣒ΔªҨݦ :	ǱƂƪ՗ʕƸޠƴ2࣐Ŝ:ʆ࣒ŜѥưȳîƲ2012.10࣐.	
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10. .ң֣ӻ͡Ѱɱҏƴ	
ϜƴӘ Balthasar	BortƷ̋ߩۻ۞ڮě̙Ά˃ߓ҇ۻ࣐đªٜҟҰࡃ࣐ߩӝϚ࣐̋�òƸԥռ
݈̋ɕϜƴ.Ϝƴ`՘ҖўѲ҈Ǉ࣐ŏ̂ڻՆζڮ۞�ɎܭƸ1՘o࣐ܓϜƴ`՘׳ࡆѲωε

ήࡵ	

	

ƴ	ࠧ 2-10	.ң֣ӻ͡Ѱɱҏƴ1662࣎ʕ࣏�	

	Ŝѥܐح1࣐ޞبخäӋࢶ࣐ѵݫ࢛࣒ΔªҨݦ :	ǱƂƪ՗ʕƸޠƴ2࣐Ŝ:ʆ࣒ŜѥưȳîƲ2012.10࣐.	
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	ƴߥϥڵ` .11
ϜƴXϑ̋ߩޘܝěªŜe《q࣐śɉò܍Ә 17\؁ϛϗ՘ɎƸԥ՘oܓ.ْƷϜƴҖўѲ
҈ǇթՆήࡵ.	

	

ƴ	ࠧ 	࣏1696࣎ƴߥϥڵ`	2-11

ࢆӏчŝļԃپ׉ư࣒ΔªҨݦ
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˘ˌ�	 	�ŌĈŉ	

1582û	

7ϐ 16ΥSڑӄࠚԐǳ۾ B.	Landeiro՘ڷڽԀ࠙ڌ࣎ڌר� André	Feio࣐࣏ˇӄݞ�ߌࠚ
ʾΥϜ࣐ƬࡈߕࡷΝپӏ࣐Ƹࢺ֏ȭƷҖўѲSڌ࣐XݞԃٿօlۻŇ¢ќŐ࢖࣐ݸĤՆ

ζư֜࠺Ϗ.	
Fernando	Mateos,	‘	First	Jesuit	Arriving	in	Taiwan	from	the	16th	to	the	20th	Century	‘,	

Jonathan	Spencer,	The	Memory	Palace	of	Matteo	Ricci,	 	 Chapter	3࣓	

ࡢ࣐࣏1983࣐ϊɚڵ`࣒|.࣎2ܝưĖ`׈1Ċԫ࣐݊חӇ࢛¥ 158-159࣓	

ɨϜړռ12࣐ï\؁Υоy޿ŝ�փֿ2࣓ 	

C.	R.	Boxer,	The	Great	Ship	from	Amacon:	Annals	of	Macao	and	the	Old	Japan	Trade,	1555-1640.	 	 (Lisboa:	Centro	

de	Estudos	Históricos	Ultramarinos,	1963),	p.	44.	 	

1589û	

֣ʫɼͧvȶ܌࣐݋ȭʾìҁ՘࠿ڌӘí2í࠿.	
3ϥ-܈rҁðí2í࠿.ŌϑɐՃ࣎ɐ	 (sic.?	=	ϥ)࣐࣏f׳ࡆ-Җў࣐Ƹߪ.ң́ࢢe

цϑ࣐S«ŇӜࠪΎ࣐ʰڌ࣐ʨϥ-֣ɀɻ-҉ѥ-.ңٿ࣐ўֱώޮ࣐ݞԶӜǹ࣐ۡ

ƪ-t̎࠿U-í࠿Z4ח	

֣ʫ/ҁְِ03࣒Νζüݟϥ܈rҁ-׳ࡆ-Җў݀Ճ࣐ōʨϥࡌ-࢛ɻ-.ң࣐ۡחƎ

Ҵڌʰ¹ҏࠥȫӘ࣐ؗןѕʰ࣐߿؄ְǬȾϑʀ࣐fψ3ʰְ4.	
1ή֠Ȫȿ࣐2ࠄłrS○࣐Ųȧ࣓	
וبŇ࣐ưĊՍϊ2ߤ1ǲY࣐ޞضӔфࡴ 26õࡢ࣐ 1296࣓	
υW2jʕڸή࣐ʻĿΥϜêࠞΐʟۙࢆǵƴϊ`࣐2łUࡁ1΋Żǌ࣐0ߎ:ҏ֡Љ؂۲Ăȥҽ/࣐ߒțܡ

ĄϜࡢ࣐ 10	

1592û	

ήڸυr2ʕ࣐Â®Җў-׳ࡆ.	
1Җўʩˑ2ł2ƪ.	
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1593û	

3r2SʕÂ—ϖ࣐֡ߪࡏ�࣐ࠟࢤр࣐ݟ޿ҏX֨֡ߐޙ�Yҏ࣐̎ÄÁࢢֹ́ݣ؏ث

eʰߒݸ׋࣐Ƿ4࣓ 	
3ҽѹѷҏ՘3eȦ-ҏӂ-ࣂҫ-ҽҊ-ܦȦۡחȃ˅࣐ѕʕƪ-tϐࠝsؗΐʰ࢏࣐

Ӝ࣐Âݹҿ࣐ݞחև߾܁ʾʾ࣐֨Җўّ-׳ࡆݟō࣐ࢢң́.-ࠓޘʾ֣ɀֵ࣐ڌӚ࢐

	Âeȿ4޿ϑ࣐ef׾ݟ
ʴӱ1࣐ϥ܈ҁِ2࣐łU࣓	
ࡢ࣐2łƪࡁ1΋Żǌ࣐ҏ֡Չ0޿Չ/࣐ߒțܡ 27	

1594û	

Ϝʕ࣐Ōϑ܈ԡԀڌƷ6࣒ࡈߕپϐخݧ˂ڶ࣐ո Gómez	Pérez	DasmariñasߎߓήϏǧ
Juan	Cobo࣎ƙŶS࣏֠ڣ࢛�م࣒§࣐̎مӹÇeҺ޿�q Antonio	Lopezÿ©ΥϜ11࣐
ϐ࣐Coboイࢍޯڌɘ̫࣐Νࡷߕ`޼σ࣐ÉѺΝپӏ࣎Isla	Hermosaٿ࣐࣏ŗSҺ� Juan	
Sami-ۻ࠙ڌŇ¢ќ̖я.Ň¢ќ࣐͌ҢεҖўSʎ՘Ň¢ќ.ҖўSʎŇ¢ќ࣐Ʒ܈ԡ
ԀΐԘ`࣐ʏ̋޲͏ۻяȲǫ�՘΢࣐لтzӘ܈ԡԀϑ˲ʿŜeSƬ.	
1ՅưʾˉϊٌࡁǜܖՅưΥ̟ܰ2ࡢ࣐ 37࣓	
J.	E.	Borao,	“The	Catholic	Dominican	Missionaries	in	Taiwan,”	1626-1642;	

Spaniards	in	Taiwan,	vol.	I,	2࣓1649ʕ٘Ԝԭլ֠ӹ Juan	de	los	Angelesخݧ˂ڶٽո Diego	Fajardo·࣎Borao,	

Spainiards	in	Taiwan,	II,	5731࣓࣏ՅưʾˉϊٌࡁǜܖՅưΥ̟ܰ2ࡢ࣐ 58-59.	

1610û	

ƷΥϜ՘ֺٗϏ֠ӹ Giovani	Rodrigues	GiranΝ࣏1611࣎ىʕȷֺؗٗϏϜߥǓs`࣐͐
ōҖў-׳ࡆSʎŇ¢ќ߹۰࣐΍܍ǫ࣐�「ԔɎҺ�Zӝ࣐ƬҺ�ϑy3ְ4ؗ׳ࡆ

	.΃śÉԿ࣐�
Lettera	annva	del	Ciappone	de;	1609	e	1610.	Scrita	al	M.R.P.	Claudio1615.	p.	6.	ޢʰٺɩԵ̋S࣐/ϑࢍν·@پ

ӏɱ܍Ƚ࣐0ߓ҇ڌpp.	290-292࣓	

ϦԹѓSդ݊12࣐ï�U\؁����3
Ó�sŭ2ו IIϗו Ił࣒ߧ|࣎eϒ֜ࡢ࣐࣏1990࣐ 87-88.	
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1616û	

Âԛڌ߂r2ߚ̼࣐ࢅÂճǿ¤ϥՃɧ࣐˲Ʒsʆ.	
ズ׳ࡆ-ҖўѢ̌ٿʆ…….	
1ή؛\ΐ࣐2بłƪ՗ï2S 	Ɓ4ޥ࡟ך3࢛hں࣐6ࡁطсࡑۃ5࣓

1631û	

1631ʕ 6ϐ 30Υ	

Җў؃љǄݦޮࠧٿΔ࣒ϑïfࢍɘ̫ࠧޮ՘ࢹ�ˇҖўイS޸ڈڇڑČپ:……�½Ν
Ϝϐ 10ΥࠜࡇҖў޼࣐`ƬߊČσࡷ.�½e̖޸�x࣐εƬӘìʕª܈ԡԀ�Z�Ѯ
�Ǔ߮؛ߞ࣐ʏӜԥ̙�½.�½ƫࠢךΝ׳ࡆŻҖў《ʹȆY࣒	
……ƷҖўʫϑSƶ߂Ǐǡ࡚܂89࣐ϑt-ïࠝ̕Ș࣓ܭǏǡvƱϑϙϷ࣐ϙϷεԸײЉؚ

Ǐ޲t2»ǧñȥ۵.Xࡪԙ࠙࠷ϑSۡܭ….Ǳօࠚϭϑt_࣐࣏hout	dun࣎ϙϧۑ¢
ǡ࣐ε○ڎ Diemenۤ-Slootenۤٿ DomburchۤIÌ͉�˃̖ʫ.Ƭڮ۞�Z【¤ズܭ
Ƹْ࣐�ƴ¤ࡪöߍI՘׳ࡆ.ƬӘìƸeࠝࡇބ࣐ZߍW2Ƅ࣐[ϑìЉߔΝу۲՘ʔ

ƿࡇބ90.ވ޿Ǐǡ؂SуРɈֱ91ۡϑS»࢛Ƹ܂ߡˇ࣐śޛΰɈͮܭǏ.ҏӏvƱߧ

εѰӎ࣐śˇǏǡìËՔْ࠴ZϏۻՕԢ.ҏӏƷ¡Ӂζˁҝ࣐ƬтŘϑڌרし߆ˆI.

ҖўϑˁǬՆƸɛќ̷ࢯ-ɧ࣎قrheeח92࣏߹ԵĤԃ࣐�ōўϫƶԶªyΰ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄ

Υܰ2ו 1õו 	࣏ࡢ49

VOC	1102࣐fol.	552-554.	

ϑҖў-׳ࡆy޿-ĤГԃ-Щϙ
93
	.ޘܝ

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

																																																								
89	 3ƶ߂Ǐǡ4Ňΐ§࣒aerden	rondeel࣐ը݊ε3ƶ߂ƳǏ4.࣐�ZɑޮΜʹ՘3࡚ܒǏ

࣎ reduit࣐4࣏Ʒڮ۞ΐԘ`࣐z…̋ rondeel࣐Ƭт3ٍ̋܂޾࣐Ǐǡ4࣐�çը͊ϕΐԵن. 	
90	 ̹ 1630 ʕđ˃࣐Җўٿǋ࣏׳ࡆ࣎࠶e࣐ࠝϑìЉވ࠴ś޿. 	
91	 3SуРɈֱ een	musquetschoot4޿࣐ʏӘ 80ࣕ100 îɗ. 	
92	 rhee ƷՆζϜư޿ʏ̹3ɧ࣐4ف�Ʒw࣐҅`ؖ٭Đ̹3Ԓ4-3ࢰ Chìunn4࣐Ŝܳ޿ʏř3ق

kiunn4.ҟ�ΐԘܷ3࣒ҖўՃ֜ϑԘԒ՛ّ4࣐Ł̹ҖўŇ¢ќԸɧق՛؄ݜ. 	
93	 ̹࣏oranjeappel࣎orangappelen࣐limoenen4	ŇΐӘ3orangappelen,۞ڮlime4	ΐ՘3orange,݊ڢ

ϰ-Ьe࣐ࡳLimoen࣐Đ̹Ѕ-Ўeࡳ. 	
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	 (...)	the	two	different	roads	between	Quelang	and	Tamsuy	(one	of	these	can	always	be	seen	from	

the	sea	and	the	other	one	goes	inland	are	flat,	smooth	and	suitable	for	marching.	

In	Tampsuy	there	are	many	fruit	trees	as	well	as	tubers,	namely	oranges,	limes,	pisang,	potatoes	

and	more	other	sorts,	and	also	a	wealth	of	game,	like	deer,	roes,	etc.	They	hope	to	catch	those	

animals	and	also	to	receive	some	through	barter	with	the	natives.	Sulphur	is	available	in	

abundance	but	is	not	traded	by	the	Spaniards.࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	1,	p.	194.࣏	

1631ʕ 10ϐ 4Υ	

Ϗ94݋ܧٿȫκԅϋΙ࣒࠙ΰݥ՘ࠝ׳ࡆҖўٿΛ`ư̐܉ϥĿʝîşِ˹εk۞ڮ

փ͉݋ϳ`ư.ɬ՘ߡv95࣐ڌרȆϫƷ܋ߊ`۲ډҺ�Ǝ܉ڌI̎׳ࡆҖў܉࣐̎

ょŐ�¥΍Ɏ۲܉Zߞε࣐̎½�΀ͮ�½_ǿŐܭεk࣐̂ҖўƫI`ư̎׳ࡆˇ

Ĥ.݋ܧϏࠕΝէđîşƷтƸ96ߞϑݔȺ߻ݦśԸ࣐lZռߎîşƷΥϜҹݎ՘֏

ȿ《ʹ࣐cѪ࣐݋ɎX࠿ڌ޲՘΍Ɏ۲Ĥ࣐ɉʪټɎΥϜō`ưϑ߆Sуґ、e˃ö

§Ѫȭ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1õו 	࣏ࡢ58

VOC	1102543࣐v-344.	

1633û	

1633ʕ 3ϐ 23Υ	

ֈ࣒֕δΥ࠙ڌ Claes	Janssenʎ߆ªeܮ؛࣐ڌר؎եƏ˃࣐�½ֵٝεΝIʕ࣐Ʒ
Ӝ۲݇޿《ѸY֣ࡇډɻđʾ׳ࡆˇ࣐׳ࡆđʾࢍɘ̫࣐Ōˇࢍɘ̫hȝࡷöʾࡆ

ʹԱơ-ϑ6Ƴك׺«120࣒ծČ՘ϑ܂ڌר޲ԃ……ƷXݞ՘ݱܖޘ܁܂ߡƷ࣐׳
՘ŻWܒʹ՘ࢃե-1000»׼׸՘ȂѴ֍-440»ϑʺس՘ōՖڕ՘׼׸՘ɐ࡬࢑࢒

																																																								
94	 ŇΐӘ࣐Ϗ݋ܧ Raad࣐̎ś݊Ә3݋Ϗ4ٿ˙�࣐�ǲ؛ќbֱʙߚÿ՘݋ϏқҔٿ࣐Նζ՘࢛ɣ

.Ϗ4݋ܧ΃ϜΐS˂݊̋3࣐čʝZa݋ܚ�źeͭߚ 	
95	 4Ł3ڌר3 junk,	jonk4࣐ϑv�݊Ә3̊å4�3࣐̊ڌå4ࡘ`ΐ࣐εª2ٺj\؁ϛΥΐ՘Ä

f࣐݊ࡠÓؘ`ΐΐԘzϚϑִ޾fܨ.ΨϗΥϜȡّ̎ưêȡّょԸ3ͼߡʈ3-4ڌ`ʮʈ࣐4ڌϜ

ΐZょԸeƬ࣐εƬ࣐S-۲ΐϑ࣐܏〕ݳ؍r-`ưʈڌe3ʈ4࣐ؕǱߥĂࡘ�ʇΔْ࣐εשא-

.΃ˇe࣐4ڌרΐΐԘzϑԸ3`࣐ࡳʌeڪ 	
96	 .ܝܤϜΐZŗԅĉ࣐Ӝԅĉ《Ѹڠ࣐Ȧʔ:پε̹ڊS࣐ΥܰΐԘ`՘3тƸ4۞ڮ 	
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ʹԉeɐϤȘ-40ǖ١-16ス66-׷ࢳスɐ30-ࢲ++スϚ͐Ӟ՘+++++
ֈ֕
++
-24»ɐࠓ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.՘ޘȆҟƘ̖࣐܈ϑò�Svɐϥߞ-ػў࡬՘տ׀«60-ࠋ 1

õו 	࣏ࡢ85

VOC	1113536-536࣐v.	

1636û	

1636ʕ 3ϐ 14Υ	

Iʕ࣒ò�ɥƸԉѸٿɘ̫ࢍ-׳ࡆ˥ԡԀ�ԕ܈ˇ 8ϐϑìڑǱʈ࣎ڌgaelljoens97࣏ˇ

Κ܈ԡԀǝ܈ƃ࣎Nova	Spangeߌ࣏U࠷Ֆ�ǧñªČࢍɘ̫࣐ò`ϑS̛ǧñۻĂ҇Č
šƸI.޿ʏˇࢍɘ̫Sʕ҇ƪڑɐ࣎ڌ○࣐ڌfregats98࣏̎Ǳʈ࣐ڌI࣐׳ࡆò`ìڑ

Ν 5ϐて࣐ߏŗǫìڑΝ 8ϐて࣓ߏΝ޾v࠿ڌてߏζ࣐Ʒޅ܂ߡҺ�yΰ࣐ǱߥĂyΰ
ɑݮؙؙ࣐ߺʇΔ࣐Ǳ̛Ќڙʇ࣎canganࢴ-࣏ʇ࣎kennepe	lijwaetenءؙ|:-࣏ʇ
ɘࢍӝ˃ɕƫI࣐ʏÉԿ؂W»αϗ̎S»ϐ޿ڌvǱʈߡ……ԃݞ�òٿ࣏lankins࣎
	99.܂ߡZԿƷߧ࣐̫
……ìʕđ܈ԡԀ�ƷҖўҏӏԸ֓ǖʫ߂Sʞϑƪ»ֳǏeǄǏ࣎fort࣐࣏�½ˇҖўߌ
Ǳ̛՘࣎ࢸ-׵mijlie100࣏Żòࡼ�ԃI1࣎.׳ࡆӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1õו 	࣏ࡢ225

1636ʕ 5ϐ 21Υ	

ȭƸɛќѕSɎؔȔّѕʕˌͽ܌ԡԀ�Ƭh܈׳ࡆ࣐˥ԕڌרˇ 3	gantingh׵	 101Ż 2
�ԡԀ܈«ȥҖў՘ï2ࢎҖў՘ɛќl̠߃࣐ՆƸČۡ՘ɛќՕĤ̑ӸݺZ�ʰ࣐ࡆ࠿

																																																								
97	 gaelljoen࣐Ł galleon2࣐t2ټU\܈؁ԡԀ̎Ƹ`ҏ՘Ǳʈ࣐࠙ڌʝ޿ʏƷW2îɗɾŞޘ࣐߸

ߺ 	

300~800	tons. 	
98	 fregat܈࣐ԡԀܳ fragata࣐Ʒ Galley ǀeڌX࣐ŗĜܗܠ�ǜĜ߁ʝ՘࣐ڌޓÿԢΝ2U\؁ć

ϗ࣐ǱٽX2ټj\؁`�©Ը. 	
99	 .ң׳ࡆٿεZϏªҖў࣏gaelljoen࣎ڌԡԀ՘Ǳʈ܈ʏ޿ΧƷܷή࣐тЉࠄ 	
100	 mijlie޿࣐ʏ3̋݊ۻԚ࣐࣐ܵ4׵Ƭтζ՘Ԛ࣎׵corn,	mais࣏ɓϚÓéپӏ࣐̂ε̹پӏŇԶ՘࣐

.ࢸSfՃ࣐ࢸ 	
101	 gantingh࣐Łࢍªܳ՘ gantang࣐թՆΝ`ΐ՘3Γ4࣐344࣐̎Ǳ؂Ә 12 Ζپ1࣒܋࣐ӏǄΥܰ

21644࣏ǄΥܰߖ۞Ӫ࣎ ʕ 6 ϐ 27 ΥЉ. 	
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וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ݸݾ՘ǄǏ½�ˇ࣏oݸ޸՘ࢅò࣐яъۻ«ò`ϑW2࣎ 1õו 240

	࣏ࡢ

1637û	

1637ʕ 11ϐ 19Υ	

ϑʘڑҴڌˇ`ưて࣐ߏԕ˥ϑS Κ܈ԡԀ࠙ȫԙࡪSڷڽڑԀ○ڎŻìڑҺר�

ԡԀ܈.ƫIoڌרŻڎ○ࡪďŌԙ׉࣐o̖ࡷ.ۻңS׳ࡆȫƷ࠙ܭ.׳ࡆIČڌ

�ƎࢆˁعgԢм-׵Żòࡼ�ԃ࣐Ը�¶݌�½ëߥ�Ƃ՘࠷ޓZߍ 260»�.Ō
яъ_܇�đƬҖў�ׂ࣐Żئ˲Җў�eޅԡԀ�Z�ʂ܈ٛ ԡԀ�ْࠢ܈«40
ԡ܈.˙ӝ�½Ȳࡵ࣐՘ȕȀŻɐȟ½�ࡪʎ࣐vɛќlˇҖў֯ࠜߡ]ْ࣐Ǣݎ°

Ԁ�ӘoX޲՘͗Ƕ࣐ɉԸ࠷ޓՕĤǓˉ࣓Ƭт܈࣐ԡԀ�ʂό؛ƷҖўʫ߂՘ǄǏ

ëߥとђ࣐ɉëͥޓƫ1࣎.׳ࡆӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1õו 	࣏ࡢ357

1638û	

1638ʕ 2ϐ 19Υ	

S̸ڌרڑϑϑࢮޘߌ࣐۲݇޿Ż࣐׵đʾҖўࠧޮ́ٿࢢͽࢯࡁ՛.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥ

ו2ܰ 1õו 	࣏ࡢ382

1638ʕ 3ϐ 6Υ	

ϑSڌרڑイ וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.՛ࢯݱͽ_ࢢđʾҖў́ډÿ࣐�15 1õו 	࣏ࡢ384

1638ʕ 3ϐ 31Υ	

ϑSڌרڑイ 15»�ÿډIҖў࣐́ࢢōhߡSʎ՘ɛќͽࢯݱ՛.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥ
ו2ܰ 1õו 	࣏ࡢ386
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1638ʕ 4ϐ 1Υ	

lڌרڑイ 10»�ÿډđʾҖўࢢ࣐́_ͽࢯݱ՛.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1õו 	࣏ࡢ386

1639û	

1639ʕ 9ϐ 7Υ	

	࠙ڌ҇ Marten	Gerritsede	VriesイSڌרڑ_ʎS࠿ wancan102ڌÿ࣐ډđʾ܈ԡԀ�
ʂࠜࡇ؛՘Җў܉_࣐đʾ�½ߞɛ¢ڻ՘࣐׳ࡆI܂ߡգ�ś٪՘ަѻ͉࣐ϳ܈ԡ

Ԁ�Ʒ܂ߡ՘ԉѸ࣐�¯ƫªтƸζˆ�͐ÿܮ؎Ǔs.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1õו 451

	࣏ࡢ

1639ʕ 12ϐ 2Υ	

……Ժ Bandaۤٿ Vliegende	Hartۤߌ܉ʾ̫ۜԅ՘ݞԃ࣐ϑ351,000࣒ìΥϜT߿-
413,657Ζրׯ1280-׻ø610-׻ΖՖڕԵؙ-20,289ΖՖࠖ-21032,093Ζή֚-

3,746ΖΥϜЧ5,200-ٱ+++++
Ζ
+
ֈ֕
++
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.…ח 1õו 	࣏ࡢ461

																																																								
102	 wancan ࣎ڌרε̹ј࣐`ΐԘ۞ڮƷ࣐ڌ jonkֲ࣏ɐeÓؘ`ư࣐ڌ 	
103	 Ֆ࣐ࠖŇΐӘ spiaulter࣐ՆζҺ�ֵӘw࣎߾ajen࣒܋࣐࣏VOC1120,	fol.	60. 	
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1640û	

1640ʕ 11ϐ 6Υ	

Ǝ� PecoŻ Campe104҇WڌרڑIҖў܉࣐I܂ߡょֈ֕++࣐¬ 10ϐ`ޘߌ 1,000ス

Եֈ֕
++
ƫªϑʉϕ¬̂ˇMalabar105ª՘ݽ.ݱܖ:ϥ|ŻϴǅɁlϑֈ֕++՘ࡍѢ.

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 1õו 	࣏ࡢ474
ʄ؞ߏwǄΥܝ	 1641࣓࠙ȫԅħԁΙrخո Van	DiemenĀٿ1640-11-6࣐ ࣐12-12-1640

pp.110-120159-157࣐.	

1640ʕ 11ϐ 6Υ	

ڌǱ࣐࠿ڌw՘؞ߏSԡ҇ʾʄו Ackerslootۤڌרٿ UytrechtۤˇтƸÿޘ̖࣐ډ

Ãخܗԃaݞ ϑ࣐`ԃݞ࣐իڮ153,809.14.11 1,498ΖࡱڕࢶΔ…200Ζֈ֕++.1࣎Ӫ۞
וǄΥܰ2ߖ 1õו 	࣏ࡢ474

1640ʕ 12ϐ 27Υ	

ڎ○ De	PauۤݞߌԃđʾĿʝ Suratte106ŻѽΙݞ࣐ԃ`ϑ32,475࣒Ζ׺Ӟֈ֕++.+

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 1õו 	࣏ࡢ477

																																																								
104	 Campe࣐lܡε̹ 1630 ʕ��ª࣐ɕ҆ޏΝپӏ՘ʣࠚƎ� Gampeaࡱ࣎�Ӻ࣏ࣔ. 	
105	 Malabar࣐Ŀʝߥ:܈՘ҏɬƸʎ. 	
106	 Suratte࣐Ŀʝߥ.܈e Surat. 	
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1641û	

1641ʕ 1ϐ 10Υ	

࣎Ӟֈ֕՘Һ�íƃ׺ȋࠜ:پ
++++++++Peco࣏Ż�՘�Ƃʂ׺Ӟÿ 17,000Ζֈ֕++.Z޾ߍ

v�Ɏѕス 3 ߷ӻ՘×Ͼϑ˝࣐ܕ�Ә׺܉Ӟֈ֕
++
ִ޾107࣐࣏roet࣎ԸˁǬѴ٫ࡍ࣐

Ѵ٫ѕスݤࡦ 8ì1࣎.࣏߿࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 1õו 	࣏ࡢ478
VOC1134࣐fol.103-11࣓࠙ȫԅħԁΙrخո VanDiemenĀࠄ͟.1641-1-10࣐z܋Νʄ؞ߏ

wǄΥܝ 	.pp.175-177࣐1641

1641ʕ 1ϐ 25Υ	

ʔʚڌ De	MeermanۤݞߌԺݽ:ϥ|đʾʄ؞ߏw࣐ò`ϑ3,105࣒Ζ̫ۜԅ՘׺

Ӟֈ֕
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.……108++ 1õו 	࣏ࡢ479

1642û 1ť	

1642ʕ 1ϐ 7Υ	

ڻgЕȘѴȥعȦʔ`ưƎ�Ƭ:پ 2,000Č 2,500スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥ
ו2ܰ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ12

1ʄ؞ߏwǄΥܰ21641-1642࣐࠙111-109࣐ȫ P.	TraudeniusΝ 1642ʕ 1ϐ 7Υ…ؗخո

A.	van	Diemen՘ϊ·.	

																																																								
107	 roet࣐�đٍ̋3Ӡӡ4࣐ܵ.тܨε̹ԁѴ-ԁࡳ٫. 	
108	 .salpeter4ε3և4	Ňΐε3geraffineerde࣐ֈ֕ࡘт࣐̻ 	

3
1
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1642û 9ť	

1642ʕ 9ϐ 19Υ࣐Ν׳ࡆ	

Ïθϑƪ»Һ�ÇeҖў�đªтƸ࣐ʎªSɇ࠙࠷ Boon՘ϊ·.�½εΝ 9ϐ 2
ΥˇپӏډªҖў܉࣐ªޘ܁ֈ֕՘࣐�½՘ߞڌרÉѺƷ1࣎.܂ߡӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו

2õו 	࣏ࡢ21

1642ʕ 9ϐ 23Υ࣐Ν׳ࡆ	

Kijpatou̢࣏֜.࣎՘�ªrԘ�½՘ƶƸؗ̌½.֜ܭ ΝҖўѲSپࡇބ࣐:Ǆ
Ǐìǲ՘࡬ֱ࣐ވէfř Palijonnabos࣐ϑ 80»ǨT-80»ȕȀٿɐȟ.eШ࣐ 
ΝߡƸΜ՘ Pinorouan࣎фϘӏ࣏֜՘�lªrԘƶƸ࣐�½՘࡬էfř Siasou࣐ϑ
70»ǨT.̌½̠ޅò�Ϡ֜؂Ϣ՘թe՘Љм࣐Ȱࡲ̝݁ߧ½�࣐ٟ½�ؗݍ˲
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.oࠜࡇΣȘڻʎ½�࣐ѕ֜lؗ�½S࡚ΣȘ࣐Ƭт࣐ȥߘ 2õו

	࣏ࡢ23
VOC	1140499-498࣐.	

	

1642ʕ 9ϐ 27Υ࣐Ν׳ࡆ	

ò`Sʞј࣐ìʞࠫɯ՘ɐɧߍݽŌ࣐߆öʝÿՕđ࠷ޓΨι࣒eࠝ࠶Җў-ǋ޿ݸ

ŗSʞɐˁǬ࣐öʝªČҏ܂ߡ࣐ߟ՘ވߎɕјđ࡚՘ȅݸǬo࣐Zߍϑζࡦˏߞ͹

Քʘ»ŌࠫɯŌɒࠂ՘֖տ.…ɕđ¢S»ֵӘ Batang՘ƸΜ࣐Ʒ܂ߡϑʘ»ɛќˇ
W܎ڻ̷֜ݘԛΣªпޭ̑Ƹ̹͕ȫࠞY࣐_ʎSv1࣎.……ࡾӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו

	࣏ࡢ26
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1642û 10ť	

1642ʕ 10ϐ 4Υ࣐Ν׳ࡆ	

Sڌרڑˇ֣ɻてڌ࣐׳ࡆߏXイϑ 11»Һݞޘ̖࣐�ԃŘϑׯ1࣒Ֆր׻…….	
X޲Һ�ܷ�½�đʏʏ܈ޅԡԀ��ōҖў՘�yΰ࣐ώޮό؂ڻޘ؛ 600߷ӻ՘
܈ؗݬϑS̛࣐`ò࣐тƸߍª࣐ԃחࠓ-ࠋࠓ109-߭׵ư`-܆ؙ-ϑʇΔ࣐ԃݞ

ԡԀ࣐�ĒY՘ۻS»`ưȫg࣎�ε֣ɻώ͕̹࢛ȫ՘ʋӺ࣐�lイSڌרڑªт

ƸÉѺޅ࣐ՆƸɛќyΰֈ֕܉࣐ݸ̷࣏ö̷ƫ֣ɻIߞ࣐ࠅݰʵް�½Ը�½՘ר

ֈݱͽ܂ߡʵްّ҇�I«ߡ޲ƬӘX࣐ƫªߌˁǬֈ֕܁܂ߡI࣐֜ݘʾWډڌ

΀ŐǄ܂޾ª؛ʂ࠷ޓ՘½࣐̌ƬӘ�½ٟČ࣐yΰ.�ε܂ߡϏƷߞ٪ś]ْ࣐֕

Ǐ̖࣐�ɕZΉطصԿƷډْ࣐܂ߡƫ֣ɻIo࣐ԿY؂ 100スֈ֕Ʒߡ࣐܂ߡvֈ
֕ʂ؛�ҟݞмؗW֜ݘ՘ɛќo.�½ƫČ֣ɻ�˃࣐Ōߡۻώ͕̹࢛ȫʵް࣐_

Ȓࡦˏ࣐٬öиډªтƸߌƫߡvĒY՘ֈ࣐֕Zӝ࣐̎ϑվ࣐ع�ɕϏѮͽ�½՘

ǿ½̌ۻ؛тƸʂ࣐ߎöªтƸ.�½ռ܉ߧӜܾȅщ࣐ԥԺ«޾ԃ.�½Әoݞ

Ő࣐ƬӘϑ»`ưڋî…̠޾ґ、ʎƫ֣ɻ�ōߡSʎ՘ѷɬo.�Ōܷ࣐Ʒ֣ɻߞ
ϑ ďɕϏđ׉࣐yΰ½̌ޅԺªٺ�SΦٟČś࣐ԃݞȅšִ܁؛ʂڌרǱڑ7-8
ªтƸ.�½ߧƷחÀ޾v�՘ґ、ٿǓs.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ31

	

1642ʕ 10ϐ 14Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ΨXǲ}�đࠞ�࣐YöI߆Sу܍ȽߡƸΜ՘ʹĩ࣐ĈΛܷߡ࣐ʞʂ؛とђ՘܈ԡ

Ԁ�՘ǄǏࣈSpecx	fort࣏ε ΝώȅŌώߔՆ՘Ƹߡ࣐ࢺƸࢺεޮߪҏɬ՘S»࢛Ƹ
̎ɐɧߟ:࣐εǱߥĂܭٿɧ࢛ח՘ʔŜ࣐Ʒϥٿߟϥ.ߟϑ»Ҙ࣐ݑSըˁࠫɯƸ

YČҏ࣐ߟε»ࡘʏǍƮ՘ƸΜ.ǧñ̠ߡvӍϙڪœٿò֘࠻�ԃւ̷࣐̓˃�ݸ

�ࠞYǱߥĂ̻ӢŇϑ՘ǋ֗܌ĕ࣐Z̠ߍȢܗܠˆωȅlωߔՆ.	

																																																								
109	 3`ư4߭׵ŇΐӘ3Chinese	bier4޿࣐ʏ3ٍ̋݊ۻ`ư4̎3߭׵Wӭ4࣐ܵ.Նζ՘3bier4࣐

ƷΥϜ̹3ҟ߭࣎ sake࣐4࣏Ʒ`ưĐӘ߭ڀ࣐ؐࡳ߭׵ɥe.ڮ۞ΐ`࣐Ōϑ3Samsoe4ࡠ࣐ܳӘ3W

߭ sam-chíu4࣐̎§ Sampe࣎WՖ࣐࣏ƺɥ߂ߵֹ׵e߭.3ؙ̹࣐4܆�đؙذe3ڠ࣐ࡳ4࡜ĜX

.қe܆�ΥȀ˜Ըeؙٿ࣐ܵ࡜࠿ĐӘśׁǫÿ࣐ʚ՛4࡜3 	
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ζϑߡ ϑߞ࣐Ǔsܷ࣐Љҫ҈Yªߡˇڌרɐ՘Һ�՘ڑ1 ֈڻޘڌרҺ�՘ڑ6
`ò࣐ҫ҈՘XҤܭÉѺƷ࣐֕ YcYࠞ�࣐࠿ڌԺ՘ٺƬтZε࣐۲݇޿Ѯϑڑ1
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ЭϏIвϳ̜܉࣐� 2õו 	࣏ࡢ36

H.	Harrousse…ؗ J.	Lamotius՘ϊ·࣓1642࣐׳ࡆʕ 10ϐ 19Υ࣐VOC	1140࣐fol.	320-321.	

KimaurijŻ Taporij՘Ň¢ќЛʝعg࣐ࡼ׽ӘoŐˆࡼԃ࣐�½ZŘIW֜ݘ-Җў࣐�

ōò�ƸΜyΰࡼԃߞ࣐h׳ࡆ՘ڮ۞�y͓׵Żڮ.ࢢ۞�ܱӘ޾ε�½Zϓˇ՘̄ؽ	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]It	must	be	quite	agreeable	for	you	to	hear	that	we	received	Your	Honour's	letter	of	the	14th	of	

this	month,	yesterday	at	about	noon,	delivered	by	three	men	from	Tamsuy.	From	which	we	learn	

(God	be	praised)	that	Your	Honour	safely	anchored	on	the	Tamsuy	roads,	except	for	the	delay	of	

the	yacht	Waterhondt,	which	caused	troubles	with	the	construction	work	of	the	fortress.	Still	I	

hope	that	Your	Honour	will	be	pleased	to	know	that	the	punishment	that	was	ordered	by	Your	

Honour	by	means	of	a	sanction	resulted	in	the	inhabitants'	subjection	and	hopefully	this	

achievement	will	continue	to	be	beneficial	to	Your	Honour.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	2,	

p.	311.࣏	

	

1642ʕ 10ϐ 15Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ҖўࠧޮՃ֜ɛќ࣐ʎɐ֥ԃª͕̹܋ȫࠞY.߸Κ̝݁ߘȥؔբ՘݁ܕe˃ࠞ�࣐

Yɕs܉࣐½�ܣւΎ՗ϽאȘ࣐ʎªтƸ࣐Ըªʫ߂ǄǏ࣐̕ɞٿɐɞȘ࣐l܉Ĕ

�öиź࣐½�Ƭт�ࠞYcǱٝƦŉȒ٬࣐ࡲ˲ӝ�½Ӝтࡵ�ε.ࡣɞۅªڪ࠙

l࣐ˇȆϫ�½Zϓ࣐ʹ》՘�՘֜߷,߻ٿ֜ݘZϓˇ՘Wؽۡ½�ܣs_࣐½�

ɉߊߕeШ՘ۡؽ.Ƭтߡ࣐vɛќȲ˙o࣐ؑΝߘ܉̂ךӢźߡ̠࣐�vϥߧ܈ʎ

ªтƸ.	
ɊƂMarten	Gerrits	Vries110�ǲǺ̑Ƹ̹͕ȫ՘ź࣐�ʎڑߡࡪǱࡪңڌ�ō̌½՘
ò�ɐډ࣐ڌʾ޾Љҫ҈՘XҤ࣐IвϳX̠࣐ڌר޲ȢʎYª࣐ՕԢޅδǲڑߡɐ

Xイϑڌ࣐ʘfZ٪Ըo࣐ڂُ؛ʂڌרԺ՘ٺѮϑڑߡ.ٽ՘Һ�̖ܷ՘Sڌר

ϑޘ࣏vҺ�ܷߡズ࣐࣎�«28 300ス࣐Ł 12	 last111Ϛ͐Ӟ՘ֈ࣐֕Ѯϑޘ�¥
ò�߸܉ϥ܈.̑Ƹ̹͕ȫࠞY̠ߡvϥߧ܈ѮͽӘîş՘ͽ՝ߡ࣐vߧ�Ըªʫ߂

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ǄǏ«޾ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ36

																																																								
110	 т�Νىʕ࣐Ł 1643 ʕ 4 ϐǺźԙڌʾ.ܹϳѷҏңS࣐�Ν Hachi-jo	jima࣎íVɱ̖࣐ࡈڌߕ࣏

ԿYeΥϜ࣐޲ܝӘփֿّ̖ԟ߸. 	
111	 last࣐ȴߺ߸ٿߺƘ .1	last࣐šƸֲࡃϑʀՅ޿࣐ʏӘìڌƤ. 	

21
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1642ʕ 10ϐ 16Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ɛќࠜȋʎאȘŻڪª࣐c׉ďԸªӘ̑Ƹ̹͕ȫࠞYޓٿȫ�ōǧñŻëޓʫ̕߂

ɞٿɐɞȘ.	
òޅ�ϓ̌½.cࡥ˲ࡲ½�࣐բؔ½̌ޅէlªh�ࠞYܼѢ࡬ʘ»Ϡ֜՘ޮࠧ޾

�Ϡ֜eШ՘Љݏ࣐��½ؔբ࣐lź��½ޅ࣐ź�ò�Ϡ֜SШ܉࣐IւאȘ_

ʎ࠙ڪª࣐Ɏт�½ࡃ࣎ӝZТ˲࣏l̂ךo.……̑Ƹ̹͕ȫࠞYࡃ࣐˹ِ؎ܮˁ
vÉѺƷߡٽ�࣐Ǳҋࡷʏϑʵ؛Xܹў̗ªԸ—ƬӘڌˇ٪lZ࣐�gǧñŻɽع
тƸ՘○ߧڎˁŀْ࣐࠽ў̗ʂ؛ƬԵՍ̎ò�ŇƬǱӘعgoڌ࣐X՘ޓȫʂ؛Ʒ

ɑÊʡعĐ�½ɉƬ࣐ࠆƗǶ�½՘ڎ○vߡ©࣐σ՘ǲѝࡷߊߕȆϫ࣐ˎス࣐˝̦

՘�Ƃܹ�ࡈْ࣐ʝo—ْ޾ʂࠜ؛ȋ՘ʫ߂ǄǏ՘ɽֱ۲߆࣐ˆˁ܉ࡦߞ࣐˷ةS
ю࠙ζࠝし٪ݺ߂ª࣐Ƭт࣐̑Ƹ̹͕ȫࠞYࠕΝ《Ѹ՘ˏ࣐˜܉�ōȆтĐśɉώ

ȅ՘ŻώǱߥĂ՘ֈ֕ɧͽé̌½՘࣐ޡןшîş̖ϑ࣐ΝεӘ޾©܉ǄǏ՘ʫ߂ɽ

ֱωެߡˇ܉࣐۲߆߁vٺԺ՘Һ�՘࣐ڌרѕ̜ڑ �ѕǲ࣐�«5-6 30�
۞1Ӫ࣎.§ɽڊǄǏ՘S߂ʫ޾ٿʵް�½J࣐࣏թeݦӏ՘ɽپٿ࣎ݦ՘ɽ࣏cent࣎
וǄΥܰ2ߖ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ37

1642ʕ 10ϐ 17Υ࣐ΝҖў	

Ʒ̑Ƹ̹͕ȫࠞY՘ÓƔYߡ࣐vࡥϓ̌½՘Ϡ֜՘࡬է܉߸ٿ�Ƃߧªo.̌½�

̂ϑ՘ɌО͊ˀ�½࣐_öʝ߸޲ǽ؂êȴ࣐ԅĉʵܹ�½ʂ̠܉̝݁؛�½՘ƶƸ

řؗݴ½՘q《.ܷȨ޾v͕̹࣐˃�ܬȫࠞYź��½܉ʎאȘªؗ̌½ʫ߂Ǆ

Ǐ࣐l܉ʎٿࡼ׽Κࡼࢤԃªؗ̌½.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ37

1642ʕ 10ϐ 20Υ࣐ΝҖў	

Ïθ޿�۞ڮ࣐q Cornelis	de	SmithÇeϜƸ޿q Theodoreˇވ࠴؛׳ࡆてߏтƸ࣐
TheodoreΝώޮۻ�źӘٿ֜߷,߻ҖўѰʄ࣎܂Tapourji࣏՘࡬է̂ך…࣐ 100ス
ֈ࣐֕ŁϜϐ 4ΥϑSڑҺ�՘ڌרƷ׳ࡆs࣐½̌ܣ�đ֣ɻȫƷWݱڿ֜ݘ_ʂ
�м՘ߡvֈ࣐֕ɉΝޮΥߌª׳ࡆyؗîş.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ38
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1642ʕ 10ϐ 21Υ࣐ΝҖў	

̹͕ȫࠞY҇`ɋ PedelđʾҫXҤ࣐ʎ ʇڙ30Ќ-׻11212ス-࣏arack࣎ӭ߭ػ30
ʇŻ࣏cangan࣎ 3,`ưӠ࣐ڪIyΰ׵Żòࡼ�ԃ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ39

1642ʕ 10ϐ 25Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ʫ߂ǄǏɽ§࣐ƬࡷǱ࣐ǲùْӜѻ۲߆.ŌƬɛќɎィאߌȘª՘q《ࡘˆ۲߆࣐

ʏ࣐˷ةƬт̑Ƹ̹͕ȫࠞYc̗҇ڋ Sijmen	Cornelissen޿ٿqイڑߡǱࡪңڌҭ
ҫIւאȘߡ¯�࣐ɽֱω٪ࡥĊ࣐۲߆eζ܉IyΰSvΚࡼࢤԃŻ࣐ࡼ׽Әтy

ؗ�SvԢм.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ39

1642ʕ 10ϐ 26Υ࣐ΝҖў	

̑Ƹ̹͕ȫÞٺܡԺҺ�՘ڌרՆ`՘Sڑߡ࣐ڑʂ؛ҳޘֈ࣐֕đʾپӏڑߡ�࣐

ޘڌ 16»ԵՍ՘ǧñSݺIپӏ࠙޷_࣐ȫࠞY՘ϊ·࣐�ōٺˇXи…ؗƷپӏ
՘࠙ȫࠞY�˃̖…՘šִϊ·ΐ�Iپӏ࣐Ը�hX࠙޲ȫࠞYܮ؎ǓsSăq

《.	
�ǲlˆ˥ڑߡ࣐ѮϑٺԺۻ113࣐Ѯͽ՘ڌרX՘ߡ 23»Һ޸�éê࠴o܉½�࣐
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.§ħʼŻyؗ�½՘ɽߡߜ޸ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ40

1642ʕ 10ϐ 29Υ࣐ΝҖў	

̑Ƹ̹͕ȫࠞY҇߻,߷֜�ʎSɇƫ·IؗXɋ HarrouseeࠞY.	
ŌϑS»߻,߷֜՘ɛќʎSɇXɋ Harrouzee՘ϊ·ªؗ̑Ƹ̹͕ȫࠞY࣐ܷ…࣐
ΝX»ϐ՘ 25Υ࣐ϑSڑҺڌר�ˇ֣ɻてֵ࣐ٝ׳ࡆߏƷ֣ɻˇì»¢Ʒپӏ՘

																																																								
112	 arack࣐ 	 ȡّܓܤӘ3 rijstbrandewijn 	Ysbrantsz	Willem	ed.,	Roeper,	D.	V.࣒܋࣐e߭4࢈ۂֹ׵

Bontekoe,	Iovrnael	ofte	gedenckwaerdige	beschrijvinghe:	De	wonderlijke	avonturen	van	een	schippeur	in	de	

Oost.	(Amsterdam:	Terra	Incognita,	1996),	p.	74.тӘپӏÓؘ՘࣐߭׵ϑՅΝ߂ߵ՘`ư߭׵. 	
113	 3ѮϑٺԺ4࣐ŇΐӘ onvrij࣐˲̹Ӝ۲ډyΰǉӢ-ّ֨ݸ. 	
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ɉΝr-WǲêđڌרڑŗϑS࣐׳ࡆ�đª̖࣐ΰݥԺٺ׳ࡆś�Ʒ࣐˥ˆƎڵ

ª.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ40

1642ʕ 10ϐ 30Υ࣐ΝҖў	

̑Ƹ̹͕ȫࠞY̗҇ڋ Sijmen	Cornelissenԙࡪ 4»ǧñŻ ۞ڮ«ߡÇe࣐Ƃڌ«2
ySɇ·ؗXɋ׳ࡆIވ࠴ˇ࣐q޿� Harrousee࣐źܭ�Xɋܷ܉࣐ˇX֣޲ɻª
՘ڌרBYޓࢎ׳ࡆś٪܉ࡍ՘̖ϑϥߡ̠࣐܈vϥ܈՘ҟƘͽズyؗߡvҺ�՘࡬

	.ӏͽмپ��ʎI࣐ࡪ
�ǲࠜȋˇڑߡѮϑٺԺ՘Һ�՘࣎ڌרΝ̌½てߏтƸζՕԢْѮͽ࣏Bܭ̠࣐ݞ

ȭŀˏ࣐۲ډƷҏX࣐ӵٰڂˁُ؛ʂڌרڑ޾ƬӘ࣐࠿ڌ՘½̌߆՘ֈ֕ィޘ̖ڌ

ӐۛȱŻò߂Ըªʫ܂�ōƷǄǏ࣐օϭ߂܄vϙΔ̷ªтƸߡ՘ڌרܭ̠࣐Ăڸ࠽

�Ը1࣎.޼Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ40

1642û 11ť	

1642ʕ 11ϐ 2Υ࣐ΝҖў	

Xڌרڑߡ޲Ȩëと࣐ࠜl̠ݞԃëߥBYªo࣐ィÿ؂ 30	lastϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ̠࣐֕
X܁vֈ֕޾ ߡ࣐ڌרڑ2 Ժ՘ҺٺڑXS܁ߞŗǫ࣐ǿŐ՘׳ࡆε�đƷڌרڑ2
�՘࣐ڌרԸ؂ 30»�ª࣐ߌ܁ѕS»܁�o 3ス.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ41

1642ʕ 11ϐ 3Υ࣐ΝҖў	

Þߡܡv̸ϑ࠙ȫԅħԁΙࠞYсՆ۲݇޿՘ߡvٺԺҺ�՘ڌרI۲߆�½՘ֈ֕

yΰ࣐ƬǄǏ՘ɽֱʂ؛Zö܉ࡍҺ�ªɽ§o.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ41

1642ʕ 11ϐ 6Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ΨιX޲`ɋ࣐҇ۻIҖўѲXҤ݉sɛќ܉ߞ࣐ʎאȘYª࣐kĐɉϏʰ̌ݺ½՘

ȅǲ.܂޾ʏȲ˙ªࡘεƬӘ࣐ȘYªאߌܕȥ݁ߘe̖�Ѯϑ½�࣐ܷ½�.˘˽

ѝ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ90
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1642ʕ 11ϐ 8Υ࣐ΝҖў	

lڑҺ�՘ޘ׳ࡆˇڌר`ư߭׵-Ӡڪ-ʇΔחԃžđª࣐lʎªSɇ mayoor	
Harrousee…ؗ̑Ƹ̹͕ȫࠞY՘ϊ·.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ90

H.	Harrousse…ؗ J.	Lamotius՘ϊ·࣓1642࣐׳ࡆʕ 10ϐ 19Υ࣐VOC	1140࣐fol.	320-321࣐

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	Those	of	Kimaurij	and	Taporij	now	experience	that	their	escape	did	them	a	lot	of	harm	

because	they	are	now	already	in	serious	need	of	rice,	for	the	purchase	of	which	they	not	only	go	

to	St.	Jago,	Tamsuy	and	other	places	but	they	even	come	here	every	day	to	barter	fish	for	rice.	

Their	need	for	food	is	a	more	severe	punishment	for	them	than	by	any	sword.	Undoubtedly	it	not	

only	will	neutralise	the	bias,	anger	and	obstinacy	of	that	savage	crowd,	but	their	fear,	will	inspire	

awe	in	them	and	link	them	closer	to	our	authority.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	2,	pp.	310-

	࣏.311

1642ʕ 11ϐ 10Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ؗԿࢎҖў՘ AnthonioǄǏ՘ώ͕̹࢛ȫ`ɋ Thomas	Pedelōò݋ܧϏ՘̹࣐�
1642ʕ 10ϐ 10Υ10࣒ܤّ݊`࣎ϐ 10Υ࣐ܽ° 11ϐ 10Υeܵ.࣏…….	
ࠞYzࡦգś٪ϳήˇтƸČ׳ࡆ՘ވߎ-ɐ˄-ҫ҈-šƸԉѸ-�ōɛќ《Ѹ࣐

�¯ࠞY٪࠼ζ҇S»ǧñ̎ڮ۞�ͻʎސ࠼фơٿվպ࣐ÇeSì»ώś࡙՘ɛ

ќ࣐Ó޷·�̎ò�ϥܝ܉_࣐܈Yšۡ՘ԅ࣐ڕԸ�…̋Ûړ՘ΠֱǓɏ࣐ՄÿȨ

Ό՘Ƹԥ؊͏.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ44
VOC	1146࣐fol.679-680.	

1642ʕ 11ϐ 13Υ࣐ΝҖў	

Waddij114՘޿qÇe…׀࣎Ֆ࣏…֜՘ʘ»ɛќƫª࣐ʎªSvࢢ-ࡆŻ܉Ә`ɋ߂
дȘ՘ࡅϙ.	
тǫ࣐̌½hX޲ɛќȰ̑ݍƸ̹͕ȫ LamosiusࠞYԿƷтƸ՘̹܂�՘̖ϑЉ
м؛_࣐Ժ`ɋh�½՘ܷࡪ࡬ή࣐Łࢋã̠܉�½՘ƶƸr࣐½̌ؗݴɎт࣐�½

½�޷ݴԛΣª.Νε`ɋ܎ʎ܉ήǲ̂ך_࣐Ӣަ̂ך ʇڙ՘Ќڕ10ۘ

																																																								
114	 Waddij	 .ڹǱҺҫSʎ՘Ň¢ќٚٿ�Κʛҫ̹࣐Waddingh࣒§Ō࣐ 	
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Ż࣏cangangh࣎ 3,Ӡ࣐ڪ�½ɕʎߡڻvϥ܈ƫIo.`ɋόź��½̠܉࣐�½
՘ࡅϙʎªʆ࣐ݬࡁώǬ 2-3ǲ࣐Ɏт�½ܷߧȅ࣐l࣐̂ךϏ̠̌½ƷАϩ޴܂
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.՘ǧñʎƫтƸވ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ91
h֣ӻ͡ѰɛќȰݍ՘Љм.VOC	1146࣐fol.	713.	

`ɋ PedelhŇ¢ќȰ̑ݍƸ̹͕ȫԿY՘Љм࣐ź�ªшࡥ՘Ň¢ќ̠�½՘ўϫ-Ͻ

՘Ϡޮߪ.ݱʇΔͽ̎߻ԸԢ࣐�Ϗ�aԥ×Ͼ۞ڮ࣐ݬªࡁʎČʆࢢ-ȳՀ-ۧࡆ-ڱ

Đڹ՘Ϡߒώ࣐ࡁªSиʆ܉ѕvڹ 14ǲªSи.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

First,	that	they	will	voluntarily	offer	their	land	to	the	Dutch,	and	that	they	will	actively	

demonstrate	their	fidelity	and	allegiance	in	all	eternity.	That	they	will	not	raise	up	arms	against	

the	Company	or	any	of	our	allied	friends,	nor	for	any	reason	whatsoever,	against	those	with	

whom	we,	as	well	as	they	themselves,	are	presently	at	peace	with,	but	that	on	the	contrary	they	

will	offer	them	all	help,	support	and	assistance,	especially	if	some	of	our	people	or	allies	run	

aground	or	are	wrecked	with	their	yachts,	junks	or	other	craft	on	their	beaches,	when	they	will	

have	to	loyally	assist	in	rescuing	the	people	from	drowning	as	well	as	salvaging	the	goods	and	the	

vessels	and	see	to	it	that	everything	is	brought	to	one	of	our	nearest	fortresses	or	garrisons.	

Whenever	a	Prince's	flag	together	with	a	seal	or	identifying	mark,	similar	to	the	one	which	has	

been	given	to	them,	is	shown	to	them	in	their	villages,	their	elders	and	headmen	should	

immediately	show	up	at	the	fortress	on	the	island	of	Quelang,	in	order	to	be	informed	of	any	

order	or	commission	that	the	authorities	wish	to	give	them,	and	any	obligations	they	must	fulfill.	

That	also	if	any	of	our	huntsmen	or	one	of	our	allies,	should	get	lost	in	or	near	their	places,	they	

will	have	to	see	to	it	that	he	is	brought	back	safely;	but	on	the	contrary	that	they	will	immediately	

bring	in	all	runaway	'blacks'	and	other	fugitives,	whether	freemen	or	slaves,	whom	they	might	run	

across,	either	with	or	without	the	use	of	force.	And	if	such	people	show	strong	opposition	they	

are	allowed	to	bring	the	runaway's	head	to	Quelang	or	elsewhere,	for	which	the	Company	will	

give	them	a	reasonable	recompense.	

That	also	they	must	assist	us	with	their	entire	force,	whenever	we	enter	into	war	with	some	

rebellious	inhabitants.	Likewise	we,	in	our	turn,	will	assist	and	protect	them	against	their	enemies,	

if	the	war	is	based	on	reasonable	arguments	and	is	undertaken	after	serious	consideration.	That	

the	people	of	all	neighbouring	villages	once	a	week,	and	those	of	the	most	remote	places	once	in	

fourteen	days,	will	appear	at	the	market	over	here	to	sell	earth-	and	tree	fruits,	hens	eggs,	fish,	as	

well	as	large	and	small	livestock.	For	their	merchandise	they	will	receive	a	proper	price	either	in	

cash	or	in	textiles	or	other	goods.	

Finally	and	at	last,	that	these	articles	will	be	drawn	up	and	concluded	with	the	approbation	of	our	

High	Government	[at	Batavia].	Therefore	the	inhabitants	or	their	headmen	will	have	to	undertake	

and	accept	all	adjustments,	reductions	or	increases,	provided	that	every	change	is	implemented	

for	good	reasons	in	the	same	way	as	the	here	mentioned	articles	have	been	formulated.࣎The	

Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	2,	pp.	326-327.࣏	
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1642ʕ 11ϐ 15Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ϑ 2»Һ�Ը ߌיא࠿1 300ϽאȘYª׉½�࣐ďŌƫIX࡚܉࣐IߌωǬאȘ
ª.`Ķ࣐ϑMaron֜115՘ 3»ɛќ޿ޅqWaddiouwª̌½࣐ܷ࣐܂޾ƬӘ�½
ˆ˥`ɋ Thomas	PedelԿƷтƸࡲٺ�̖࣐ªo࣐ܷ_࣐ɉΝ 2-3ǲêªrݴ�½
՘ƶƸ࣐_ʎࡼԃª.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ92

1642ʕ 11ϐ 16Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ϑ 6»фϘӏ֜࣎Ponorouan࣏՘ɛќ̸S࡚ՖΣ޿ޅq BallauwªтƸ࣐ʎʘϻϫ
Щ܉ڝªִƷтƸ࣐§Әؔբ՘۹ˌ࣐̌½̻ӢƷܖئ׳ࡆ՘Љм࣐śƷ�ǲ̎ήǲ

Љм՘̟Ϝ̑Ƹ̹͕ȫࠞYԿƷтܭ.؄é̌½՘ɥY½�ɉ_࣐È՘qܭ½�֛̹

Ƹ࣐�½ʃ؛ήՖܭЉм՘êȴ࣐lߘ܉̂ךȥܭЉм.X޲ϫЩڝϑ࣏2࣎ϻЬȘ
Щ2-ڝϻЅЩ2-ڝϻۏࢌЩ࣐ڝ�½_ɉ޾vЩִڝƷтƸ.116	
ɛќ܉ˇϩ�Řϑ࣐˸ي½�Zε׵Ƭִ࣐׵ݣ࣏Kijpatauw̢࣎֜.ٿ࣏֜Cenar࣎
фϘӏ࣐֜Ƭт࣐׵ƷִߧҖў՘�ĐČْ࣐ۡ׵�ѮϑƷִ࣏Bissayer࣎ݲࢍ½�
՘࣐�Ł܉ߧ࣐�ݲࢍªh�½1࣎.׵ݣӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ92

1642ʕ 11ϐ 17Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ࡪqWaddauwʎ޿ 3»Morauw֜117՘࡬էªтƸ࣐�½ʎ 1ϻۏࢌЩڝŻ 1ϻЅ
Щ܉ڝªִƷтƸ࣐§Әrݴ�½՘ƶƸؗ̌½࣐�½՘�ш̌ࡥ½՘۹ˌ࣐lߘ܉

ȥޅò�ɛќܖئ՘eШ՘Љм޾࣐vЉм؛Ժ޿qs࣐½�ܣƬӘƷ׳ࡆ�½Ѯϑ

rݴƶƸ޾࣐εוSиrݴ՘.�½e̖ࢵߡח�dしª࣐εƬӘˁ˓࣐ò�ɛќǱ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.׵ͽĔ�½՘ڻ˓ƷߞߧĂߥ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ92

																																																								
115	 e Morauw࣐љɑ֜ه. 	
116	 тюݦΔʂ̹ÿ࠵࣒ήɧࠧޮ՘ϰ-Ь-࣐ۏࢌ�ōY޲՘ڬϬ-ЄЩ-ϲȘê࣐ࡳεǫªִ࣐

ªٺ`ưࠟ̋׹ĂǱ. 	
117	 Morauw࣐Ł Mosauw࣐Kimassauw࣐љɑ࣐֜ه�Ŝ.ʆǧϩSʎ. 	
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1642ʕ 11ϐ 18Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ΨιŌϑ 3»Waron118՘ɛќ޿ޅqWaduSݺª̌½࣐܂޾ʎªSϻЅЩڝ-Sϻ
тƸ՘ò�ϫЩޅª܉119࣏besieboomtjenࣈڝŻSϻЄЩ࣐࣏ritsiesboom࣎ڝϬЩڬ

ִƷSݺ.	
�ǲƷǄǏđԸאȘ߂oS»Ǆ1࣎.ࠚӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ93

1642ʕ 11ϐ 20Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ؗ׳ࡆSɇ·I޷½̌ Harousee࣐Ժ 2»ϩ�֜՘ɛќ࣐ò`S»fřWƃ
�ōǧñ࣐࣏Samco࣎ Joost	de	HontS޷ݺIܭ࣐ǧñʎڻ�՘уРŻSϽվպ࣐Ƭ
Ә�Ϗ܈ԡԀ࣐ܳcź܉��ѷܩ޼Əɛќ՘ވߎ-˜ي-ɐ˄-ҫɺŻšƸ《Ѹ࣐

գś٪ƸܑȽ࣐Νƫª�˃͐ÿǓs.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ93

1642ʕ 11ϐ 21Υ࣐ΝҖў	

Гԃ޿࣒qWaddauʎ 2»ϩȘ࣎Cenaer࣏֜՘ɛќª࣐ò`Sfř Kaekielach՘࣐
ε࡬էeS࣐�rݴƶƸ࣐_ʎª 1ϻϲȘЩ࣎ڝpompelmoesboom࣐࣏	 1201ϻЅЩ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ƷтƸִڝvЩ޾̠࣐ڝЩۏࢌ2ϻ࣐ڝ 2õו 	ࡢ93

	

1642ʕ 11ϐ 26Υ࣐ΝҖў	

՘Řϑֈޘ̖࣐߻ࢶɛќlѮϑyΰČޅ࣐Ōܷ……࣐܂޾½՘Һ�ª̌ڌרڑ2
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ĉӜ�ԃ࣐֕ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ94

																																																								
118	 Waron࣐̂Ł Marou ՘࣐ܵזŁX࡚ 11 ϐ 17 ΥЉ Morauw ՘ŗS…ѻ࣐Łљɑ֜ه. 	
119	 besieboomtjen࣐Ł Besieboom࣐ε moerbij࣐ЄЩ. 	
120	 ϲȘ pompelmoesboom࣐ȡfӘ Citrus	maxima. 	
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1642ʕ 11ϐ 28Υ࣐ΝҖў	

YĶ࣐ӐۛƸֻ׃ўߏ 1t࣐࢛Ʒֻў�đZdߞIծࡃ࣐ߍӝطصYڻǱ࣐ࡉl~
ZߗՊƸ7̠Ӑۛ8ߧィČX࡚ªo.θXɼߠζ࣐ծČϭƷࢍĊwֳǏX՘ߡ ࠚ2
Ǳօʂ؛Y߃࣐࠳օSߧҐČў܉○࣐܂ҪÿȢ½՘օϭ࣐̓YǄࠚo࣐ƬӘطص՘

Yࡉ࣐ࡉў̠ϙϧŻאȘ՘ƸϧY࡚՘ƶǱ҈ߺǶٽ�࣐ƸϧY࠳.Ƭт̌½̠ߡv

Ǳօの࡚܂߆ªࠥ�࣐˲ǫ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	.࣏ࡢ95

1642û 12ť	

1642ʕ 12ϐ 8Υ࣐ΝҖў	

Ψιǲ}�đ࣐`ɋイ࣐ڈڇڑߡԙࡪl4»࣐�ϑޓȫ-ǧñ-ў̗ډ࣐ʾXҤ܉࣐
Iɼ܍š֜܉_࣐I̜ЭϏ͉ϳ֙߻՘ґ、࣐_I̙ٟݸ޸՘Cackejen121࣐�l܉I

źߡ�vߞϚшࡥ՘Ϡ֜܉࣐ªrݴƶƸ_אߌȘª.Ә޾vէ՘࣐ͻʎoSvƎž

ŻԢм.Ψιϑνϔ՘࠵ä࣐�Ōࠜȋċݺʵ࣐ࡷˇ.Μoª.�ǲߞԸ׵ۅࠃڪº

՘ɞ1࣎.ࡣӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ22וõ࣏ࡢ97ו	

1642ʕ 12ϐ 13Υ࣐ΝҖў	

՘ޮߪ Kienasodouaen֜122ϑʘ»ɛќ࣐ª̌½࣐܂޾ɕʎ̌ࡪ½у۲đʾ�½՘Ϡ

֜.Ƭ޾ҫߎ՘ҝӎ࣐̌½՘ڈڇӜѻhXҤ۲ډ.�ǲԿYSʴ؇Љؗ޾Ϡ֜՘ɛ

ќ࣐ズ�ź��½܉࣐Ν 8ǲêߌ 400ϽאȘYªߌ࣐ªo࣐ɕśԕˆݴԃߐڠ࣐
ؽ࣐� 	.ݗ࠿3

ݣϠ֜՘ɛќ޾ˇ½̌ �ÿ࣐ݗ࠿2 4
1
2	߷ӻ.޾»Ϡ֜ Νê࣐࠴ɛќ؂ 50Č 60

»�.̌½Ʒ܂޾Ѯ޽ԿǬdɕŌࠜࡇo࣐Çeʘ»޾Ϡ֜՘ɛќу۲đʾ Cibocan

																																																								
121	 Cackejen .�࣏Cagayan࣎ľĜӠլߥ.ݧ˂ڶ̹࣐� 	
122	 Kienasodouaen࣐Ʒ Cubocan ś٪ε࣐ޮࠧ Kimasodouaen࣐Ł Kimassouw࣐љɑ࣐֜ه�Ŝ.ʆǧϩ

Sʎ. 	
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֜.123؂ΝXĶ őČ࣐֜ܭªČࠒࢺ9 Ł࣐է࡬«2 PerremochŻ Tamsuyࡘ࣐ʏ܎
ă՘пޭŻмˀ.……޾ 2» Sebacon֜՘࡬էˁܴ́Ƹh`ɋܼѢ࣐ÞܡҺ�Č�
	.�ԅĉƕпҺ½�࣐lˇ�½՘۹《ծÿ࣐ӝծÿࡵƬт࣐ª܂޾½
ŌƬ̌½ƷтƸŐˆSvΚࡼࢤԃؗ�̖࣐ÿSvӠ؂.ڪΝ`Ķ޾ࠜࡇ» Sibacon

޾.֜ Sebacon֜ ΝҫΟ࣐�Ƭҝӎ̎Ѱ҅࠿ڌ࣐Z٪࡙ޮࡦˏ࣐Ʒ؂֜ܭࡇބ
1
2	

ۡ՘YҤY܂ߡˇ࣐ڌу۲é֜.֜êáҳ̕Ș࣐ɛќ�ΎZܮ.	
؂YĶ ªČ࣐ࢺ3 Sebaconҫգ߆.࡬éҖўѲS�˃࣐`ɋѪȭ̌ޅ࠿ߡ࣐҇½S
hYҤIؗYʌƎĦȫ࣐לԃŻSɇվࡼࢤSvΚڻޘچ۲՘Ԕϙ࠼ݺ Peter	Heyn.
̌½cҭҖўѲXI؂࣐Νθࠝ ÿ޸ߧՕԢɛќ࣐ªČS»ֵӘфϘӏ՘Ϡ֜ࠒࢺ8
ߡƷɎ࡚¢�࣐Řܷ࣐ࢵ�Z٪ؗ̌½̹֛Դ࣐ČS»ɛќ̜߷֜ߡŘϑƷ࣐o֜ܭ

ЉWaddinghҫΟ࣐ƬтŘȅԺ�ʎ̌ࡪ½đʾɎ࡚՘ Tokojan֜.124
ǄΥߖ۞1Ӫ࣎

ו2ܰ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ103

1642ʕ 12ϐ 14Υ࣐ΝҖў	

`ɋlź࡬«޾�է࣐Ν 8ǲê҇ߌ� 600ϽאȘYª࣐ӘтɉϏؗ�½îʔ՘ݴ
ž࣐�Ȇϫ࣐�ߐĐɉؽ է࡬.ݗ࠿3 EsauܼѢܷܼ࣐̌½Zࠦ܉рҺ�I�½ߡ
Ʒ࣐Ӣؗ�՘؇Љߘ܉࣐է࡬«޾�ª�½ˁƕпҺ�.……`ɋlźݺծ࣐܂ 8ǲ
êߌ�࣐҇ 200ϽאȘYª࣐�½ɉƬْԕˆݴԃ࣐�թŏƸ࣐Ȇϫ࣐�ߐɕؽۻ܉

oݣէ࡬«޾h࣐§Әîş՘ɽ_.ݗ࠿3 �ÿ࣐چԔϙڑ1 4	
1
2	߷ӻ࣐ӘΥʏࡼ׽

�ÿ࣐ࢢݣ
3
4	߷ӻ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ104

1642ʕ 12ϐ 21Υ࣐ΝҖў	

θ࣐ࠝSabocan֜՘࡬է࣐fř Peromoch࣐Ը ޘچԔϙ࠿15 50»ɛќªČ޾ǄǏđ
ʎªǱ՘Żߞ࣐ϓшɥࡥ۹֛ɉȨë܉Ә_࣐ɋ`ؗݴ�՘ƶƸȨëMƑƸr̠࣐࡚

ɐ՘ЅЩ-S՟׵-Svے-ŻSϻۏࢌЩ࣐тǫߌߞª 600ϽאȘ࣐Әт࣐`ɋݴ

																																																								
123	 Cibocan࣐Ō̶࣒̋Cebacan	/	Cubocan	/	Sibacon	/	Sabocan࣐փĈ̂εࢴɑهb֜՘Ѱࢴʥ	 /	؆ʐʥ࣐࣐֜̎

3Wܒǅ֜4࣐CibocanܭޮࡠƸΜ՘֕ɧ3؆ʐƾ4.	
124	 Tokojan࣐Tockojan࣐ˀِ࣐ś٪ƷŜ.ϧЫٿΚڰSʎ. 	
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½�޷ 1ǖ kattekyntjeʇ-1252,ӠڪŻ וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.࣏arack࣎ӭ߭ػ1 2õו

	࣏ࡢ106

1642ʕ 12ϐ 23Υ࣐ΝҖў	

X࡚͐ō՘ Cibocan֜՘ɛќߌ࣐ªĒY՘ 200ϽאȘ࣐�½ʎ࡚ߡڻ�đƷࡪ׳ࡆ
Ő՘܎ԛΣ࣐Zd�½ɕŌhXҤƫډo.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ107

1642ʕ 12ϐ 27Υ࣐ΝҖў	

Tackojan֜՘ߌ� 100ϽאȘªČтƸ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ107

1642ʕ 12ϐ 28Υ࣐ΝҖў	

Cattia֜՘࡬էÇeʘ»ɛќđªтƸ࣐�½ªrݴ�½՘ƶƸؗ̌½࣐ʎª 3ϻࢌ
ЩŻۏ 1ϻЅЩ࣐Әт޷ݴ�½ 50Ќڙʇ࣎cangangh࣏ʇŻSvӠڪ.�ǲo܈
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.oߏてچª՘Ԕϙ׳ࡆˇ࠿ߡ࣐ࡷ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ107

1642ʕ 12ϐ 12Υ࣐	

cςζԺ࣐՘ǄǏ׳ࡆ HarrousseԿƷ1642.͕̹܂ߡʕ 9ϐ`ߡ࣐ζǲѝʂ؛ȅ
ԡ܈ǢSюζƏ՘�đ՘͗؛I̠ʂ࣐Җўٿ׳ࡆđʾ࠷ޓ�՘ࡪԙ߉Lamotius࣐ޢ
ԀǄǏ߸Κ¸ʫݺª࣐�¯yΰֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ106

	.678-658࣐1146	pp.171-175࣓VOC࣐Ǔs2R.GP.112ڊϏS݋ܧܧٿոخ1

																																																								
125	 kattekyntje ʇ࣐ܳҨªٺѻܳ՘ casaquinސآ̹࣐ȀվX۸. 	
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1642ʕ 12ϐ 12-23Υ	

ʄ؞ߏw޷Sʴ׳ࡆ՘ƸƴƫI֞ưؗîş՘ھq࣐ƸƴXՄϑˇ܈ԡԀ�ǿˆ՘Ǆ

Ǐ࣐�ō܉ƷҖўڀʫ՘ǄǏܗܠƴ.ƸƴXl̹ÿś٪̜Č߻ࢶ՘ƸΜ.eζl޷

Sʴ࠙ڌôƶƸҢߺʋMaarten	Gerritsz	de	Vries܄س՘֣ӻ͡ѰɱëɱSܐƴ.	
ʿϓ׳ࡆ՘܈ԡԀ�՘ǄǏζ࣐ˇ΍�ԕˆ×Ã ٿոخߍի՘̑Ċž.Zڮ40,000
ϥĿʝ݋ܧϏˁߛ˿Ƹ̹ÿ࣐îşƷw҅՘Ǝ࣐ࢆΌ»Ƹծ࣐εࠅݪo؃࣐șߏ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.՘ƸΜࠅݪӏlεپ࣐իڮ61,315.18.5 2õו 	࣏ࡢ16

	pp.186-187࣐pp.175-176-R.G.P.112࣐Ǔs2R.G.P.112ڊϏS݋ܧܧٿոخ1

1643û 1ť	

1643ʕ 1ϐ 3ΥΝҖў	

ϑϩ��՘߹࣏֜Cenaer࣎ ؗ޷�ʎʘ»ЅȘª߹܉ò`՘b࣐ªČǄǏǫ࡚ڌ࠿1
`ɋޘ½�࣐ܷ࣐Sv׵Żòࡼ�ԃ܉ʎƫI�½՘Ϡ֜.`ɋź̠܉��ĒY՘א

ȘˇXҤߌYª.̂ך�Ӣަ.Νεؗ޷�½SvӠڪe˃࣐�½ɕhXҤډI.

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣐࣏ࡢ108

1643ʕ 1ϐ 13Υ࣐ΝҖў	

߷΢֜ʘ»ɛќªтƸ࣐Ը ۹࣐½ԃªؗ̌ࡼࢤŻò�Κۖێ-SvЅ޷چԔϙ࠿2
֛�½՘ȅ˲.̌½〔݆Ƹ̠޾vϥ܈ͽoYª޷ݴ_࣐�½SvӠ࣐ڪӝ˃�½ɕ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.oࠜࡇ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ109

1643ʕ 1ϐ 18Υ࣐ΝҖў	

q޿ FranciscoÇe 2»߹�イòԔϙچÿՕđʾ࣐׳ࡆ�ZƕпطصԿƷтƸ࣐Ƭ
Ә�՘ϒMƷŚƔ�.Ƭт̌½yؗ�Sɇվݏ࣐ל�ʎIؗ mayoor	Harousee࣐s
�ƷтƸ«޾࣐�ܣ 6»αϗ՘《ʹ޷ݴ_࣐� 10Ќڙʇ࣎cangangh࣏Ż 2,Ӡ
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޾l࣐̹ؗ̍߾ϙЋȘŻSv«3࣐Șࠑɐ«1࣐ڪ �߹׳ࡆ«2 Ќ	126࣏el࣎ɗ֐5
ʇŻڙ 2,Ӡڪ.	
YĶ࣐љɑࣈ֜هMasou࣏՘࡬է࣐fř Kilach࣐イ ʎªSv࣐ªČтƸچԔϙ࠿1
�޷ݴ127Әт.׵-ںڭ 1,Ӡ1࣎.ڪӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ110

1643ʕ 1ϐ 20Υ࣐ΝҖў	

YĶ Cornelis	de	Smithˇ׳ࡆªČтƸ࣐�Ǔsܷ࣐……Ƭт`ɋ̙܉מöи…·Iࡆ
ؗ׳ mayoor	HarouseeŻ܂ߡ՘݋ܧϏٺ܎¯�࣐Iߡ©࣐܂ߡvɛќҳ˲ڀ࢛.ծ
�eࠝ՘Mܸś½̌ٿ½�ШƷ޾.˲vɛќŘϑɎ`ɋҳߡ࣐ʂîࠜ۹ή]࣐ªݺ

ǜ࣐࠙ǜ࠙Čٿ½�ߍݼªтƸyΰֈ֕߻ࢶٿ՘Һ�՘Mܸ.ω߸܉՘ߞ࣐śۗ�

ϳÿ޿ʾկс՘֙߻՘࣐ވߎӘîş΄ħ…….1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ110

1643ʕ 1ϐ 26Υ࣐ΝҖў	

`Ķ࣐`ɋ Thomas	PedelŻYʌƎĦȫ Pieter	HeynãԵÇeخΎ ǧñ̲,࣐�«20
Żօ̗࣐イh Җў޾ˇ࣐چԔϙ࠿2 AntonioǄǏÿՕ࣐ҭҫډʾXҤ࣐…	 	
Ǆ؂6˃ࠛࠢࠚ»ɐζ࣐ϑ ƎĦٿɋ`࣐Ǔsܷ࣐ɋÿՕ՘ǧñƫªтƸ`࠼ޅ«2
ȫ HeynãԵ�ō࠼ˇ՘ߧ�ʂ؛Č Joost	de	Jaeger܂ߡo࣐ʎƫªʘЉ́Č՘ࢨ
128.ࢢ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ112

1643ʕ 1ϐ 29Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ϑ էøù࡬̲,࣐ϑԽ�-Ȁ�Żɐȟޘ࣐΢֜ªČǄǏđ߷ˇچԔϙ࠿7
т.ڪȄSvӠؗ޷Әт࣐ɋ`ؗ޷ª࣏massecau࣎ʎSvՃ࣐߭ȊȘ࣏Penap࣎
ǫ࣐�½lԸSvΚࡼࢤԃ࣐Öے-ۖێ-Գ࣎ۉsuyckeriet129࣏Żò�ϥ܈ª͓Ő

																																																								
126	 1 ɗ֐ el؂࣐ 69 îĂ࣒܋࣐Darja	de	Wever	ed.,	Rijklof	van	Goens,	Javaense	Reyse:	De	bezoeken	van	

een	VOC-gezant	aan	het	hof	van	Mataram,	1648-1654.	Amsterdam:	Terra	Incognita,	1995,	p.	55.	
127
ŇΐӘ࣒ sierij	met	wat	rijs࣐ sierij εࢍªܳ՘ sirih࣐Әںڭ. 	

128	 §4Ňΐࢢࢨ3 parringsڠ࣐Ӣș࡚࣐Ә3϶ā4ܳ܂޾�࣐˲Zή. 	
129	 Գ࣎ۉ suyckeriet࣏тζʂÿԢƷ.ߥ߷΢֜࣎�Ϧɧ࣐࣏ÃˆѾ˲. 	
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Ԣм-Ӡ޾˃࠼.חڪv߹�ɕʾYҤډI܉࣐Iオɍ࣎ࡳݙmosselen130࣐࣏ź��

½ƫª.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ112

1643ʕ 1ϐ 30Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ǧñ Hans	Gal-2»օ̗Ż ƬӘ࣐Ҝъࢺ�ʀSࢹ«ì޾.ªǄǏǫ׳ࡆˇ�ࢹ«2
δǭ ЛǱߊߕƬтԵź࣐ˁǱ՘ҏҋ͌IͤČ֖տْֆ֌ۻچ՘Ԕϙ½�࣐ࠒࢺ10
՘ŀ࣐࠽�Ƭ�½՘֠՘¶£̖࣐࠽ٮˆ࣐ؑ�Ʒޮࠧ޾ԵӐªӛmŐπ࣐ƬӘ�½

ëސӆْ࣐޺[ˁù.�½۹ήε̌½ˁȅ՘ϒM.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ112

1643ʕ 1ϐ 31Υ࣐ΝҖў	

�ǲߞϑʘ»ɛќª࣐ʎՃ߭࣎massecauwے131࣐࣏Żò�Κࡼࢤԃª۹࣐ԢࡘʏM

Ƒ࣐εˇˁXҤYª՘࣐ƬтSࢺlծZÿɎ̌½ϑ�¥『˲.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2

õו 	࣏ࡢ112

1643û 2ť	

1643ʕ 2ϐ 12Υ࣐ΝҖў	

՘èȘŻʘ»ɛќˇ߷΢֜イ࣏Penap࣎էøù࡬ ܉࣐ԛΣªČтƸ܎̸چԔϙ࠿2
Iҏӎ՘֖տ܂ߡょҏڴe࣎ࡳgroente1࣎.132࣏Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ115

																																																								
130	 ࣐۬kap̹࣐࣏࣎ۨmosselen࣎ࡳݙ giô࣎ۦ-࣏hamח࣏. 	
131	 massecauw࣐ܳҨٺϥ:wȦѩ՘3matacao,	matakau.	matacao,	mattacau,	mattekauw4̹ƶԶ՘Е

Ș߭eࡳ.ԸƷپӏ̹࣐̂ÓؘŇ¢ќ՘ɐח߭׵. 	
132	ҏڴe࣎ࡳgroente࣐࣏ˇϜΐΎۡ՘͏࣐޲Groentê,̲ࡳݙ mosselenח.	 	
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1643ʕ 2ϐ 13Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ϑ 2»ɛќˇ߷΢֜イ ޷ª࣏massecauw࣎ʎvՃ߭…࣐ǄǏđ࡚޾ªČچԔϙ࠿1
ࡇe˃ɕۖێǧñyΰޅ½�࣐ڀ࢛ʏࡘ½�©޾࣐ڪSvӠ½�޷ݴƬт࣐½̌ؗ

ࠜđʾXҤ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ116

1643û 3ť	

1643ʕ 3ϐ 2Υ࣐ΝҖў	

�Çe࣏Penap࣎էøù࡬ 2»èȘŻʘ»ɛќイʘ࠿Ԕϙߌ࣐چ 20ϽאȘªČт
Ƹ࣐�ʎڻS࡚܎ԛΣ.`ɋƏ࣐�Ә¥ѮߌωǬאȘª.ڻ˓½�࣐ܷךƷֶԹͨ

ߘѮϑ_½�܋ś࣐Șªאߌ٪ɕ࣐חݙۮΤ٪ªオɍ½�࣐ܷךȘ.`ɋcƫݓִ

۲̌½՘ź࣐�Ƭтź��½IאߌȘYª࣐ZӝɕZܡIオɍ࣐½�̂ך.חݙۮ

ؗ׳ࡆߍԃIࡼࢤŻò�ΚۖێϑѮϑʎ࣐½�ɕϏؗ�½֥ԃ.`ɋƏ࣐Șªאߌ

ǧño.ƫ࣐ܷךϑ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ118

1643ʕ 3ϐ 9Υ࣐ΝҖў	

øù࣎Penap࣏՘èȘŻò�ɛќª̌½࣐ܷ܂޾�½Ʒҏߟʂオȅ࣐חݙۮ`ɋc
Ɏ�½ܷߡ࣐ˁȅߌࡦˏ�࣐ªωǬ՘אȘ࣐۲ߘ̂ך�࣐Νεؗ�½SvӠ࣐ڪ�

½ɕࠜࡇo.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ119

1643ʕ 3ϐ 10Υ	

イ࣐ࢢࢭ١Żࢯ-ϑֈ֕ޘ࣐ŻȦҏـΔ࣐ࠚ߻đʾ࣐ډÿڌרڑ5 302»�.	
ߡ…… ϑߞڈڇڑ2 ƫª؂ߌיא࠿3 800ϽאȘ࣐ε�½ƷАϩ܂ւ�ª՘࣐ˁҵ
ѮϑٟČSߧ.Sɞ߂ǄǏYΜӘƎĦȫʫ޾Ʒ܉Sտӑ̕�ō߂Әîşʫ܉ε࣐{

ŖZڀ࢛՘ߡ࣐ܬvª�½܂ߡ՘ɛќޅߧ࣐ʾʏSШࡘ࣐ʏ܎ă.lIծߡߍʞֈ

֕ɧ࣎Swavelberghߡ࣐࣏εÃˆIծ՘࣐ƬӘƷ 30»Ze՘ƸΜѳҲ࣐ϑǱǱɐɐ
՘ƾƾ࣐҃҃Ҭʝ࢛Čޮࠧߡ՘ƶƸߧεӪӪ՘࣐̌½̠տ࣐࡚܂ߡ߆^࡬ɕƢÿࡷ
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ŻӐӬ࣐Ǳߥ�՘ζࠝߧƷ÷Ӡ܂ߡ؛҈࣐՘ߡЉҫ҈࣐Ƭطصߡ՘ӫӭŻ÷Ӡ࣐ҫ

ўࡘʏӪ࣐ӪČ̌½՘ٲZ٪ފéў܉࣐܂ҡߡߍЉҫ҈࣐ɕˏފࡦտߍ࡬I133.ח

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ54

1643ʕ 3ϐ 18Υ࣐ΝҖў	

4»øù࣎Penapޡ࣏Y՘߸܉ɛќイ ªߌ࣐ªтƸچԔϙ࠿1 40ϽאȘ࣐�ōøù
ɋ՘`޷ݴ܉ª޷࣏Penap࣎ Żۖێׯ1-ےغ1 1ǩՃ߭࣎massecauw࣏.ƫ޷�S
ɇ·ŻӠ̠࣐ڪȢɇݺªߡ҇܉】_࣐»ʎ·܉I׳ࡆyؗ Hendrick	HarouseeࠞY
Ϗ.ǧñ݋ܧƸܭٿ Jan	Lamuereイ޾vɛќ՘ԔϙچSݺÿՕ.̌½ߡ޷ݴvɛќ
࣐˃e࣏߭arack࣎Ɩvӭ߭½�ܼ_ڪʇ-SvӠ࣏cangangh࣎ʇڙЌ࣏el࣎ɗ֐4
ߐε޾࣐࠿ڌ՘�eイ�½՘½̌ݏ٪Z࣐юζƏ޾Ʒ࣐ńܷ࣐˲ӝɎтˁҳࡃ½�

ŏ�½՘ѻ˂՘࣐ƬӘԢƷεִֶͨȘ՘ζÀ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ120

1643ʕ 3ϐ 19Υ	

YĶ Balauwª̌½܂޾Ә̌½ɽ§.Νε`ɋ҇�I̠ɐࢂݗǱد©࣐ыճǬ࣐ɉ
ϏӘтͼ��×ؗ�.۲ߘ܉̂ך�e˃࣐ɕƫIϩ�ǄΥߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.o࣏֜Cenaer࣎
ו2ܰ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ121

1643ʕ 3ϐ 29Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ΨX Simon	Cornelisz.イڑߡڻǱࡪң࣐ڌ`ɋ Jeuriaen	Smithイڑߡڻ Goede	Hoope
ڑߡ܋ԢƷծ.׳ࡆʾډтࡇۤ QuelpaertڌÿԢƷҏXo࣐Ȅ՘۲ډΜh̹h.
Μ�؂࣐Ν`ĶªңǫÉѺ࣐Ƭ¡ӁŌϑࡷҋ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ123

1643ʕ 3ϐ 30Υ࣐ΝҖў	

δǭࡪڑߡңڌŻڌרڑߡéңª¸ԥЂϝ….�ǲ…࠙࠷ BoonイSڌڑˇ
Quelpaertډڌª޾ǄǏՔ࣐࠴hтƸ՘݋ܧϏɡ֛_Ȱݍ�Ǻź܉ª࠮ܓɎ࠙ȫ¶
Ł࣐˃Lemaireύ��՘Ƹ ՘Ȏ�ϊe	Maximiliaen࠙݋ςԺ࣐ԅħԁΙ՘ܲ؂-ـ
ã�ȫƂ࠮ܓɎX޲ԅħԁΙ՘࣐ܲ؂ӝ˃Ȱ̝ܱܲX޲ LamaireࠞYˇ��˃ӘҖ

																																																								
133	 Ӣтю·࣐̂޲εǧϩSʎ՘ֈ֕. 	
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ў̖Ʒ՘֣ӻ͡Ѱɱ-`ưѷҏ-׳ࡆōòࠧޮƸ1՘ࡲ࣐࠙݋˲˔ȿƸȨëϓˇ�

࠙࠷ζٹl̝ܱڻ͊.ח Pieter	BoonӘǺƷپӏ՘࠙ȫࠞYe࣐�ԙࡪ ܉ǧñ࠷2
đʾ֙߻՘ώ͕̹࢛ȫ.ܱ޾śØʮߧ½࣐̌ˁߩ߸Ƹ࣐۲ځΝǱȳߧȰܲe˃̖࣐

ϑ޾ǄǏ܂՘ǱօߧՕɈࢫӖ࣐ǧñࢫРWࡡ.ǭࠝϑ.ࡷ.ˁǬɛќރªܑծ࣐Ƭ

Ә�½ٟČՕɈ՘ٝ1࣎.ࡠӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏.ࡢ123
ؗ P.	Boon՘̹پ࣐�ӏ1643࣐ʕ 3ϐ 20Υ.M.	Lemaire1643࣐ʕ 2ϐ 25Υ࣐VOC	1146࣐

	.797-793࣐560-572

1643û 4ť	

1643ʕ 4ϐ 1Υ࣐ΝҖў	

�ǲŚƔ޿qWaddijŻ Balouª҇܉࣐�½Ն`՘S»̎ߡǌàʲSݺIߡ֙߻
yܺ̎ވƷƏ࣐IߎS½�ڻޅԴ࣐̎ԡԀΐ܈ƸƴX̖…՘Υΐ̎ݍܓI¯�࣐܂

X©̌½ωȴΰήՖ.��½ЛĚ͌ާܷɎߡ《ʹZҟИܼ࣐Ѣ̌ޅ½�ݏ½ԿƷт

Ƹࡲ࣐˲ÈSă̌½ź��½È՘q《࣐�εɎX۲ֱ޲ȨëѮϑ˲࣐ࡲlZ٪ϑ̖

§Әח.�ε̌½ԸфĚȒ٬�½SݺI࣐Դ࠙࠷ټ Boonٺ܎Ǯ½࡚đȒ٬�½
SݺIܱ࣐ӘٿòԸȅܬĬ۲࣐ZȆ©�½ƬȲ˙ْɕפ.�ε�½ƫ࣐ܷך�½Z

٪I࣐Ł©̌½׉ď܉ւ�½՘࣐࡬lZ٪I.ΝεǱٝƆř࣐̌½Ȩëծÿ�½ࡘ

ʏZ٥đʾ֙߻՘《ʹ۹½�࣐ή܉ƷтƸȨëࡥϓ̌½՘Ƒ˲.Ƭт̌½Őґo܉

ʎʘ»ɛќe۲՘【ѻ1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ123

1643ʕ 4ϐ 2Υ࣐ΝҖў	

љɑ࡬֜هէªтƸ࣐`ɋˁƦ٠Ƹź܉࣐��Ν 4ǲêªrݴ�½՘ƶƸؗ̌½࣐
޾˙ƬӘȲ࣐ƶƸݴ�ZΉªr̖࣐׵сƷִֶͨ½�࣐ܷךȘª.�½ƫאߌ܉_

ШÈ࣐�½՘ÍÖϏªエђֶ࣐׵©ֶȘZ٪࣓̖̋࠙�rݴ�½ƶƸeqח܉࣐ 3
»ϐe˃.̌½s࣐½�ܣȆϫ 4ǲêZªrݴ�½՘ƶƸ࣐̌½ɕ̠܉�½՘Ϡ֜
�ō֜܂՘Săϥ޿޿࣐܈ドӐӭђ.Νε࡬«ߡէcź��՘ɥќߘ܉źӢަ.θ

ڌࠝ QuelpaertۤÉѺƷ޾ҫ҈՘ÿSۡ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ124
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1643ʕ 4ϐ 3Υ࣐ΝҖў	

֡рŇ¢ќÿҏS࡬࣒էøù࣎Penap࣏ʎ ªߌ�Ř࣐ªтƸچԔϙ࠿7 50ϽאȘ.
Ƭт`ɋɎࡩ�Әŏ〔࣐ź��ܷ܉ߞ࣐ƫIאߌȘª࣐Ը ߌ࠿ѕ࣐چԔϙ࠿10 50
Ͻ࣐aߌܗ 500ϽאȘª࣐Ʒ�½ɤ۲۲̌ߘ܉½՘ź�՘̝݁�đ࣐ZÞܡ�½I
ҏߟオɍࡳݙۮ….Ƭтøù࣎Penap࣏ࠜȋkѢ_Ηߡݠvɛќࡃ࣐ӝܷoʘи܉
۲ߘ�߹vߡ�܉��Ш՘ؔϫ.Νεԅĉź޾しʬ࣐̋ܬɕεZٟ�՘࣐ªߌШ޾

̌½՘ź࣐�Zӝɕ܉΀ͮ�.Ƭт�҇ ܡÞ࣐h`ɋkѢ_࣐ƫIXҤچԔϙ࠿2
�ʎŗǫ 1Ӫ࣎.ШÈo޾½�ܡȘYª.cÞאߌ○�ɉˁ࣐ࡳݙIオɍچԔϙ࠿5
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ124

1643ʕ 4ϐ 3Υ	

ݞϑS̛ɎîşѮϑԸۡ՘ޘ࣐ڌר՘࣏Peco࣎εҺƎíƃ࣐ʾϴǅɁډڌרڑ1

ԃخ࣐Ã 1,769	 ߷ӻ࣐ϑ 117,250»šִ܄׸Աơ…	…53++ス͐Ӟߍ՘+++++
ֈ֕……_ϑ

Sɇ…ؗXʌƎĦȫ Harman	Broeckmans՘ϊ·࣐sڌרڑ޾�ܣ՘ÿޘ̖࣐ʹ》ډ
՘ݞԃߧ࣎ʂ؄ش�Sְ࣐࣏_ܼ�Ѿ˲ߌ܁܉ڌܭ՘ݞԃ࣐çߍݼߌ܁ڌܭyؗ�

՘Ð˒̖ࠄ…՘܉_࣐sڌܭ࣐½̌ܣƫֱߌ܁vԴ࣐ࢵƬӘ�½ƫČтƸζ܉ߞö

и1࣎.ְشӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ67

1643ʕ 4ϐ 4Υ	

�ǲϑ イܗa࣐Żֈ֕϶ە-ࢢࢭϑS̛ޘ࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډтࡇڌרڑ10 380»
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.� 2õו 	࣏ࡢ69

1643ʕ 4ϐ 10Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ǭࠝƷ޾ǄǏ܂ՕԵӐӓ࣐̈́Σȫ՘̕ȘŻߡӮ̕-�ōʨ:�՘̕Ș-օ̗՘̕Ș

Żߡbօ̗՘̕Șۻߧӭђo̖࣐ʖ࣐£¶֠ۀӐĩѮϑʪӭYI࣐ƬӘɞ̖ࡣϑ՘

࣐ĚŌZʵࡷ࣐ϥ:oªˇࡷۥʖ]ْ࣐ԸўŻѰȘ̠ӐӬͪҰ࣐ˁ○̫Yªߧڪڥ

Zӝ࣐Ό»ǄǏɕϑëۻӭђ՘ŀ֠ࡲ.࠽¶£îşŻ̌½çߕӐӓ࣐Ӑӓߞε̌½

Ʒ޾ǄǏώǱ՘΍�.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ126

85
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1643ʕ 4ϐ 10Υ	

Żࢢࢭ-ײ-϶ەϑS̛ޘ࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڑ4 30ス͐Ӟߍֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2
ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ70

	

1643ʕ 4ϐ 11Υ࣐ΝҖў	

δǭ˓ڻҰӐ࣐Řܱ܉ӘߞϑӐִ՘ƸΜɕIͪҰ.޾ǭƬӘȲ˙ӐӓْȨëѮշ܏

̎շˆˁɑ.Ψιϑνϔ՘࠵ä࣐ծČƱӼ՘࡬ƷˁǬƸΜֆڹo̜࣐Čo 7̠ǧñ
՘уР࣐ò`ϑʘ̠ٟČƷӐ`ՕɈ࣐ߍl̜Č 4̠ę࣐ǧñǱߥ�՘ԃžߧ¶ȚY
ªo࣐ZߞߍƷČۡɍ̜.̠ǄǏҟԥ�˃࣐ɕ̠ߡʂǱߥ�ӭђo՘ƱӼ࣐Ըò�

՘אȘI߸Κʫ߂.……�θʂ؛ԸΚ՘אȘ̠ƱӼǱ߂�ߥȅo.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו
2õו 	࣏ࡢ126

1643ʕ 4ϐ 12Υ࣐ΝҖў	

Ύ љɑ֜هɛќイ էfř࡬֜ܭ࣐ªтچԔϙ࠿7-8 Peremocȟ࣐½…Sɇ·ؗ
ߌǄǏ޾ř�Ә࣐� 600ϽאȘª࣐�¯߸Κʫۻ߂ӭђ՘̕ɞŻƱӼ࣐ªӘîş΄
ħ.�ǲlϑ࡬է TacquoyŻò�ɛќ࣐�ōøù࣎Penap࣏՘èȘªтƸծ̌½࣐
ʎSvΚࡼࢤԃª.	
YĶ 1ϑ»߹�ˇ׳ࡆイS࠿Ԕϙࡥچҫ҈Yª࣐ªČ޾ǄǏ࣐ʎªSɇ mayoor	
HarouseeŻߟߡ՘݋ܧϏ՘ϊ·ܠ½̌܉࣐ѻI̜ߡ»ُΥϜ�134՘ȊȘ࣐Ȅޅŗ

ǫS»Խ�Ʒ߷΢֜ؔȔ̜࣐Čoɕ̌ݏ܉½՘ǧñ Jan	LamuerŻX޲߹�̠Ȅʎ
I࣐׳ࡆ�¯řȄޅȄ՘ߡΥϜ�VóSݺI܂ߡ֙߻.Ƭт̌½ɕ̠޾q《sܣø

ù࣎Penap࣏՘èȘ࣐��sܣ�՘ӹ࣐܎Z܉�ʒ˓X޲ǧñŻߡ߹�Iʎߡ»ȕ
Ȁª࣐l܉Sࠦݺр̖ϑ【܉ọ̆Ȅۻʎݸ՘�.̂ך�Ӣަْ࣐[�lϏܱկƸS

.ʾXҤIoډтࡇ߉�.ڪʇŻSvӠڙ�SvʹäĿ޷ݴ½Iަԥ.Әт̌ݺ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ127
VOC	1145271-270࣐.	

																																																								
134	 ̹ƷҖў׳ࡆɛ¢؂ 28 Č 30 ʕ՘ΥϜ�ƕɾ۵࣎ࠚQuesaymon࣏. 	



	ŝΔʸΌ	Wࠄࠧ

	 73	

1643ʕ 4ϐ 21Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ϑ q޿է҇࡬՘֜ܭ࣐ԛΣª܎фϘӏ̸֜ˇچԔϙ࠿4 Balouwªȟ½ܼѢ࣐Ӣ
�½ܷ՘࣐ƬӘ�½ϑSюζƏѮϑª܋ Thomasoܼ࣐Z܉ƬْԵѝ࣐�½ʎ ࠿1
޷ݴӘт࣐½̌ؗ޷ªࢢŻˁǬے-࣏sierij࣎ںڭȅ՘гН܄ܹ-ڴی-ࡆ 2ǖ
cattekyntjensʇŻSvӠؗڪ�½.YĶ޾࣐Љҫ҈Ɏɬ՘࡬էÇeŗǫS»࡬էª
ČтƸ࣐ʎªˁǬў࣎١ࢯelantsvlees࣏Żò�Κࡼࢤԃ࣐ϑSؗ޷�ߥ`ɋ࣐ò�
՘ޅǧñyΰ࣐Әт޷ݴ�½SvӠ࣐ڪ_ܼ�½Ɩࢺӭ࣐߭©�½ҳ˲࣐_Ը̌½

՘Ԕϙߍ½�޷چҫ.�½ʎڻS࡚܎ԛΣ.Ïθϑ ˇچԔϙ࠿3 Peremochߌ܂ߡ
160ϽאȘª࣐Әтߡ޷ݴvɛќ ۞1Ӫ࣎.ɕƫIo½�࣐ڪʇŻSvӠڙɗĿ֐6
וǄΥܰ2ߖ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ128

1643ʕ 4ϐ 24Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ʘ» Peremoch՘�イ ªߌ࣐ªČтƸچԔϙ࠿3 40ϽאȘŻSvҏ޾࣐ࢤvԸ�
	.ǧñyΰޅ
ε࣐ª׳ࡆˇڌרڑ1 lڑˇ`ưѷҏ՘֣ɻ࣎Hocksieuw࣏ª՘ɐޘ࣐ڌרϑ 1,500
Č l,600ػ`ư߭׵Żɐߺ՘Ԟԩ܉࣐ª܂޾yΰ܉_࣐ˇɛќ܁࣐ײݣݱXܭɐר
εʂߡ࣐۲݇޿ɡ֛�½՘½�.عò�Z࣐gع؛v�½ʂ޾࣐׵ўŻ܁܉l࣐ڌ

B�՘࠙ȫԅħԁΙΝIʕ 1642ʕ 8ϐ 22Υٺ�ˆ࣐ؾ׭Ժª޿Ǝ՘۲݇޿.�ε
Ύイϑخ࣐�vҺߡ ưը͊ҡҏªт`ˇ࣐׳ࡆѮϑI½�࣐ܷ½̌ܣs࣐�«23
Ƹ՘.вϳڑߡɐڌרe˃࣐҇S»`ǧŻʘ»ǧñXڌդ࣐܍Ǯ½…·I࣐׳ࡆ

_͊ԕƫ·�đ࣐Zú�¥ɛќ̎̌½ٺʁ՘�Iyΰߡ.߭ࢲζϑ ˇچԔϙ࠿7
Peremochߌ܂ߡ 300ϽאȘª࣐Әтߡ޷ݴv߹�SvӠڪŻò�ϥ܈.	
θࠝ Jan	Lamuereイ ʎƫ࣐ƫªo׳ࡆˇچ�՘Ԕϙ߹࠿1 HarrouseeࠞY՘Sɇª
ʎª_࣐· 6̠уР-6̠ęŻ l2̠ւā࣐ε�đ…·Iܼ޷܀ªύߡ�vۻӐӭђ
՘фơ.޾» Jan	Lamuers࣐ܷ½̌ܣøù࣎Ponap࣏ό݉s�ܷ֧࣐ϔ
fř࣐ϑS»ɛќ࣐࣏֜Songeron࣎ Goumiou՘࣐ƷӥĤɛќޅ�Sݺªọ̆΍Ɏ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.½̌ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ129

1643ʕ 4ϐ 25Υ࣐ΝҖў	

҇ǧñ Joost	de	HontÇeɛќWƃ࣎Samcoވ࠴ˇ࣏đʾ࣐׳ࡆʎSɇ·Iؗ
HarouseeࠞY࣐ǓsࠢΝڌרڑ޾՘q《࣐�ō߹٧݂࠰�Œ՘q《࣓ź�ì܉�
Ù○ƫª؂½�࣐Ν`ĶÿՕ.�ǲˁǬɛќÇe�½՘ȕȀªтƸ܉࣐ªծרڑߡ
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וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.śܡԥԺZؗ޲�εƬӘX࣐ڌרڑߡʾډ½�ݏѢܼ_࣐ڌ 2

õו 	࣏ࡢ129

1643ʕ 4ϐ 28Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ϑ ߌچԔϙ࠿3 170ϽאȘªтƸ޾࣐vεfř Peremoch࡬էŻ�ì»àʲ࣐�ō
ò�ʘ»ɛќ޷ª՘࣐Әт޷ݴ�½�ō�½Sݺʎª՘޿q ʇ-3»ɐڙɗĿ֐6
ЋȘ-3ǖם߻-SǎΊࠜ՘Ԟԩ-Sv߽ŻSvӠ࣐ڪlܼ�½Ɩࢺӭ࣐߭©�½
صȆтࡦˏ˃�࣐Èˆˁȅ࣐�՘ź½۲̌ߘɎΝ½�࣐½�ܣs½̌.ڀ࢛ʏࡘ

ϔ֜՘֧࣐ZśÖ�½ò�àʲ࣐ط GoumouߡШܪ�࣐ƴӥĤɛќݺªọ̆̌½࣐
ř̌½ɐˎ.Ƭт̌½ʉ࣐½Ш݉š޾࣏Ponap࣎էøù࡬ƬӘ࣐ƸΜ޾ª٧Œ܉
ϕ�½I̜�½ߡàʲ Goumou࣐ծծεkϑ޾q《࣐_ܷ̌½ɎǢ�ϏƦŉč࣐ۼ
թŏƸ࣐̌½ƕпޅȅ�ƷSޅ࣐ݺ�½ÈϒM࣐ɕÖεʂ؛h�½̖۹ԢߡШ࣐Ȇ

ϫ�½՘àʲ Goumou_ѮϑX޲�ƴ࣐ɕ܉Ĭ�ª̌½޾ܓި܂޾q.Ɏт�½ƫ
©܉�εӘ࣐Մܗִ޾lZթ·�Ϗϑ࣐ՄܗàʲϑтZȅ՘½�ߎȨëZռ࣐ܷך

ɉΝ½�࣐q《îсƸήՖ޾ 5ǲêÇe GoumouŻøù࣎Ponap࣏öª̌½܋܂޾
`ɋ࣐Ȇϫܭøù࣎Ponap̮࣏ؕªߡ࣐�ɕε»Ǣ࣐�ƬӘ�Ν Jan	Lamuer܉đʾ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ࠜࡇcΝYĶ½�.ܬШ՘޾h�ܷo`޼՘׳ࡆ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ130

1643ʕ 4ϐ 29Υ࣐ΝҖў	

Joost	de	Hontˇ׳ࡆƫª࣐ʎƫ Harousee՘Sɇ·ܷڑ޾̠܉࣐Һ�՘̖ڌרϑ՘
۲݇޿ӏ.ƬӘ�½̸̖࠙ȫԅħԁΙ՘پI޷�vҺ޾̠࣐BYªߥŻԞԩë߭ࢲ

Ƭ.½�ܣs܉ɕ࣐܋˲ȆϫɎтϑŏɎ՘.ח׳ࡆѮϑãIܷ½̌࢓Ō࣐ϗǳdߍ

тö҇ Jan	LamuerʎSɇ·Iؗ׳ࡆX޲ Harouseěߏ۹࣐½Ɏт՘〔【࣐_ࠧȷ
ވ࠴ˇ࣏֜Cenaer࣎�ϩߍ؛тƸࠜࡇLamuerΝÏθ	۲݇Iؗ�ծ.Jan޿՘ڌרܭ
I1࣎.׳ࡆӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ130

	

1643ʕ 4ϐ 29Υ	

ƬӘϑ ࠙࠷Iؗ·…�̖࣐ݞחҖўyΰֈ֕-׳ࡆʂҩÐȈՆкʾڌרڑ3
HarouseeŻ`ɋ Pedel࣐ʉϕΨS͊ࢺČ̌½҇I̜֙߻՘࠷ޓʂ؛Čࡥ_܂ߡߏĊ
̋ě՘ґ、.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ82
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1643ʕ 4ϐ 30Υ࣐ΝҖў	

̌Iϩ�ࡼ׽ȨëѮϑ؛ƬӘ�½ʂֹ࣐̎׵vҺ�yΰߡIӘ܉࣐࣏֜Cenaer࣎
o࣐�ε޿qWaddijZƷ࣐܂ߡ�ǲZϏƫª࣐ƬӘ�Iˁߒ՘ƸΜ.̖�Ïθ̌
ɕƫªǄǏ.�ǲϑʘ࠿Ԕϙچˇøù࣎Ponap࣏՘܂ߡ�ªČтƸߌ࣐ªˋߺ՘א
ȘŻǱ̛ΚࡼࢤԃŻՃ߭࣎massecauw࣏ªޅǧñyΰ.11࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ22ו 2õו 130

	࣏ࡢ

1643û 5ť	

1643ʕ 5ϐ 4Υ࣐ΝҖў	

�ι Jan	Lamuereˇ׳ࡆƫª࣐ʎSɇ HarouseeࠞYߟߡٿ՘݋ܧϏ՘ª·࣐ܷ…࣐
̖ϑߡv`ư߭׵Żò�ϥڌרܭˇ܉ߧ܈BYѮͽߡ̠࣐vҺ�ëߥԸ׀ڑߡ՘ר

ה۲݇Z޿ƬӘ�½՘࣐8࠙݋ӏ՘࠙ȫ7̹پSɇ·IؗƷ…܉_࣐ӏپI޷ڌ

a࣐ǳُo࣐л࢓îş࣐Ōߐŏ HarouseeࠞYԅĉ՘֡�đªтƸߡ̠…࣐v`ư׵
߭ŻԞԩィªドƷºʟ1࣎.܂Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ131

1643û 6ť	

1643ʕ 6ϐ 6Υ	

�ǲ…Sɇ·࣐yؗ ࠙࠷ʎIؗڌרđʾҖўyΰֈ֕՘Һ�՘܉ʂҩÐȅڑ1
Harousee࣐sܣ�ʂڷڽޅ؛Ԁئ�Ż 10ʕ՘q《̻�܉࣐Ӣs֛޿࣐ռ�̹͕Y
՘ߘ�۞ڮȥܮ࣐《ܼծܭĀ՘̟Ϝ.135	
eڌlޘ 2f࣐�۞ڮ�ōΥϜ޿�qƕɾ۵ࠚё࣎Quesaymondonne࣏Ż߻,߷՘
� Bartholomeus࣐�½ώޮόJٿ BoonãԵ՘ÿʿ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ149

M.Lemaire…ؗ H.Harrousse՘ϊ·پ࣐ӏ1643࣐ʕ 6ϐ 6Υ࣐VOC	1146࣐fol.	481݊͟ڢ࣐

	࣒ࠄ 	

																																																								
135	 ŁϜю˃eڢΐ݊͟. 	
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[...]	This	serves	as	a	safe-conduct	for	the	two	Dutchmen,	the	Japanese	Jasinto	and	someone	from	

Kimaurij.	On	his	urgent	request	we	have	taken	this	Japanese	into	the	employ	of	the	Company,	to	

be	used	as	an	interpreter	or	in	another	capacity	at	your	post,	because	he	has	wife	and	children	

there,	speaks	the	local	language	fluently,	is	devoted	to	the	Dutch,	is	old	and	leads	a	good	life.	

The	Kimaurij	man	Bartholomeus,	who	accompanied	Pieter	Boon	to	Tarraboan	as	an	interpreter	

and	came	to	us	via	Pimaba,	has	been	well	treated	here.	He	was	presented	with	two	pieces	of	

cloth	and	instructed	to	lend	the	Company	a	helping	hand	in	questions	pertaining	to	the	local	

people	and	to	obey	Your	Excellency's	orders,	which	he	promised	to	do.	[...].࣎The	Formosan	

Encounter,	vol.	2,	p.	382.࣏	

1643ʕ 6ϐ 7Υ	

`Ķڑߡ࣐のʪˁd՘Ǳࡪңٿ׳ࡆˇڌҖўƫČтƸ̻࣐Ӣ̌½՘޿ռޘƫǱ̛ӡ

ӕ.ˇ Harouseeؾϗ�ʕ 5ϐ 23ΥŻ 27Υ՘ª·ˆ˥YĆq《࣐ŁƷ 5ϐ 23Υߡ
ɇ·࣐ܷ܂	 	
lˆ˥ڑ޾ˇ½�࣐ǱࡪңڌͽČoX̌޲½՘ϊ·�ōȷI՘ҟƘ̖Ć՘ 800߷
ӻ.�đˇтƸÿࡼߌ࣐ډԃ܉IҖўyΰ՘ߡvޫ࣐ڌר�ɓϚծČ.2ǲđϑ 1
Xɋۻ�̖࣐۲݇޿�Ѯϑ࣐Җўߏ١てࢭػŻʘࢮS̛ڻޘڌרڑ Pedel̰ԿY
ªܭ࣐ Pedel̻Ӣs֛̖…՘ۡԥ࣓ڌרڑ޾eШ࣐�lˇ ʎڌΰݥҺ�՘ֈ֕ڑ1
Y 10»Һ��ōś࡙՘ڋî࣐��½Iڑߡ࢐࢏ǿª՘ɐ࣐ڌרԸߌ܁�ӡӕªپ
ӏ࣐�ӘoZߡۆޛ܉vƎ࣐�c҇ߡv̀ª՘Һ�ªʒ�½Ͱ§࣐eζ̠޾v̀ª

՘Һ޷�ªтƸ.…`ɋ Pedelª·࣐˥ˆ࣐�ώޮ՘ϊ·࣐�ōߟߡ՘ٿޓࢎȁ࠾
ҟõ࣐όyؗߌڑߡɐࢲ՘޷ڌרªтƸܱ�࣐Әʂ޷؛てтƸo࣐ԢƷŌ޷ªߡv

ΐ�՘̟Ϝ.Ōܷ࣐ǱࡪңڌΝ�½ˁ܉ࡍ՘ζЭてڌܭˇ࣐ߏͽČٿࡼ׽ 800߷ӻ
Ԣмo.�½ʂϑS»ϐѮՕؗࡼ׽ǧñ࣐ƬтŘȅˇ lڑ�đˇ`ưđª՘ӜӢר
ŐYڌ 147Ζޘڌܭ࣐١ࢭϑ 15Ǳػ`ư100-߭׵ス30-ࢮČ 40Ζ`ưеЁ
ª؂ޘ࣏�ŏsߐ࣎136�ō࣏keesjens࣎ 6ス՘Եڌ.ࠓbfřڣƃ࣎Moyco࣐࣏ĉۤ
Hansgien࣐¢Ʒپӏ࣐ܷ�࣐�՘ޅ۲݇޿ŗǫ ޿ȿϑ֏�࣐ҏաǿIoۻڌרڑ1
࠙࠷࣐۲݇ HarouseeɎтlϑy�.�đʎ̌½՘·܉�I܂ߡyΰֈ࣐֕_ÿƊ
ԸࡍI՘޷ϚߞʘШԢƷ޷ժΝޮϗê࣐lܷ.܂ߡߏϚてߞ�ޫ࣐ڌרڑߡԃ՘ࡼ

žI࣐«Ȇޓࢎ՘۸ϓ࣐�ō܉ࡍߞ l	last՘࣐׵ƬӘČ�ʕ 9ϐʚɕѮϑ׵o…….	
Ōܷ࣐�½ܱӘݏ࣐ʘ»̀ˆŇ¢ќܳܕŻ܈ԡԀܬ՘Һ࣐�,̲ʘ»̗ɽ՘࣐�Ʒ

I޷Ƕ.ώޮ͗̋߂ɎîşZϏ࣐ޓࢎ¯Ը�Μ࣐ǄǏY࡚ܭƷ¢࣐Y݌¶ǄǏ՘ܭ

																																																								
136
3`ưеЁ4࣐࣐ܵ̂ŇΐӘ keesjens3̹˲࣐ƧӠ4܂޾�࣐�fε̹SڊӠڪ. 	
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ؗ�՘ߡ Ӣ�ࠞY՘ź�îso.Ʒтࠧʎȷª̻؛�ʂ࣐s֛ߎ3 2߷ӻɑ
1
8	߸՘

ٿεˇ߷΢֜߻ࢶv޾࣐߻ࢶ Ratsican֜ݤˁǱ՘ěó࣐� 11
3
4	߷ӻyΰª՘޾࣐

vƷтƸ͐Ӟζ͗ǶoWĂeSْ࣐[ՕԢŘε߻ࠌ՘ߞ½�.߿Әтߎнܷ࣐Ѯϑ

Ψ޾̠ࢺv߻ࢶȷª….Ōܷ࣐�՘ߥɥIXߡ޲vϠ֜ߧ࣐Z̅Ίْ࣐ˁĪħƸӘ
îşğĚɽ§࣐ɉªɎ࠙ȫࠞY՘ź�ϏȨëࡥϓޘ》ܮ࣐۲ߘΝ�ǲ՘پӏϊ·׮

՘̟Ϝ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ149
Missive	Lieutenant	Thomas	Pedel	to	President	Maximiliaen	Lemaire.	Tamsuy,	28	May	1643.	VOC	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐503-506	fol.࣐1146

[...]	Herewith	we	send	Your	Excellency	with	the	pilot	boat	the	two	reals,	minus	a	sixth	(because	

we	could	not	get	more),	weight	of	gold,	costing	11 	 heavy	reals,	which	I	bartered	with	the	

inhabitants	of	the	villages	of	Kitsjock	and	Vassican.	I	inquired	if	they	had	more	and	they	answered	

yes,	but	they	would	not	sell	for	less	than	ten	[silver]	reals	at	56	five-cent	pieces	per	real	weight.	I	

also	made	extensive	inquiries	as	to	where	they	got	the	gold,	or	from	whom	they	bought	it.	They	

told	me	that	what	they	had,	they	had	exchanged	with	the	people	of	Tarraboan,	making	all	sorts	of	

excuses	lest	they	had	to	part	with	even	this	small	amount	of	gold,	it	was	really	ridiculous	and	it	

took	a	lot	of	trouble	to	get	it.	[...]	

Also	[I	send	you	the	report]	on	the	expedition	to	explore	the	villages,	roads,	paths	and	rivers	and	

to	find	out	as	much	as	possible	about	the	character	of	the	inhabitants	and	their	circumstances	

and	to	make	serious	inquiries	in	order	to	find	out	the	facts	out	about	the	gold	mine	and	if	the	

inhabitants	had	a	lot	of	gold	in	their	possession.	All	that	I	have	carried	out,	serving	the	best	

interests	of	the	Company,	because	the	savages	did	not	want	to	yield	their	land	to	us	before	I	had	

visited	them,	and	only	after	that	would	obey	our	wishes.	[...]	This	they	have	indeed	done	since	

then	and	they	have	been	more	obedient	than	the	other	villages	that	I	had	not	visited.	I	have	

however	scrupulously	obeyed	Your	Excellency's	order	to	always	stay	in	or	near	the	fort	and	not	to	

allow	the	inhabitants	to	enter	it.࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	2,	pp.	381-382.࣏	

1643ʕ 6ϐ 11Υ	

	.…࣐ԃחֈ֕ޘIҖў܉࣐ډÿڌרҺ�eڑ1
Harouseeª·݃Ƭ PedelˇҖў…·s࣐ܷ�ܣԺΝσ࣐ࡉࡷƷࢍĊwֳǏٿֈ֕ܒ
ֳǏeࠝ՘݌Ǟࡉۻ࣐ўѯĎ҈Ƕ҇�̖࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ Jan	van	KeysselI܂ߡ.
�ƫI׳ࡆ�˃Ǔsܷ࣐ӓ《ٿ Pedels̖…՘Sْ࣐ٽ[ɎֳߡǏѮϑڻޅΌ»ǂ
YªҘ〔ܞՅ࣎ƬӘאȘʃٰӵ࣓࣏ ࣐ўo߆çߜεӜѻ࣐ζࡉY࣐׃ӐۛƸܭ]ْ

	…….ɑտӑعҖўlٿ׳ࡆƷ࣐߂տӑª߸Κʫٿ࡬Ը֓܉

4
3
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lϑSӘ¢ƷҖў՘Һߡˇ࣐�Љҫ҈ƫI܂ߡ࣐ܷ࣐ÜۙϑǱߺ՘ࢯ՛࣐ܷ�࣐Ƭ

Ә�՘ޅ۲݇޿�՘ڌרドƷSܼ࣐ݺѢöؗ�Sʴ۲݇޿.Ɏтܭ Pedels࣐�ܣ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ČYиЭϏöܷח܉ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ152

M.Lemaire…ؗ Th.PedeIٿ H.Harrousse՘ϊ·پ࣐ӏ1643࣐ʕ 6ϐ 10Υ࣐VOC	1146࣐

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐482-483	fol.࣐473

[...]	The	wife	of	Domingo	Aguilar	-	who	we	were	told	has	rendered	excellent	service	over	there	

and	during	the	expedition	-	you	will	send	back	with	the	first	Dutch	ship,	so	that	she	can	be	

reunited	here	with	her	husband	who	is	eagerly	longing	for	her.	[...].࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	

vol.	2,	p.	383.࣏	

H.	Harrousse…ؗ M.	Lemaire՘ϊ·1643࣐׳ࡆ࣐ʕ 6ϐ 7Υ࣐VOC	1146496࣓-494࣐Th.	

Pedel…ؗ M.	Lemaire՘ϊ·࣐Җў1643࣐ʕ 6ϐ 8Υ࣐VOC	1146512-511࣐.	

1643ʕ 8ϐ 21Υ	

ƷҖўŗǫʫ߂S»֋Ǐ࡚܂࣐ 36tƪΜ࣐Ӽņ 6t137࣎ɕÖӚԅģͼ Uyttrecht֋
ǏߡШ࣐࣏Ә܉գףߺլْ࣐ݤ؛[ƬӘعgϙΔ࣐ɞ܉ࡣԸ̴ݺۅߖࡣª࣐_ʫ߂

S»ӐۛƸ׃�ōò�ϑࠢ՘ɽֱ࣐Ʒ޾֋Ǐl҇ࢎ 30Č 40»�.lѪ܉࣐݋Ըs
؄شࡦˏ࣐ŁтƸώ؅՘ֈ࣐֕՘ֈ֕ߍӞ࣐͐Җўٿ׳ࡆƷ˃�࣐�s̖ϑ՘޿֛

�Sְ̖࣐]ْ࣐ϑ߆S՘ֹԃ࣐Ӝܾε׵-ɐݓ-׷ࢳ-ࢲȘ؄ش܉ߧח�Sְ.

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ188
J࣒ࠠVOC	867471-470࣐.	

1643ʕ 9ϐ 1Υ	

イ࣐đʾ.Μ՘Җўډÿڑ2… ۜ-ϙࢌЯ࣐ϑ٨Дޘ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏڑ8࣓�«70
ϙ-ײ-١ࢯ-ֈ֕Ż࣐϶ەaܗイϑ 358»Һ�.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ191

1643ʕ 9ϐ 6Υ	

イ࣐Iyΰֈ֕܉đʾ.Μډÿڑ2 וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«22 2õו 	࣏ࡢ193

																																																								
137	 t࣎voet؂࣐࣏Ә 30 îĂ. 	
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1643ʕ 9ϐ 8Υ	

イܗa࣐ײS̛ٿϑ٨Д-ֈ֕ޘ࣐đʾ`ưҏɬډÿڌרڑ3 100»�.	
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ194

1643ʕ 9ϐ 28Υ	

ϑޘ࣐ɻ֣ٺªڑò`S࣐ߏてڌרɐڑ2 ž࣓ŗǫS܄Svϙٿ߭׵ư`ػ000	,7
ϑޘ࣐ࠚ߻ٺªڑ 170ま׸Աơ 30スƶڜڦŻ 30スࡱڕ؃Δ࣎galiga138.࣏ズҺ�

ª͐܉�ε࣐�ɉΝήǲªXɬ࣐eªтƸڌרɻ՘֣ٺªڑߡ�ԃイ܉߸«ϑ࣐ܷ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.yΰֈ֕՘݋ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ198

1643ʕ 10ϐ 1Υ	

�ιϑ»Һ�ª̌½࡚đ࣐ܷ͋ܣIʕϑìڌרڑªٿ׳ࡆҖўyΰֈ࣐֕ƬӘ̑

Ӹߡ࣐ζѮϑߡ࣐۲݇޿ ߡ�όӘ࣐すԿo½̌ۻߧڌרڑ2 ōò�Ƃhڌרڑ2
Lamcam139՘ࠚޓス¶࣐ԢƷߞƷス¶࣐ƬӘߡ ࣐ࡈƬтˁ〔ƭ࣐ϚƫIߞڌרڑ2
Ʒ�՘ܼѢY࣐ԕúđªтƸ࣐ªܼѢшߡߞ ¯�࣐۲݇޿ՕؗSʴܼ_࣐ڌרڑ2
٪ƷҖўZőʓダƸߌ܁ֈ֕.Ɏт࣐̌½s࣐�ܣɉϏ1࣎.�܊ךӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו

2õו 	࣏ࡢ198

1643ʕ 10ϐ 8Υ	

�ǲ࠙݋Ś݋ܧࡁϏࠜϏ࣐Ǝܺ_ѪȭoYĆš࣐ࡤŁ࣒Ɏ̖ϑҺ�ªтƸԼܼ۲޿

࣐�ոࠞYϑࠢźخըČ͊ԕ࣐ɉp�̛ú࣐Ѫȭ࣐Җўyΰֈ֕eqٿ׳ࡆI܉݇

_Ѫȭ࣐ѕS՗スԵֈ࣐֕ƷҖў܉ͼ� 20߷ӻ࣐Ʒ܉׳ࡆͼ� 30߷ӻ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖ
ǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ201

VOC	1145467-466࣐.	

																																																								
138	 §…Ōś࣐࣏galiga࣎Δࡱڕ؃ Cassomba࣐Carthamus	Tinctorius e࣐ڙŁ3࣐4ڙ؃§Ҷ-ࡱΔ࣐̎

ۛԸ. 	
139	 Lamcam࣐ՊӘ֣ɻ:࣎پLamtaij࣏eܵ. 	
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1643ʕ 11ϐ 28Υ	

�ǲѪڎ○ߓ҇܉࣐݋ Breskensۤٿ Vosۤߌޘֈ࣐֕�ōƷ׳ࡆŐˆ՘Ǳօٿò�
ْ࣐ډƫª՘Ǝžÿߌ܉ LeeuwarckۤٿMeermanۤ܉ߞԿƷтƸSюζࠝ.1࣎Ӫ۞
וǄΥܰ2ߖ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ217

1643ʕ 12ϐ 5Υ	

̠тƸƎࢆÜȚ՘ëߥֈ֕܁é○ڎ Vosۤ.�ǲϑ イ࣐ࢢđʾ:Μ́ډÿڌרڑ4
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«94 2õו 	࣏ࡢ219

1644û 1-3ť	

1644ʕ 1ϐ 1Υ	

ŗ……ߏてڌרڑ2 イ࣐ֈ֕ªޘ࣐՘Җўߟ.ٺªڑ1 וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«12 2

õו 	࣏ࡢ225

1644ʕ 1ϐ 2Υ	

�ǲ࣐Samsoe140՘ڌרˇҖўҳڻޘֈ֕-ײŻ78ࢯ՛て࣐ߏイ 40»�.	
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ225

1644ʕ 1ϐ 11Υ	

イܗa࣐١Żֈ֕ࢯ-ࢢࢭϑS̛ޘ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ4 82»�.	

																																																								
140	 Samsoe࣐z…§ Sansoeu࣐Ōf Jan	Soettecauw࣐Ә¢Ʒپӏޮ࣏ࠧ:پ࣎՘í Һ�ُ࠙eS࣐

ƎК҆ĤࡩӘ҆ޏ. 	
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וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ227

1644ʕ 2ϐ 9Υ	

……Ѫ࣐݋ɉÞܡˇ֣ɻª՘S»ȫƂʎࡪ ؂ڑ1 1,	000スɾŞ՘࣐̎ڌר רɐڑ2
1Ӫ࣎.Җўyΰֈ֕ٿ׳ࡆ�đʾˆ࣐Ǯ½՘͂жY࣐141̻Ӣ�ªтƸ՘ܼѢ࣐ڌ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ235

1644ʕ 2ϐ 10Υ	

úܭܡ`ưɐȫ՘ܼѢ࣐_s࣐�ܣś�ʎࡪ ̎ڌרǱڑ1 81,000ス՘ܗ7aڑ2
ɐڌרIyΰֈ֕.�ɎΝ�ܼѢшߞˇ֣ɻª̰́ۻ׳ࡆ՘ܷ�࣐εɥΝ�՘ߡ 2
ÿޟ׳ࡆɻ՘�ˇҖў֣̎࠮cؗ�ç࣐˹ِ؛࣐ߍԥԺp�̮ؕ.ZځĐ࣐ڌרڑ

ֈ֕՘ÿSְࡤ޾࣐ÿSְŏсϑ࣐ࠪ_Օ۲݇ؗ�7޿I׳ࡆyΰֈ֕8࣐Ɏт�

۹Ԣ】○1࣎.݆〕۹֛_࣐Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ235

1644ʕ 3ϐ 4Υ	

Samsoe࣐ĉۤ Jan	Soetekauw՘ڌרÿډđʾϴǅɁݞޘ̖࣐ԃخÃ 30,917
1
2	߷ӻ࣐

ԃӘݞv޾࣐؄o�Sְشߥԃëݞv޾ 125,305»Աơ̋܁,࣐ 10,627まŻ 3І࣐
Ł6……࣒スֈ࣐֕ѕS՗…4߷ӻ-…….1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ242

1644ʕ 3ϐ 7Υ	

ϑ イ࣐ϑSvֈ֕ޘ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ1 וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«17 2õו

	࣏ࡢ243

																																																								
141	 ˇ1Υܰ2ݦΔ`࣐Ǳ؂śш؄ 400 ス�YӘɐڌר. 	
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1644ʕ 3ϐ 16Υ	

�ǲϑ イ࣐ࢢֈ֕Żޘϑv࣐϶ەޘڌϑv࣐ߏΜて:ˇڌרڑ6 32»�.142	
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ246

Op	dato	arriveeren	6	joncquen	van	de	suyt,	sommige	met	branthouwt,	sommige	
met	swavell	ende	vis,	gemant	met	32	coppen.࣎DZII,	p.	236࣏	

1644ʕ 3ϐ 29Υ	

Ѫ࣐̌݋½ɉ҇○ڎ BreskensۤΝϚª՘ 4ϐ 10ΥޘտӑIҖў࣐Ը�ʫߡ߂ʞΚ
՘֋Ǐ.ڎ○ܭて܂ߡߏ_BȨ̖ޘ՘տӑe˃࣐ɕډ܉ʾ࣐׳ࡆI̠ߡʞとYª՘

ǄǏ՘ϙΔŻ࣐֓࡬ōSvӡӕ܁٪࣐ǬɑɕޘǬɑߌ࣐ƫҖўŻтƸ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥ

ו2ܰ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ253
VOC	1147,	fol.	467-476.	

Әoٿޓࢎ۞ڮՆƸŇ¢ќ՘Ċ՝࣐ÞܡҺ�¢ƷҖў׳ࡆٿ՘ǄǏY.�½ś�Ʒ܂ߡ

ִԹ-ࢢ܀-͐Ӟֈ࣐֕�ōò�ś�ƷپӏÈ՘q؄ش܉�࣐šִƷپӏ̂ش՘ְݭ.

Һ�ZˆǫÿIš֜ٿŇ¢ќyΰ࣐�Ň¢ќś�ªҺ�ٚڹǄǏʚY࣐Ʒڮ۞�՘դ܍

YٿҺ�yΰ.ࡘ࠮ϑ࣐۲݇޿kĐZ٪ˇҖў׳ࡆըډ`ư.т˃ɉɎ߆ÿSݞԃˌͽ

	.ÿSְ߆؄شࡦˏт˃l࣐�۲݇՘Һ޿ϑyΰֈ֕؛Ł©̗Xʂְ࣐ࠢ

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	It	has	also	been	decided	for	the	convenience	of	our	garrisons	and	all	inhabitants	there	that	

the	Chinese	and	all	others	who	are	willing	to	do	so,	will	be	licensed	and	permitted	to	make	a	living	

in	the	aforesaid	places	of	Tamsuy	and	Quelang	through	farming,	fishing,	the	refining	of	sulphur	

and	all	other	occupations	that	are	practised	here	in	Tayouan,	and	that	they	are	allowed	to	travel	

to	and	from	there,	provided	that	they	pay	all	excise-duties,	poll-taxes	etc.	that	are	customary	in	

Tayouan,	without	exception,	and	that	they	will	not	go	out	to	trade	with	the	local	people	in	their	

villages,	but	that	the	villagers	will	be	allowed	to	come	to	trade	with	them	under	the	supervision	of	

our	castles.	Furthermore,	no	person	will	be	allowed	to	sail	from	there	to	China,	or	from	China	to	

there,	with	or	without	merchandise,	except	on	our	express	orders	and	with	our	permission,	in	

which	case	they	will	pay	tithe	on	everything	that	is	imported	or	exported.	This	also	applies	to	the	

goods	imported	by	all	those	who	have	already	been	issued	passes	to	exercise	their	sulphur-trade	

with	China	there;	all	this	[will	be	enforced	by	the]	penalties	that	are	included	in	the	proclamations	

																																																								
142	 ԺϜЉ࣐֛ࡵ�f:ߥϑֈ֕.�:ߥֈ֕śk̋̋܄ž࣐ˀܾ. 	
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promulgated	earlier	and	those	that	are	yet	to	be	determined	etc.	[...].࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	

vol.	2,	p.	427.࣏	

Jࠠ1࣒ʄ؞ߏwǄΥܰ21643-1645ʕЉ128.7࣐ΥΐϜו࣐rõࡢ࣐ 280-281࣓`ΐ

Ϝו࣐rõࡢ࣐ 414-415.8	

1644û 4-6ť	

1644ʕ 4ϐ 19Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ڎ○ܭŚƔ࠙࠷ Breskensۤ՘ޓȫXɬ࣐Çeò̜࣐��Čߔaʫ߂֋Ǐ՘Ƹ࣐ࢺ
εƷԢϑ՘ǄǏ1Ǉê࣐DiemenֳǏ̖ۡ՘ܒߡʷ143࣐ѷߡڻʞɧ՘ߟ܈Ż:ߟ.

Νε׉ď҇�ドӐӫӭ࣐ۡܭ�¯Ù○ࠜɽ.l�ǧñIւא�Ș̂ך࣐�½ѕS՗

Ͻ߮Ǔ 1߷ӻ܉࣐ԸߡvאȘʫٹ߂ζ՘ߡ̠࣐ג״ŁɉとY՘ǄӼŻǄǏǫ՘ɽֱ
Ʊݺرª.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ268

	

1644ʕ 5ϐ 2Υ࣐ΝҖў	

ܒߡ࣏Ɏ࡚՘׳ࡆ࣎é࢐࣐࣏prauw࣎چ՘ǱԔϙ֜߷,߻࠿イS࣐׳ࡆࠜࡇࠒࢺ9
ʷطص࣐ҭSЉɐҫđ࣐߆ըČSʞɧ՘Ο؂࣐˃�܂ߡߍ؛.ߟΝ ªČҖࠒࢺ11
ўѲ՘XҤ.Ʒ܂ߡÇe�՘࠼ˇイX ź�ѷҫ՘Ϡ࣐ҫYªࡥ˃ӝ࣐چɐԔϙ࠿2
֜՘࡬էࡦΝì-Wǲêª޾ǄǏޅ�y࣐ܺ_ٟŐź�.؂Νǳ࠵YI՘S»ɐζ

đ࣐ªČ߷΢֜՘࡬էøù࣎Ponap࣏՘̕Ș࡬ܭۻ࣐էʎČ�ȳŠovϥ࣐܈eζ
�ҩÐȅ �ҩÐ«޾.YIݺS܉øù޲ƬӘX࣐Yª҈ࡥݺԸ�S࣐چǱԔϙ࠿1
ˁd࣐ըČǭ܂ 2Č Ʒǲ}�đ࣐՘ў҈߁○ڻhߍYI.Zڌイ܂ߡˇˆしࠒࢺ3
2»ɐζ࣐lɕてߏҖў՘ AntonioǄǏ࣐X࡚ɢ޲՘øù_ϚSݺª.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥ
ו2ܰ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ269

																																																								
143	 ̹�Җў؃љǄđ՘ÉѺ࠿ڌeӏ. 	
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1644ʕ 5ϐ 9Υ	

イ࣐Iyΰֈ֕܉࣐Җў-׳ࡆđʾډÿڌרɐڑ1 ڌܭSɇ·y…½࣐̌�«17
ʎIؗ࠙࠷ BoonŻ AntonioǄǏ՘݋ܧϏ࣐��½͌Ĥy��½ʫߡ߂֋Ǐ՘�Ħ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ח 2õו 	࣏ࡢ269

J࣒ࠠBoonΥ࣐ࠄ͟ܝVOC	1148309-300࣐.	

1644ʕ 5ϐ 10Υ࣐ΝҖў	

h߻,߷֜Ň¢ќ࣐fř Theodore̖࣐͐՘Əٿ࡯�՘ƫךȆY࣒	
13.X޾޲vϠ֜ߧѮϑԸԢֶ࣐׵࣐߻Șࢯ࣐՛̎ò�ԃž܈؄ְؗԡԀ�ƛࣔ	
ƷバϏ©Ը՘ߍ�Řϑ࣐》qִ޾ߍѢ܉ƬӘ�½Ѯϑְ࣐ߍԡԀ�Ѯϑ؄܈h࣒ך

Ԣמϑ՘̷ֶȘª̤࣐ࠅ�ϑ՘࣐ͽͼ̗؛Iܼۻ؛ʁόٺ�࣐Ըݤִ޾࣐ԸݤӰۯ

	.߻
	ࣔࢵ�εśԵԶ՘ε࣐̎ࢵ�՘ƶԶε܉b࣐ܓズ�՘o࣐vƶƸεk٣ѫ޾.23
	.՛ࢯlϑ࣐׵ʏǬ՘ࡘƷƣԫ۞ɕϑ࣐lϑZɑϙϟ࣐Żֈ֕׵ҖўÿԶ࣒ך
…….	
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ270

Missive	President	Maximiliaen	Lemaire	to	Lieutenant	Thomas	Pedal.	Tayouan,	7	June	1644.	VOC	

1147,	fol.	499-504࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐	

[...]	With	Theodore	from	Kimaurij	we	concluded	a	contract	that	he	with	his	people	every	year,	

upon	our	order,	will	deliver	a	quantity	of	excellent	coals	on	the	beach	at	Quelang	near	to	our	

fortress.	However	we	still	disagree	with	him	about	the	price.	For	ten	barrels	(the	ones	that	are	

sent	along)	he	asked	two	heavy	reals	of	8th,	which	we	are	willing	to	pay	him	but,	as	we	

understood,	they	were	not	quite	sure	if	they	would	be	able	to	meet	with	that	amount,	we	have	

left	it	to	him	to	decide	whether	he	can	come	up	with	four	hundred	tubs,	be	it	a	little	more	or	a	

little	less,	for	which	we	will	pay	him	a	price	such	as	we	are	able	to	offer	him,	because	for	the	time	

being	it	can	do	no	harm.	If	we	want	a	larger	quantity	of	coals,	we	will	order	them	in	time.	Because	

the	coals	we	did	receive,	turned	out	to	be	of	a	rather	poor	quality,	and	mostly	slack,	we	instructed	

him	to	see	whether	he	could	search	in	the	gorges	where	the	coals	are	to	be	found	in	pits	and	

mines.	In	our	opinion,	the	coals	can	be	mined	quite	easily	by	breaking	off	some	larger	stones.	He	

responded	that	he	was	willing	to	do	this,	therefore	we	expect	to	receive	a	considerable	amount	

coals	of	a	better	quality,	in	that	way.	[...].	

We	still	intend,	if	no	other	more	significant	affair	prevents	us	from	doing	so,	to	send	at	the	end	of	

the	season	of	the	southern	monsoon,	one	or	two	companies	of	soldiers	thither	in	order	to	subject	
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the	Formosans	in	that	region	to	better	order	and	obedience	than	they	at	present	can	be	brought	

to.	We	do	not	expect	they	will	comply	with	any	request	from	us	without	exemplary	punishment,	

the	more	so	because	they	have	already	twice	given	us	their	promise	to	submit	themselves	to	our	

authority.	[...]	

[...]	Upon	the	request	of	the	mentioned	Theodoor,	we	have	agreed	that	the	poorest	quality	red	

Chinese	beads,	which	happen	to	be	in	the	hands	of	ensign	Jacob	Baers	at	the	moment	in	Quelang,	

will	be	returned	to	him	as	well	as	to	the	fiscal	on	the	first	possible	occasion,	whereas	the	other	

beads,	that	happen	to	be	the	kind	of	beads	most	valued	by	the	inhabitants,	will	be	kept	by	you	

until	you	receive	further	instructions	from	us.	The	same	counts	for	the	boy,	who	you	will	have	to	

keep	in	your	charge	until	further	notice.^	In	the	meantime	you	will	have	to	give	them	hope	that	at	

the	end	of	this	monsoon	season	you	will	expect	orders	to	also	hand	over	the	other	beads	to	

them.	

We	have	treated	the	earlier	mentioned	Theodoor	well	during	his	presence	over	here	and	we	have	

instructed	him	to	the	best	of	our	ability	about	the	Company's	policy	and	intentions.	We	confirmed	

his	position	as	a	commander	by	presenting	him	with	a	cane	as	a	symbol	of	his	authority	and	a	

cloth	of	red	damask,	which	he	accepted	with	considerable	gratitude,	promising	us	that	he	will	be	

obedient	to	the	Company	in	everything.	We	sent	you	the	same	gifts	intended	for	Don	Lucas	that	

you,	on	our	behalf,	can	hand	over	to	him,	on	condition	that	he	will	promise	to	be	obedient.	

Subsequently	you	can	confirm	him	in	his	office.	When	it	suits	him	we	will	expect	him	to	pay	a	visit	

to	us	in	Tayouan	in	due	time.	[...].࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	2,	pp.	438-439.࣏	

Missive	Governor	Francois	Caron	to	Governor-General	Anthonio	van	Diemen.	Tayouan,	25	October	

1644.	VOC	1148,	fol.	256-280࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐	

[...]The	elders	of	twenty	four	villages	over	there	had	in	the	presence	of	Boon,	and	later	on	in	

Tamsuy	at	the	fortress,	promised	to	show	fitting	humility	and	bring	tribute,	which	almost	daily	

they	paid	in	deerskins,	and	which	we	expect	to	receive	at	the	earliest	opportunity	[at	Tayouan].	In	

Quelang	[...]	the	preserved	fortified	point	was	baptized	North	Holland	and	the	Martello	tower	

Victoria.	At	a	fair	price	a	sizeable	quantity	of	pit	coal	was	commissioned	with	the	people	of	

Kimaurij	for	delivery	at	the	beach	the	aforementioned	point.	They	trust	that	they	can	dig	up	the	

coal	from	inside	the	mountain	with	the	assistance	of	our	soldiers,	who	have	been	ordered	to	help,	

so	that	it	is	to	be	hoped	that	we	shall	receive	a	sufficient	quantity	and	a	better	quality	of	coal	than	

we	have	obtained	so	far.	[...]	

One	of	the	headmen	of	Kimaurij,	named	Theodore	who	is	fluent	in	the	Castilian	language,	had	

been	together	with	the	above	mentioned	captain	Boon	before	our	arrival	at	the	castle	to	throw	

some	light	on	Tarraboan,	which	he	had	visited	fifteen	times;	from	him	we	received	reasonable	

insights	in	those	affairs	and	more	informaton	than	we	have	ever	received	from	anybody	else.	[...]

	࣏.489	p.	2,	vol.	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎
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1644ʕ 5ϐ 18Υ	

イ࣐IҖўyΰֈ֕܉࣐ډÿڌרɐڑ1 וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�19 2õו 	࣏ࡢ277

1644û 7-9ť	

1644ʕ 7ϐ 23Υ	

�θˇSߌڑֈ֕՘ڌרͽČìɇˇҖўȷª՘ϊ·ؾ࣐ϗϜϐ 4ΥŻ 16Υ࣐ˆ
Ν�ʕ࣐˥ 5ϐ 19Υڻޘ 1,400І࣎maten144࣏տӑˇтƸډʾҖў՘ڑߡ Jocksam
՘࣐ڌרΝ࠼˃՘ 21Υ࣐Ʒ:ɴ࣎Lamcam࣏ҫࠧޮࡈߕo.֓࡬՘ӭ࣐܄Ƭ͓ޢƸ
ǄǏ߂7ʫߡ࣐gտӑعԅĉεƬӘ࣐gع�ӝ࡬�εƬӘ࣐֓ј�đω̋ěoْࢺ

՘8ɽֱӜѻ̻Ӣ̂ϑ՘߆ʝ۲߆.Әoܭɽֱ՘ʫ࣐߂l܉Ѣ҇ʘ»ϙ/࣐�ō

ߡƬӘ࣎ Ż࣐�ʘ»eS۲К՘Һ࣏ԵՍoْࢄࡽƬߧĂߥǱ࣐�ɽ܄ӭ࡬֓«50
ʘ»îş�I܂ߡ.Ō…ܷ࠙࠷ˇٺ࣐ Boonߡ࣐˃�ࠜࡇSʎ՘ɥќࡘˆࡵߧʏ݄
ۢŌࡥϓ࣐ò`ϑS»� Don	Lucas࣐�εƷ Gommonҫώ߸܉՘̠࣐ࡪࢋ×Ã
1,494߷ӻ՘Ԟԩyؗ̌Μ՘࣐�§Ә̝݁˔ܴŻࡥϓ՘¶࣐݇]ْ࣐Ә߆܉Sу՘
�MޅܡÞ࣐ǮΜ՘�՘ܱśY࣐˃ώ࣐ԿǮ½՘ǄǏࠧޮWǲߞʁٺ�࣐ܱ֏

ȅթۡޘ》ܮ࣐ΝXܭ޲Ā.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ312
Th.	Pedel…ؗ M.	Lemaire՘ϊ·࣐Җў1644࣐ʕ 7ϐ 16Υ࣐VOC	1147࣐fol.	513-520520࣐-

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐521

[...]	Since	the	departure	of	the	captain	Boon	the	inhabitants	of	the	Tamsuy	region	are	living	in	

great	fear.	Don	Lucas	managed	to	get	the	principal	headmen	of	that	area,	named	Common,	who	

has	already	concluded	an	alliance	with	the	Company	on	two	occasions	but	who,	for	a	period	of	

ten	months,	did	not	seem	to	care	much	about	it,	although	recently,	on	the	20thof	June,	for	three	

																																																								

144	 І࣎maat࣐࣏Maat Ϝªε3ʝ۷ߺƘ 4e˲࣐�fƷȴֻƘ X࣐śޢӘ˲̹3S
A>

4
B<

Ĝ࣒܋࣐4

�1ΥϜđޮ࣐ب0ͽΝԹ`Êóࢆʔ̓Ǝ@=;<ࢺaIPQMϥFQNϏ֜@̑Ղズ߃/࣐ОSײ

@ưȳ@Ɏǫࠢ°2࣎ϥ|࣒ţɺʱΐࡢ࣏1987࣐ࢆ 487–488-489.20 Ζ 	 =	1	maet1܋࣐ΥϜҏǫࠢ

°ŝΔIPQMƎ࠙ࢆΥܰʈŋȦ������ÞơwûUťɁÞơw�û¨ť2࣎ϥ|࣒ϥ|Ǳȡŝ

Δ̖ضبĄ۲ࡢ࣐࣏1976࣐ 265. 	
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days	in	a	row	he	requested	conclusion	of	a	new	agreement	with	the	Company.	Moreover	he	

wanted	to	entrust	to	us	his	beads	valued	at	1494	reals	of	8thas	a	sign	of	his	loyalty	(if	only	his	

former	broken	promises	could	be	pardoned).	For	three	days	we	rejected	his	offer,	because	he	had	

not	appeared	when	he	was	summoned	up	by	captain	Boon.	However,	finally	we	accepted	his	

proposal	because	all	inhabitants	throughout	the	Tamsuy	area	listen	to	him	and	because	there	is	

no	other	opportunity	to	introduce	the	taxes	and	get	the	people	to	pay	them.	Thus	we	agreed	to	

provisionally	conclude	a	treaty	of	friendship	with	him	until	we	receive	Your	Honour's	approbation	

for	it.	He	left	us	the	mentioned	beads	that	were	estimated	by	them	as	you	can	see	from	the	

memorandum	included	in	this	letter,	on	the	condition	that	from	now	on	he	would	behave	himself	

in	accordance	with	the	agreement.	We	warned	him	that	if	he	should	fail	to	do	so	he	surely	would	

be	risking	his	life.	As	a	result	within	the	present	month	of	July	all	the	Tamsuy	villages	have	

promised	to	pay	the	taxes	to	the	Company	by	means	of	deerskins	as	is	the	custom	in	Tayouan.	The	

included	memorandum	was	drawn	up	especially	to	register	those	villages	that	do	recognise	the	

Company	to	be	their	protector,	as	well	as	how	many	houses	they	contain,	what	languages	the	

people	speak,	how	many	souls	are	living	in	them	and	where	they	are	situated.	Although	not	

everything	may	be	accomplished	this	year,	the	agreement	will	enable	us	to	find	out	if	the	

promises	that	have	been	made	will	be	carried	out	properly.	

Ensign	Jacob	Baers	writes	that	Theodore,	who	thanks	him	very	much	for	his	trip	to	Tayouan	will,	

as	soon	as	he	has	arrived	in	Quelang,	see	to	it	that	the	fiscal	will	receive	the	beads.	Subsequently	

he	will	start	with	the	coal	mining,	so	that	Your	Honour	can	expect	a	sample	to	be	sent	to	you	on	

the	first	possible	occasion	(as	we	have	recommended	him	as	well	as	the	smith	again	to	be	a	little	

quicker).	You	can	therefore	expect	that	a	sample	will	be	sent	to	you,	delivered	by	Don	Lucas,	who	

also	expresses	his	gratitude	to	Your	Honour.࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	2,	pp.	449-450.࣏	

1644ʕ 7ϐ 24Υ	

YĶ࣐ϑ ࣒ªޘ࣐тƸߏ145て࣏Sinckangia࣎�Ȧҏ-Ӄҥ-ҖўŻΚңˇڌרڑ4

40,ʇΔ࣎stucq	goederen150……-࣏スԵֈ֕࣎rouwen	swavel࣐࣏aܗイ 150»�.
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ312

1644ʕ 7ϐ 25Υ	

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.……ֈ֕ªޘεˇҖўڑ1࣐ߏてڌרڑ2 2õו 	࣏ࡢ313

																																																								
145	 .՘Κңࣂ˃Ϲڝ 	
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1644ʕ 8ϐ 2Υ	

ܗaߌ܁࠿ڌv޾ݏԺîş�м¯ࡥ࣐đʾҖўyΰֈ֕ډÿڌרڑ4 1,000Іק׺
՘տӑʾՆƸ࣐Ը�ʫܭ߂Ƹ֋Ǐ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ315

1644ʕ 8ϐ 30Υ	

ࢌڨۺ23-ۈ՘۟ࢤ7スΚ-ۈһ۟׻17ス࣒ϑޘ࣐ª՘࣏Canton࣎εˇʨϥڌר
Ż࣏anijs࣎ 3ス࣐ࢮイ ª࣐чt»αϗ؛`޼࣐Ǔsܷ࣏Limtay࣎bϩѿڌ.�«31
тƸε܉ªԼܼ࣐۲݇޿�¯đʾҖўyΰֈ֕՘.146

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 330

	࣏ࡢ

1644ʕ 9ϐ 3Υ	

࣐Ϛ͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕ڻޘҳ࣐тƸߏҖўてˇڌר՘ɐ࣏Boicko࣎ƃڣ�ɥΝ`ưƎڑ1
イ ʎª`ɋ_࣐�«18 Pedel݋ܧܧٿϏ̖…e·ߡ࣐ܷ࣐vߌտӑڌר՘て࣐ߏ
֋Ǐ՘ʹԉʂܭƬт࣐o࢛ƪ࡚ցٲʂˇӼ࣐֋Ǐ՘ƱӼߡ࣐ɡ߆՘ɽ§ˁϑߟߡ©

ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ח½�Iؗ޷Ѣࡍʉϕ̻Ӣ�½՘࣐Svϙϧ܉ࡍӘт࣐ªݺ׉ȋʫࠜ؛

ǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ333

1644ʕ 9ϐ 6Υ	

イ࣐ֈ֕ޘđʾҖўډÿڌרɐڑ1 וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«31 2õו 	࣏ࡢ334

																																																								
146	 тЉࡓ޺ʨϥΜ࡚࠿ڌlܪƴđªҖўݥΰ࣓Ō̖࣐݃ʨϥڮˇ࣐ΐݦΔªծ࣐ǬӘӁɻѷҏSʎ

՘ٿ࠿ڌƎ࣐�ˁɑϑԠѥS՘ʨɻٿӄࠚΜ࡚eڌ. 	
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1644ʕ 9ϐ 8Υ	

q޿ Kimptingh՘ڑߡǿˆ՘ patacheڌ	 イ࣐ֈ֕ޘʾҖўIډ147 1Ӫ࣎.…࣓�«20
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ336

1644ʕ 9ϐ 9Υ	

ϑޘ148࣐࣏Minoa࣎Ȧࠟٺªڌרڑ1 イ࣐׵ۺ100 ࡆʾҖўŻډڌרڑ1……�19
イ࣐՛ࢯIyΰֈ֕Ż܉࣐׳ 15»Һ�.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ336

1644ʕ 9ϐ 13Υ	

ڌݞ149՘࣏Kimptingh࣎ȭ߻q޿εڑIyΰֈ࣓֕……1܉࣐ʾҖўډڑ1

.�Ōƫªңê̖࣐߆Ӝѻđࡷ޹Ƭ࣐IҖў՘܉ډε�đˇтƸÿ࣐࣏petache࣎
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ339

1644ʕ 9ϐ 14Υ	

δǲÿ܉ډIҖў՘࣐ڌרڑߡƬӘƷҏXߊČʵә.̖ࡷ�Ōƫªéң.…	
イ࣐ײֈ֕Ż-١ࢯϑޘ࣐ࠚđʾʣډÿڌרڑ1 וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«41 2õו

	࣏ࡢ339

1644ʕ 9ϐ 18Υ	

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.…тƸߏֈ֕てޘҖўˇڌרڑ1 2õו 	࣏ࡢ340
J.	van	Keyssel…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1644࣐ʕ 9ϐ 16Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1147443࣐.	

																																																								
147	 patache §…z࣐ڌ petache࣐ŁڷڽԀܳe Patacho࣐ìЂޛǀڌݞ. 	
148	 ࠟȦ࣎Minoa࣐࣏ Ν`ư֣ʫ֣ɻʆ. 	
149	 �ό࣐ζ׳ࡆ-�΀̙Җў۞ڮ࣐ԡԀΐԘ܈q¥Αeӹ.Ͻズ޿fڻŁ࣐࣏Kimptingh࣎ȭ߻q޿

ʒĞ࣒܋࣐�۞ڮ J.	Borao	ed.,	Spaniards	in	Taiwan,	II,	598.߻ȭƷپࡪ¤�۞ڮӏ.ݥ࣐˃ߥΰж

ĊǬԺò͔̈́. 	
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1644ʕ 9ϐ 19Υ	

4-ڌ150࣏fregat࣎ڌʈ߁○՘࣏Kimptingh࣎ȭ߻q޿ε࣐ֈ֕ޘI܉࣐đʾҖўڑ1
151Żўԁ࣏cassomba࣎ڙ؃-ۮ-ֈ֕-ײ-ࢢࢭ-١ࢯϑޘ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏڌרڑ

イ࣐ܒ וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«116 2õו 	࣏ࡢ341

1644ʕ 9ϐ 20Υ	

ϑޘ࣐тƸߏҖўてˇڌרڑ1 300スֈ࣐֕イ וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«13 2õו 	࣏ࡢ341

1644û 10-11ť	

1644ʕ 10ϐ 5Υ	

ΨX͕̹࣐ȫؗߡv○ڎ՘bןŻޓࢎY܉ࡍ̖ߏ՘Săź�e˃͕̹࣐ȫࠞYɕ̟

.ǲѝ『ĝ࣐ࡉҖў.ΌǲYߏΝ�θéǭ�đて࣐đʾҖў࣐ҫ҈Yªˇ152࣐ވޮ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ364

1644ʕ 11ϐ 14Υ	

イ࣐ײֈ֕Ż-١ࢯϑS̛ޘ࣐ʾȦҏډڑ1 וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«76 2õו 376

	࣏ࡢ

																																																								
150	 fregat Ҩٺѻܳ frégate߁○̹࣐ʈڌ.ԺтݦΔśռ࣐¥Αeӹ̖ͬϑ̎ןԥ՘࠮࣐࠿ڌ`ưڌר

ǫߞ࣐,̲о࣐҅ڌƎКޟߌĩĚ࣐Ժтś܋SΒ. 	
151	 cassombaٿ࣐đܤ՘ࡱڕ؃Δ galiga e. 	
152	 Җў׳ࡆٿeࠝ՘ࡵ࣐ވߎӝߞϑ3ޮ4ވ. 	
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1644ʕ 10ϐ 17Υ	

ϑޘ࣐Җўªˇڌרڑ2 700スֈ֕Ż 150ス…-500Ϫўࢯ՛Żࢯ՛࣐イ 47»�࣓
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ350

1644ʕ 10ϐ 22Υ	

ªޘ࣐Җўٺªڌרڑ5 2,870スԵֈ࣐֕…….	
ˇXޘ޲ֈ֕ª՘ڌרڑߡͽČYʌƎĦȫ Jan	van	Keyssel՘Sɇª·࣐b܉êȴŘ
…ࠢΝXߌޘڌר޲՘q《࣐ܷ_࣐ԢƷߟߡʂ؛Ѯϑ࣐࠿ڌ_ܼѢܷܼ࣐ͼ�Ǝ�

Wƃ࣎Saco࣏Żíƃ࣎Peco࣏Ը�½՘޷�Iߟߡʫߡ߂֋Ǐ՘ 93,000ǖ֓࡬՘ݤԸ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ח 2õו 	࣏ࡢ352

1644ʕ 10ϐ 26Υ	

�ǲϑ イ࣐ֈ֕ªČтƸޘҖўˇڌרɐڑ1 וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«9 2õו 355

	࣏ࡢ

1645û 1-6ť	

1645ʕ 1ϐ 16Υ	

Ʒ֣ӻ͡ѰĒY՘îş࣐߻ݦ,̲ԢмŻݞԃࡰ߻࣐ӘS՗ƪ2ڮڸի.ԢƷ`ưê

̑Ӆә࣐ƬтZ٪ϗˀˇ`ưϏϑǱߺ՘ݞԃߌªyΰْ࣐[`ưƎࡍ�Ѣ՘ݞԃl

ˁɑ࣐Ʒîş՘ݞԃࡤէ`࣐Řϑֈ֕Ż߾ε«ǫ.153Zߍ Caronlʉϕ࣐Ӫ۞ߖǄ
࣐ª֣ӻ͡Ѱ՘ؙߌԃ.ˇ`ưݞSv`ưݣݱśԸª¯�࣐Ǯ՘Ԣмށϑͬ܉εߞ

ԅĉőČê̑՘ʻ࣐ࡡʘfÉрߌªo.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ378

																																																								
153	 ήҟe࠺Ƭ̑ӸْƎКZ࣐ࡥ�ֈ֕yΰߞεSͼԔ֧. 	
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1645ʕ 3ϐ 11Υ	

Lampcan154՘ȫghӪ۞ߖǄՆɚܼѢúpIҖўŻ׳ࡆyΰֈ֕՘q《࣐p�̛ú
o࣐Љ�ε؄ش܉`ưƎ�՘ְ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ379

1645ʕ 4ϐ 27Υ	

ϑ イܗa࣐đʾ`ưډÿڌרڑ11 .ў׻Żࢢࢭ-ֈ֕-١ࢯIS̛ޘ࣐�«204
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ402

1645ʕ 5ϐ 3Υ	

ϑ イ࣐Iyΰֈ֕܉࣐՘Җўߟ.đʾډÿڌרڑ2 וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«35 2õ

ו 	࣏ࡢ405

1645ʕ 5ϐ 5Υ	

イ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ1 ޘ࣐�«53 ݕƘ 8ع5スֈ֕-607-١ࢯׯ149
ԀŻ וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.׵ۺ100 2õו 	࣏ࡢ406

1645ʕ 5ϐ 10Υ	

YʌƎĦȫ Jan	van	Keysselª·ؾ࣐ϗ�ʕ 4ϐ 26Υ࣐͐Čߟߡʂ؛Üۙ؂W2ڸ
ǖ࣐֓࡬lŁɉԵԶ԰࣐155࣐חƬт࣐ȆϫōζˇтƸߌտӑŻϙΔI࣐܂ߡɕԴࢵ

śϕΝ�ʕ_࣐oعZߧ 10ϐʚ�đ߂ȅܭ֋Ǐ.тǫ܉ߞѢSvZǳ߸܉՘ˏࡍ
Ըž.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ408

																																																								
154	 Lampcan ̹՘̂ܭε`ưѷҏ՘S»Ǆʆ࣐ś٪̹3:|4࣐̎ʨϥ՘3ҋՖұ4. 	

	
155	 ؂ 1650 ʕ࠵࣐�ήɧY՘ҖўƸ1࣐ʂϑԵԶ԰-ӑeɽʦ࣐J1࣒܋Ǳپ.ŕƸƴِ߶2. 	
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1645ʕ 5ϐ 20Υ	

ȷYʌƎĦȫ Van	KeysselŻҖў՘݋ܧϏ̖ͩ…Sɇ·࣐……Xڌר޲lޘϑS̛տ
ӑ-ϙΔ࣐חɕÖʂϑʘڌרڑˇтƸŻࢠңޘط࠴IߡШ࣐lߞϏطص¬̂�½՘

թ·�½Ʒ½࣐̌Ш޾࣐܉ࡍ 10ϐʚ�đɕśȨ̋ܭ֋Ǐ՘ʫ߂ɽֱ.X޲ Diemen
Z࣐7ªҖў8࡬։֓ߌィ׳ࡆԸ�I࣐܂ߡś�ԿƷףȝࡷ:«޾࣏܉ࡍȆϫ࣎ۤ

Ʒyΰֈ½��_࣐࣏ШÈ޾٪ώȅ࣎ߌªィڌȆϫś�Ըˇqֈ֕yΰ՘Һ�՘ߍ

֕�đãIィߌSìࢵߡ࣐࡬֓ݿSΦٿࡷǲѝÞ࣐̌ܡ½ɕ׉܉å҇ڌרܭ

Diemenۤډʾࣄɧɱ࣎Malabariga156࣐࣏I֏ȿÌϳܭɱח.……ŌƬӘ̌½ܗՄ�ʕ
9ϐ̎ 10ϐ܉ƷҖўߡSʎϠ֜۲ځƸΜϏ̖࣐݋�ź��½Ʒ޾ϗࠝ܉ëĚIܹ
ϳ࣎Җўפ1ޡƱê՘࣏š֜՘̓S࣐Ʒߡζࠝ�đ̋܄ȨΌ՘ؘ܉_࣐۹ܗōζ̠

̌½՘˲˚޿ռޮߒ՘Ϡ֜.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ412
F.	Caron…ؗ J.	van	Keyssel՘·1645࣐ʕ 5ϐ 20Υ࣐Νپӏ࣐VOC	1149793-791࣐.	

VOC	1149࣐fol.	764-766࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐	

[...]	After	captain	Boon	had	departed	from	Tamsuy	overland	to	Tayouan	last	year,	we	received	no	

message	whether	he	had	succeeded	in	passing	the	villages.	On	13	January	of	this	year	we	

therefore	resolved	to	send	seven	inhabitants	of	Tamsuy	from	here	to	explore	the	passage	(they	

had	to	try	and	see	if	they	could	come	as	far	as	Dorenap,	or	near	to	that	place).	However	after	only	

six	days	they	returned	and	reported	to	us	that	they	had	crossed	the	Lamcan	river,	but	that	the	

natives	of	that	area	did	not	allow	them	to	move	any	further	because	along	the	way	Dutchmen	

were	mostly	beaten	to	death,	as	a	result	of	which	they	considered	themselves	to	be	enemies	of	

the	Dutch	and	their	allies.	We	took	this	to	be	a	gross	lie	but	the	natives	nonetheless	took	it	for	the	

truth.	The	end	of	the	story	was	that	øù࣎Ponap࣏,	one	of	the	elders	from	one	of	the	villages	

near	Tamsuy,	refused	to	deliver	bamboo	to	us	any	longer.	On	March	first	he	was	apprehended,	

but	because	other	elders	came	to	see	us	daily	to	request	his	release,	we	set	him	free	with	the	

personal	guarantee	of	the	others,	on	collateral	security	of	leaving	a	large	supply	of	beads	valued	

at	600	reals	of	eight	with	us,	as	assurance	of	his	sincere	obedience,	which	was	effected.	The	

reason	for	our	demanding	security	is	because	he	has	played	such	games	on	several	occasions.	[...]	

With	regard	to	the	villages	situated	between	the	territory	of	the	Quataongh	and	Tamsuy	(of	which	

there	are	16	as	we	learned)	these	had	promised	to	fulfil	their	(tax)	charge	in	deerskins.	Therefore,	

according	to	Your	Honours'	order	(if	they	are	collected	at	Tamsuy)	we	sent	out	the	deputy	political	

administrator	Joost	van	Bergen	again	to	those	villages	in	order	to	suggest	to	the	elders	that	they	

should	deliver	the	tax	at	Tamsuy.	Furthermore	he	had	to	invite	those	headmen	to	come	over	

altogether	so	that	we	would	be	able	to	be	well	informed	of	the	number	of	their	houses	and	the	

																																																								
156	 Malabariga࣐Ōf Tatachel࣐ŁȮ۞ࣄثɧɱ. 	
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size	of	their	villages,	and	get	a	better	knowledge	of	the	roads	in	that	area	so	that,	at	times,	we	will	

be	able	to	send	our	missive	straight	to	Dorenap.	We	agreed	to	send	one	soldier	and	four	of	the	

inhabitants	of	the	Tamsuy	area	together	with	the	mentioned	Van	Bergen	to	Dorenap,	in	order	to	

escort	them	to	Tamsuy	all	the	elders	of	the	mentioned	villages,	which	we	hope	will	work	out	in	

this	way.	Two	men	from	the	principal	villages	over	there,	who	had	already	been	escorted	to	

Tamsuy	by	Van	Bergen	on	another	occasion,	now	returned	with	him	again	to	their	village	(after	

they	had	been	entertained	well).	They	told	us	that	within	15	or	16	days	two	trade-junks	from	

China	are	about	to	appear	at	their	villages	situated	at	about	15	or	16	miles	from	here,	near	a	river	

that	is	named	Mattau	by	them.	We	agreed	to	communicate	this	to	Your	Honour	because	every	

year	Chinese	junks,	without	proper	Company	licences,	call	at	that	place,	so	that	Your	Honour,	

when	the	occasion	arises,	could	order	that	place	to	be	examined	by	a	vessel	(under	way	to	

Tamsuy).	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	2,	pp.	534-535.࣏	

1645ʕ 5ϐ 30Υ	

SٺڑԺќ՘ڻޘڌר ʎY_࣐8՛Żֈ֕ࢯϑS̛7ޘ࣐ªČтƸ׳ࡆˇ�«16
ʌƎĦȫ Van	KeysselˇҖў…ª՘Sɇ·ؾ࣐ϗϜϐ 23Υܭ࣐Ābܭ࣐˥ˆ܉֋Ǐ
՘ʫ࣐߂ʂϑSюζࠝࡩϑ߆ɡ1࣎.חӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ417

1645ʕ 6ϐ 2Υ	

ϑ イ࣐ߏӃҥてˇڑ1 ªߌ࣐�«25 100スֈ֕-15スࢢࢭŻ îڋ՘ڌܭ.ԁ࡬2
Ǔsܷ࣐ϑSڌרڑˇҖўIӃҥ࣐ԿƷ޾̠࣐܂ߡvֈ֕yߌ�ªтƸ.157	
lʎªSɇYʌƎĦȫ Van	Keyssel՘ϊ·ؾ࣐ϗXϐ 15Υ.ࢋã·࣐޲ʂ͊؛Č̌
½҇IࡍˏߌԸž՘ �ōڌרڑ9 ֋Ǐ՘ʫܭƬтʉϕ࣐ڌרտӑI՘ߌңࢠˇڑ6
Ōϑ࣐˃�·�Xиªˇٺ.ח߂Ӣ̌½՘ź�ʫߘɉ_࣐۲߆Ċࡥɉś߂ ڌרڑ6
ˇтƸŻ`ư̌ڻ̸࣐½՘࣐۲݇޿Iߟߡyΰࢯ՛Żֈ࣐֕ò`ϑΎڑʂࡇݞޘ؛

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ࠜ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ418
J.	van	Keyssel…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1645࣐ʕ 5ϐ 15Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1149769-767࣐.	

VOC	1149790࣐.	

																																																								
157	 тюݦΔl࣐ࡓ޺Җўֈ֕ϑζzӜѻը͊ˇ.࢐ࠜࡷࡥߥČ࣐:پˆãČӃҥӝ˃ޢČپ:. 	
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1645ʕ 6ϐ 9Υ	

イ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ10 	10…-١ࢯׯ13࣒ԃȆYݞÿI՘ߌ࣐�«319
broodens՘ֈ֕.158zϑ ר�Ǣ՘Һ͗ڑߡޘ܁I܉εڑò`S…࣐ʾ.Җўډڑ2
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ĒY՘ֈ֕܂ڌ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ421

1645ʕ 6ϐ 15Υ	

YʌƎĦȫ Van	KeysselϜϐ 6Υ՘ª·࣐εԺSߌڑֈ֕՘ڌרˇҖўʎª՘࣐ˇ
	࣒˥ˆْ
ֈ֕՘ߌvߡlӘт࣐҇ɡ߆ˁϑ؛ɽֱʂ࣐Ȩ̋߂֋ǏӜś̆ՊƸɉΝ�ʕêʫߡ

	.Ը՘ԃžIࡍ�տӑŻòߌ○Ùߟ޾Ѣ܉l½�࣐࡬Ǎ։֓ߌィ׳ࡆIڌר
W࣎ݘSt.Jago࣏Ż߻,߷֜՘؄ݜɉΝì-WǲêͽŐ࣐ȆeҖўϠ࣐֜ΝʵәȒ٬
_ӭђ�½W2»̕ɞe˃̖ͽŐߡШ.…	
ϑ࣐˃�·�Xиªˇٺ ՘ߟߡԢƷƷ࣐܂ߡтƸIˇڌƎڑ3࣐ư`ˇڌƎڑ2
ðϑ࣐e�đI՘߃࣐ڌ ߟߡƬт࣐՘࡬֓ߌィ׳ࡆՆ`ϑТ˲Iڌv޾.ڌڑ23
ςζԸZČڌר Diemenۤ.Van	KeysselãԵƬْ͐܉݋Ըߡ޷ڌܭvˇ؄ݜŐˆ՘
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ח՛ŻSvֈ֕ªтƸࢯ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ423

J.	van	Keyssel…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1645࣐ʕ 6ϐ 6Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1149771-770࣐.	

VOC	1149793-791࣐.	

1645ʕ 6ϐ 20Υ	

�ǲϑڌרˇšƸてߏтƸ࣐lϑڌרÿډđʾšƸ࣐ò《ʹȆY࣒ϑ イڑ1 16»
	Iyΰֈ࣓֕܉࣐׳ࡆđʾډÿ࣐� ªߌ࣐ߏҖўてˇڑ1…… 800スֈ࣐֕イϑ 27
»Һ�.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ425

																																																								
158	 broodenߺ߸࣐Ƙ 1࣐	brood ؂Ә 25 îΖ. 	
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1645ʕ 6ϐ 25Υ	

Ϝϐ 18ΥډʾӃҥ܉࣐Iޘƫ͗ڑߡǢo՘ڌרX՘ֈ֕՘࣐ڌרڑߡ�ǲƫтƸ
éң.�½Č࣐˃�܂ߡծ܋ʘڌרڑǺࠚ߻ȫg՘ź࣐�Zߡݸߌ�vֈ࣐֕l̠

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ƫª̗׀Řȅڌרӏ՘پ޲X࣐bʎI`ưoڌߡ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ427

1645û 7ť	

1645ʕ 7ϐ 10Υ	

Ïθϑ…࣐՘Җўߟ.ʾډڑ1…࣒Ł࣐ʾʘ»ƸΜډڌר ֈ֕てޘ׳ࡆˇڌרڑ1
イϑ࣐тƸߏ וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.……�«30 2õו 	࣏ࡢ433

1645ʕ 7ϐ 15Υ	

̂½�vֈ֕޾࣎Ϛ͐Ӟֈ֕ߺªǱߌ׳ࡆԢʂˇҖўŻ࣐�Ȧʔ՘Һ:پՕԢ¢Ʒط࠴

Νݷɴ͐Ӟ՘࠮࣐࣏oƷ޾ʆࠐ՘ʘۡîðǔ̖͐طصӞeǫ࣐lƷ�½ώΜ¯՘¢ȳ˃

࡚Żđ࡚͐Ӟٽ�࣐Z�۴ߎǱӘ࢙nl̋߂Ʀ߸՘ɎÊʡϑȲ՘׀ѝ࣐ʰݺšִՍՎ࣐

«ȆƇƓ࣎aenborsticheyt࣏Ż٦Ӕ࣎longersuchtח࣏.Ƭт݋ܧ࣐ϏcѪ࣐݋ɉΝޮΥՕ
ʇîs̖�࣐ϑтƸɛќ׉ࡦˏ࣐ďと࠮�½Әo͐Ӟֈْ֕Ȧؼ՘ӴӒ�ō̖ϑò�թ

ࠢԸó࣐ŘܡƷߍݽîş՘ࢍʢ՘ƸΜ࣐̎Ʒݷɴ޾ؼ܁vܠÐࡦˏ½�࣐˃��ˇ࣐Ʒ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.חӞ�½՘ֈ֕͐܂ߡ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ434 	
VOC	1149884࣐.	

1645ʕ 7ϐ 19Υ	

ޘイ࣐Җўߟ.ˇڌרڑ1… ϑߌ_࣐�«20 270スֈ֕Ż 50スײªČтƸ࣐ʎª
YʌƎĦȫ Van	Keyssele·ؾ࣐ϗϜϐ 14Υ࣐b܉êȴܷ࠮࣐oX޲Ϝڌڑǫ࣐ŗ
ϑ ۲߆߂՛ŻԒ՛.֋Ǐ՘ʫࢯў-ײ-ϑϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕ޘ࣐ªтƸډ�ؔڌƎڑ5
lȆΎԺ࣐࡬՘։֓ࡍɽֱ̖ܭӘȨ࣐̋oࡁĂͽߥʂǱ࣐࡬՘֓܉ࡦӘт̖࣐Ċࡥ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.……܂ߡČߌ׳ࡆˇڌvƎߡ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ435
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J.	van	Keyssel…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1645࣐ʕ 7ϐ 14Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1149778-777࣐	

1645ʕ 7ϐ 20Υ	

�ǲϑ イ࣐ڌרڑ2 ªޘܗa࣐тƸߏҖўてˇ࣐�«36 600スֈ֕Ż 20スײ.
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ435

1645ʕ 7ϐ 21Υ	

イ࣐ߏҖўてˇڌרڑ1 ªޘ࣐�«13 150スֈ֕ŻS̛ࢯ՛.	 1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2

õו 	࣏ࡢ435

1645ʕ 7ϐ 22Υ	

̗ڋ؈࢛ Roelof	Sievertsenˇ.ߟҖўªČтƸ.�ΝϜϐ 6ΥイS֬ڑԸ՘R�ڌ
-ңh.ըČҖў՘̖ϑҫ҈ࢠˇтƸđ¢Җў.Ǔs�Ȇ¥Iвϳࡇډ159࣏coya࣎

ɐҫŻңӏߧ�࣐חѮϑծ֨ݸ܋՘`ư࣐ڌČۡծČ՘ڌרŻò̸ߧ࣐࠿ڌ�ϑ。

Ն՘1࣎.۲݇޿Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ435
J.	van	Keyssel…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1645࣐ʕ 7ϐ 14Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1149778-777࣐.	

1645ʕ 7ϐ 26Υ	

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.…îş՘տӑđʾҖўޘ܂ߡˇ܉ڑ2…… 2õו 	࣏ࡢ437

1645ʕ 7ϐ 28Υ	

Ƭط࠴ՕԢҺ�Z�Ʒyΰζʏϑл۲ܥӘْ࣐[ωƦ߸՘ε�½خε̌ޅ½ƌŏ

	Kalika࣎ࡎ޿ɕȆώޮ࣐Ĥ�½ọ̆îşࢽټԴ࣐îşࡇӻ͡ѰɛќՉ֣�࣐ܹ
Rousut࣏՘ߡƪ»Ճ֜�ō�ԥƸΜȫ Van	BergenΝ 15Č 20ǲđ̖ߍ؛՘�Νࢯң
࠰Һ�՘ۻεƬӘߧȨë࣐ШߡҖўeࠝ՘ʘ»ò�ƸΜ՘�̖۹Ԣٿ࣏Dorenap࣎
݂ܵɏ̖ٽ՘ߡ࣐vҺ�ޫ࣎�Ӝܾεk̸ϑ̌½՘ߧ࣏۲݇޿イډڌʾ.ߟ՘Ϡڰ

																																																								
159
� R�.ڌɐרƘЂ࣐࣏coya࣎ڌ 	
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࣐թŏƸ࣐۲݇o޿՘ۡܭʾډɉZöՕ۲˃�࣐݋Ň¢ќyΰ.ƬтѪޅҫɺIٿ

ɉՕʇîs࣐�ҺƎĦˏࡦΝ 8ϐʚđŚƫډʾۡܭyΰ՘Ǝْ࣐ڌ[ɉ݉sтƸ̖
ϑɛќډ】�ߧ�¥�˃�࣐ʾ1࣎.ؽ߸ّߐ࣐ۡܭӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ438

VOC	1149࣐fol.	886࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐	

[...]	The	Chinese	[...]	continue	to	encourage	the	Formosans	to	hate	the	Company,	and	they	even	

incite	them	to	open	disobedience,	(as	was	discovered	about	15	or	20	days	ago	by	the	substitute	

political	administrator	Van	Bergen,	when	he	passed	along	the	entire	seashore	between	Dorenap	

and	Tamsuy.	This	was	even	more	the	case	in	the	four	villages	of	Kalika	Rusudt	situated	along	that	

road.	According	to	the	writing	of	Junior	Merchant	Jan	van	Keyssel,	these	used	to	be	ready	to	

deliver	the	required	taxes,	but	at	present	they	showed	themselves	unwilling	to	do	so.	This	change	

of	mind	as	well	as	the	resentment	smouldering	at	several	places	in	this	area,	results	only	from	the	

spiteful	and	evil	intrigues	of	the	Chinese	who	continue	to	frequent	the	northern	villages,	rivers	

and	inlets	(with	or	without	Company	licences)	with	their	junks.	After	profound	discussions	on	this	

subject,	it	was	therefore	judged	necessary	and	consequently	determined	that	from	now	on	trade	

licences	would	no	longer	be	given	to	Chinese	for	the	mentioned	northern	places	such	as:	

Gommach,	Pangsoa,	Sinckangia,	Mattauw	and	all	the	other	places	situated	on	the	northern	side	

of	Dorenap	as	far	as	to	Tamsuy.	[...].࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	2,	p.	550.࣏	

1645ʕ 7ϐ 30Υ	

ϑ࣒Ł࣐ʘ»ƸΜٺʾ̎ªډڌר�ǲϑYĆ࣒ԃԶ܉߸zӘײ ࣐׳ࡆʾډڌרڑ3
ϑޘ࣐ʾҖўډڑ2 ϑ…160࣐27 ªޘ࣐Җўٺªڌרڑ1 240スֈ֕Ż 15ス࣐ײ….
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ439

1645û 8ť	

1645ʕ 8ϐ 2Υ	

�ǲlϑ イϑܗa࣐тƸߏて׳ࡆˇڌרڑ2 50»Һޘ࣐�ª 800スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.֕ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ440

																																																								
160	 тۡś٪ӘŇаߛҸ. 	
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1645ʕ 8ϐ 5Υ	

ϑ࣓ײϑS̛ֈ֕Żޘ࣐ʾȦҏډڌרڑ1 Xîş՘܁܂ߡƷ࣎ңࢠԺ؛܉ڌרڑ1
տӑډ࣏ʾҖўyΰֈ࣓֕lϑ ۽ֆ܂ߡ࣏ª׳ࡆˇ࣎ڑSޘޢI۠əǤ܉ڌרڑ1
՘ڌרX՘ֈ࣐֕aܗイϑ וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«85 2õו 	࣏ࡢ442

1645ʕ 8ϐ 7Υ	

�ǲϑ イϑܗa࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ3 148»Һޘ࣐�I࣒	
…40スֈ֕Ż 200スײ.lϑ ˇڌרڑ1 Tapalangh161ªČтƸ࣐イ 18»
ªޘ࣐� 200スֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ442

1645ʕ 8ϐ 8Υ	

イ࣐əǤéң۠ˇڌרڑ1 ϑޘ࣐�«11 150スֈ֕Ż 80ス162.ײ
ǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎

ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ443

1645ʕ 8ϐ 9Υ	

イϑ࣐ҖўªČтƸˇڌרڑ1 ªߌ࣐�«14 300スֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו

	࣏ࡢ443

1645ʕ 8ϐ 10Υ	

ðイ࣐S̛ֈ֕ªޘҖўˇڌרڑ1 וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�27 2õו 	࣏ࡢ443

																																																								
161	 TapalanghՊ° Taparij՘ܵ….	
162	۹֛Һ࠿ڌ�SըƷࡊϩٿҖўSʎ҆Ĥ.	
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1645ʕ 8ϐ 11Υ	

155…࣒Iߌܗa࣐đ¢`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ2
1
2	スֈ֕-…37

1
2	スײŻ…….1࣎Ӫ۞

וǄΥܰ2ߖ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ444

1645ʕ 8ϐ 16Υ	

イ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ1 ϑޘ࣐�«95 56
1
2	ス30-١ࢯ

1
2	スۮŻ 168スֈ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.֕ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ447

1645ʕ 8ϐ 18Υ	

イ࣐тƸߏҖўてˇڌרڑ1 29»Һޘ࣐�ª 700スֈ֕Ż 200ス1࣎.ײӪ۞ߖǄΥ
ו2ܰ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ447

1645ʕ 8ϐ 22Υ	

�ǲϑYĆҺ�՘ډڌרʾ̎ªٺʘ»ƸΜ࣐Ł࣒ϑ ڻイڌרڑ1 `ʾډ�«115
ưޘ࣐ϑ80࣒ス7…-ײスֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ449

1645ʕ 8ϐ 24Υ	

ϑޘ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ1 25スֈ֕-26
1
2	ス١ࢯŻ 14ス1࣎.ۮӪ۞ߖǄΥ

ו2ܰ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ450
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1645ʕ 8ϐ 28Υ	

Җў݋ܧϏƷҖўڌרڑ2……۲ځªٺҖў࣐lイ ªޘ࣐�«16 400スֈ֕.……Y
ʌƎĦȫ Van	KeysselI\�˃࣐…ɉΝƪ-tǲêָ҇ϳȫ Adriaen	van	der	BurchӘ
�۹IҖўΌԥߟߡ՘ʍ׮ΐϊ࣐_�źYʌƎĦȫ Jacob	Nolpeܱۻ࣎ӘɎтϑݦ
Ͼ՘࣏�Iߟߡス�îş՘ǄǏٿ�Ƃ՘b̌�࣐ן½՘f࣐نɉSăܮ࣎Ćҟõ࣏

֯yؗ�.�l܉b̸Җў՘ƸΜϏ࣐݋Әт࠙࠷࣐ Pieter	Boonl܉ʎࡪ 50»Κñ
SݺI܂ߡ…イƎ� Sansoe՘SڌרڑˇўވXI࣐ƬӘԢƷҫў࢛Ҽ࣐�ōò�ࠦ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.XIވ࠴ˇ٪Z࣐֘ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ452

M.	Gitner…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1645࣐ʕ 8ϐ 19Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1149783࣐.	

VOC	1149782-781࣐.	

VOC	1149892-891࣐.	

ؗ J.	Nolpe՘̹1645࣐�ʕ 9ϐ 1Υ࣐Νپӏ࣐VOC	1149࣐fol.	738-741࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐	

[...]	Now	that	you	are	leaving	for	Tamsuy	you	should	also	(with	the	advice	of	the	other	councillors)	

see	to	it	that	the	assembly	is	organized	during	your	stay	over	there.	Therefore,	immediately	after	

your	arrival,	you	will	have	to	summon	up	the	elders	or	headmen	from	all	villages	under	Tamsuy,	

even	those	situated	at	the	greatest	distance,	so	that	they	will	appear	at	the	fortress	on	the	fixed	

date.	Meanwhile	you	should	make	certain	that	the	Tamsuy	Land	day	is	organized	properly,	in	an	

orderly	way,	and	with	the	required	prestige.	Therefore	we	hand	over	to	you	(as	we	sent	to	the	

deceased	Van	Keyssel	earlier)	the	description	of	the	assembly	organized	last	March	at	Saccam.	

Your	Honour	will	be	expected	(by	keeping	the	local	situation	in	Tamsuy	somewhat	in	proportion)	

to	act	accordingly.	To	this	purpose	also	200	canes	tipped	with	silver	fittings	(made	in	the	usual	

way)	were	handed	over	to	Your	Honour	for	distribution,	as	is	customary,	among	the	village	elders.	

	࣏.557	p.	2,	vol.	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎.[...]

1645ʕ 8ϐ 29Υ	

ϑYĆڌרªтéң࣐Ł࣒ϑ イϑܗa࣐Җўٺªڑ3 47»Һޘ࣐�ª 950スֈ֕
Ż 8ス1࣎.ײӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ452

1645ʕ 8ϐ 30Υ	

イϑ࣐тƸߏҖўて޲Xˇڌר՘࣏Kimtingh࣎ȭ߻q޿ڑ1 ªޘ࣐�«30 700スϚ
͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕Ż 200ス͐Ӟߍ՘ֈ֕.࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ453
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1645ʕ 8ϐ 31Υ	

YĆڌרÿډđʾʘ»ƸΜ࣐Ł࣒ϑ イ࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڑ3 18……࣒ϑޘ࣐�«68
ス33-ײスֈ֕Ż………ˇ׳ࡆlϑ イϑ࣐ªтéңڌרڑ1 ªޘ࣐�«42 800スֈ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.֕ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ453

1645û 9ť	

1645ʕ 9ϐ 8Υ	

ϑ イ࣐ңࢠđʾډÿڌרڑ5 ܗخߌ܁܂ߡI܉࣐�«91 1,000І163տӑډʾҖ

ў࣓…1ډڌרڑʾ`ưѷҏ࣐イ Iޘ࣐�«80 13ス10-١ࢯスۮŻ 45スֈ֕.
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ458

1645ʕ 9ϐ 14Υ	

イ࣐ʾҖўډڌרڑ1 17»�࣓…ϑ イ࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ1 Iޘ࣐�«65 22
1
2	

ス١ࢯŻ 92スֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ461

1645ʕ 9ϐ 15Υ	

ϑ イ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ2 Iޘ࣐�«62 800スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕….1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄ
Υܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ461

																																																								
163	 І࣎balijs࣐࣏Ҩٺѻΐ baille࣐ϙІ࣓ȴߺǱ؂Ә 200 î4܁eІ. 	
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1645ʕ 9ϐ 16Υ	

イ࣐đ¢`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ1 Iޘ࣐�«64 8ス5-١ࢯスۮŻ 5スֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞
וǄΥܰ2ߖ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ462

1645ʕ 9ϐ 19Υ	

イϑܗa࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ6 ǄΥߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.……-128スֈ࣒֕ϑޘ࣐�«213
ו2ܰ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ464

1645ʕ 9ϐ 28Υ	

……࣏emporte	minder࣎ݞ؎ࡅڻޘڑϑU-íߞ࣐ֈ֕ڻޘڑ1࣐ڌר՘׵ڻޘڑ1
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ҝo͵̎۽ĂֆߥǱߧ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ467

1645û 10ť	

1645ʕ 10ϐ 7Υ	

ϑޘ࣐ࠚʾʣډڑ1 100スֈ֕-14ス١ࢯŻ 810ス࣐ײaܗイϑ ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«138
וǄΥܰ2ߖ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ471

1645ʕ 10ϐ 11Υ	

イ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ2 ϑޘڑ�ŗǫS࣐ԃڒǠޘڑò`S࣐�«48 ׯ9

17-١ࢯ
1
2	スײŻ 13スֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ473
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1645ʕ 10ϐ 17Υ	

イϑܗa࣐׳ࡆҖўŻٺªڑ2 ªޘ࣐�«38 460スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕Ż 330ス1࣎.ײӪ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ476

1645ʕ 10ϐ 20Υ	

イ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ1 26»Һޘ࣐�I 600	broodenֈ֕-16430スײŻ 28
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.١ࢯׯ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ477

1645ʕ 10ϐ 22Υ	

Ժʆќٺ Barent	Barentsen՘ 	.……тƸߏֈ֕てڻޘlˇҖў࣐ڌרڑ2
Җў؃љǄ۲ځƸΜϏܭˇ࣒݋Āˆ˥…�½ώޮϜϐ 13Υª·�˃Zdݷ΄�࣐
ɴ՘۲ځΜʮ࣐Ģʵ۲ځƸΜϏ165.݋ĂՕ 41Ͻײϡ166ؗߡvُ࣐࠙ò`ϑ 5»ƣ
ԫ۞՘ُ࠙࣎ÿf˲ǫ՘࣏lªo̝݁ߧ½�࣐Ϗࡥϓîş࣐_[ɉªlݜ؄ش˲ࡲ

؄.XʌƎĦȫ SteenՍˆࡘʏޕʳߡ࣐vǧñԵՍ՘ϑǜӜҠ׳ࡆˇ࣐ª՘ߡ»߳
Ե࣎ɕÖҖўߡ»߳ԵߡШ࣏I\o࣐Ƭтࡘʏ́ăƸܼѢŗ҇ì»߳ԵI.…1࣎Ӫ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ478

J.	Nolpe…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1645࣐ʕ 10ϐ 16Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1149786࣐.	

1645ʕ 10ϐ 24Υ	

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.١ࢯʓڠٿIS̛ֈ֕ޘ࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ2 2õו 	࣏ࡢ480

																																																								
164	 broodenߺ߸࣐Ƙ 1࣐	brood ؂Ә 25 îΖ. 	
165	 ڙџʡSʎ՘îş:پƷ࣐݋Ϗވ.࣏r࣎-:࣏S࣎.۲ځʏĂ̋ƪ1޿݋ӏƸΜϏپ࣐�ζ۞ڮ

Ʋ࣐ã.ވ:˃࣐ވϏ݋ .݋ϥ7:Ϗپ࣏ƪ࣐࣎۲ځƷҖў؃љǄ࣐݋ҖўϏ࣏W࣓࣎ 	
166	 śJِԪǧ�Ññ࣐ϡײ Schmalkalden Ԣǔ̖سeƴ. 	
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1645ʕ 10ϐ 25Υ	

ϑ イ࣐тƸߏて׳ࡆˇڌרڑ1 20»Һޘ࣐�ֈ֕ª޼࣐`Ƭʵࡦˏٽ�ࡷにÿ 50
スֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ480

1645ʕ 10ϐ 31Υ	

イ࣐ࠚđ¢ʣډÿڌרڑ1 11࣒IȆYޘ࣐�«37
1
2	ス20-١ࢯ

1
2	ス͐Ӟߍ՘ֈ֕

Ż 23ま1࣎.……ײӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ483

1645û 11ť	

1645ʕ 11ϐ 6Υ	

ϑ イ࣐тƸߏҖўてˇڌרڑ2 33»Һޘ࣐�ϑ 500スֈ࣐֕˥ˆ_…࣐XʌƎĦ
ȫ Henrick	SteenΎΥđʂ؛I\࣐̌Μ�ƂՍ《�ӝȆ�đ『ĝ.X޲ǧñϑ6Ύ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ࠬ¢éîş՘Սࠬ޷ࡦˏ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ486

1645ʕ 11ϐ 7Υ	

イϑܗa࣐ߏҖўてˇڌרڑ3 22»Һޘ࣐�ª240࣒スֈ֕-170ス100-ײスϙ
Ż࡬ ʏϏ؛ƬӘ࣐ۅࡣvϙΔԸ�イʫߡΥ`ɉΌԥޮ࣐ȅ߂Ǜʂ݌֋Ǐ࣐׵ۺ20
ˇ.ΜċࡷY܉�̖࣐ࡉãˇ.ߟʫْ࣐߂ŗǫS܉ߟςζԸ࣐ࡣۅڪڥ©ǧñ½՘

¢ۡˆçϑȲÊʡ࣓ޓࢎ՘ʍ׮ʂؔ؛ʍ࣐�εݥΰ՘ʍߞ׮Ѯؔʍܭ࣐ʍ࣎ƬӘ

NolpeãԵ՘ԵՍߞ࣏ӜѻҟמȨ࣐ؔZߍ�ɉÙ○ğĚIަԥ࣓׳ࡆ՘ޓࢎɉϑ 50
Җў՘ɉϑ࣐�« וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«70 2õו 	࣏ࡢ486
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1645ʕ 11ϐ 11Υ	

イϑ࣐đ¢`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ1 39スֈ֕-10-١ࢯ26ス࣒Iޘ࣐�«74
1
2	スײ

Ż 15スўࢯ՛.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ489

1646û 2-6ť	

1646ʕ 2ϐ 28Υ	

ϑ イϑ࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ2 	34-ײ109ま-١ࢯׯ86࣒Iޘܗa࣐�«157
brooden͐Ӟߍ՘ֈ֕Ż 35スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕-7ׯm࠿15-ۮƶ100-167ࢢࢣスɐ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.……߭׵ư`ػ200-࣏galiga࣎Δࡱڕ؃ׯ10-ࢢ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ500

ś٪ε J.	Nolpe՘·1646࣐ʕ 2ϐ 9Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1160࣐fol.	245-250.	

oݱܖ½�ƬӘ࣐ࡼ׽Ǯ՘ށ8Җўϑࡼ׽7 2	lastŌ ؂࣎264֒ 3200îΖ࣏՘ֶ܉࣐׵

ČҖў.ŗǫ޷ڌ�Sɐ׳ࡆˇ Lucas	KilaslܠѻԸ 40.5߷ӻˇҖўѲѷɬϠ֜ݣČ 4020

؂࣎֒ 2010îΖ࣏՘ֶ׵.Җў՘ڮ۞�ςζZϏԸČ޾v࣐׵_Ը࠲Բ¶Țࢾࠥ�࣐

	.ؗ܀Шɕś�ͣČYSи޾.˧

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

On	February	1	we	received	your	missive	over	land,	from	which	we	learned	of	Your	Honour's	wise	

opinion.	The	next	day	we	sent	a	soldier	to	Quelang	with	a	letter	and	the	hundred	real	of	eight	to	

buy	up	all	the	parties	of	coal	we	demanded.	This	soldier	did	not	return	until	February	7,	in	the	

company	of	the	chief	of	Kimaurij,	Theodore,	who	informed	us	that	it	could	not	be	mined	in	the	

period	of	two	months.	During	this	season,	Quelang	is	subjected	to	rather	turbulent	weather,	

where	by	heavy	waves	break	against	the	cliffs	so	that	the	workmen	are	in	danger,	and	the	pit	coal	

mined	is	washed	away	most	of	the	time.	Nonetheless,	the	said	Theodore	has	raised	our	hopes,	as	

he	has	promised	to	do	his	utmost	to	help	the	Company	out	and	obtain	the	coal	within	the	said	

months	or	just	a	little	later.	To	that	purpose	he	requested	three	or	four	heavy	sledgehammers,	

wedges	and	pickaxes	from	us,	which	we	promised	to	deliver	to	him.	However,	these	tools	have	to	

																																																								
167	ŇΐӘ Coningvis࣐S݊ڊӘ3՚ʊ4̎3ࢢʊԛ࣐4ࢢ�Ϝ�ʂ؛փֿÿ޾εڻf՘ƶ࣐ࡠ¨ه࣒܋.ࢢࢣ

/ưԛࢢ ������#� ՘΃q01࣐чŝϐĄ2�

� ࡢ࣐࣏���
���࣎ �	���.�
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be	made	by	the	Company	slaves,	because	the	blacksmith	has	died.	Those	of	Quelang	write	us	

they	did	receivea	364-	pound	bucket,	that	President	Lemairehad	handed	over	to	Theodore	in	

1644,	filled	with	coal	according	to	the	contract	(with	which	Your	Honour	will	be	acquainted)	to	

supply	the	Company	with	five	buckets	at	one	real	a	piece	each.	However,	when	the	five	were	

weighed	again	separately,	it	turned	out	that	the	loads	differed	from	each	other	by	up	to	twenty	or	

thirty	pounds,	because	Theodore's	men	claimed	they	were	unable	to	discern	an	underweight	of	

47	last.	[...]	

God	be	praised	we	have	sufficient	rice	and	other	provisions	so	that	we	will	not	rim	short,	because	

we	have	ordered	two	last	of	264	pounds	that	were	delivered	to	us	by	a	small	vessel	from	

Quelang,	and	moreover,	Lucas	Kilasmanaged	to	purchase	4020	pounds	for	40 	 real,	that	is	

thirty	real	a	last,	in	the	villages	along	the	Tamsuy	River.	We	have	left	these	provisions	untouched	

so	far,	and	stored	them	in	pottery	containers	(so	that	the	rats	will	not	be	crawling	round	in	it	by	

the	hundreds).	In	this	way	we	will	manage,	until	Your	Honour	will	send	us	fresh	provisions.	The	

more	so	because	the	garrison	has	received	this	month's	ration	already,	and	if	the	worst	comes	to	

the	worst	we	can	be	helped	out	in	Quelang.	As	for	the	gold	we	have	sent	over	to	Your	Honour,	

which	only	weighed	six	real	as	you	wrote	to	us,	we	are	glad	to	hear	that	the	mistake	in	Quelang	

came	to	light.	For	on	January	3,	Ensign	Baers	already	returned	seven	real	in	cash	to	us,	adding	a	

note	that	the	gold	had	been	purchased	at	six	real	for	a	real	of	weight,	which	we	entered	on	the	

debit	side	of	the	Tayouan	factory	last	month.	However,	Theodore	has	made	it	clear	to	us	that	the	

gold,	as	before,	only	weighed	six	real	but	had	cost	seven	real	for	a	weight	of	one	real,	thus	making	

127:	8,-	guilders	or	49	real.	We	will	see	to	it	that	the	right	sum	of	42	real	(six	real	of	gold	valued	at	

seven	real	for	one	weight	of	a	real)	or	109:	4,-,	guilders	will	be	entered	on	your	debit	side.	[...]	

	࣏.50-52	pp.	3,	vol.	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎

1646ʕ 3ϐ 24Υ	

YʌƎĦȫ NolpeˇҖў؛Ժ࣐ވ࠴ȷªтƸ՘SɇؾϗϜϐ 9Υ՘·.ܭĀêȴb
Ğԥ࣐ܷ…܉ Jacob	Aldertsz.てߏҖўo.ߟߡ՘Ň¢ќSըߧˁMƑ࣐ŘϑƷאǙ
�ԥȫ࣐࣏֜Pocael࣎ Van	Bergen�đߞìи܂ߡۻ՘Ň¢ќ΍˲Ƹڻ˓׳ࡆ.ݾ޵
ͽࡍ̖ࡁѢ՘ӡӕ࣐Әт̖܉ࡍ՘ԸóʂˇҖўŐˆ.ӪՍƷ܂ߡωĜۇʪ࣐X»ϐ

Sߡ࣐ӝȆтࡃ࣐�oϑˁǬъx՘ܝՔڰvϠߡҖўѲ՘ڻϑì»�ъx.ѷ܂ߡ

ʎ՘̓S࣐�ō:ߟ՘࣐Łߡv:ɴ՘Ϡ࣎ڰLamcamsedorpen࣏՘�ΎŻ̓Ύ՘ܹ
ϳՔߞ࣐ܝεطصƷ࣐۲߆ɉΝޮΥ`̠ߡv̓S՘ҟƘ޷ªؗ̌½.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥ

ו2ܰ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ507
J.	Nolpe…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1646࣐ʕ 3ϐ 9Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1150251-250࣐.	
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1646ʕ 3ϐ 27Υ	

ɉΝޮΥ࣐݋ƬтlѪ࣐gعթՆ࣐׳ࡆԅĉεƷ࣐ƷҖў࣐Ըžࡍ�òٿࡼ׽Νࠕ

qުК-ҴКˇ܂ߡƷ܉Ӝܾε࣐՘׳ࡆɛҖў̎ߙ˲�ϑ¥�˃�࣐�ռ̖ϑҺ޿

̎ò�۲К՘࣐ò¢ƷҖў՘࠮࣎�oְ࡬��ǫ࣏ѕ�š̻۲КɉϑΎʕçشëߥ

՘ְْ࣐¢Ʒ׳ࡆ՘࠮࣐�oX޲՘çְ�ǫߞ࣐śWʕçְ࡬�ش.ْ[…lٺ܉
Ժࠜドˇ`ư̖ϑƸ1ډʾҖў׳ࡆٿ՘ߧ�¥�࣐ߌډśٺ�Ժªʾ࣐ɕÖƷپӏ

شhîş܉�࣐ÿIߌԃݞ՘܂ߡlś�̠࣐ªߌݞࡅś�̠šִ`ưƎžŻ࣐Шߡ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.Шߡ؄ش࣏»ˊ࣎ɕÖƷтƸSը࣐؄ְ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ509

1646ʕ 3ϐ 29Υ	

Żײ6ス-١ࢯbrooden168ֈ֕-3ス	13࣒Iޘ࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڑ1 3スɐٯࢢ.	
aܗイϑ 24»Һ�.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ513

1646ʕ 4ϐ 1Υ	

ϑ イ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ1 ٿbroodenֈ֕-30ス٨Д	164࣒Iޘ࣐�«23
11ス1࣎.ײӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ514

1646ʕ 4ϐ 6Υ	

Ͻズ�ʕ 3ϐ 27Υ՘Ѫ࣐݋îsࠢΝҺ�śٺԺډʾҖў࣐׳ࡆٿ……lɉź�Җў
Նɚ҇׳ࡆˇ࣐S»׺ή٪ʗ՘�IſƩҳ࣐Әeтէ՘I¢Ʒ܂ߡ.тǫ࣐ƬӘ.

ߡѢ՘ࡍ̖]ْ࣐՛ࢯ؄՘ݜĒYˁǬIʕˌͽߞ՘Җўߥ 150	lasten169՘ӡӕ࣎թ
ڌʔʚ࣐ƬтѪȭ࣐o׳ࡆドƷࡁょ؛ʂ࣏· Gulde	GansۤSΦˇӃҥƫª࣐ɕ܉
ْ.ӏپÙ○ö҇ƫڌܭź�ɉ܉_࣐܂ߡʾډ○Ù࣐Ѣ՘ԃžࡍҖў̖ڻޘď׉

࣏ƬӘִִŇƬࣈ》vq޾࣐ź�oߏɎʘ�q《Y܉ࡍʏࡘIʕɕ〔Čˇ½࣐̌]

ޫϚȿ۲࣐ƬтѪȭ҇܉࣐ƎĦȫô֝ϊ՘ Gabriel	Happart࣎�ɎҖў՘qĦϑܱ݈

																																																								
168	 1	brood ؂ 25	kg.	
169	 1	last ؂ìڌƤ. 	
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lϑ࣏࢕؛Ә�۹࣐イX޲ʔʚڌIҖў̌�࣐½՘fنIвϳߡǄǏ࣐ۡԥࡍߟߡ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ɉSăȟ½֏ȿǓs_࣐》՘q܉ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ516
VOC	1160407-403࣐.	

VOC	1160࣐fol.411-412	

1646ʕ 4ϐ 23Υ	

X޲ʔʚޘڌϑߡì»ƸΜࡍѢ՘ݞԃٿԢм࣐ëߥaخܗÃ 	.իڮ232.11.12࣐11
тЭϏ…Sɇ·IؗYʌƎĦȫݻ½̌ Nolpě̠࣐½̖ϑ՘【ѻŻźܮ�؎sܣ
ƘXݞ޷ĦˏƷ࣐ԃח՛-ֈ֕ࢯ-Ȇӡӕ»࣐ªтƸݞ޷܉˃�࣐��ź]_࣐�

…ή×ϾǬɑ࣐eШ࣐ҖўͽČ՘�Sְ࣐؄ݜ࣐�ōò�ͽéߧ࣐ĦˏҟИ…ήò

ͼ�《ʹ࣐�¯©̌½o࣐ܓҖўٺʁ̝ス՘ࠜͼϑǬɑ࣐{Ը՘ͽéϑǬɑߜ�࣎

çՕԵωǬ՘қn1࣎.ח࣏Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ524
Jࠠؗ G.	Happart՘̹1646࣐�ʕ 4ϐ 22Υ࣐Νپӏ࣐VOC	1160࣐fol.	196-204݊͟ڢ࣐

	࣒ࠄ

[...]	We	have	leased	out	the	trade	in	the	area	between	the	rivers	of	Dorenap	and	Tamsuy	to	our	

Chinese	civilians	for	a	year.	Therefore	we	shall	send	out	a	sergeant	and	six	soldiers	one	of	these	

days	to	reside	in	the	most	convenient	place	available,	in	order	to	keep	an	eye	on	the	leaseholders	

and	see	to	it	that	the	inhabitants	of	the	area	are	kept	loyal	and	obedient.	[...]	Should	Your	Honour	

decide	to	leave	Tamsuy	and	return	to	Tayouan	over	land,	in	passing	on	the	way	home	you	might	

well	inspect	the	five	rivers	that	have	been	leased	out.	In	that	case	you	could	inform	the	

inhabitants	that	from	us	the	Chinese	are	permitted	to	trade	in	the	villages,	to	supply	them	with	all	

their	necessities.	Also,	because	the	Company	is	concerned	about	their	welfare,	we	expect	them	to	

express	their	obedience	to	us	in	return.	However,	should	your	guides	suggest	an	easier	route	to	

you,	like	for	instance	along	the	beach,	the	choice	is	up	to	Your	Honour,	because	we	do	not	attach	

too	much	importance	to	inspecting	the	river	inlets,	as	certain	Residents	will	soon	sail	on	an	

inspection	trip	to	Dorenap,	and	Tamsuy	too	to	perform	this	job	regularly.	The	Cavalangh	region	

also	will	have	to	be	visited	more	often,	for	which	not	only	the	Kimaurij	[men]	Theodoreand	Lucas	

Kilas	can	be	employed,	but	also	some	of	your	most	capable	soldiers.	We	have	to	get	the	

inhabitants	in	those	parts	used	to	us	so	that	eventually	they	can	be	won	over	to	friendship	and	

obedience	to	the	Company.	Wesaw	that	last	December,	apart	from	the	five	[headmen]	who	have	

attended	the	Tamsuy	Landdag	before,	another	two	Cavalangh	[chiefs]	received	Company	canes.	It	

is	our	wish	that	all	villages	in	the	region	will	become	familiar	with	the	Company	presently,	and	we	

shall	have	to	do	our	utmost	to	make	this	happen.	You	will	have	to	give	every	inhabitant	who	

occasionally	comes	by,	a	hearty	welcome	and	honour	him	with	small	presents,	as	it	is	being	done	

out	here.	Fifty	Company	canes	will	be	sent	to	you,	should	you	need	them	[for	some	headmen].	Do	

not	forget	to	recommend	to	Mr.	Nolpe	that	he,	after	having	organized	the	next	Northern	Landdag	
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(for	which	he	will	not	receive	any	further	instructions	nor	any	delegates	from	us,	but	which	will	

have	to	take	place	at	the	right	time),	will	have	to	send	us	a	new	memorandum	of	all	villages	falling	

under	Tamsuy,	with	their	number	of	houses	and	souls.	Such	a	list	has	to	be	drawn	up	every	year	

because	of	the	successive	changes.࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	pp.	59-60.࣏	

F.	Caron…ؗ J.	Nolpe՘·1646࣐ʕ 4ϐ 22Υ࣐Νپӏ࣐VOC	1160࣐fol.	219-223݊͟ڢ࣐

	࣒ࠄ

After	receiving	the	[sample	of]	Taraboan	gold	of	six	real,	we	passed	42	real	of	eight	to	the	credit	

of	the	Tamsuy	account,	while	at	the	same	time	(as	you	can	see	in	the	extract	included	from	the	

account	books)	we	charged	the	account	for	the	749	real	of	cash	money	[the	late]	Van	Keijssel	left	

behind,	together	with	the	amount	of	42 real	for	11,200	bricks.	From	this	account	it	also	

becomes	perfectly	clear	that	you	will	have	to	settle	the	tael	153:4:8	condrijn	fine	silver,	which	was	

brought	to	Lucas	Kilas	by	mistake.	[...]	

We	were	glad	to	learn	that	you	still	have	sufficient	supplies	of	rice	and	other	provisions	and	will	

probably	not	run	out	of	them.	Because	you	can	fall	back	on	Quelang	should	the	worst	come	to	the	

worst	and	also,	Kilas	has	managed	to	purchase	4020	pounds	of	rice	for	thirty	real	a	last	from	the	

villages.	We	do	hope	that	you	can	manage	in	this	way	through	the	years,	which	would	be	very	

beneficial	to	the	Company.	[...]	

[...]	We	have	leased	out	the	trade	in	the	river	district	between	Dorenap	and	Tamsuy	to	some	

Chinese,	for	a	year.	With	the	first	ship	a	sergeant	and	six	soldiers	will	be	sent	out	to	reside	in	the	

most	convenient	place	in	order	to	keep	an	eye	on	the	Chinese	leaseholders	and	keep	the	

inhabitants	obedient	to	the	Company	rules.	Nonetheless,	you	will	also	have	to	inspect	the	villages	

north	of	Goemach	every	now	and	then,	as	well	as	all	other	villages	in	that	district.	Should	you	

discover	any	mischief,	please	turn	to	the	said	sergeant.	[...]	When	the	time	has	come	to	collect	the	

tribute	of	the	southern	villages	(they	come	under	Tamsuy,	like	last	year)	and	to	summon	the	

headmen	to	the	landdag	(you	will	have	to	continue	these	two	duties	every	year),	you	also	can	

deploy	the	said	Residents,	who	in	the	meantime	will	increase	their	knowledge	of	all	the	local	

circumstances.	You	will	have	to	start	your	preparations	in	good	time	so	that	the	landdag	can	be	

held	in	the	right	season.	You	should	also	consult	them	properly	when	the	tribute	of	the	Cavalangh	

region	can	best	be	collected	(this	went	completely	wrong	last	year).	As	a	matter	of	fact	we	think	it	

will	be	fair	to	ask	those	villages	that	did	not	pay	last	year,	to	contribute	double	the	amount	this	

year.	If	you	agree	to	this	and	you	think	it	is	feasible,	you	can	order	them	to	do	so	in	due	course.	

	࣏.p.62	3,	vol.	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎.[...]

1646ʕ 4ϐ 24Υ	

	…-ֈ֕ׯ54-١ࢯׯ54࣒Iޘ࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ1

8
7
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lϑ ϑޘ170࣐ԛư࣏Tsiampa࣎ʾĽʄډтƸˇ۲݇޿՘½̸̌ڌרڑ1 50ス͐Ӟߍ
՘ֈ࣐֕S̛׸ԱơŻ࣐ࠋࠓ�ōSvò�՘`ư࣐ݞࡅイϑ ǄΥߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.�«39
ו2ܰ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ524

1646ʕ 4ϐ 27Υ	

ϑ イܗa࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ2 Őÿֈ֕`ˇ܉Sǎ…࣒ԃݞϑȆYޘ࣐�«138
՘ƶ࣓…….1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ526

1646ʕ 5ϐ 2Υ	

…ϑ ࣓࣏ayuyn࣎ۋS̛ޘ࣐Җўٺªڑ1 וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.…… 2õו 	࣏ࡢ529

1646ʕ 5ϐ 3Υ	

Җўª·ؾ࣐ϗX»ϐ՘ 9Υ࣐êȴb܉ȆYࢋ࣒ã׵࣐ƷҖў՘ʍ܂׮ǱМϏʔ۷
ࡆƷ࣏】͌½�ズ࣎ԥԺε࣐࣏՘½̌ܣ�đ՘͌ҢŻスˎْǬи…·s½�ߍݼ࣎

ǧñʂΝX»ϐ՘«ߡI՘࣐҇ɑ.òи܉ߞ׵؄Őˆ՘ݜˇј׵ͽČ՘׳ 20Υて
ݜ؄شҩζ࣐�ݠգ܉vɛќߡ�ź_࣐ڰvϠߡȽ.1܍؎ܮ޼�όѷ࣐Җўoߏ

؄.Ɏтߡ࣐v࣎�ծݺªࡲ࣏˲ْ[ҩÐȆтÈ.lɉΝޮΥ`ȷؗ̌½Sߡ�Ƹ

1̖ϑϠڰ՘̓SȨΌ՘Ǔs.	
Ʒ࣐׳ࡆśϕΝ ټ10 12ǲêҩÐȅ 1,000І࣎balijs171࣏ӡӕ࣐ҖўՆɚlʂҩÐ܉

ݱöͽ׳ࡆԢмI޷ 500Іӡӕ࣐тǫߞ࣐ϑ 180Іʂ؛ドƷ܂ߡ՘ºʟ࣐܂Ɏ̌½
՘ࡍѢɉśáށƸ¬̂.ࠢΝߟߡ՘ՌՍ࣐《Ѹʂ؛ȅࡃ࣐ޢӝߞ܂ߡϑ�ԵՍՕ

Ӫ࣐�ʂ؛Ѯϑ�đࢵߡŉȲo܂ߡ࣐՘ޓࢎëߥ ��ō۞ڮ«63 19»ȁ1࣎.࠾Ӫ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ529

J.	Nolpe…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1646࣐ʕ 4ϐ 8Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1160࣐fol.	251-253.	

ƣԫ۞Ϡ֜؄ش՘ְݜϑ ؂࣎28965֒ 14.4îƤ࣐׵ֶ࣏ј܉ࡍ̖�۞ڮ՘܉ߞǬ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]In	the	company	of	the	said	Tamsuy	people	the	soldiers	returned	home,	who	had	been	sent	out	

on	a	military	expedition	to	the	regions	south	of	Tamsuy,	in	order	to	visit	all	allied	villages	and	

remind	the	villagers	of	their	duty	to	pay	their	annual	tribute	to	the	Company	on	time.	They	all	

																																																								
170	 Ľʄ࣎Tsiampa࣏ԛư3§࣐̎ĽǄ4-3Ľȓ4ߥ`:ݽ̹࣐. 	
171	 1	balij ȴߺǱ؂Ә 200 î4܁eІ 	
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seemed	to	be	willing	to	do	so.	Included	in	this	letter	Your	Honour	will	find	the	specification	of	

which	of	the	villages	in	the	Bight	of	Cavalangh	actually	did	come	to	Quelang	and	paid	last	year's	

tribute.	Wedo	notknow	ifYour	Honour	has	received	this	list	already.	In	that	case	this	one	will	be	

superfluous.	We,	however,	realized	that	the	28,965	pounds	of	rice	noted	down	on	this	list,	has	not	

yet	been	recorded	into	the	accountbook.	So	as	not	to	make	any	mistakes	in	the	bookkeeping,	we	

will	await	Your	Honour's	order	on	what	price	it	will	be	put	to	the	credit	 	 of	the	Tayouanaccount	

(provided	that	all	rice	is	consumed	here).	Your	Honour	can	also	await	the	new	list	drawn	up	by	

Soldier	Willem	Albertus	of	all	villages,	houses	and	souls	along	the	Tamsuy	River	and	in	the	

southern	region,	from	which	we	hope	to	receive	their	required	tribute	soon.	

	 	࣏.pp.57-58	3,	vol.	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎.[...]

1646ʕ 5ϐ 23Υ	

îsśƷҖўٔ§࣒ʔʚڌ Gulden	Gansޘª116࣒	lasten՘ӡӕ-1,794Ζֈ֕�ō
ˇ֣ӻ͡Ѱ.ߥͽࡁČ՘࣐؄ݜϑ 3,010Ϫўࢯ՛Ż 4,260Ϫࢯ՛.	
lˇڌܭͽČYʌƎĦȫ NolpeˇҖўª·ߡ࣐ìʞǄǏ՘bןƷ·܂ȟ½ܷήࠢ
Νߡv׵Żӡӕ՘ΎߺՕԵʀՅ՘ԥԺ࣐ܷ…_࣐�ҟX޲՘࣐˃�׵ĜXČ̜ۡČ

՘ĒY՘࣐׵ҖўŻ׳ࡆaߞܗվع 9,980֒՘׵.l…ܷ࣐YʌƎĦȫ NolpeӜѻ
ϑࠢśߎSߡ…….Ƭт�ܼ́҇ĉ�I͊ύ�՘ٞĦ࣐ƷԵՍߞ࣐՘ўƶߟߡ̂ߔ
ˇڌרѮϑߞ��ʕ࣐ʂîs࣐՘s֛§ٔ܂ߡśƷ]࣐ì»ƸΜߡʾډԺˇ`ưٺ

`ưČ܂ߡ.էđϑ 15»Һ�ª¢ƷҖў14࣐»Һ�ª¢Ʒ1࣎.׳ࡆӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2
ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ538

Missive	Junior	Merchant	Jacob	Nolpe	to	Governor	Francois	Caron.	Quelang,	8	May	1646.	VOC	

1160,	fol.	258-261.࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ	

[...]	so	that	it	can	be	put	on	board	the	Gans	in	time,	together	with	the	deerskins	from	Tamsuy.	[...]

	࣏.p.71	3,	vol.	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎

J.	Nolpe…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1646࣐ʕ 5ϐ 18Υ࣐Ν࣐׳ࡆVOC	1160࣐fol.	261-264.	

ϑߞ܂ºʟ࣐Sו࣒׵՘ֶࢅӘ¥ϏϑǬ߶ܓ ؂࣎4000֒ 2îƤו.׵࣏r࣐Ň¢ќȆȿ

ŇϜְ࣐ݜ׵؄՘ֶش۞ƣԫ࣐Wו.ߺ՘܉ࡍ̖�۞ڮߍݼߒߺ՘Ύ׵ֶ�ְ࣐ݜ؄ش

ϑS6ߌ܉IҖў࣐S6ドƷࢂࢇ׳ࡆîş՘ȳՀ࣐˃ª�½ՕԢ޾v׵՘žߞݮZʀ࣐

̖�ɕ̋ݎȁ࠾՘S׳ࡆ�࣐׽՘ȫƂ˒޾̠ܝvܝ׵Ʒʍ׮Xo.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	Both	Ensign	Baers	and	Assistant	Dirck	Wijnantsz	agree	that	the	abundance	of	rice	has	three	

causes:	first	because	Wijnantsz	found	out	that	4000	lb.	of	rice	were	still	being	stored	in	the	

warehouses,	when	they	were	transferred	to	him	by	his	predecessor,	Assistant	Jacob	Aldertsz.	

When	I	asked	this	Aldertsz	about	it,	he	confirmed	this.	Secondly	that	the	inhabitants	have	fulfilled	
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their	tribute	charge	with	an	enormous	quantity	of	rice	this	time	for	which,	in	our	opinion,	there	

was	no	need;	and	last,	that	half	of	the	delivery	of	wet	rice	delivered	at	Quelang	by	the	people	

from	Cavalangh	was	ordered	to	be	transported	to	Tamsuy	by	the	late	Van	Keijssel,	while	the	other	

half	has	been	kept	in	Quelang	for	feeding	the	Company	cattle.	Later	on	they	discovered	that	this	

rice	was	not	so	bad	at	all	and	still	could	be	used	for	consumption.	So	it	has	been	issued	as	a	ration	

for	the	Company	slaves,	but	we	forgot	to	charge	the	rice	account	for	it.	[...].࣎The	Formosan	

Encounter,	vol.	3	p.89࣏	

VOC	1160407-403࣐.	

XʌƎĦȫ Caesarٿ De	HoogheΝ 1645ʕ 11ϐ 29ΥԙࡪSͼߒʿޓđʾ֣ӻ͡Ѱ՘ϥ

Jࠠ.ߥ. F.	Caron…ؗ C.	van	der	Lijn՘·1646࣐ʕ 1ϐ 31Υ࣐Νپӏ࣐VOC	1160࣐fol.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐147-170

To	station	two	or	three	able	men	at	the	river	or	into	the	village	of	Tarraboan	or	Tackilis	in	order	to	

learn	the	language.	In	due	course	(being	taught	by	experience)	they	might	amass	knowledge	

about	what	kind	of	people	the	so-called	people	with	monkey-heads	are,	and	whether	we	can	get	

closer	to	them	and	somewhat	communicate	with	them,	and	find	out	if	any	gold	can	be	found	up	

in	the	mountains	and	on	the	upland	plains	where	they	seem	to	be	dwelling.	In	the	meantime	

these	residents	could	be	visited	each	year	by	about	twenty	soldiers.	We	trust	that	from	now	on	

our	men	can	travel	safely	through	the	entire	eastern	side	of	Formosa,	because	since	our	latest	

expedition,	all	the	eastern	people	fear	us	very	much	thanks	to	the	punishment	inflicted	on	the	

evil-doers:	Sakiraya,	Talleroma	and	Vadan	had	received	this	punishment	for	the	murders	and	

offences	they	had	continued	to	commit,	notwithstanding	that	they	already	had	received	warnings	

for	more	than	three	years.࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	2,	pp.	578-579.࣏	

1646ʕ 5ϐ 29Υ	

-30スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕-١ࢯׯ23-ײ188ま࣒ԃȆYݞޘ̖࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ4
172Żࢢࢦ56ま-ࢢࢣm-1,160Љƶࢢׯ39 וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ۮׯ14 2õו 	࣏ࡢ542

1646ʕ 6ϐ 2Υ	

ϑ ªޘ࣐тƸߏԋて̙ˇڌרڑ1 80ス࣐϶ەlϑ ֓ޘ࣐тƸߏԬɸてˇڌרڑ2
イܗa࣐ª࡬ 17»Һ�.թŏƸ࣐ϑ イ࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډтƸˇڌרڑ3 ࣐�«123
mŻࢢׯ30-ࢢࢣ170Љƶ࣒ϑޘ 121	broodenֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ543

																																																								
172	 356 ま࣐4ࢢࢦŇΐӘ56࣒	bos	haeyen࣓ś܋ε̹34وࢢࢦ. 	 	
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1646ʕ 6ϐ 6Υ	

ϑ broodenֈ֕Ż	11-١ࢯׯ90࣒Iޘ࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ3 8ま1࣎.ײӪ۞ߖǄ
Υܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ544

1646û 7-10ť	

1646ʕ 7ϐ 3Υ	

イϑܗa࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڑ3 ࢢŻࢢࢭׯbroodenֈ֕-11	71……࣒Iޘ࣐�«107
m-19まوࢢࢦŻ וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.١ࢯׯ3 2õו 	࣏ࡢ552

1646ʕ 7ϐ 5Υ	

�ǲϑ イϑ࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ2 ࢢׯ11-ۮׯ14-١ࢯׯ14࣒Iޘ࣐�«95
m-103まوࢢࢦŻ 100	broodenֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ553

1646ʕ 7ϐ 12-13Υ	

イ࣐тƸߏ՘Җўてߥ.ˇڌרڑ1 14»Һޘ࣐�ϑ93-ࢸۺ80࣒Ϫࢯ՛-77Ϫў
Żٴࢯ՛-153ϪԒ՛-79Ζࢯ 70Ζࢢm.	
Җўª·ؾ࣐ϗϜϐ 5Υ࣐êȴb܉ȆY࣐Z�ƣԫ۞՘��ōҖў�:�ޫߧ�Ѯ
ϑ࣐…؄ݜ؄شԴאټǙ֜�lZ٥ö̌޷ޢ½՘·ࡘ࠮࣐�ã۲ͼ��×ؗ�½
Ϝϐ.ח 13Υ࣐ϑ ưª`ˇ࠿ڌѮϑߞ�ε࣐׳ࡆªݞࡅSvڻޘư`ˇڌרڑ1
Җў.ώޮۻƎĦȫ HappartãԵˇ҇׳ࡆIſƩҳ܉࣐I܂ߡɛ¢_Iɍ̜߻ࢶŇ
ԶƸ՘ߡì»ǧñ࣐ΝX»ϐ՘ώ˃SǲƫªҖў࣐Ǔsܷ࣐�½てߏſƩҳe˃࣐

Z½�࣐ܷךԺ…�½ńƫاգś٪Ƹh�½ܷήđª՘࣐܂ߡ՘ُ࠙ڰϠܭďI׉
SΦ̜Č࣐ʂْ߻ࢶŘӘo܂ߡ�ª۞ڮƬӘ࣐¢ɛݺS½�ޅ�ª۞ڮ¥�ܡÞࡲ

�SШÖ۞ڮޅŏْSö۹ԢΉΝ࣐؄ݜ؄شמŀȲ�½o.�½lZ̙܉ɕ࣐߻ࢶ

»Խ�̶Čʚ՘ ѝ.Ƭ޾vԥԺ࣐X޲ì»ǧñɕߍ؛࣐ࠜࡇƣԫ۞Ƹ1ƫªo࣐
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�½Čۡźߡ�vϠߡ࣐؄ݜ؄ش܉ڰvϠڰϑv࣐˲ࡲò�՘Z1࣎.؄ش٥Ӫ۞ߖ

ǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ556
J.	Nolpe…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1646࣐ʕ 7ϐ 5Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1160࣐fol.	276-279݊͟ڢ࣐

	࣒ࠄ

[...]	None	of	the	inhabitants	of	Cavalangh	or	the	southern	villages	has	paid	their	tribute	to	us	yet.	

Some	people	from	Cavalangh	pretended	to	be	willing	to	come	up	with	it,	but	that	seemed	to	end	

the	matter.	Those	from	the	south	are	failing	to	pay	as	well,	but	this	apparently	is	caused	by	the	

fearful	unsafety	of	the	roads.	Sergeant	Carsman	informed	us	that	the	people	from	Pocael	are	

refusing	to	deliver	one	single	letter	without	having	been	paid	with	two	fathoms	of	cangans	

beforehand.	We	ordered	Soldier	Willem	Neur	(who	travelled	on	horseback	to	Pocael	on	the	23rdof	

last	month)	to	deliver	six	pieces	of	rugged	cangans	and	six	wallets	of	tobacco	to	him,	as	he	did	not	

have	any.	We	would	have	been	willing	to	send	Soldier	Willem	Alberti	for	whom	Carsman	had	

asked	because	he	could	help	him	out	as	an	interpreter,	but	as	the	man	has	been	ill	for	a	while,	he	

is	too	weak	to	travel	yet.	As	he	is	now	recovering,	Carsman	can	expect	him	in	due	course.	On	the	

30thof	June	Soldiers	Jan	Hendricksz	Ootman	and	Daniel	Sipter	both	returned.	They	had	been	sent	

out	to	Taraboan	in	the	company	of	Theodore,	Headman	of	Kimaurij,	and	Lucas	Kilas	on	Your	

Honour's	and	Mr.	Happart's	orders.	They	reported	to	us	that,	upon	arrival	in	the	said	village,	they	

immediately	presented	themselves	to	the	principals,	informing	them	they	had	been	sent	by	Your	

Honour	to	come	and	live	in	Taraboan	for	a	while,	to	maintain	friendly	relations	with	the	people,	

and	to	find	out	what	commodities	and	merchandise	the	villagers	would	prefer	to	obtain.	Those	

goods	would	be	delivered	in	due	course	to	be	sold	to	or	bartered	with	the	villagers.	The	principal	

headmen	of	the	village	assembled	for	three	whole	days,	considering	this	offer.	Finally,	after	they	

had	made	a	decision,	a	certain	elder	called	Patsien	(who	seemed	to	rule	all	others)	did	the	talking	

and	told	us	plainly	that	he	and	his	fellow-headmen	did	not	tolerate	any	Dutchmen	living	in	their	

village	for	a	longer	time,	because	they	understood	perfectly	well	what	we	were	after.	That	finding	

the	gold-sites	was	the	only	thing	that	mattered	to	us	and	that	once	these	had	been	discovered,	

we	would	come	to	attack	them,	chase	them	away	and	ruin	them.	They	did	not	have	the	least	

intention	of	paying	any	tribute	to	the	Company	and	if	we	were	to	force	them	to	pay	by	using	

violence,	they	were	prepared	to	return	this	to	us	in	equal	measure,	and	hold	their	ground,	just	as	

we	do.	They	admitted	that,	at	the	time	the	Company	army	had	paid	them	a	visit,	they	did	present	

Mr.	Caesar	with	some	gold,	but	this	was	meant	in	exchange	for	the	cangans	and	other	gifts	with	

which	the	said	Caesar	had	honoured	them.Terribo,who	also	had	been	presented	with	a	Company	

cane	then,	had	told	Ootman	and	Sipter	that	the	Company	official	shad	urged	him	to	accept	the	

cane	only	because	they	expected	him	to	pay	them	ten	real	of	gold	each	year.	So	he	thought	it	

better	to	return	the	cane	to	Ootman,	who	could	bring	it	back	to	whence.	[...].࣎The	Formosan	

Encounter,	vol.	3,	pp.103-104.࣏	
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1646ʕ 7ϐ 17Υ	

ϑYĆ࠿ڌˇʘ»ƸΜªтéң࣐aܗイϑ ϑ࣒Ł࣐�«237 ՘Җߟ.ٺªڌרڑ1
ўޘ࣐ϑ16-ࢸۺ20-׵ۺ26࣒Ϫўࢯ՛-83Ϫࢯ՛-56ϪԒ՛-40スࢭ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.……࣓ࢢ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ558

1646ʕ 7ϐ 18Υ	

ϑ イ࣐՘Җўªтéңߥ.ˇڌרڑ1 ϑޘ࣐�«19 ࢯ20Ϫў-׵ۺ20-ࢸۺ150
՛-30ϪԒ՛-20スײŻ וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.׵e࣏arrack࣎ӭ߭§ۺ5 2õו 560

	࣏ࡢ

1646ʕ 8ϐ 6Υ	

Җў՘《Ѹʂϑȅ࣐ޢјIʕȅǬo.ޓࢎ`ϑ 9»Ս《ώƦ߸՘࣐ɉΝޮΥ`ߘ࣎
Ӣ̌½՘ź޷࣏�Iࢂ׳ࡆՍ࣐ϑ 3»�ώޮъxo࣐ĒY՘ߧ�Êʡ.�½l˓ڻ
Ʒߡ֋Ǐ:ߟʫ߂S»߂א՘̕ɞ܉࣐ԸªÜ࣐ۙ؄ݜ_Ըª͊ˀǫư࣐��˃l܉

Ʒ۲ځ࡚܂ߡƸΜϏ1࣎.݋Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ566
J.	Nolpe…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1646࣐ʕ 8ϐ 2Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1160286-285࣐.	

Ը§Ś࣐ࠜɞא՘ŇƹʫSʞࠬ߳ڂ׳ࡆ�ɉƷ۞ڮ landdag-Üドࢯ՛ְ࣐ݜ�ō͊ˀȯ

�.òȿIʕ׳ࡆlƷڂǏǡ˃Μ՘ɧࡣʔƸߍۅSЏࡳ�՘אɞ࣐�ƬӘӜѻてͯ.ࡷ

՘o̖࣐܇�ŘͣoWƪ»ϐɕǂo.Ȇϫ޾иŌۅƷɧXࡈ࣐¶Ō݊͟ڢ.ޣ܊ތ߸܉

	࣒ࠄ

[...]The	Quelang	authorities	wrote	to	us	on	the	28th	of	last	month	that,	because	they	had	not	

received	any	message	from	the	people	of	Cavalangh,	they	feared	hardly	any	village	will	pay	the	

required	tribute	this	year.	At	present	a	bamboo	house	is	being	constructed	in	Quelang	which	will	

not	only	serve	as	an	assembly	room	for	the	landdag,	but	also	to	collect	the	deer	skins	for	the	

tribute	and	to	welcome	visitors.	Last	year	(with	Your	Honour's	permission)	a	similar	bamboo	

construction	was	erected	in	a	field	on	top	of	the	mountain,	behind	the	old	fortress,	but	assailed	

by	the	strong	northerly	winds	it	hardly	lasted	three	or	four	months.	However,	since	the	old	

hospital	has	been	pulled	down,	a	suitable	square	was	formed	on	which	we	built	a	solid	house,	for	

which	we	gathered	the	stoutest	bamboo	canes	that	could	be	found.	It	has	been	constructed	so	

strongly	it	can	last	well	for	over	three	years.	Were	it	to	be	erected	again	up	on	the	mountain,	the	

Company	would	have	this	expense	every	year.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	p.114.࣏	
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Missive	Junior	Merchant	Jacob	Nolpe	to	Governor	Francois	Caron.	Tamsuy,	17	July	1646.	VOC	

	.281-282	fol.࣐1160

1646ʕ 8ϐ 8Υ	

ϑ イϑܗa࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ4 ݓӻ͡Ѱ՘֣ۺ300࣒ԃݞIȆYޘ࣐�«218
Ș-85ࢢׯ30-١ࢯׯm-30۪ׯ29-ۮׯȘ-1,000ま385-ײスׯ2-߾Ѭࢌ
Żܒ33スўԁ-ۯbroodenֈ֕-6ス	111-࣏agelhoudt࣎ 6スЯࢌϙ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥ
ו2ܰ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ567

1646ʕ 8ϐ 9Υ	

�ǲϑ イϑܗa࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ5 ࢳ1ス-ࢮ15ス࣒ԃݞIȆYޘ࣐�«140
՘ֈ֕-110スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈߍ12ス͐Ӟ-ײȘ-15ス۪ׯ8-ۮׯ40-ࢢׯ39-׷
֕-162ス1,327-߾Ζўԁ85-ܒϪԁ՛Ż ǄΥߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.࣏poetsiouck࣎ࢌϙۺ8
ו2ܰ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ567

1646ʕ 9ϐ 3Υ	

lϑ イܗa࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ6 230»Һޘ࣐�I ٨ۺ14-ࢢࢭׯ4-ۮmׯ4
Д-298	broodenֈ֕Ż וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.׵ߠτۺ200 2õו 	࣏ࡢ578

1646ʕ 9ϐ 6Υ	

ϑ Ż׵ۺ200スֹ-150࣒ªޘ࣐׳ࡆٺªڌרڑ1 540Ϫўࢯ՛.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2
ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ580

1646ʕ 9ϐ 15Υ	

̌½lͽČYʌƎĦȫ NolpeؾϗϜϐ 3Υ՘Sɇ·࣐εˇҖў؛Ժ޷ވ࠴ª՘࣐ˇ
ْˆռܭ࣐Ƹ1՘ԉѸѮϑͿݎǬɑ࣐Zߟߡߍ՘ՌՍ࣎ԢƷεώƦ߸՘ζϗ࣏ʂ؛

	.�Řϑì»Ս܂ԢƷՍ࣐ࠬјIʕ՘《ѸȅˁǬo࣐ŻYªة
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тǫߟߡ࣐՘ϒMܗՄƷϜϐʚ۲ځƸΜϏ࣐݋Әтէ՘࣐lʂ޿sߡSʎ՘ُ࠙

޲X࣐׵ݱڿ܉ªÿʌo.Әo½�ܼߝl࣐½ Nolpeʂ޷؛ 100߷ӻ։ʑI࣐׳ࡆ
lƷҖўëĚǱߺͽֹݱԃ�Ƭ̂ǄǏ̖ࡍ՘࣐ࡼ׽εkś�ͽČëࡍ̖ߥ՘Ύ࣐ߺ

ϑSߥĂ՘۹̆ࡩ�Պ.тǫlˆռ࣐ƷX޲՘Υϗ࣐ϑ ưѷҏªČҖ`ˇڌרڑ1
ўޘ࣐ϑ 200スࢮŻSv1࣎.ݞࡅӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ582

J.	Nolpe…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1646࣐ʕ 9ϐ 3Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1160࣐fol.	286-288.	

ƬӘӜѻϗˀϑށǮ՘ֶ޷׵Čپӏ.̖࣐ߥ�ҖўՆɚѪȭ�Ԣ߻ͽ׵ֶݱ.էđʂ؛

Ը܂ߡ�۞՘ƣԫ߷,߻ܟ߂ˇ 25Ǳ߷ӻݣČ ؂࣎2750֒ 1375îΖ࣏՘࣐׵lɕεթՆ

Ν 27.25߷ӻ 1	last՘×Ͼݣé.ҖўՆɚɉ҇SfǧñIƣԫ۞࣐�eШ՘×ϾݣݱωǬ

՘ֶ޿_࣐׵ռՆƸ࡬�JĜىʕ՘ landdag.ƣԫ۞՘ֶ׵žݮZȆҖў࣐�ŻXиˇپ

ӏߌޢª՘ѿư׵žݮʀZǬ.Lucas	Kilasl܉ʎԢ߻Żʇ0IҖўͽ࣐׵ֶݱώ˃ݱˆ

12	last՘ֶ࣎׵DZ	1646-09-25࣏.Lucas	KilasߞѮϑˆČîş̖ݨ՘ײϡ࣐��Ϝ�ʉϕČ

ʕ՘ى landdagöؗ޾࣐�ШɎ�ªܷωĜОَ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	In	our	last	letter	(of	which	we	send	you	a	duplicate	herewith),	that	we	believe	Your	Honour	

must	have	received	before	this	one,	we	wrote	that	we	had	received	Your	Honour's	last	one	by	

land	in	good	order.	We	do	hope	Your	Honour	will	receive	this	one	as	well,	the	more	so	because	it	

will	be	delivered	as	far	as	Pocael	by	a	Tamsuy	soldier	and	an	able	interpreter.	We	sent	this	soldier	

and	the	interpreter	to	the	southern	villages	with	special	orders	to	invite	all	headmen	courteously	

on	Your	Honour's	behalf,	to	appear	at	the	landdag	in	mid-September,	and	if	possible	to	return	in	

their	company,	and	also	to	Quelang.	What	will	become	of	this	invitation	and	whether	the	head	

men	will	accept	it,	time	will	tell.	We	decided	to	organize	the	Tamsuy	Landdag	on	September	30,	

and	are	determined	to	summon	all	principal	headmen	of	the	Tamsuy	villages,	who	undoubtedly	

will	attend.	We	did	not	receive	any	tribute	from	the	south	nor	from	Cavalangh.	Only	eight	houses	

in	Kimablauw	(a	village	in	the	Bight	of	Cavalangh	consisting	of	46houses)	contributed	their	tribute	

in	elk	skins,	promising	to	satisfy	the	remaining	tribute	next	year.	But	we	seriously	doubt	this.	As	it	

seems	likely	that	we	can	hardly	expect	to	receive	any	rice	from	that	area,	and	at	present	itis	the	

best	season	to	build	up	stocks	of	it,	we	have	sent	over	an	amount	of	various	coins	valued	at	a	

hundred	real	to	Quelang	to	buy	rice	at	the	best	possible	price.	This	has	already	resulted	in	the	

purchase	of	2750	pounds	of	rice	for	25	heavy	real	from	some	Cavalangh	people	who	came	to	

Kimaurij	in	their	vessel.	That	is	27 	 real	for	a	last	of	rice.	We	do	hope	the	Company	will	be	

content	with	our	initiative	in	sending	a	certain	soldier,	accompanied	by	a	few	men	from	Kimaurij,	

to	Cavalangh	to	buy	an	amount	of	rice	for	that	same	price,	as	well	as	to	summon	the	headmen	to	

attend	the	next	landdag.	We	do	agree	this	rice	is	of	a	lesser	quality	than	the	Tamsuy	rice,	but	just	

as	good	as	the	rice	from	Siam	that	has	recently	been	delivered	to	us	aboard	the	Gans.	Tomorrow,	

Lucas	Kilas,	and	a	Dutchman	will	sail	out	on	the	Tamsuy	River	with	enough	cash	money	and	cloth	

to	exchange	for	as	much	rice	as	they	can	obtain	in	the	villages	situated	along	the	river.	We	trust	

4
1
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that,	because	of	his	unremitting	diligence,	Lucas	will	be	able	to	obtain	the	required	amount.	He	

has	not	yet	been	honoured	with	a	Company	cane	because	he	himself	requested	us	to	postpone	

this	until	the	next	landdag.	He	explained	that	he	would	win	more	respect	and	honour,	and	inspire	

more	confidence,	if	it	were	to	be	presented	to	him	in	the	presence	of	all	other	cabessas.	[...].

	࣏.118	p.	3,	vol.	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎

1646ʕ 9ϐ 18Υ	

イܗa࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ2 ׯ2-ࢢׯ25-١ࢯׯ50-ۮׯ30࣒Iޘ࣐�«66
۪Ș-2ま٨ۺ107-وࢢࢦД-100スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕-1,Ќڙʇ࣎cangan8-࣏Ϫ

ўࢯ՛-4࣎ࡖۘغindigo࣏Ż 6
1
2	ス1࣎.ٴࢯӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ584

1646ʕ 9ϐ 25Υ	

YʌƎĦȫ NolpeˇҖўª·ؾ࣐ϗϜϐ 19Υ࣐êȴbߡ࣐ܷ܉SʎǱߥĂϠڰ՘
o:ɴ࠮࣐Ƭт࣐݋۲՘ƸΜϏځÿʌŁɉܻ࣐͌�šִӜ݃՘ۗSߧُ࠙

ƸΜ޲JĜXڰɉĉӜϠ࣐�ǫڰW»Ϡ߷,߻Ż࣏Jago	St.࣎ݘW-࣏Panikoutsie࣎
Ϗ݋.тǫl…ܷ࣐Ʒߟߡ՘ϒM½ӘoܭǄǏࡼ׽՘طص࣐܉ࡍƷҖўѲѷɬͽݱ

ˆݱ؛ʂ࣐׵ֶ 12	lasten՘ֶȘخ࣐× ݞĂԸߥS࣐�ĂԸԢмͼߥS࣐իڮ498.4
ԃy͓࣐ò`ϑS6ʂࡥ؛ĊߌČҖў.�ʕߡƸ1ִֶ׵ГˆթՆȅ.1731࣎Ӫ۞ߖ

ǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ586
J.	Nolpe…ؗ F.	Caron՘·1646࣐ʕ 9ϐ 19Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1160࣐fol.	288-290݊͟ڢ࣐

	࣒ࠄ

[...]Lucas	Kilas,	as	mentioned,	had	been	sent	to	the	villages	situated	along	the	Tamsuy	River	with	a	

Dutch	soldier	to	buy	rice	from	them.	As	I	gave	notice	to	Your	Honour	in	our	last	letter,	he	has	gone	

about	his	business	in	such	a	way	that	he	bartered	over	twelve	[last]	quality	rice	for	cash	and	

commodities,	amounting	to	a	cost	price	of	altogether	498:4:-	guilders.	More	than	half	of	this	

amount	has	already	been	delivered	into	the	Company	warehouses	and	we	believe	that	the	total	

amount	will	be	received	in	about	four	or	five	days,	namely:	87real	of	eight	in	sort,	that	is:81real	

for	25gantang	a	real,	amounting	to	2025	gantang:	210:12	guilders.	Six	ditto	gantang(that	have	

been	given,	as	the	Council	suggested,	to	Lucas	Kilas	as	a	reward,	and	to	incite	him	to	continue):	

15:12guilders;	87	real	in	sort	of	52	stuyvers	each:	236:4:-	guilders;	120pees	of	blue	cangans,	

namely	115pees	ditto	of45	condrijn	each	and	forty	gantangapee,	counts:	4600	[gantang]:	184	

																																																								
173	 .εўֶ࣐Óؘ՘Ϊֶࡘ�࣐׵՘ֶ܂޾ 	
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guilders;	five	pees	ditto	that	have	been	presented	to	the	people	who	have	sailed	their	vessels	up	

river	twice:8	guilders;	16	peeschits	of	3:	3:-	guilders,	one	pee	and	eighty	gantang	each:	1280	

gantang:	50:	8	guilders;	three	pees	Guinees	linnen	of	200	gantang	a	pee:	600	gantang:	20:-	

guilders.	This	makes	a	total	of	8580	gantang	or	498:12:-	guilders.	The	rice,	at	a	rough	estimate,	

will	cost	the	Company	hardly	16	real	of	eight	a	last,	all	expenses	included,	which	is	rather	less	

than	last	year.	[...].࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	p.	123.࣏	

1646ʕ 10ϐ 1Υ	

ϑ イϑܗa࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ4 broodenֈ	18……࣒ԃݞIYĆߌ࣐�«139
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.……֕ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ587

1646ʕ 10ϐ 2Υ	

ϑ イϑܗa࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ3 .……broodenֈ֕	6࣒ԃݞIȆYߌ࣐�«120
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ588

1646ʕ 10ϐ 5Υ	

ŗϑ࣐ʾԬɸډ࣏coya࣎ڌ�Rڑ1 ԃ࣓lϑڒǠޘŘߧ࣐ʾӃҥډڑ1 ډڌרڑ3
ʾ`ưѷҏߌ࣐I34࣒まўࢯ՛……36	broodenֈ֕-…….1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו

	࣏ࡢ591

1647û	

1647ʕ 4ϐ 12Υ	

ϑ イϑܗa࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ3 Iߌ࣐�«92 40まࢢׯ305-وࢢࢦm-72ׯ
Żٴࢯ45ス-١ࢯ 8スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ623
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1647ʕ 5ϐ 15Υ	

՛-686Ϫࢯ854Ϫў࣒Ł࣐՘՛࡛܂ºʟߟߡªޘ࣐ƫČтƸ׳ࡆҖўŻˇڌңࡪ
Ԓ՛Ż 82Ϫࢯ՛.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ637

J.	Nolpe…ؗ P.	A.	Overtwater՘·1647࣐ʕ 5ϐ 11Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1164࣐fol.	441-445࣐

	࣏הZߺΎ]࣐ࠄ՘ّ݊͟بтӘ࣒࣎ࠄ݊͟ڢ

(On	May	7	the	pilot	boat	returned	to	Tamsuy,	bringing	along	the	deerskins	handed	over	by	the	

people	of	St.	Jago	as	a	tribute	to	the	Company.	Back	in	Tamsuy	the	assembled	tribute	skins,	

comprising	of	854	pieces	elk	skin,	686	pieces	of	male	goat	skin	and	80	pieces	of	hind	skin:	1620	

pieces	in	total,	were	taken	aboard.)	[...]	

[...]	Theodore,	Chief	of	the	village	Kimaurij,	and	many	other	principal	headmen	came	to	the	

Fortress	North	Holland	to	have	a	word	with	the	said	junior	merchants	and	with	Ensign	Baers.	On	

behalf	of	all	inhabitants	of	that	village,	they	requested	them	to	write	letters	to	Your	Honour	why	

they	no	longer	were	able	to	deliver	five	buckets	or	326	pounds	of	pit	coal	for	the	agreed	price	of	

one	real	a	bucket,	because	the	coal	had	been	depleted	since,	and	so	digging	up	coal	was	

becoming	rather	more	difficult.	This	problem	had	already	been	explained	to	us	by	our	friends	at	

Quelang,	who	told	us	that	digging	up	coal	is	becoming	harder	every	day.	[...]	[...]	During	the	times	

of	Mr.	Lemaire	it	was	provisionally	agreed	that	the	Kimaurij	people	would	deliver	five	buckets	for	

one	red,	on	the	condition	that	(as	we	understand),	should	they	afterwards	earn	too	little	and	

consequently	be	unwilling	to	dig	up	coal	for	that	price,	the	Company	was	then	to	meet	with	their	

demands	with	moderation.	We	request	Your	Honour	to	act	as	you	think	proper.	At	present,	the	

said	Kimaurij	people	do	have	ready	a	stock	of	about	450	or	500	buckets	filled	with	pit	coal	they	

have	dug	up	already.	We	will	expect	Your	Honour's	orders	if	we	have	to	take	these,	too,	on	behalf	

of	the	Company,	and	if	so,	276	last	of	three	hundred	pounds	(including	the	95	extra	buckets	that	

were	gathered	last	year)	can	be	found	by	the	time	the	ships	arrive	at	Quelang.	[...]࣎The	

Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	pp.	181-182.࣏	

VOC	1164555࣐.	

1647ʕ 6ϐ 4Υ	

lϑ イ࣐՘Җўߥ.ʾډڌרڑ1 56»Һޘ࣐�ϑ400࣒Ќ࣎ڙcangan࣏ʇ-10Բ
174ӭ߭࣎arrack70-࣏,ӠڪŻSvݞࡅ.	

																																																								
174	 ŇΐӘ pot̹࣐Բ܋࣐Yܤ. 	
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̌½ĊԸ޾ЭϏ̠Җўࡍ̖׳ࡆٿ՘źܮ�؎…Iؗ�½࣐ȆeǮ½՘ϊ·Օ׮޷

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.Шߡޘ̖ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ645
P.	A.	Overtwater…ؗ J.	Nolpe՘·1647࣐ʕ 6ϐ 4Υ࣐Νپӏ࣐VOC	1164࣐fol.	427-430ڢ࣐

	࣒ࠄ݊͟

[...]	We	are	aware	that	the	treaty	of	five	buckets	of	pit	coal	for	one	real,	which	you	mention	in	

your	letter,	was	only	drawn	up	for	a	short	period	of	time.	But	some	of	us	remember	that	at	that	

time	the	said	Theodore	did	not	treat	the	labourers	fairly.	He	wanted	to	pay	his	people	so	little	for	

their	work,	and	not	even	in	cash,	but	in	rags	and	bits	and	pieces,	so	that	he	himself	could	pocket	

most	of	the	money.	This	has	been	another	reason	why	his	people	were	sometimes	unwilling	to	

dig	up	[the	coal];	yet	after	we	had	promised	them	their	money,	and	it	was	actually	given	them,	

they	were	willing	enough.	1	seriously	doubt	if	there	is	not	some	snag	in	it	this	time,	the	more	so	

because	on	several	occasions	the	said	Theodore	has	proved	himself	to	be	dishonest	and	intent	on	

money.	During	the	time	Captain	Boon	visited	Cavalangh,	this	same	fellow	also	managed	to	extort	

plenty	of	money	from	the	inhabitants,	reaching	a	sum	of...	real,	shearing	the	sheep	himself,	and	

leaving	the	pigs	to	shear	to	the	Company,	as	the	saying	goes.	Therefore,	we	tend	to	believe	that	

Theodore	is	not	held	in	high	esteem	in	those	districts.	In	our	opinion	it	will	be	wise,	 	 	 whenever	

the	Company	has	to	collect	anything,	to	do	so	in	the	presence	of	a	reliable	man	of	own	our	

nation,	so	that	nothing	will	be	embezzled	and	in	due	course	we	will	be	able	to	get	to	know	these	

people	and	conclude	friendship	with	them.	[...].࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	p.192.࣏	

1647ʕ 7ϐ 13-14Υ	

ϑ イ࣐՘Җўªтéңߥ.ˇڌרڑ1 ,174-ࢸ,40-ٴࢯ1ス࣒ϑޘ࣐�«28
60スŌ-׵ 11ま500-ײϪўࢯ՛-550Ϫࢯ՛Ż 350ϪԒ՛.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2

õו 	࣏ࡢ657

1647ʕ 7ϐ 16-17Υ	

ϑ イ࣐՘Җўªтéңߥ.ˇڌרڑ1 250Ϫ-ࢸۺ50-׵ۺ150࣒ªޘ࣐�«13
Żײ՛-20スࢯ 300ϪԒ՛.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ658



	ŝΔʸΌ	Wࠄࠧ

	 123	

1647ʕ 7ϐ 20-21-22Υ	

ϑ イϑܗa࣐ʾ`ưѷҏډڌרڑ12 ۞1Ӫ࣎.2スֈ֕…࣒ԃݞIYĆߌ࣐�«441
וǄΥܰ2ߖ 2õו 	࣏658

1647ʕ 7ϐ 25-26Υ	

Җўª·ؾ࣐ϗ 6ϐ 7ΥŻϜϐ 11Υߟߡ࣐՘bܭ̠ןƸ1՘ԉѸܮ؎…ªšܣ
࢝Ʒƣԫ۞ӏ՘Ň¢ќsթeࠝ՘࣐̑εܷ܉b.܂׮�·Ν̌½՘ͽČޘ》ܮ࣐½

ߡŌÖ�đ࣐ƬӘ�½eࠝ՘ĂхǳǬ࣐ªݺࡈ՘《ѸŏْωĜƭߟߡ࣐ةѮҠߞ

Ш࣐Zڮˇ٥ٟ۞�՘ަѻߧ࣐Æ̻܉Ӣŕُ՘ަѻطص؉ӸYI.׳ࡆͽČ՘ݜ

ČԢƷŘͽČ࣐؄ 605֒՘׵.�½l̻Ӣ̌½�đ޷I՘ź�˓ڻƷܱկ¸ԥͼͣ
ߡ VictoriaƳǏ.Ōܷ࣐Iʕ֩ǲܭƸbןƷҖўͽݱ՘ߡv࣐׵ʂ؛ƬӘԵۭࠜȋ
ٰӵo࣐ƬтߡvϒMޅĉ�Ǝ݋Ѫȭ࣐Әߜ܉ç͗Ƕ࣐ɉpݻЭÿƊ࣐ƬӘ޾»Ǫ

ǲߞϑߡvτ׵ߠśԸ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ660
J.	Nolpe…ؗ P.	A.	Overtwater՘·1647࣐ʕ 6ϐ 7Υ࣐ΝҖў࣐VOC	1164࣐fol.	446-

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐450

[...]The	Japanese	Interpreter	Jacinto,	besides	a	certain	Barnabe	as	well	as	some	other	Kimaurij	

men,	examined	the	payment	of	pit	coal,	and	testified	it	was	true	that	at	present	this	is	done	in	

cash,	promptly	and	correctly,	but	that	Theodore	has	exceeded	his	authority,	quite	some	time	ago	

now.	They	are	fully	aware	of	this	and	they	remember	that	at	the	time	of	Captain	Boon's	presence,	

Theodore	had	been	reprimanded	by	him.	We	cannot	tell	you	with	any	certainty	yet	if-the	man	is	

respected	by	his	people.	During	our	presence	here,	we	have	never	received	any	complaints	about	

him,	apart	from	the	fact	that	we	keep	an	eye	on	his	conduct;	something	which	does	no	harm.	We	

informed	all	principal	Basayos	from	the	village	of	Tapparij	about	Your	Honour's	intention	to	

employ	them	to	cut	trees	up	into	heavy	beams,	long	boards	and	planks,	for	a	good	remuneration.	

This	proposal	gave	them	the	jitters,	and	they	pretended	this	was	far	too	strenuous	for	them	and	

for	all	their	fellow	countrymen,	because	they	would	have	to	chop	wood	from	forests	that	did	not	

grow	next	to	flat	beaches	or	on	the	plain,	but	they	would	have	to	traverse	several	high	mountains	

and	deep	valleys	to	accomplish	the	work	with	many	men,	as	became	clear	to	us.	Therefore	they	

would	like	to	request	Your	Honour	not	to	impose	this	heavy	burden	upon	them.	Any	other	job	

would	be	fine,	and	they	were	willing	to	perform	it	as	best	they	could.	It	is	true	that	fine	boards	of	

camphor,	which	can	be	used	for	the	construction	of	small	objects	like	chests,	gun-carriages	

etcetera,	can	be	found	here.	These	people	are	prepared	to	chop	those	boards,	when	it	is	not	the	

right	season	to	sail	to	Cavalangh,	but	it	is	beyond	the	limits	of	human	labour	to	demand	such	
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large	wooden	beams	as	Your	Honour	have	ordered	from	them.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	

vol.	3,	p.	197.࣏	

1647ʕ 8ϐ 1Υ	

՛Żࢯ2Ϫў-ֹۺ25-׵ۺ180࣒ϑޘ࣐՘Җўߥ.ٺªڌרڑ1 30ϪԒ՛.1࣎Ӫ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ661

1647ʕ 8ϐ 4-6Υ	

ϑ ՛-300ϪԒ՛Żࢯ՛-200Ϫࢯ100Ϫў࣒ªޘ࣐՘Җўߥ.ٺªڌרڑ1 50ス
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ײ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ663

1647ʕ 8ϐ 7Υ	

ϑ イ࣐Җўߥ.ʾډڌרڑ1 300-ࢲ40スɐ-ࢮ16ス-׻ࢹ50ス࣒ϑޘ࣐�«16
,Ӡ25-ڪԲӭ߭࣎arraq100̠-࣏āȘ-17ԲW߭࣎samsoe100-׷ࢳׯ1755-࣏»
ԇӽŻࠓ 1スࢌڨ.	
ϑ イ࣐Җўªтéң޲Xˇڌרڑ1 ࢯ170Ϫ-׵ۺ10-ײ100ス࣒ϑޘ࣐�«18
՛Ż 4スࢢm.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ663

																																																								
175	 17 ࣎W߭ػ samsoe࣐࣏W࣐߭ズڮ۞ΐԘ࣐Ō§ Sampe࣐Ł3WՖ4࣐ɥؘ׿߭׵.ŗ࣐ΐ`՘ߺܗ

Ƙ 3࣐4ػŇΐӘ3pot4࣐qȿXǬ̹3Բ4̎34غ.ϽズΥϜζ�՘ܹϳ࣐S࣐߭ڀؐغӘ 20

Ζٹ1࣒܋࣐ζپӏڂ˸ܹϳϏוrߥ 	 	 ܹϳ؛ӇݦΔǓs2࣐Yłࡢ࣐ 380. 	
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1647ʕ 8ϐ 20Υ	

ݏ׳ࡆI޷܉X܁܉l࣐ԸžࡍѢ՘ࡍ̖ߟߡX܁Valckۤ	Witteڌʔʚ҇݋ϏѪ݋ܧ
̌Μ՘�Ʒࢂࢀ176ܒګߡ՘ Ǆߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ƫтƸߌČ՘ӡӕࡁͽߟߡI̠_࣐ԁ࡬40
Υܰ2ו 2õו 	࣏ࡢ667

VOC	1164535-534࣐.	

J࣒ࠠؗ Boon՘̹1647࣐�ʕ 8ϐ 25Υ࣐Νپӏ࣐VOC	1164464-462࣐.	

Missive	President	Pieter	Anthonisz	Overtwater	to	Junior	Merchant	Jacob	Nople.	Tayouan,25	

August	1647.	VOC	1164,	fol.	430-433.	

࠙݋ࢆӏƎپ Overtwater…·ؗҖўYʌƎĦȫ Nolpe࣒ë֣ӻ͡Ѱɱ՘ߧְݜʂ؛ç

ʵްŇ܉Μ࡚ӂҟ�½_ZεࢆӏƎپ.Sу̹֛߆wΜ࡚ϑ؞ߏըČʄ࣐Zöˌͽ࣐࠮

¢ќ�ϙ࣐�½Řε【ռߎԉѸȆ¥࣐εkˁࡈŐˆ࣐ˇϜƸŐˆϙϟεkaپ�.חמ

ӏƎࢆl܉Ѣ޷Svώ࢛žݮ՘ϙϟШϜߍIࡳִ࣐Ř܉εŇ¢ќʔʏϏւ՘ߡvЩɕ

ȅ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]It	has	never	been	our	intention	to	force	the	inhabitants	of	the	Tamsuy	villages	to	deliver	the	

timber	against	their	will,	we	only	wanted	to	know	how	things	were,	and	should	the	timber	have	

been	easy	to	obtain,	we	would	have	consulted	each	other	about	whether	it	would	not	have	been	

wiser	to	find	timber	in	our	own	country,	if	available,	than	having	it	imported	with	great	trouble,	

and,	at	great	cost,	too,	from	other	distant	overseas	kingdoms.	Now	thatwe	understand	things	are	

different,	this	is	what	we	will	do.	Nonetheless,	we	would	like	to	receive	a	few	samples	of	timber	

from	the	trees	the	inhabitants	usually	fell,	that	you	assume	to	be	of	the	best	quality.	[...]	

[...]	We	supplied	the	Cavalangh	men	who	paid	us	a	visit	with	fifty	real	in	heavy	cash:	one	of	them,	

called	...,	received	twenty	real;	the	others	received	ten	real	each,	to	settle	this	matter	at	Fortress	

North	Holland;	this	sum	can	be	entered	into	the	invoice	book	of	Quelang	in	addition	to	the	550	

real	(making	600	real	all	together)	that	had	been	entered	already,	but	that	still	had	to	be	supplied	

upon	your	request.	We	think	you	can	get	by	on	this	(in	Quelang)	longer	than	you	had	counted	on	

before,	as	there	is	no	need	for	coal	in	Tayouan	now,	though	we	understand	this	is	ready	for	

transport	in	abundance.	The	said	Cavalanghians	seem	to	be	wild	fellows,	as	far	as	we	can	see	

from	here.	Therefore	it	is	not	only	unnecessary	but	even	harmful	and	against	our	good	intentions	

that	this	savage	nation	should	be	encouraged	to	wage	war	because	they	are	stirred	up	by	our	

common	soldiers,	who	are	no	saints	either.	It	seems	degenerate	human	nature	too	often	drives	

																																																								
176	 ŇΐӘ࣐ܒګ dorren	hoeckݝ3̹˲࣐ՒZљ՘ɪِ࣐݇؛࣐4ܒƸޮࢺΝپ.ŕƸƴ`՘וSɪ

ْ࣐߆.ԁࢂζ�ʂࠜȋ۞ڮΔ͐¬ՆƸƷݦтю.ࢿɧࢱӘԢƷ՘࣐ՒZљݝȴӘʹۻl܂ߡ࣐ܒ

.ªߌĂεԺӃҥߥǱ࣐ؕ1Υܰ2śȨë֏ȭˇ࣐࠿ӏ՘ԁپéޟ 	
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people	towards	their	own	destruction,	and	it	costs	enormous	trouble	to	make	them	see	reason	

and	lead	them,	by	the	hand	as	it	were,	towards	their	own	prosperity	and	salvation.	Everywhere	

our	men	shall	have	to	be	made	understood	that	the	Company's	aim	is	peace,	and	that	we	do	not	

wish	to	ruin	anyone,	or	cause	them	any	harm.	[...]	Each	of	the	Cavalanghians	who	came	to	

Zeelandia	Castle	was	presented	with	a	set	of	clothes,	and	the	principal	headman	with	a	red	

damask	suit.	And	we	kept	urging	them	to	conclude	peace	with	their	neighbours,	so	we	exhort	all	

of	you	who	are	serving	in	the	north	to	back	this	enthusiastically.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	

vol.	3,	pp.	203-204.࣏	

1647ʕ 10ϐ 20-21Υ	

ʔʚڌ ValckۤŻ࠙࠷ Pieter	BoonˇҖўŻ׳ࡆƫČтƸ࣐_ʎªSɇYʌƎĦȫ
Antonij	Plockhoy՘·ؾ࣐ϗϜϐ 15Υ.ˆռߟߡ࣐՘《ʹǱړٽȅ࣓VictoriaƳǏ՘
࣐؄՘‧çݜ1ܭɎ…۲࣓߆ĊࡥӢ̹�ŻԢѸ̻ߧ§�ōò�ɽ࣐צò�ʫٿˉ¸
©ՆƸɛќǱ〔й˺࣓Ɏخո Cornelis	van	der	LijnࠞY՘Ȱܲ΄˔࣐Ʒߡì»ƸΜ՘
îş�Ƃ۲ߘߧȰܲo࣓ࠢΝ࣐׵Җў՘bןթ·�ʕɉؗٺϑߞ]ْ࣐ࢅś¬̂.

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.܉ࡍǏ՘࣏Noort-Hollandt࣎۞ڮ 2õו 	࣏ࡢ683

1647ʕ 10ϐ 23Υ	

ϑ イ࣐՘Җўªтéңߥ.ˇڌרڑ1 -ײ՛-256スࢯ225Ϫў࣒ªޘ࣐�«27
300スֈ֕Ż וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.׵ۺ200 2õו 	࣏ࡢ683

1648û	

1648ʕ 3ϐ 2-3Υ	

lϑ`ưƎ�ôîş޿q߻ȭ࣎Khimtingh࣏՘ đʾʨډ۲݇ÿ޿՘½̸̌ڌרڑ1
イ࣐࣏:ݽ࣎: וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.……100スֈ࣒֕Iߌ࣐�«50 3õו 	࣏ࡢ4
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1648ʕ 3ϐ 18-19Υ	

Jan	Soetekauw՘ڌרÿډđʾʨ:࣐イ 	࣒Iߌ࣐�«54
……200スֈ֕-50スή֚Ż 25ス1࣎.……ںکӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 3õו 	࣏ࡢ22

1648ʕ 3ϐ 18-19Υ	

イ࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ2 ࢩ415Љ-ࢲۺ170࣒ϑޘ࣐�«104
(corretvissen)……23スֈ֕…….1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 3õו 	࣏ࡢ22

1648ʕ 4ϐ 15-16Υ	

イϑܗa࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ5 .……19スֈ֕……࣒ԃݞϑYĆޘ࣐�«117
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ33

1648ʕ 4ϐ 17Υ	

イܗa࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ3 .……45スֈ֕……࣒ԃݞIYĆߌ࣐�«114
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 3õו 	ࡢ࣏34

1648ʕ 4ϐ 20-23Υ	

イܗa࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ8 .……44スֈ֕……࣒ԃȆYݞI՘ߌ࣐�«173
ˇҖў͊ČSɇ·࣐ε…ΝX»ϐ؛࣐Ժ޷ވ࠴ª՘ߟ.ْˇ࣐Ƹ1՘ԉѸߞߧˁȦ

ɀ࣐X»ϐ 27Υlϑ .܂ߡ177I࣏cleinicheden	eenige࣎++ݞࡅSvޘư`ˇڌרڑ1

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ36
A.	Plockhoy…ؗP.	Overttwater՘·࣐Җў1648࣐ʕ3ϐ31�	VOC1170࣐fol.	493࣐	 	

																																																								
177
.ΥʏԵ҆Ըž̹࣐࣏eenige cleinicheden࣎ݞࡅ 	
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1648ʕ 5ϐ 13-14Υ	

YʌƎĦȫ Van	Damˇࢠңȷª·ܷ࣐Ʒ܂ߡϑ lڑɥΝҺ�ƪ࣎ڃSisia࣏՘࣐ڌר
̸̌½՘ډ܉۲݇޿ʾҖў՘࣐ÉѺƷߡңê࣐ìWǲ͊طÿ࣐ډƷѮϑ̎ࡷǲѝ՘

ŀ࠽《ѸYŌƫªéң.Ƭт֏·࣐�½ε֨ۙ׵
++++++

IҏXyؗò࠿ڌ�՘
++++++++++

ޘ̖]ْ࣐

՘ݞԃl۲݇޿ޅZȨëהa.Ƭт̌½׉ďÓ�I࣐܂ߡ�ɉڌܭςζす̨࣐ɉܭ

	.ӝ˃öӢq〕《Ѹªۡԥ࣐ܩݮªтƸ޷࠙ڌ՘ڌ
l…Sɇ·ˇ޷ވ࠴IҖўؗYʌƎĦȫAntony	Plockhoy࣐ź܉��Żߟߡ՘݋ܧϏ
ҟ܉��࣐�ȷIؗݺ՘s֛Sߌl̠тƸ࣐֡ʾ`ưߌۻƦ֡�¥ֹԃ࣐ѻܠˎ؎

ИƸ޿s1࣎.�֡ܭӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ23וõ࣏ࡢ43ו	
P.	Overttwater…ؗA.	Plockhoy՘·پ࣐ӏ1648࣐ʕ5ϐ14Υ.VOC	1170504࣐.	

1648ʕ 6ϐ 2Υ	

ͽČˇҖў؛Ժ޷ވ࠴ªìɇ·ؾ࣐ϗӘ4ϐ29Υ5ٿϐ14Υ܂ߡ࣐՘bןƷ·܂sܣ

++++++++++++++++++ՆƸȀ�ؔȔޅò`ϑʘ»�ʃ࣐�ƷҖўSðϑ++++++78++»Һ……࣐Ƹ1՘ԉѸߡ½̌
࣐

�½lʂࠜȋִٔƶƸ࣐ƬӘZ޾ШфϘӏࣈPimerowan࣏ҫٿҖўѲѷɬ՘§ԃɕ
ZǮ©ǱȳԵ҆á1࣎.ۿӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ23וõ࣏ࡢ51ו	

A.	Plockhoy…ؗ P.	Overttwater՘·࣐Җў1648࣐ʕ 4ϐ 29Υ.VOC1170࣐fol.	493-495ڢ࣐

	࣒ࠄ݊͟

[...]The	Chinese	inhabitants	over	here	are	forced	to	put	themselves	to	agriculture,	because	the	

people	of	both	the	Tamsuy	and	Pinerouan	Rivers	are	not	cultivating	enough	grain	to	feed	so	many	

people.	The	number	of	Chinese	settlers	was	counted	at	78	heads	at	present.	Some	days	ago	three	

of	them	married	pagan	indigenous	women,	and	their	number,	so	we	trust,	will	increase	daily.	We	

have	not	received	any	orders	yet	as	to	if	these	married	men	are	exempt	from	taxation	or	poll	tax;	

we	do	not	know	well	how	to	deal	with	this	matter.	Therefore	we	expect	to	receive	Your	Honour's	

instruction	at	the	first	possible	opportunity.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	p.	230.࣏	

A.	Plockhoy…ؗ P.	Overttwater՘·࣐Җў1648࣐ʕ 5ϐ 14Υ.VOC1170495࣐.	

1648ʕ 6ϐ 19Υ	

イܗa࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ6 131»Һߌ࣐�IYĆݞԃ20……࣒スֈ֕…….
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ57
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1648ʕ 7ϐ 25-27Υ	

Җўª·ؾ࣐ϗϜϐ8Υۡܭٺ࣐b࣐˥ˆןϜϐ5Υθࠝߡ࣐Ƹ1ċࡘݺʏʵә՘ϥ
.ϥٽ�࣐ࡷîşƷҖўǱߥĂ՘̕ɞ࣐�ōƷ׳ࡆɱ՘࠙ȫ̕ɞۻߧoٍo࣐Դټ

ҖўѲŻ]ْ࣐oݸċࡷۻlë֜߷,߻࣐࠽lɉϑˇX࡚ǂYª՘ŀࡣ֋Ǐ՘ɞߡ

фϘӏࣈPimeroan࣏ҫ՘ҫў࢛ҼѠӈ,ֶ̋߂࣐§ˁǱ՘͗Ȳ࣐ƬтߡƸ1ԢƷۡ
Νࡘʏׄƭ՘ԉѸ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ23וõ࣏ࡢ66ו	

A.	Plockhoy…ؗP.	Overttwater՘·࣐Җў1648࣐ʕ7ϐ8Υ.VOC	1170࣐fol.	498-499.	

7ϐ5Υûιìࠜࢺȋ࣐ࡷࡸࡹYۻ֜߷,߻࣐ࡉݖΌ»ѯ࣐ݸ�½Üۙ՘ֶ׵ZεۻҐү

ɕεۻѯݸ.ҖўƸ1՘ԉѸlˁҕ˶࣐ѲўѠӈ̋߂§ֶ࣐ؗթՆǱ՘͗Ȳ.ՆƸđλ

	.ÜÐś٪lZǮŠࡼ׽ْ࣐ϗXҼࡧ×׽࣐Җࢻ

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

This	missive	is	sent	to	Your	Honour	to	let	you	know	that	on	the	5th	of	this	month,	at	about	two	

hours	past	midnight,	an	incredibly	strongwind	rose	from	the	east-north-eastern	quarter,	such	as	

no	one	in	this	country	had	ever	experienced;	it	came	with	an	extraordinarily	heavy	shower,	which	

was	quite	serious,	because	these	regions	turned	into	a	sorry	mess.	[...]	Kimaurij	was	swept	away	

altogether,	and	the	people's	entire	rice	supply	became	wet	and	was	lost.	Presumably	this	will	

cause	a	rise	in	food	prices	overhere,	especially	because	the	area	of	both	the	rivers	(namely	the	

Tamsuy	and	Pinerouan	Rivers)	also	suffered	greatly	from	the	floods;	so	that,	to	put	it	briefly,	the	

prospects	over	here	look	very	miserable	and	it	has	to	be	feared	that	we	are	heading	for	a	

shortage	this	year,	far	worse	than	last	year's	living	conditions.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	

3,	pp.	244-245.࣏	

1648ʕ 8ϐ 4-5Υ	

イܗa࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ5 ǄΥߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.……14スֈ֕……࣒Iߌ࣐�«192
ו2ܰ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ69

1648ʕ 8ϐ 18Υ	

……ŌƬӘX޲ʔʚڌ OsۤϚ٪ޘʎ̻ڻӢ�đӘтѪȭْ…՘̹࣐�イX޲ʔʚڌ

׵yΰ׳ࡆX՘ԃžIҖўŻڌƷ܁�đڻ܂ߡI܉࣐׳ࡆʾҖўŻډ
+++++++++

࣐ƬтѪȭ࣐

࠙࠷ď҇׉܉ Thomas	PedelÙߺͽ܉]_࣐׵ݱIۡԥSv.ߟƸ1՘ò�q《.
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ75
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ؗT.	PedeI՘̹پ࣐�ӏ1648࣐ʕ8ϐ19Υ.VOC1170࣐fol.	463-465.	

Ϝи҇ߓPedelI׳ࡆŻҖў࣐է՘ε܉Iͽ࣐׵ֶݱƬӘՆƸʂࡼ׽ٹ࡚؛վع՘Ə࡯.ώ

b܉՘ŇƬεϜʕʝϑࡧߍݼϗ՘Һ�֯¢ČܭƸ࣐�S՘ǜĜ©ՆƸ՘ࡼ׽վپ.عӏƎ

Pedelś࣐Ȇϫ40߷ӻZǮ࣐ϾΜ࡚×.ࡼ׽1200Ƙ ՘canganʇIyΰٿPedelƪ3߷ӻؗࢆ

�ɉͽ࢛̥×ݱČ50߷ӻ.ȆϫƷ̜׳ࡆZČ࣐׵Đ̂҇ܭ�Iƣԫ۞Ƹ1ͽݱ.тqˏࡦ

Ʒ10ϐđȨ࣐̋kĐîşɉӜѻˇ`ԕĊ.10ϐ4Υ࣐Pedelʎo30	 last՘׵ŻֶȘˇ.ߥƫ

Čپӏ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	The	principal	and	most	important	part	of	your	dispatch	is	that	at	the	moment	there	is	already	

a	shortage	of	rice,	if	it	is	not	be	supplied	from	somewhere	else.	Because	of	the	extraordinary	

influx	of	Chinese	who	arrived	here	quite	unexpectedly	this	year,	you	will	have	to	supply	us	with	as	

much	rice,	millet,	paddy,	barley,	wheat	as	Your	Honour	will	be	able	to	obtain	in	the	north,	either	

for	money	or	for	cangans.	To	this	end	we	have	shipped	four	thousand	Spanish	real	and	1200	

cangans	to	your	place	on	the	flute	Ox,	to	use	and	barter	them	to	the	afore-mentioned	purpose.	In	

our	last	letters	we	wrote	to	the	chief	about	the	price	for	which	he	was	to	purchase	rice.	Moreover,	

that	he	had	to	pay	for	other	grains	in	proportion;	namely	up	to	forty	heavy	real	in	cash	or	less,	

which	we	confirm	here	with	and	supplement.	Should	this	price	not	be	high	enough,	you	may	

increase	it	up	to	fifty	real,	as	mentioned	above;	besides	Your	Honour	should	not	feel	yourself	to	

be	bound	by	strict	rules,	so	that	you	can	act	according	to	circumstances.	If	this	rice	is	not	available	

in	Quelang,	you	will	at	once	give	orders	to	send	out	as	many	capable	men	as	will	be	required	to	

the	Bight	of	Cavalangh,	so	as	to	find	everything	ready	upon	your	arrival	in	St.	Laurens	Bayon	the	

flute	Ox,	and	you	will	be	able	to	carry	out	your	duty	swiftly	and	load	as	much	rice	into	the	flute	as	

possible.	This	shall	have	to	be	carried	out	before	the	beginning	of	October	or	earlier,	because	

should	it	take	any	longer,	we	will	no	longer	benefit	from	it	but	be	disadvantaged	instead,	as	we	

expect	to	receive	an	abundance	of	rice	from	the	next	harvest	over	here.	You	have	to	bear	this	in	

mind;	therefore,	you	will	[...]	have	to	set	out	on	the	return	voyage	directly	after	the	first	of	

October.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	pp.250-251.࣏	

1648ʕ 8ϐ 25Υ	

イܗa࣐đʾ`ưѷҏډÿڌרڑ4 .……35スֈ֕……࣒ԃݞIYĆߌ࣐�«140
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ75
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1648ʕ 9ϐ 2-3Υ	

lϑ イ࣐՘Җўªтéңߟ.ˇڌרڑ1 12»Һޘ࣐�ϑ++ 530+++Ϫўࢯ+++
՛.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥ

ו2ܰ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ83

1648ʕ 9ϐ 26-27Υ	

イ࣐ҖўªČтƸˇڌרڑ1 23»Һޘ࣐�ϑ90࣒Ϫўࢯ՛-1100Ϫࢯ՛-50ス
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.……ࢮŻ-12スײ35ス-ࢢࢭ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ90

1648ʕ 10ϐ 4-5Υ	

ʔʚڌ OsۤˇҖўŻ׳ࡆ՘.ޘƫª+++ 30	lasten++++++++
՘׵
++

ŻֶȘ࣐εƷ.1ԸЌڙ
+++++++++++

࣎
+cangan++++++

ª՘ݱԡԀ߷ӻͽ܈ʇŻ࣏
++++++++++++

.178
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ93

1648ʕ 10ϐ 13Υ	

lߥ.ˇڌרڑ՘Җўªтéң࣐イ 26»Һޘ࣐�ϑ100࣒ス100-ײϪўࢯ՛Ż
400Ϫࢯ՛…….1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 3õו 	࣏ࡢ96-97

1650û	

1650ʕ 6ϐ 21Υ	

lڌרڑªޘ࣐׳ࡆٺϑ5࣒ス500-١ࢯϪࢯ՛-45Ϫўࢯ՛Ż 300ϪԒ՛…….
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ143

																																																								
178	 ԺтЉݦΔ࣐ś܋ҖўSʎʂԵԶֶ׵. 	
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1651û	

1651ʕ 4ϐ 7Υ	

N.	Verburch…ؗS.	Keerdekoe՘·پ࣐ӏ1651࣐ʕ4ϐ7Υ࣐VOC	1183࣐fol.583-589.	

ʫ݋Ʒí߷ƼٿǱࣄɶ࣎ЁƲ`ǵɧ٭Sʎ࣏ÿݵ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ
	 [...]	 	

In	the	coming	leasing-out	of	Formosan	villages,	which	will	take	place	on	the	17th	of	this	month,	we	

will	bring	the	villages	of	Tarrissan	and	Sasaulij	under	the	lease	of	Lamcan	and	see	what	these	

together	will	yield.	Time	will	tell	if	the	Chinese	who	are	prepared	to	lease	Baritsoen	together	with	

the	Coulon	Mountains	will	show	up.	Should	they	request	this,	it	would	not	be	unusual,	even	

though	you	do	not	concur,	if	we	allowed	this	as	a	test,	because	we	think	that	through	regular	

visits	by	the	leaseholders	the	road	to	friendship	with	these	inhabitants	can	be	smoothed	

somewhat.	We	will	let	you	know	what	we	have	decided	at	the	proper	time.	As	the	Interpreter	

Lucas	Kilas	is	no	longer	prepared	to	serve	the	Honourable	Company	for	his	old	pay	and	board	

wages,	you	are	permitted	to	employ	the	elder	Gravello,	in	his	place,	enjoying	the	same	salary	as	

was	awarded	Kilas.	[...]	࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	pp.	365-366.࣏	

1651ʕ 5ϐ 30-31Υ	

ˇSڑҺڌר�ͽČYʌƎĦȫ Simon	KeerdekoeˇҖўȷªS·࣐b܉êȴܷߡ࣐
ӊٳ-࣏parsingh࣎ÖՐՌ࣐࣏sieckte	landt	ordinarie࣎ƶՍࡷŌࠜȋƦ߸҈۲ߟ
Ш՘޾ǧñՆ`ʂϑˁǬ�Եoٽ�࣐ח࣏coortsen	heete࣎ӭ࢛Օ-ࣉbuyckloop࣎
Ս࣐ԢƷˏࡦƷՍࠬѵՓ.ˇҖўʎ޾��Ôˎ՘ґ、ª՘ڌרڑ޾イϑ 18»Һ
Żࢸۺ՛-100ϪԒ՛-4ࢯ280スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕-300Ϫ࣒ϑYĆԃžޘ࣐� 1スࢯ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.……ٲ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ217

1651ʕ 7ϐ 18-19Υ	

ߌ࣐׳ࡆҖўŻٺªڑ3 1100スֈ֕-964Ϫࢯ՛-33ӽϙϧŻ-12ま1࣎.……ײӪ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ231
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1651ʕ 7ϐ 31Υ	

S.	Keerdekoe…ؗN.	Verburch՘·࣐Җў1651࣐ʕ7ϐ19Υ.VOC	1183࣐fol.	787-808.	

Һ�՘ڌרƷҖўѲѷɬԸࢮ-ʇחωϑnʰĚ՘Ǝžͽࢯݱ՛࣐ԅĉεࢮɎŇ¢ќϑؕǱ

՘nʰĚڮٽ�࣐۞�ӜѻݣČࢯ՛࣐eđٿŇ¢ќ؂ȭȅ՘ࢯ՛¬̂l؂ߐo.ŗǫҖў

ϑܡǬ߂א՘̕ɞ2ޮ࣎ʕđ̖ʫ࣏сƷZΛٰӵ࣐ʂ؛Z٪Ǯ¸̎܀ε֯§ò�Ը޼.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]Because	when	a	certain	Kimaurij	man	in	our	own	Basayos	settlement	there	[in	Sinagangh]	

became	drunk	and	fell	into	an	argument	and	fight	with	two	Cavalangh	men,	there	instantly	arose	

such	a	disturbance	and	so	many	people	gathered,	loudly	yelling	and	clamouring,	that	it	was	

incredible.	Upon	hearing	this	row,	Jan	Pleumen,	interpreter	in	Kimaurij,	and	a	soldier,	carrying	

their	muskets,	together	with	the	elders	of	this	village	([the	first	two]	having	been	sent	to	

Cavalangh	in	accordance	with	the	annual	custom	to	record	all	elders,	houses,	and	inhabitants)	

walked	over,	intending	to	hush	the	matter,	but	they	were	treated	very	badly,	whereupon	he,	the	

interpreter,	went	to	the	boats	and	Soldier	Roel	of	Claerschieve	with	the	afore-mentioned	elders	to	

their	[temporary]	place	of	residence.	However,	after	they	had	only	just	got	home,	at	least	380	

men	appeared	in	front	of	the	house,	loudly	ranting	and	raving	with	drawn	choppers,	arrows	and	

their	bows	already	bent,	and	joining	in	the	yelling	of	one	of	them	to	pounce	on	the	Dutchmen	and	

Theodore	(cabessa	of	Kimaurij)	and	to	kill	them.	In	the	meantime,	during	this	meeting	(which	was	

inevitably	accompanied	by	an	uproar),	the	interpreter	was	coming	back	in	the	direction	of	this	

raving	and	shouting	with	his	musket	in	his	hand,	but	seeing	that	it	took	place	in	front	of	the	house	

of	the	Kimaurij	Captain	Theodore,	he	strutted	on	in	a	good	defensive	stance,	because	he	realized	

what	was	going	on.	Immediately	after	the	Cavalangh	men	saw	him,	several	of	them	came	walking	

toward	him	with	arms	drawn,	upon	which	he	got	ready	aiming	his	musket	at	them,	and	he	hit	one	

of	them	right	through	his	body	so	that	he	dropped	down	dead,	while	another	was	seriously	

injured	in	his	arm.	Then	there	came	an	inhabitant,	who	raised	his	chopper	and	cut	the	interpreter	

to	pieces,	first	the	lower	part	of	his	body,	then	his	arms	close	to	his	shoulders	and	after	that	

chopping	off	the	head	of	the	dead	body,	that	was	quartered	and	divided	under	their	ringleaders.	

This	having	been	done,	these	fellows	retreated	hastily	to	the	house	of	the	afore-mentioned	

Theodore,	claiming	Roel	of	Claerschieve	as	well,	because	they	wanted	him	to	suffer	the	same	fate	

as	they	had	meted	out	to	Jan	Pleumen,	and	should	they	not	immediately	produce	him,	the	

leaders	of	Kimaurij	would	also	be	attacked,	but	because	this	Claerschieve	had	been	hidden	thanks	

to	the	care	of	the	Captain	Theodore	and	Fiscal	Barnabe,	their	demand	was	turned	down.	There	

upon	these	scoundrels	decided	to	rob	all	the	Kimaurij	people,	no	one	excepted,	of	their	money	

and	goods,	yea,	until	they	were	completely	naked,	which	indeed	was	carried	out,	because	not	

only	the	insignificant	people,	but	even	Theodore	himself	was	robbed	of	his	hat	(received	as	a	

present	from	Your	Honour	last	year)	as	well	as	his	clothes.	And	so	they	appeared	desolate,	crying	
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and	whining	loudly	in	Quelang	at	Noort	Hollant,	by	which	the	Honourable	Company	also	[lost]	

550	heavy	real	and	65	cangans	put	out	on	trust	as	customary	for	the	supply	of	elk	skins,	under	

the	responsibility	of	Cabessa	Theodore,	which	was	distributed	by	him	among	the	Cavalangh	

people	for	the	said	purpose.	If	no	restitution	is	made	within	a	short	time	we	will	leave	it	at	that.	

These	are	the	remunerations	that	the	Kimaurij	nation	have	obtained	for	their	efforts	this	year,	for	

themselves	as	well	as	for	the	Company,	from	Cavalangh!	What	profits	the	Honourable	Company	

will	make	this	season	(in	case	no	change	occurs)	and	the	following	seasons,	should	there	be	more	

delay,	just	making	the	annual	threats,	but	not	following	up	words	with	essential	action	

demonstrating	the	Company's	might	to	these	rebels,	can	at	this	time	be	better	judged	by	Your	

Honour	than	by	us.	The	afore-mentioned	Kimaurij	people	have	pointed	out	to	us	(in	order	to	

bring	peace	to	the	Cavalangh	regions	once	and	for	all)	what	means	the	Honourable	Company	

should	employ	to	that	end,	namely	that	we	should	show	up	therewith	junks	carrying	no	less	than	

two	hundred	well-trained	military	personnel,	land	and	with	all	speed	pursue	the	people	of	

Sinagangh	fire	and	sword,	and	ruin	them.	After	accomplishing	this	target	the	appointed	leader	or	

commander	should	before	his	departure	build	a	stronghold	on	the	small	Basayos	island	(situated	

in	a	fresh	water	river),	where	for	a	whole	year	men	should	be	stationed	to	go	on	patrol	(of	course	

having	beforehand	been	provided	with	bacon,	meat	and	rice).	This	all	the	more	because	

Theodore	and	Barnabe	(being	real	supporters	of	the	Honourable	Company)	plainly	declare	that	

the	people	of	Tarrabouan	(situated	near	the	gold-mine)	and	many	other	villages	in	that	case,	if	we	

were	prepared	to	pursue	the	Tarriber	and	his	ally	with	about	two	hundred	men,	would	be	found	

very	helpful	in	turning	them	back	and	keeping	them	away	from	the	difficult	mountains,	However,	

because	Your	Honour	is	better	acquainted	than	we	are	with	the	difficulties	Your	Honour's	

predecessors	have	experienced	in	undertaking	such	an	expedition,	we	cannot	state	this	as	the	

truth.	Although	these	places	because	of	the	swamps	would	be	extremely	difficult	to	march	

through,	the	climate	is	very	unhealthy	as	well,	and	we	are	still	not	immune	from	its	infections,	but	

daily	see	enough	examples	there	of,	yet	not	with	standing	the	plagues	of	this	land,	it	is	high	time,	

my	Lordships,	(of	course	deferring	to	Your	Honour's	far-sighted	judgement)	that	You	in	order	to	

bring	peace	once	and	for	all	among	the	inhabitants	of	that	region	undertake	some	action	or	other.	

Because	My	Lordships	can	be	certain	that	if	this	unruliness	of	the	Tarriber	(who	is	identified	in	the	

Landdag	records	to	be	a	pacified	cabessa	of	Sinagangh	and	in	the	meantime	has	given	free	rein	to	

his	nasty	tricks	for	at	least	three	years)	is	not	stopped,	then	an	internal	war	will	break	out	and	

they	will	pay	each	other	daily	visits	accompanied	by	looting,	burning	and	hunting	heads	with	the	

consequence	that	they,	if	assistance	is	not	forth	coming,	they	will	be	forced	to	turn	away	from	the	

Honourable	Company.	Also	the	said	cabessas	of	Kimaurij	of	their	own	accord	and	in	name	of	

other	disgruntled	inhabitants	of	their	village	have	urgently	requested	us	for	permission	to	resume	

trade	with	Cavalangh,	in	the	hope	that,	the	anger	the	latter	are	harbouring	against	the	Kimaurij	

people	and	the	Company	will	having	evaporated	somewhat	or	completely,	they	might	all	the	
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more	easily	get	[delivery]	not	only	of	what	they	themselves	want,	but	also	for	what	the	

Honourable	Company	has	put	out	for	the	supply	of	skins.	We	have	granted	them	this	request,	as	

can	be	seen	in	the	resolution	of	the	12th	of	this	month.	How	and	in	what	way	Theodore	and	his	

men	will	arrive	and	be	welcomed	there	and	if	the	money	and	cangans	belonging	to	the	

Honourable	Company	will	be	handed	back,	or	at	least	the	same	value	in	skins,	we	will	let	Your	

Honour	know	by	land,	as	soon	as	possible,	after	we	receive	word	from	the	Cavalangh	Bay.	In	the	

meantime	we	will	keep	the	Kimaurij	man	who	in	his	drunkenness	has	caused	much	trouble	by	

punching	and	hitting	the	Cavalangh	men	(as	mentioned	before),	and	who	actually	was	the	main	

cause	of	the	death	of	the	innocent	Jan	Pleumen,	in	strict	custody	until	further	notice	from	Your	

Honour.	

Since	the	arrival	of	the	pilot	boat,	on	the	last	day	of	April,	not	a	single	skin	has	been	offered	here	

for	sale	to	the	Honourable	Company.	And	the	longer	the	junks	are	lying	here,	we	can	have	little	

hope	there	of,	because	the	Chinese	who	have	arrived	here	have	put	so	much	salt,	cloth	and	other	

merchandise,	on	the	market	that	the	inhabitants	living	along	the	rivers	and	a	bit	more	inland	have	

recently	received	all	sorts	of	commodities	to	their	satisfaction,	in	particular	salt,	of	which	they	

were	very	much	in	need,	in	exchange	for	skins.	The	people	living	along	the	Pinerouan	River	have	

entered	into	an	agreement	with	the	Honourable	Company,	stating	that	they	would	supply	for	a	

pees	of	the	fine	cangans	available	here	twelve	elk	skins,	24	male	goat	skins,	48	hind	skins	and	

serow	skins,	but	up	to	now	nothing	has	happened,	making	it	very	obvious	that	they	were	more	in	

need	of	salt	than	lijwaeten.	Well,	what	will	happen	after	this	and	after	the	departure	of	the	

remaining	junks,	time	will	tell.࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	pp.	389-392.࣏	

1654û 3-6ť	

1654ʕ 3ϐ 6Υ	

ȷ·IҖўؗƎĦȫ Thomas	van	Yperen࣐b܉êȴӘ࣐…ࠢΝߟߡ՘ƸΜϏࡃ࣐݋Ƭ
Ň¢ќԵՍْϚ٪Ȇϗ࣐۲ځ�lˏٓࡦˎƸĬĢ�½Ħ׎ࡦգƸΜϏܖ̖݋ȭ՘ن

ĦŻǺԘ.Ѯϑˏٹ̠܉ζ՘͉ܟÓߎ Sicke	Sickesz4؈Әсʮ͉ܟÓ࣐ߎƬӘś٪
ɉªϏ҇S ԂʋIߡ࣐܂ߡζ�ɕś� Sicke͊őِܪ.Ȇϑ¥࣐̌܉ࡍ½ɉգĚ
̠�½՘šִࡍԸžԸɐߌڌIؗ�½.	
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ズ̌½͊Č՘ґ、࣐ƷҖўࠧޮϑSʞɧ࣐Marenasberg179܂ߡ՘ɛќҘ·ߡɧ܂ϑ

Ⱥ՘ЮЩݔ
++

ԸŁśݤ՘ۑˋ՘ɛќ܂ߡؗ܉Ř࣐࣏camperboomen࣎++ŻЧЩ࣏eyken࣎
ԕˆǱ̛՘ЮЩŻЧЩ.޾qܹϳҟИ�˃ˏࡦɉ֏ȿ՘《ʹÙ○ވ࠴؛Ǔsƫª.

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ290
C.	Caesar…ؗT.	van	Yperen՘·پ࣐ӏ1654࣐ʕ3ϐ5Υ.VOC1207࣐fol.	558-559.	

§DZ࣐Marinos-bergh࣎ռҖўࠧޮϑʞř§Marinos՘ɧˆ࣐ӏΜ࡚͊Č《Ǔپ

Marenasberg࣐ŁŜ.Ƴɧ࣐࣏ՆƸɛќթ·ߡɧ܂ϑܡǬЮЩٿò�Щϙ࣐śޛ�ΰŐˆ

Ǳ̛ś§ӘЏУ՘ϙϟ.پӏ࠙ȫ̹֛ҖўƸΜȫƂܹϳȆ¥ࡂԸҺ�-ڮ۞�-̎εŇ

¢ќªւ�ϙϟ.�ώǱ՘ࠦ֘ε࣐Ň¢ќɉߡʞɧ܍Ә٘Ƹ޾࣐ś٪Ϗࠦ֘ǫ�ˇۡܭ

Őˆϙϟ.̂ܩ؎ܮܭƏŇ¢ќεkࡲ˲΄ħ࣐̎εݏҺ�̎ڮ۞�ªւЩ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	As	we	were	informed,	many	fine	oaks	and	other	kinds	of	trees	are	growing	near	Tamsuy,	on	

Mount	Marinats.	A	good	quantity	of	beams	could	easily	be	obtained	from	there.	We	order	you	to	

investigate	if	this	is	true	or	not,	and	how	this	timber	can	best	be	laid	hands	on,	be	it	by	Chinese,	

Dutchmen	or	inhabitants,	provided	you	will	give	them	a	proper	reward.	But	our	foremost	

objection	is	that	to	the	inhabitants	it	is	a	place	of	superstition,	so	we	fear	they	will	not	be	too	

happy	about	us	fetching	a	few	beams	from	there.	You	will	try	to	make	inquiries	among	the	

inhabitants,	to	find	out	if	they	themselves	want	to	deliver	the	timber	to	the	fortress	(as	said	

before),	or	that	we	can	have	it	be	chopped,	either	by	Dutchmen	or	by	Chinese.	We	order	you,	as	

before,	to	inform	us	about	this	matter	as	soon	as	possible,	by	a	letter	sent	over	land	from	village	

to	village,	so	that	we	can	act	accordingly.	[...]	࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	pp.	479-480.࣏	

1654ʕ 3ϐ 22Υ	

ƎĦȫThomas	van	IperenҖўª·ؾ࣐ϗӘ2ϐ28Υ-3ϐ7ΥŻ17Υ࣐b܉êȴȆ
Y࣒ҖўƸ1ōòࠧޮ՘ՌՍŻъxٺ࣐ˇ�Xиª·࣎ŁIʕ12ϐ29Υ՘ª·࣏�
˃ėәǜĜ࣐ƷѰí߷࣎Tapare࣏Ƹ1࣎܂ˁ࡙ޮҖў࣏ɕʂϑï2»�ˁś˼Ƹъ
Io…….……޾ޅɇ·SݺȷªҖўŻ׳ࡆSڊ˜՘ࡍѢҟƘ࣐́ăƸܼѢÙ○޷I
ƃ࠱ょԸS»fř܉ϏࠢΝ݋ܧ՘ߟߡ½̌ܣg.lsعʏࡘ؛ƬӘ�½ʂ࣐½�ؗ

࣐ܕԡԀ՘ŻՆƸ՘ܳ܈ي�ˁө࣐݋q8՘Ѫ޿ȳ7Ն࡬�Җў՘Һ¢࣏Tancke࣎
180ɎîşࡘʏӪˎ࣐�đlスۻ�࣐ ٞ޾ߍ�ƎĦȫCeerdekoeç࣐ٞƬْݎˆˁ

																																																								
179	 	 Marenasberg࣐Ł࣒Marena ՘ɧ.Marena ̂°ՆƸ�՘࣐ܳܕś٪ϑ֠٘e˲.1ࡠ¨هǱŜ.

ŕƸƴِ߶2p.43ܖِ࣐тɧŁ�Ŝ.ƳɧSʎ՘ɧ٭. 	
180	 ԺтЉś܋ҖўƸ1܈ԡԀ࣐ܳzӘ߸܉՘yܳ࠺. 	
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295ו3õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ўǓ߮ەࢺ�Sؗܡú_࣐p�̛ú݋Ѫ޾Ɏܼ࣐́׆

	࣏ࡢ
T.	van	Yperen…ؗC.	Caesar՘·࣐Җў1654࣐ʕ2ϐ28࣐�VOC	1207࣐fol.	590-591࣐	 1654ʕ3

ϐ17�,࣐VOC	1207593࣐.	

1654ʕ 4ϐ 7Υ	

Һ�eШ՘ΜʮƷޅڌʂ՘ٺ�Ը˲ࡲ�࣐VermeerԸϊ࡚ܼѢܷ	Ժʆќ181Nicolaasٺ
ҖўŻ׳ࡆyΰ࣐ƬӘ�Zˆ׵ߌI܂ߡyΰ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 3õו 	࣏ࡢ312

Resolution.	Tayouan,	7	April	1654.VOC	1207,	fol.	663-664.	

ࠢΝҖў׳ࡆΜ࡚ܼѢ޷Ԣߍ߻I՘qپ࣐ӏƎࢆѪ޷݋ 30	last՘ֶߍ׵I࣐ƬӘ�½ռ

.߻ª͓Ԣ׵ݬ�΃ś࣐ࠅ×Čƪ̎t߷ӻ՘ݬ�ś׵՘ۺS࣐׵عҖўΜ࡚թՆ׳ࡆߎ

ӏ࠙ȫپ CaesarΝ 4ϐ 18Υ…ؗҖўYʌƎĦȫ van	Iperen՘·̹ÿ࣐ϼúݬÿ 10Č 12	

last՘ֶࡧ�࣐׵ϗSス࣎picol࣏՘׵śݬČƪČt߷ӻ՘×ڠ࣒̻࣎.ࠅ�ѕス 5߷ӻݬ

ÿ 12	last՘ֶ࣐׵śˆԢ߻ 1500߷ӻ.࣏	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	And	because	Tamsuy	and	Quelang,	apart	from	other	commodities,	requested	the	sum	of	six	

thousand	real	in	cash,	which	request	we	can	by	no	means	accede	to	as	we	are	ill	provided	with	

cash	ourselves	in	this	place,	we	shall,	nonetheless	and	as	far	as	we	possibly	can,	remedy	this	

shortage	in	another	way,	and	ship	thirty	heavy	last	of	rice	thither.	Being	this	kind	of	grain	equal	to	

the	request	submitted	by	them,	since	rice	in	that	region	(so	we	have	understood)	can	be	sold	for	

about	four	or	five	real	a	bag	and	in	this	way	provide	some	of	the	required	cash.Likewise	we	will	

send	them	a	thousand	wallets	of	Chinese	tobacco,	instead	of	the	requested	eight	hundred.࣎The	

Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	p.	506.࣏	

VOC	1207665-664࣐.	

1654ʕ 4ϐ 19Υ	

C.	Caesar…ؗ T.	van	Yperen՘·پ࣐ӏ1654࣐ʕ 4ϐ 18Υ.VOC	1207࣐fol.	560-566.	

ϑࠢ׵՘ݬݣ�ōԃݦ¬̂.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

																																																								
Җپ.Ʒ࣐śܡϏ՘݋ܧӏپˆ�Ʒтʕđ˃ԕ࣐�ʆќ۞ڮe:پΰ՘¢Ʒݥ�q֨ˇ࣐؂ܓîşٿ̹	181

ў-ٿ׳ࡆWݘ-Ȯ۞ۜӄSʎˇqݥΰ.	
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[...]	The	greater	part	of	the	thirty	last	of	rice	you	requested	will	be	sent	to	you.	As	we	have	been	

informed,	the	inhabitants	of	Quelang	are	badly	in	need	of	rice,	for	which	they	are	willing	to	pay	

cash	at	four	or	five	real	a	picul.	If	this	is	true,	you	may	sell	ten	or	twelve	last	of	that	grain,	

provided	you	inform	us	about	this	as	soon	as	possible,	so	that	we	do	not	fail	to	send	you	more.	

We	have	supplied	you	with	plenty	of	cangans,	tobacco,	iron,	iron	pans	and	crude	pottery,	hoping	

you	will	be	able	to	sell	a	part	of	the	said	goods	for	cash,	and	we	can	trust	that,	although	we	could	

not	send	you	any	cash	this	time,	you	can	manage	until	further	orders.	We	would	like	to	hear	

about	this	in	your	next	letter.	[...]	࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	p.	510.࣏	

1654ʕ 4ϐ 23Υ	

ԺʆќٺɥΝڑ1 Nicolaas	Vermeer՘ڌרˇтƸډʾ࣐׳ࡆ�Ǻ࠙ȫࠞYŻ݋ܧϏ
՘ܡś࣐ʎࡪ�՘ȊȘŻȳɥ܉I܂ߡyΰڌ࣐Xイϑ 	࣒ϑޘ࣐�«18

150ス50-ࢮス࣎׻ࢹbruyne	suycker10-࣏ス׻ў࣎suyckerwater1822-࣏ス
ΥϜӠ࣎ࢲۺ50-ڪtarwe400-࣏,`ưӠ20-ڪԲӭ߭-150ԲW߭1࣎Ӫ
וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ319

VOC	1207665-664࣐.	

1654ʕ 4ϐ 30Υ	

�ưƎ`ܡú࣐……࣐݋ϏѪ݋ܧ PauԸSڌרڑƷҖўŻ̻׳ࡆӢ޿ʏ՘Μʮy
ΰ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 3õו 	࣏ࡢ322

1654ʕ 5ϐ 2Υ	

ƎĦȫ Thomas	van	YperenˇҖўª·ؾ࣐ϗ 4ϐ 13ΥŻ 19Υ࣐εԺì»Ň¢ќˇ
ߍ؛`޼࣐ªтƸ՘޷ވ࠴ 12ǲ.……ƷMarenasberchւoʘϻЩ࣐�ՕԢߡvϙ
՘ߟߡ࣐Ը.�½lܼѢٓ࡞ШǍߡȷªтƸ՘Шž܂ߡˇlȨëZÖ࣐ԸߔˁZ࡬

																																																								
࣐ê.̢Ʒ֕ɧɾŞ-هɑࢴΐԘܷ3࣐ǫ߭߂ۂ-ߵś࠮ў׻࣐Sijrop	/	Siroop࣒§Ō࣐࣏suyckerwater࣎ў׻	182

іѝࢿܔ࣐࢞ۂί〉࣐݀Ճʏ׻�ў҂ղ4-3ɽޥ�ֈі׻ࡿ࡭࣐ў࣓_�Ҏ࣐4࢚śռ׻ўŌٿょֈ̗ɽКϑࠢ.	
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�S߷ӻӘ࣐Μʮמܗӏ՘پl٪Ըؗ߬ࡼ׽ 51stuyvers࣐מܗŐ� 48	stuyversܗ
183.מ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ326
T.	van	Yperen…ؗC.	Caesar՘·࣐Җў1654࣐ʕ4ϐ13Υ.VOC	1207࣐fol.	594-595.	

ҖўƸΜȫƂ̋ěܷϓŇ¢ќݏ�½I͉ĥMarinats՘ɧ࣎ŁŜ.Ƴɧ࣐࣏_҇oʘ Һٿ�

ʘ Basay࣐�Ʒڮ۞ǧñ՘դոYIւЩ.��½ڙotïǲƷ࣐܂ߡń߃SБЮЩ̎ЧЩ

	.ѮϑծČߧ

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

Immediately	upon	receiving	Your	Honour's	order	concerning	Mount	Marinats,	about	fetching	

some	oak	and	other	trees,	we	investigated	the	matter	and	through	straightforward	reasoning	

succeeded	in	convincing	the	indigenous	people	to	allow	us	to	send	some	Basayos	or	Chinese	

there	[to	chop	wood	for	us].	So	that	at	present	we	have	sent	some	Basayos	there,	under	the	

supervision	of	a	sergeant	and	two	or	three	soldiers.	Time	will	tell	what	will	result	from	this,	and	

on	the	first	possible	occasion	we	shall	inform	Your	Honour.	[...]	After	closing	this	letter,	we	spent	

five	or	six	days	on	Mount	Marinats	so	that	we	could	informYour	Honour	properly	about	that	site.	

[...]	We	did	not	discover	a	single	oak	or	camphor	tree,	so	that	we	cannot	bring	Your	Honour	any	

good	news.	[...]࣎	 The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	pp.	506-507.࣏	

1654ʕ 5ϐ 30Υ	

……ˇтƸ޷I܂ߡ՘ƎžŻߧࡼ׽ԉѸړȅƸͽČo࣐«ǫ՘ϑߡvЕȘѴ࣎cokos	
olije࣐࣏ՕԢϑ՘SІŘϑ5	duym184࣐ϑ՘SІŘĒYëߥ՘WĂer࣐ԥԺεX޲

galjootڌƷ޼`͘η̖࣓ٽƬߡ『ĝ՘ǲѝ࣐ѴlҸÿªo࣐ZߡߍϙǘѮϑࠜ࢜.
�½ܱӘ׵࣐Ʒ܉܂ߡ�ѕスƪ-t߷ӻ՘×ϾÿƊεZϏϑ̗ݣ՘࣐Zߍ�½ʉϕ

canganʇ-ࠓŻӠڪś̎ࠅݬ�yΰࢯ՛ْԕˆݔņ՘Ċ՝.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ23וõו

	࣏ࡢ335
T.	van	Yperen…ؗC.	Caesar՘·࣐Җў1654࣐ʕ5ϐ28Υ.VOC	1207࣐fol.	596-599.	

ҖўƸΜȫƂª·̦˝׵ֶ࣐Zś٪�ѕスƪ̎t߷ӻ՘×ࠅª͓Ԣ࣐߻Ň¢ќlZռߎ

ߞ΃࣐ࡈʏƭࡘ߻ª͓Ԣ׵Ը܉�̖࣐Ȣ՘×ÃߺlZϏ࣐࣏֭schuytgelt࣎߿ԸΥϜTࢵ˗

εʉϕپӏƎ޷٪ࢆԢߍ߻I.پ�ӏƎࢆƷ6ϐ19Υ�Ѫ܉݋Җў׳ࡆΜ࡚͎װ׵ֶݬݎ

Ԣ࣐߻ƬӘ�½тζlӜѻ޷Ԣߍ߻I࣐Ř٪ʉϕʄ؞ߏwΜ࡚՘ڌ٪ʎª�½܉ࡍ՘ϥ

	.܈

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

																																																								
183	 сʮ͓࣐מS߷ٖӘ 48	stuyvers࣓�ϥ:w̎ϥw޿ʏʑÃֲ¡࣐΃しϑҖў1՘ƎĦȫʫܹ݋Ό

æ͓eԙ. 	
184	 duym࣐Ł duim࣐Ň˲Ә̪̹̹࣐S̪̹e࣐࠙lɕεSܷ̖ڊ՘3Sť4࣐εŕמܗƘ ܍ࡍ࣐ΐ

.؂r+tîĂڊS࣐ȭْ٭ 	
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[...]	[We]	are	still	badly	in	need	of	cash,	since	we	are	at	our	wit's	end	abouthow	to	pay	the	

subsistence	money	to	the	soldiers	and	the	other	inevitable	expenses.	Therefore,	we	humbly	

request	Your	Honour	to	provide	us,	either	by	land	or	sea,	with	cash.	We	have	great	difficulty	

managing	with	the	schuytgelt,	the	more	so	because	the	inhabitants	do	not	understand	how	to	

weigh	its	value	and	do	not	know	how	to	spend	it,	oncethey	have	receivedit;	that	is	why	we	cannot	

buy	anything	from	them	for	money.	But,	we	will	have	to	make	a	virtue	of	necessity,	knowing	it	has	

nothing	to	do	with	Your	Honour's	good	intentions,	but	with	the	lack	of	means.	[...]	We	had	the	

pottery	and	iron	pans	unloadedfrom	the	junk	right	away,	through	the	efforts	of	the	inhabitants,	

and	(God	be	praised)	everything	came	out	whole.	[...]	࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	pp.	520-

	࣏.521

C.	Caesar…ؗ T.	van	Yperen՘·پ࣐ӏ1654࣐ʕ 5ϐ 3��VOC	1207568-567࣐.	

1654ʕ 6ϐ 19Υ	

ǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.܉ࡍ�ª̂׵՘½�ݬݎѻܠߺÙ½��࣐׳ࡆ-Ϗ…ؗҖў݋ܧ

	࣏ࡢ343ו3õו

VOC	1207677-676࣐.	

1654ʕ 6ϐ 20Υ	

îş֬Ը՘ڌרڑߡˇҖўŻڻޘ׳ࡆӡӕʔȦてߏтƸ……܉§ӘϙϟԸ՘ϙ࣐࡬
�½ޫ�ŘՕԢÖώޮ޷ª՘Шžִߡϙ࡬.Ƭִ޾ϙ࡬ZߔaÈϙϟ̖࣐��½Ψ

ʂÉр7ょ�՘8ɽ§࣐Ըף�լݤԸ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ23וõ࣏ࡢ343ו	
T.	van	Yperen…ؗC.	Caesar՘·࣐Җў1654࣐ʕ6ϐ11�.VOC1207࣐fol.	600-602.	

6ϐ6ΥҖўƸΜՕԵ۩ӓ࣐۩ۭhڻϥߍއߟ:ˇࡷҖўѲࡻª࣐őȲ՘εҖўǏǡ˃Μ

Cackerlack֜՘ֶԹ.ՆƸُ࠙s࣐�۞ڮܣʂ2؛ʕѮծ޾ߍvۭȘo.ҖўՆɚʂ؛�S

ス8߷ӻ՘×ݬࠅÿ13スΥϜ࣐ࠓŗǫŌ�ϗ؂Ɗÿ33スΥϜؗࠓŇ¢ќ࣐Ň¢ќϏƷWČ

ƪ»ϐê�Ԣࢯ̎߻՛ͼ�.6ϐ7Υ࣐ˁǬѰí߷֜՘Basay�̂ſƩҳ߫࠙Terriboe࣐ߝh

WډڌڑhſƩҳ࣐śϕʎƫ߻ࢶ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	The	6th	of	this	month	was	the	first	time	we	saw	the	Egyptian	plague,	being	the	locusts	hat	

came	here,	carried	by	an	easterly	wind,	flying	across	the	river	from	the	south	[...],	and	spreading	
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all	over	the	country.	Behind	the	redoubt	in	the	rice-fields	of	the	village	Cackerlack,	 185they	were	

even	found	in	such	quantities	that	people	who	were	on	their	way	to	us	from	there,	could	not	use	

the	road,	but	had	to	remain	seated	for	quite	a	while,	covering	their	eyes	and	mouths	with	their	

hands,	and	let	the	swarm	pass	by.	The	elderly	people	told	us	that	it	has	been	ten	years	since	these	

animals	[...]	were	last	seen.	[...]	[...]	We	have	already	sold	thirteen	picul	of	Japanese	iron	in	cash	to	

the	inhabitants,	for	eight	real	a	picul.	Whereas,	by	Your	Honour's	leave,	we	also	granted	them	33	

picul	of	this	iron	as	a	mortgage,	on	condition	they	will	pay	the	Company	within	three	or	four	

months,	either	in	deerskins	or	in	cash.	Whereupon,	on	the	7th	of	this	month,	many	Basayos	from	

the	village	Tapparij	sailed	from	here	to	Taraboan	on	three	vessels,	at	the	invitation	of	Terribo,	

headman	of	that	place	who,	last	year,	in	our	presence,	promised	them	true	friendship	and	good	

trade	from	then	on.	Time	will	tell	what	these	good	folks	will	accomplish.	[...]	࣎The	Formosan	

Encounter,	vol.	3,	pp.	521-522.࣏	

1654ʕ 6ϐ 26Υ	

Ѫ࣐݋Ʒîş֬ªݞߌIҖў࣐Ōˇ܂ߡƫªтƸ՘ڌרڑߡX՘Һ࣐�Әoߡˇ܉

ѪȭԺîş࣐׵1,447Ζ՘ߡ՘ڌ܁׳ࡆٿԸْƷҖўࡼ܉ʁٺX޼ډđªтƸ՘܂
	࣏ࡢ345ו3õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.½�ؗ޷ݴ

1654û 7-11ť	

1654ʕ 7ϐ 1Υ	

ƬڂՍࠬʂ¾Ǘۅ߸ࡦ࣐S̖ΚՍ࣐ࠬlˏࡦČۡ¸ʫƬƸ͗ࡏǢ՘ƸΜ.�εϜȝ

Ӝѻϗˀϑ�¥ϙϟϏ޷ªтƸ.ƬтԢƷϙϟˏ࠙࠷ݯ�ࡦThomas	PedelˇҖўࠧ
ޮ՘Marenasberghɧւ�¬̂.1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ23וõࡢ349ו	

ؗC.	Caesar՘Ȏ�ԉ࣐ʄ؞ߏw1643࣐ʕ6ϐ18Υ.VOC	877149-148࣐.	

																																																								
185	 3 the rice-fields of the village Cackerlack4̹࣐ҖўWژSʎʂϑֶԹ. ,	
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1654ʕ 7ϐ 18Υ	

࠙ȫࠞYySɇ׬վ՘·ؗSډ܉ڑʾҖў՘Һ�՘࣐ڌרԸ�ʰ࣐ڌܭ�_§Әȷ

I܂ߡ՘ϊ·޿܂·࣐ռƷ܂ߡ՘ƎĦȫ Van	Yperenܷڌרڑ޾࣐ԕúƷ܁܂ߡ 300
ス͐Ӟߍ՘ֈ࣐֕Zˆ޾ߍݼΎ࣐ߺը͊ˇډ܂ߡʾ`ưѷҏ࣐Әт̻ࡦˏڌܭ࣐Ӣ

�ԸԢмͼ࣐ȭ՘×Ͼ݋ 120߷ӻîş՘ְؗ� Van	Yperen.	
lˇ ͽČڌרڑ1 Van	Yperenˇ܂ߡȷª՘Sɇ·࣐ܷ…࣐Xиîş҇Iݞ޷܂ߡ՘
܁Ʒ`ưѷҏ߸Κڌܭ……܂ߡߏʔȦて؛ʂ࣐˃eࡈd՘ƭ࠙ߍ؛࣐ڌרڑrוߡ
oò�՘԰࣐ύߡ�vにéҏ܂՘԰޷Iߌڌܭ.܂ߡI՘ݞԃϑվ࣐عŘϑ 3І186

Ż׵ 11スڌרڑ޾.ࢮɉΝìWǲêˇ܂ߡÿډđªтƸ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 3õו

	࣏ࡢ361
C.	Caesar…ؗ T.	van	Yperen՘·پ࣐ӏ1654࣐ʕϐΥ.VOC	1207574-573࣐.	

T.	van	Yperen…ؗ C.	Caesar՘·࣐Җў1654࣐ʕ 7ϐ 14Υ.VOC	1207607࣐.	

1654ʕ 9ϐ 28Υ	

ϑ ߡI܉࣐ś݇ܡ՘½̸࣐̌đʾҖўډÿ܉SϑЭϏɕ࣐Éȅ؛ʂڌרҺ�՘ڑ1
y࣐·�ǲ̌½…Sɇ.ʂqãӘт؄ְ½�187࣐ʾ֣ɻډ܂ߡˇը࣐͊ֈ֕ߌ܁܂

ʎI7Җў8ؗƎĦȫڌרڑ޾ Thomas	van	Yperen࣐ź܉��Ù○҇ galjootڌ
Swarte	Vosۤ�ōڌר Zeelandiaۤޘֈ֕188ƫªтƸ1࣎.……࣐Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 3õו

	࣏ࡢ411
C.	Caesar…ؗ T.	van	Yperen՘·پ࣐ӏ1654࣐ʕ 9ϐ 28Υ.VOC	1207583࣐.	

1654ʕ 9ϐ 30Υ	

	van	ͽČƎĦȫThomasڌרڑ޾ˇ.ӡӕʔȦƫČтƸޘZeelandiaۤˇҖўڌר
Yperen…ªìɇ·ؾ࣐ϗӘϜϐ21Ż27Υ.……ƷҖў࣐̌½՘�Ն`ŌϑˁǬ�Ʀ
߸〔ϱӪՍ࣐�Ʒ׳ࡆǱȳߧÊʡӜq.�½ࡧȭΝ10ϐ`�đڑߡ�࣐galjootڌ
SwarteVosۤޘӡӕÿډƫªтƸ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ23וõ࣏ࡢ411ו	

																																																								
186	 3 І࣐׵Ňΐε balen࣎baal࣏՘܅Ύ޿࣐ۺ࣐ʏƷ 60ࣕ80 Ζeࠝ. 	
187	 тЉݦΔ࣐ś݇ή֣ɻٿҖўeࠝ՘ը͊ֈ֕ݥΰ. 	
188	 3ֈ֕4Әӡӕeܵז. 	
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T.van	Yperen…ؗC.	Caesar՘·1654࣐׳ࡆ࣐ʕ9ϐ21Υ.VOC	1207࣐fol.	614-615.	

Җўࡼԃ¬̂eq	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

	 [...]	Both	the	chief	of	Tamsuy	and	the	lieutenant	at	Quelang	enjoy	free	provisions	from	the	

Company's	warehouse	once	a	month,	as	it	has	always	been	the	custom	here,	as	we	discovered	

[upon	our	arrival].	Since	neither	over	here,	nor	in	Tamsuy,	anyone	can	be	found	who	has	the	

opportunity	to	supply	food	and	drink	to	the	hospitals,	or	to	the	officers	and	envoys	in	Company	

service,	who	often	travel	up	and	down	the	river,	this	is	consequently	carried	out	by	both	

commanders,	since	it	is	quite	impossible	for	a	person	to	supply	himself	with	food	on	such	a	hard	

journey.	Besides,	it	is	an	old	custom	to	treat	the	headmen	and	other	villagers,	who	are	many	and	

come	to	our	settlements	one	after	the	other,	every	month,	to	pay	tribute	to	the	Company,	with	a	

little	food,	arrack	and	tobacco.	As	you	know,	the	Company	servants	cannot	afford	this	on	their	

incomes	and	with	their	meagre	purses.	So	that	it	is	necessary	to	have	this	done	at	the	expense	of	

the	Company,	unless	Your	Honour	would	like	to	abolish	this	custom.	[...]	࣎The	Formosan	

Encounter,	vol.	3,	p.	545.࣏	

1654ʕ 10ϐ 10Υ	

࠙ȫࠞYlؗƎĦȫFredrick	SchedelãԵ…Sɇ׬Ā࣐yؗڑ޾galjoot189ڌ՘bןʎ

I࣐܂ߡѮϑԅĉ՘êȴ࣐Ř̠δǲ̖͐ߡvϟΔωܮ؎ƸSSĆ࣐޲ƬтZˏƷт

ΝࠢߏYperenY	�hҖў՘ƎĦȫvan࣐SchedelãԵ̹ÿ«޾lhߍZ.޲·܅߸
galjootڌSwarte	Vosۤ՘ܵࠈź࣐�Ł�Yܭ�galjoot7ڌSwarte	Vosۤ8ΝࡇډҖў
�đࡦˏ࣐Ʒࡦˏڌܭٽ�࣐ˉ¸܂ߡԿƷࢵ޾܂ߡdْ©̌½عgڌڑ޾śԸ࣐̂

࣐ƫтƸޘvʷϙߡɉڌgaljootܭ�ɕ࣐˃190e࣏knies࣎ź��½ƷҖўւ�ʷϙܭ
ƬӘ̌½тƸϑ՘εϙ/࣐ś�ˁ○¸ȅ1࣎.ڌܭӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ23וõ࣏ࡢ416ו	

1654ʕ 11ϐ 15Υ	

7ˇYʌƎĦȫ8WixdorpͽČҖў՘ܝq׮Żʍ࣐׮lͽČSɇƎĦȫThomas	van	
YperenX»ϐ10ϐ23Υ…ΝҖў՘ª·ˆ˥ڮ̲,࣐۞�Żڮ۞�՘ɥќߧ࣐〔ϱ߸
ՍŻ࢛ӭ࠼_࣐Łъx.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ23וõ࣏ࡢ435ו	

Jࠠ:	VOC	1206520-519࣐.	

																																																								
189	 galjoot ߺ߸ޘ࣐ʔʚì̎WЂ࣐ڌ 3ࣕ400 Ƥ՘ڷڽԀǀ࣐ڌӘՆζʏ۲ډČΥϜ՘ִڌ. 	
190 ƷҖўւ�3ʷϙ࣎knies࣐ܵ̂4࣏.knies࣐ε kniehefboom	 ՘࣐…׬Ł3§܄ウЇ4eࡳ՘Щ

ϟ܋_࣐Yܤ. 	
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T.	van	Yperen…ؗC.	Caesar՘·࣐Җў1654࣐ʕ10ϐ23Υ.VOC	1207619-618࣐.	

1654ʕ 11ϐ 16Υ	

Sٺڑ:ɴªтƸ՘Һݵ�ƎeڌרͽČƎĦȫYperenˇҖўȷª·ؾ࣐ϗϜϐ12
Υ࣐êȴܷߡ࣐Sʎ՘ՌՍŻӪՍݽªݽԎԓߡ࣐]ْ࣐vוrиִͨ՘Ň¢ќ࣐ɉ

ΝY»ϐˇ�½՘ֶԹͽĔ�½՘1࣎.׵Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ23וõ࣏ࡢ436ו	
T.	van	Yperen…ؗC.	Caesar՘·࣐Җў1654࣐ʕ11ϐ12Υ.VOC	1207࣐fol.	620-621.	

ҖўՆƸȫƂѪȭƷ12ϐ՘ҳϐeΥ۲ځlanddag࣐јđSʕθS»ϐ࣐ԥԺε׵ֶࠜߜ܉ͽ

ֽ՘ζࠝ޾࣐Ш̖ϑ�しϑ׀JĜ.ڮ۞�ܱӘϜȝ՘ֶ࠙׵ˆˁȅ࣐Ň¢ќɉśƷ2rϐ

ͽֽ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	As	for	the	landdag,	we	intend	to	decide	upon	next	month,	and	we	intend	to	hold	it	at	the	full	

moon.	The	reason	why	we	want	to	organize	it	this	time	one	month	later	than	last	year,	is	because	

almost	all	inhabitants	who	could	do	so	have	sown	rice	again	in	the	autumn.	It	has	pleased	God	

Almighty	to	grant	them	His	blessing,	in	such	a	way	that	the	crops	on	the	fields	are	looking	well,	as	

we	have	seen	for	ourselves,	and	the	inhabitants	think	they	can	harvest	in	December.	[...]	When	

they	visit	us	nowadays,	the	inhabitants	hardly	seem	to	care	about	the	trade	in	cloth,	but	are	only	

concerned	about	satisfying	their	hunger.	This	is	why	it	[...]	is	a	sad	time	indeed;	therefore	we	

would	please	request	Your	Honour	to	[...]	send	us	some	cash,	be	it	Dutch	or	Japanese.	[...]	࣎The	

Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	3,	p.	549.࣏	

1655û	

1655ʕ 3ϐ 26Υ	

T.	van	YperenȷؗC.	Ceasar՘·࣐Җў1655࣐ʕ2ϐ9Υ1655࣐ʕ3ϐ15Υ.VOC	1212࣐fol.381-

387.	

1654ʕʚ�ªʂ؛ooWƪ»ϐmӯ՘.࣐ࡷƷϠُ֜�՘ܝ˾`ˇϚϑтԢ࣐ݕ�ƬӘm

ӯْ࣐§ٔ�ࡈǪȝוSϗֶ§՘ͽֽđλǑ˹Җў.1655ʕ1ϐ25Υ׳ࡆ࣐՘Һ�Իˏa

՘ֈ֕-200スϚߍϑ150ス͐Ӟޘ࣐đʾ`ưߥ.ӏپˇڌרڑSinco̖ϑ՘ì࣏Cabessa࣎

͐Ӟ՘ֈ࣐֕�ōɑΎ՘࣐ײðشo89߷ӻ՘ְ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ
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[...]	On	the	25th	of	January,	two	junks,	owned	by	Sinco	the	Chinese	Cabessa	of	Quelang	sailed	

from	here	to	China	furnished	with	Your	Honour's	pass,	both	carrying	150	picol	of	refined,	and	200	

picol	of	unrefined	sulphur	and	a	small	quantity	of	local	rattan,	on	which	he	paid	89	reals	in	duties.	

Therefore,	this	year	the	earnings	of	this	redoubt	have	been	small,	while	on	the	other	hand	the	

fortification	work	has	been	extensive,	which	with	God's	help	will	improve.	[...]	On	behalf	of	the	

two	inhabitants	who	are	serving	a	long	prison	sentence	here,	we	ask	for	indulgence.	Please	read	

in	the	copy	of	the	book	of	sentences	and	convictions	what	action	we	took	under	civil	law	against	

some	wrong	doers	and	we	hope	this	will	not	displease	Your	Honour.	

For	some	considerable	time	we	have	been	eagerly	awaiting	a	minister	to	examine	the	schools	and	

also	so	that	the	children	of	Christians	(who	are	numerous	here)	may	receive	holy	baptism.	

However,	seeing	that	this	is	not	caused	by	lack	of	good	will	on	Your	Honourable	part	but	only	by	

God's	Providence,	we	will	be	happy	to	exercise	patience.	In	the	meantime,	we	humbly	request	

that	one	may	come	here	in	the	near	future	(if	possible).	What	we	(by	Your	Honour's	leave)	have	

advised	the	Reverend	Kruyff	in	this	respect.	Your	Honour	maybe	pleased	to	learn	from	the	

enclosed	copy.	Two	persons,	called	Thijmon	Bredaand	Zijmonde	Meulenaar,	who	have	been	here	

for	three	years,	have	been	employed	for	the	past	fifteen	months	or	so,	one	as	provisional	

interpreter	and	the	other	as	schoolteacher,	to	our	complete	satisfaction,	however	so	far	without	

having	received	a	rise	in	wages,	and	we	humbly	request	that	it	may	please	Your	Honour	to	grant	

the	interpreter	an	increase	to	25	guilders	a	month	plus	5	reals	board	and	the	schoolteacher	such	

a	raise	as	Your	Honour	deems	appropriate.	They	both	are	good	men	who	in	our	opinion	merit	

these	positions.	Their	term	expires	next	May	or	June.	[...]	Your	Honour	shall	receive	this	[letter]	

through	[the	good	offices	of]	Theodoor	Hermano,	Interpreter,	and	Toebas	Parragou,	Headman	of	

the	village	of	Tapparij,	located	adjacent	to	the	redoubt	here,	who	are	accompanied	by	four	

Kimaurij	people	who	are	travelling	at	their	own	request	in	order	to	speak	to	Your	Honour	

personally.	This	they	were	most	keen	and	eager	to	do	and	therefore	we	have	gladly	granted	them	

their	wish.	They	both	are	nice	fellows	who	acquit	themselves	well	of	the	services	the	Company	

has	imposed	on	them,	and	therefore	we	recommend	that	Your	Honour	take	care	of	the	costs	of	

this	journey.	

Appendix:	[…]	 	

	࣏.4-8	pp.	4,	vol.	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎

1655ʕ 3ϐ 30Υ	

҇ۻ࣐Ăސ©�ԅ࣐�ϏࠞY՘ź݋ܧոōòخw؞ߏӢʄߘɉ࣐Pedel	Thomas࠙࠷
IX޲Җў܉࣐I�Ƚߟߡ࣐ϑ¥ϙΔś¬̂ؗîş.lӘoƎĦȫPieter	Elsevier
�ɕ܂ߡI܉࣏ĦٞןvǄǏ՘bߡߟߡ�Yperenス	van	I͊ύƎĦȫThomas܉�࣎
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՘q�	݋ܧϏ�ǲࠢΝтq՘Ѫȭ࣐lʂϑޗӘóܮ]ْ࢚؎՘Μho.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖ

ǄΥܰ23וõ࣏ࡢ464ו	
J࣒ࠠ	 C.	CaesarؗT.	PedeI՘Ȏ�ԉپ࣐ӏ1655࣐ʕ4ϐ15Υ.VOC	1213440࣐.	

C.	CaesarؗP.	Elsevier՘̹پ࣐�ӏ1655࣐ʕ4ϐ15Υ.VOC	1213439-435࣐.	

1655ʕ 4ϐ 19Υ	

ؗVan	Yperen՘ϊ·࣐Żyؗ�՘ّ�صElsevier՘̹࣐�b܉ȆY࣒	
҇ࡍŘ࣐ШߡÖώޮ̖࣐҇�ǬࢵߡZś҇Ը࣐ªт·޷ވ࠴؛܂ߡˇ܉˃�࣐ãࢋ

Ըì»Ň¢ќŁś܉]ْ࣐ϑ߸܉՘q《し…·޷ª.Zӝ޷࣐·ّɕˏ̝ࡦス޷·

՘ݤԸ.ŌƷ۲ځطصࡦˏߟߡSʕSʝ՘ƸΜϏ࣐݋�ƷƸΜϏ݋`Zˆö޷ݴŇ

¢ќࢵߡǬݴž܉…࣐գߺҠޛîş՘ݚス࣐Ǭ��½Әîş΄ħ……öª՘8ϐ࣐̂
�½՘́Ѣ࣐ɉ҇S ԂʋI܂ߡӘɐȟ҂֥࣐_ɼ܂ߡ܍՘バǌŻȡϺ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖ

ǄΥܰ23וõ࣏ࡢ470ו	
VOC	121440࣐.	

Missive	Governor	Cornelis	Caesar	to	Merchant	Thomas	van	Iperen.Tayouan,	19	April	1655.VOC	

1213,	fol.354-362.	

ŻҖў׳ࡆܷ½�࣐Granvellol͐¬ࠢΝϙϟ՘《Ǔٿ�Żٍ݊ƂTheodore࡬՘֜߷,߻

ϑˁǬАϩ࣐�εܡǬ_ZٓԸ࣐lZߔa̷ªՆʫϟ.܂ߡ�ϑЧЩ࣐Řڮ܉۞�٪ÿ

Ż܈ԡԀ�SШ՘×࣐ࠅzŁ࠙ʝ5Ơ؂9࣎îɗ࣏՘ϙϟ10߷ӻ4࣐Ơ՘8߷ӻ3࣐Ơ՘6߷

ӻ࣐�т͌ࡳ.�½lܷԸªޝ߂ȘŻօϭ՘ϙϧzśǱߺ¬̂.ࠢΝ�ϙeq࣐ɉȎ�

ࢯΜ࡚ɉࢆӏƎپ࣐՛ࢯΝࠢ.ࢆӏƎپɉؔϫʎƫ_࣐Sʎ͉ϳ׳ࡆPedelIҖў࠙࠷

՛-ɧف՛-ўࢯ՛חƎž՘ݥΰͽӘîşǣΛ࣐֡р̖ϑݥ֨ݸΰݠ_࣐�Җў׳ࡆΜ

࡚ȫƂ܉�؎ܹϳ¥ִƎžś�Ʒپӏ.ߥԕĊ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

Your	letters	of	February	9th	ultimo	have	reached	us	in	good	order	via	the	Interpreter	Theodoor	

and	the	Elder	Granvello	as	well	as	the	Basay	people.	Likewise	your	[appendix]	of	the	15th	of	last	

month.	[...]	Firstly	it	seems	very	odd	to	us	that	you	had	so	many	people	come	here	[seven	in	total	

in	order	to]deliver	a	letter,	as	was	the	case	this	time	with	Theodoor	and	Granvello	on	their	

journey,	while	the	letter	contained	[nothing	of]	importance.	[It	is]	too	expensive	to	provide	for	

these	people	for	such	[a	long	time].	We	[are]	pleased	[...]	that	Junior	Merchant	Pieter	van	Mildert	

has	arrived	safely	up	there.	Also	that	in	that	region	the	weather	was	so	clement	during	last	year's	

northern	monsoon	which	has	not	happened	in	many	years.	We	join	you	in	hoping	that	during	the	

coming	southern	monsoon,	that	is	the	sowing	season,	there	will	be	a	better	crop	of	grain	than	last	

year,	so	that	the	inhabitants	will	bring	in	a	good	harvest	and	will	not	be	afflicted	by	famine,	which	
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the	Good	Lord	may	grant	us,	and	that	the	locusts	may	be	completely	absent.	Down	here	very	few	

are	seen.	[...]	

[...]	Theodoor	and	Granvello,	when	asked	why	the	pit	coal	which	is	mined	has	turned	out	in	such	

small	pieces,	gave	as	explanation,	near	the	coast	nothing	bigger	could	be	mined.	However,	if	the	

Company	wanted	bigger	pieces	they	knew	how	to	order	them	and	would	have	those	mined	

higher	up	in	the	mountains,	on	condition	that	they	would	be	paid	the	same	amount	for	8	buckets	

of	coal	as	was	now	paid	for	9.	This	we	promised	them	would	be	effectuated.	You	will	have	to	carry	

this	out,	but	you	will	have	to	ensure	that	when	the	coal	is	put	in	the	buckets	it	is	stowed	very	

tightly,	because	otherwise	it	could	result	in	great	fluctuations	in	volume	and	quantity.	The	

aforementioned	two	persons	furthermore	state	that	a	fair	number	of	straight	trees	are	growing	

near	Tamsuy,	but	that	the	wood	is	not	durable	and	not	suitable	to	building	houses.	However,	if	

the	Company	desired	camphor	wood	4	or	5	fathom	long,	and	of	proportionate	thickness,	square,	

they	knew	how	to	order	these,	if	we	were	prepared	to	pay	the	people	the	same	as	the	Castilians	

had	done:	for	a	piece	of	timber	5	fathom	10	reals	of	eight;	for	one	of	4	fathom	8	reals	of	eight;	for	

one	of	3	fathom	6	reals	of	eight	and	so	on	in	proportion	to	its	[diameter]	and	length.	Likewise	[...]	

there	was	a	sufficiency	of	planks	for	gun	carriages	and	mounts	and	wheels	available	there.	This	is	

a	good	thing	because	we	are	greatly	in	need	of	these.	So	it	will	be	necessary	to	take	a	sample	and	

therefore	the	Council	of	Formosa	has	decided	to	send	Captain	Thomas	Pedel	accompanied	by	two	

Dutch	carpenters	from	here	to	investigate	whether	such	camphor	trees	and	planks	are	available	

there	or	not	and	also	what	quantity	could	be	obtained	yearly	from	there.	

[...]	Next	August	we	hope	to	dispatch	a	[boat	and	junk]	for	coal,	with	which	you	can	expect	what	

was	ordered	by	you.	See	to	it	that	about	120lasten	of	coal	have	been	mined	and	are	stockpiled,	so	

that	not	only	we	but	also	Batavia	and	Coromandel	can	be	supplied	with	that	mineral.	For	the	

mining	of	this,	a	consignment	of	sledgehammers,	wedges,	pickaxes	and	shovels	are	sent	to	you	in	

compliance	to	your	request,	so	that	we	can	rely	on	it	with	certainty.	[...]	With	the	boat	and	the	

junks	with	which	we	are	now	sending	you	these	requisites	as	mentioned	earlier,	you	will	allow	to	

return	with	all	possible	expediency	the	Merchant	Thomas	van	Iperen	and	his	family	and	all	the	

hides	and	skins	which	you	have	in	stock;	as	well	as	much	of	the	pit	coal	as	can	be	shipped	in	those	

vessels,	however	the	hides	take	precedence	over	the	coal	so	we	can	send	them	to	Japan.	[...]	

	࣏p.29-33	vol.4	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎
Instruction	from	Governor	Cornelis	Caesar	for	Merchant	Pieter	Elsevier,	departing	as	man-in-

charge	of	the	northern	forts	in	Tamsuy	and	Quelang,	to	replace	Merchant	Thomas	van	

Iperen.Tayouan,15	April	1655.VOC	1213,	fol.435-439࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐	

[...]	Your	Honour	should	pay	close	attention	to	whatever	can	be	sold	to	the	inhabitants	over	there	

to	the	benefit	of	the	Company,	what	fabrics	and	commodities	will	yield	most	profit,	and	in	

particular	you	will	see	to	it	that	no	one,	whoever	he	may	be,	will	privately	buy	deer,	goat	or	elk	

skin	and	ship	these	out	because	the	Honourable	Company	reserves	an	exclusive	right	to	that	

trade	and	Their	Honours	in	Batavia	want	offenders	to	be	punished	as	severely	as	those	who	have	
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committed	offences	in	the	spice	trade.	No	effort	will	be	spared	by	Your	Honour	to	win	over	the	

inhabitants	of	the	neighbouring	villages	and	capture	their	hearts	so	that	they	may	keep	on	...	not	

forced	but	voluntary	obedience.	The	convening	of	annual	Landdagen	at	the	usual	and	[fixed]	

dates	is	one	of	the	appropriate	means	to	serve	this	purpose	as	is	the	hospitable	welcoming	and	

treatment	of	the	captains	who	may	appear	by	Your	Honour.	So	to	this	you	will	have	to	pay	strict	

attention.	[...]	

We	have	been	informed	by	the	inhabitants	Theodoor	and	Granvello	that	a	good	number	of	

straight	trees	are	growing	around	Tamsuy,	although	their	wood	is	not	durable	and	is	unsuitable	

for	building;	also	that	camphorwood	is	to	be	found	there,	4	or	5	fathom	in	length,	and	of	

proportionate	thickness.	They	knew	how	to	go	about	ordering	it,	provided	that	we	would	pay	the	

same	for	it	as	the	Castilians	did	previously,	namely	for	timber	of	5	fathom:	10	reals;	for	timber	of	4	

fathom:	8	reals;	for	timber	of	3	fathom:	6	reals	and	so	on	in	proportion	to	its	thickness	and	length.	

Also	that	planks	for	mountings	and	wheels,	which	are	in	demand	by	the	Honourable	Company	

could	be	obtained	there	in	good	quantity,	and	therefore	a	sample	should	be	taken.	For	that	

purpose,	in	order	to	investigate	this	thoroughly	and	to	find	out	what	quantity	could	be	obtained	

annually.	Captain	Pedel	should	go	there	to	have	a	good	look	and	then	report	to	us.	The	coal	which	

we	have	received	here	so	far	has	been	extremely	small	and	gritty.	Having	inquired	about	the	

reason	for	this,	it	transpires	that	bigger	lumps	cannot	be	extracted	on	the	seashore.	However,	the	

two	persons	aforementioned,	Theodoor	and	Granvello,	have	informed	us	that	they	knew	how	to	

have	a	bigger	kind	brought	from	somewhere	farther	up	the	mountains	and	have	it	supplied	to	the	

Company,	provided	that	the	same	amount	would	be	paid	for	8	buckets	as	so	far	has	been	paid	for	

9	buckets.	To	this	we	have	agreed,	because	we	have	no	use	for	the	small	ones.	Consequently	Your	

Honour	is	recommended	to	have	this	carried	out	and	to	have	a	good	quantity	in	stock	at	the	time	

of	the	next	shipment	to	send	over	here	this	August.	Such	a	quantity	of	coal	and	skins	must	be	

shipped	off	to	us	on	the	homeward	voyage	of	these	two	ships	as	will	just	meet	their	cargo	

capacity.	Whatever	happens,	the	skins	(because	they	have	to	be	shipped	to	Japan)	will	take	

priority	over	the	coal,	[...].	࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	20-21.࣏	

1655ʕ 5ϐ 22Υ	

ҖўѲАϩܹϳ࣒PedelɕԺì»ϙ/Żʘ»Ň¢ќ࠯eIܹϳАϩ.�½ࢋãI Ν
X޲Җўс˃Μ՘Ň߹.ՕԢ܂ߡԵ࠙ڻˁǬΎZգ՘ҵ}՘Щϙ࣐ÖЧЩ࣎camphur࣏-
ϯִϦЩ࣎greyne191-࣏ЮЩ࣎eycke࣏Żò�Щϙ࣐ˁߔaÈʫצԸ՘ϙϟ-ϙУ࣐Դ

																																																								
191	 Greyne	=	grenenhout࣐ԅĉε̹ pinus	sylvestris=Ϧe࣐ࡳс֏fֵ࣐ˀɊȳ̹ÿ.	
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ЩʗƳ࣐ϑˁǬЩ.࣏knies࣎ŻウЇϙ࣏boechsprietenࣈΕЂڐ-࣏masten࣎śÈЂϝټ
v࠙ߏl-2-3Ż4Ơ࣎vademen192.࣏ΎΥ˃طص½�࣐ѷڻфϘӏ࣎Pinnoroang࣏ҫ࣐
SըČߡɧ1࣐IܹϳАϩ.Ʒ܂ߡlՕԢˁҵ}՘Аϩ࣐ś©ϥĿʝˁǬڻf՘А

ϩӘeڕߑ.ԅĉεֵӘɝɗ࣎Catchiew࣏՘ߡʞǱАϩࡇބ࣐SЉǱҫ؂S»уР՘
Ɉֱ࣐ւ�՘Щϙś؛Ժܭҫў࣐ȴΰƸҵéҖўѲ࣐öطصҵ҈Čߡ֋Ǐđ࡚.Ʒ

ЮڻԵ࣐࠙Ը՘Щ.ƷTabutaboyҫ՘ѷɬlϑSʞАϩߔϑ6,000ϻܗ�࣐܂ʞАϩߡ
ЩŻò�ҵ}՘Щ࣐Щʗ࠙50-55ߏČ60t7-8ߏ׸࣐Čl0t࣎voeten࣏.	
ƷMarenatsberchɧࠧޮlϑSʞАϩ࣐ϑšִ՘Щ.ƬтߡΌ»Ƹ1ߧԵ࠙ڻҵ}՘
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[...]	The	Honourable	Commissioner	immediately	departed	for	the	woods	and	wilderness	lying	

around	Tamsuy	to	investigate	what	trees,	such	as	oak,	camphor	and	others	suitable	as	timber,	

could	be	found	there	and	at	what	distance	they	were	located	from	the	water	or	river.	[...]	As	far	as	

the	actual	possessions	of	the	Honourable	Company	both	in	Tamsuy	and	Quelang	are	concerned,	

they	are	of	no	great	value.	As	Your	Honour	can	see	from	the	accompanying	copies,	everything	has	

been	inspected	by	the	representatives	appointed	by	the	Honourable	Commissioner.	The	papers	in	

possession	of	the	factory,	such	as	letters,	resolutions,	dagregisters,	verdicts	and	related	items,	

have	been	handed	to	me	by	Mr	Van	Iperen,	except	the	books	which	could	not	be	handed	to	me	

with	a	satisfactory	balance	sheet,	claiming	that	he	had	no	time	to	balance	them,	but	he	will	be	

taking	them	to	Tayouan	to	balance	them	there	and	will	leave	an	unbalanced	set	at	the	factory	so	

that	I	shall	be	obliged	to	compile	new	ones	from	what	has	been	left.[...]	
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[...]	[As	regards]	the	great	famine	being	suffered	by	the	inhabitants,	caused	by	the	locusts	last	

year	which	have	eaten	everything	so	that	the	poor	bereft	people	are	nearly	starving	to	death	

because	they	have	no	rice	to	fill	their	stomachs,	we	have	requested	and	humbly	begged	the	

Council	that	the	Honourable	Company	in	this	event	of	famine	lend	them	a	helping	hand	because	

they	cannot	expect	any	help	other	than	from	the	Honourable	Company,	[and]	that	they	may	

receive	rice	for	their	money,	because	otherwise	they	will	starve	to	death,	as	can	be	seen	in	more	

detail	by	Your	Honour	in	the	enclosed	request	which	was	presented	in	Council	by	the	people	of	

Kimaurij	and	St	Jago.	Consequently	it	was	unanimously	agreed,	because	on	several	occasions	in	

the	past	they	have	assisted	us	with	rice,	once	again	to	provide	these	villages	with	this	[rice]	as	

much	as	we	can	spare,	now	they	are	completely	destitute	of	this	grain,	so	that	at	the	moment	we	

have	no	more	in	[stock]	than	the	garrisons	need	until	the	end	of	August.	Therefore,	if	another	60	

tons	could	be	spared	from	the	Tayouan	garrison,	we	request	Your	Honour	to	send	it	to	us	as	soon	

as	possible	to	help	these	poor	subjects,	which	they	are	awaiting	eagerly.	[...]	

The	living	quarters	of	the	opperhoofd	in	Tamsuy	are	so	dilapidated	that	they	are	hardly	fit	to	live	

in,	likewise	those	of	the	assistants,	minister,	barber	are	in	such	a	state	that	they	can	hardly	find	

shelter	in	them	and	[the	houses]	are	likely	to	be	knocked	down	in	the	first	strong	wind,	so	that	

the	Company	can	only	expect	plenty	of	expenses	every	year	from	these	dwellings.	Therefore,	in	

my	opinion	(however	subject	to	your	better	judgement),	if	only	a	solid	house	were	to	be	built	

here	for	the	opperhoofd	and	the	attendants,	should	Your	Honours	be	willing	to	take	it	upon	

themselves	to	bear	the	costs,	it	would	need	no	more	looking	after.	Regarding	the	bricks	needed,	if	

a	fluyt	could	be	spared	from	Tayouan,	as	much	stone	could	be	brought	in	two	trips	from	Quelang	

from	the	demolished	fortress,	church	and	monasteries	as	would	be	required	for	this	purpose.	All	

this	I	have	proposed	to	Commissioner	Pedel,	who	has	promised	to	explain	this	to	Their	Honours	

more	extensively	than	has	been	done	here,	because	this	is	necessary	to	the	benefit	of	the	

Company.	[...]	

Furthermore,	because	we	are	living	here	in	great	decrepitude,	indeed	almost	as	if	on	the	soil,	we	

request	Your	Honour	that	we	may	be	allowed	1,000	or	1,500	floor	tiles	for	our	houses,	together	

with	two	Chinese	bricklayers	to	be	employed	in	laying	the	floor	and	plastering	the	house,	because	

here	there	are	neither	Chinese	nor	bricklaying	implements	which	might	be	suitable	for	this.	[...]	

Together	with	this,	Your	Honour	is	being	sent	with	the	boat	and	the	two	junks	the	following	

goods;	a	shipment	of	coal,	as	much	as	they	could	load,	109	bundles	of	sorted	skins,	amounting	to	

the	sum	of	f	347:8:12,	as	is	made	clear	to	Your	Honour	in	more	detail	in	the	invoice.	Regarding	the	

coal,	consisting	of	778	buckets,	as	can	be	checked	per	the	transfer,	these	amount	to	the	sum	of	

183	reals,	f	466:13:	-.	The	rest	will	be	sent	to	Your	Honour	with	the	first	vessel	to	arrive	here.	[...]	

	࣏.56-59	pp.	4,	vol.	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎

VOC	1212394-388࣐.	
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1655ʕ 5ϐ 26Υ	
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	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	We	are	[certainly]	not	displeased	with	the	achievement	of	Captain	Thomas	Pedel	in	finding	

camphor,	oak,	pinewood	and	other	trees	now	that	we	have	been	told	by	the	carpenters	as	well	as	

by	His	Honour	that	a	good	quantity	of	that	wood	could	be	acquired	if	some	effort	was	made,	

namely	camphor	trees	of	25	to	30feet	high,	1 	 to	2	feet	in	circumference,	pine	trees	70	to	80	

feet	high	and	of	proportionate	circumference,	suitable	for	masts	(however,	they	told	us	they	did	

not	[actually]	see	those,	but	instead	planks	of	this	length	and	3	to	4	feet	wide	in	the	villages,	oak	

trees	of	25	to	30	feet	high,	2	feet	in	circumference.	It	would	be	easy	to	fell	these	trees	(to	be	used	

for	kneepieces	in	the	construction	of	houses	or	ships)	in	the	mountains,	however	not	without	

great	difficulty,	and	according	to	what	the	afore-mentioned	captain	says,	the	inhabitants	would	

be	willing	to	help	carry	them	away	once	they	have	been	felled	by	us	or	the	Chinese,	on	condition	

2
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that	every	man	was	paid	eight	stuyvers	per	day.	It	seems	that	the	folk	of	Tamsuy	have	an	excellent	

method	of	getting	the	trees	out	of	the	wood,	in	which	the	rivers	and	streams	are	of	no	small	use	

to	them,	because	they	know	how	to	dam	them	up	with	little	difficulty	so	that,	within	a	short	

period	of	time,	the	water	will	flow	into	the	wood	where	the	trees	are	growing,	from	where	they	

are	able	to	take	the	trees	to	the	main	river	with	ease,	[and]	from	there	with	two	proas	(the	timber	

having	been	split	in	half)	to	Tamsuy.	We	are	surprised	that	the	captain	did	not	inquire	for	what	

price	the	inhabitants	would	be	willing	to	deliver	all	the	timber	or	planks	to	the	Company	at	the	

fort.	He	seems	to	have	overlooked	this,	so	that	you	will	have	to	find	that	out	and	let	us	know	the	

price.	Pedel	is	of	the	opinion	that	it	will	not	be	feasible	to	have	the	inhabitants	chop	the	timber	

down	themselves,	because	the	tools	they	are	using	are	not	suitable	to	cutting	down	such	heavy	

trees	quickly,	nor	to	fell	them	in	large	quantities,	but	[he	thinks]	that	it,	after	having	been	cut	

down	in	the	woods	by	the	Dutch,	they	could	be	delivered	for	a	reasonable	price.	Yea,	furthermore	

he	would	even	personally	vouch	for	the	fact	that	a	timber	of	...	feet	long,	for	which	7 	 or	8	reals	

is	paid	in	Tayouan,	would	cost	no	more	than	a	maximum	of	2 	 to	3[reals]	and	the	rest	of	the	

wood	proportionately,	so	that	it	is	essential	that	further	proof	...	is	collected	by	you	and	where	...	

acquire	some	of	it...	Also	to	find	out	at	what	time	of	the	year	it	is	best	to	cut	them	down,	leaving	

aside	the	fact	that	we	are	used	to	cutting	trees	down	when	they	are	sere	and	the	leaves	are	

falling,	but...	say	this	in	order	to	find	out	when	the	inhabitants	have	the	best	opportunity	to	

deliver	the	wood	without	being	hampered	in	their	sowing	season	and	are	the	most	eager	to	earn	

some	money.	[...]	

[...]	The	coal	which	has	been	sent	this	year	has	been	found	to	comply	with	our	wishes	as	regards	

the	size.	We	recommend	that	you	pay	attention	to	the	size	and	quality	when	sending	this	mineral,	

because	last	year's	shipment	was	unsuitable	and	could	serve	only	as	poor	quality	grit	for	making	

paths,	but	the	smith	was	not	able	to	use	it.	As	has	been	reported	by	Pedel	and	Van	Iperen,	next	

August	...	shiploads	will	be	available	in	Quelang,	which	in	the	current	situation	will	[not]	displease	

Their	Honours	in	Batavia,	and	not	only	Batavia	will	be	provided	with	it,	but	also	Coromandel,	

where	it	is	very	much	needed.	We	are	told	that	the	coal	cannot	be	extracted	without	great	

difficulty,	because	it	is	located	on	a	...	height	on	which	a	crust	or	cover	of	slate	has	accumulated,	

which	has	to	be	hacked	away	first	before	our	coal	can	be	reached	without	danger,	which	the	

Kimaurij	people,	so	they	say,	know	how	to	handle	if	only	they	are	assisted	by	the	Company	with	

the	following	tools,	namely;	200	iron	wedges,	150	sledgehammers,	and	150	iron	pickaxes.	We	are	

determined,	insofar	it	is	within	our	power,	to	have	these	ready	by	next	August,	on	which	you	have	

to	depend,	because	it	is	said	that	in	this	way	the	Company	will	not	lack	coal	for	the	next	ten	years,	

if	only	cargo	space	for	transport	is	provided	which	is	a	good	thing	because	nowadays	not	much	of	

that	mineral	is	being	supplied	to	our	fatherland	from	Scotland,	so	that	it	is	very	expensive	and	the	

cost	is	prohibitive,	while	all	too	little	will	be	sent	to	[the]	I	[ndies]	in	all	probability.	Therefore	we	

continue	to	recommend	you	encourage	the	people	to	dig	coal.	[...]	

2
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[...]	We	have	perused	the	petition	you	made	for	30	lasten	of	rice	by	next	August	as	well	as	the	

request	for	rice	for	the	Kimaurij	people	and	those	of	St	Jago,	which	will	have	our	attention	and,	

for	the	present,	we	decided,	as	Merchant	Concqua	is	intending	to	send	a	junk	from	here	to	

Tamsuy	to	obtain	sulphur,	to	load	it	with	so	much	rice	as	it	can	reasonably	take,	in	order	to	assist	

the	people	of	Kimaurij	and	St	Jago	against	payment,	and	hence	bind	them	even	more	closely	to	

us.	Therefore	200	sacks	of	rice	have	been	shipped	in	this	junk,	which	have	been	weighed	here	by	

Senior	Merchant	Rooswinkel	in	the	presence	of	this	Concqua,	and,	including	straw,	weighed	

16,221	catties	gross,	from	which	has	been	deducted	7	catties	for	the	sacks,	so	that	Your	Honour	

will	receive	with	this	[junk]	14,821	catties.	We	hope	that	you	will	be	able	to	manage	sufficiently	

with	this	until	a	further	shipment.	Also	make	sure	that	you	do	not	sell	too	much	and	have	to	go	

short	yourselves,	which	we	shall	leave	to	your	own	good	judgement	and	deliberation.	This	rice,	as	

already	said,	has	been	shipped	in	the	junk	of	Merchant	Concqua	at	the	buyer's	own	risk,	so	if	the	

junk	is	lost	at	sea,	he	will	not	be	accountable.	However,	if	it	so	happens	that	the	perfidious	

Chinese	should	happen	to	sail	to	China	and	not	bring	her	to	Quelang,	he	will	have	to	pay	for	the	

rice	and	reimburse	us.	For	shipping	the	rice	to	Quelang,	we	have	paid	this	Concqua	50	reals	and	in	

addition	we	have	permitted	him	to	load	so	much	sulphur	as	his	junk	can	take	to	China	in	Tamsuy.	

When	he	has	carried	out	his	promise	you	will	lend	him	a	helping	hand	and	allow	him	to	depart	for	

China	unhindered	without	extra	payment,	For	the	time	being	we	do	not	know	what	else	to	write,	

except	that	once	more	we	recommend	you	to	inquire	about	the	timber	and	to	send	us	the	

outcome	over	land	by	letter	from	village	to	village	as	soon	as	possible.	Take	good	care	in	

everything	you	do	and	be	modest	in	your	demeanour.࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	63-

	࣏.65
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	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	Regarding	the	woods	and	wildernesses	around	the	district	of	Tamsuy,	we	visited	them	shortly	

after	the	departure	from	here	of	Honourable	Commissioner	Pedel	and	closely	examined	what	sort	

of	wood	could	be	got	there	and	at	what	distance	they	were	situated	from	the	river	or	the	

seashore.	For	that	purpose	we	have	also	commissioned	Ensign	Gillis	Bouwens	and	Sergeant	Joost	

van	der	Laeck	joined	by	Catechist	Hendrick	van	Zuylen,	instead	of	Mr	Mildert	(because	he	was	ill	

at	the	time),	as	well	as	the	interpreters	and	the	Basay	who	had	been	there	with	Captain	Pedel,	

and	sent	them	to	investigate	these	wildernesses	and	woods	of	camphor	trees	to	see	what	

advantage	could	be	gained	for	the	Honourable	Company	from	these	and	if	it	would	be	possible,	

after	the	trees	had	been	felled	as	timber,	to	get	them	out	of	there	at	a	low	cost	to	be	transported	

to	a	convenient	spot	from	where	they	could	be	shipped	out.	This	point,	because	it	is	of	great	

importance	to	the	Honourable	Company	(and	because	this	enterprise,	if	it	turns	out	well,	would	

be	of	great	advantage	to	the	Honourable	Company,	whereas	contra	wise,	if	we	had	written	Your	

Honour	about	great	things	and	the	outcome	should	turn	out	to	be	different	from	the	report	we	

had	sent	Your	Honour,	the	result	would	only	heap	your	scorn	on	our	heads),	we	have	impressed	

upon	them,	namely	the	people	mentioned	earlier,	whom	we	had	commissioned,	that	they	would	

investigate	everything	thoroughly,	as	I	also	had	done,	which	indeed	they	did.	Therefore	we	shall	

now	briefly	inform	you	about	the	outcome	and	what	the	situation	is	regarding	those	

wildernesses.	Firstly,	we	will	talk	about	the	forest	situated	more	than	half	an	hour	to	the	east	of	

the	village	of	Sougan	past	Chenaer	and	Cackerlack,	and	about	one	and	a	half	hours	from	the	

beach,	where	I	saw	a	large	number	of	camphor	trees	from	1	to	around	3	fathom	around	the	girth,	

but	those	which	are	thickest	generally	have	the	shortest	trunks,	an	average	of	20	to	30	feet	in	

length,	yet	producing	such	offshoots	or	branches	that	beams	of	1	square	foot	and	20to	30	feet	

long	could	be	got	from	them.	There	can	also	be	found	some	other	trees	very	suitable	as	timber	

and	for	being	made	into	beams	of	one	foot	square.	However,	I	did	not	see	any	pine	or	oak	and	

[these]	could	not	be	pointed	out	to	me	by	the	interpreters	or	the	carpenters.	With	regard	to	

transporting	the	timber	out	of	this	forest,	it	would	have	to	be	hauled	and	carried	by	hosts	of	

people,	which	would	be	a	difficult	task	(even	had	these	trees	already	been	felled	and	the	

branches	lopped	by	us)	for	the	inhabitants	whom	we	intend	to	use	for	this,	because	the	three	
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villages	located	nearest,	Chenaer,	Cackerlack	and	Sougan,	could	not	supply	more	than	sixty	able-

bodied	men,	who	are	by	nature	not	very	industrious	but	lazy	and	slow	anyway,	not	much	different	

from	the	rest	of	the	Formosans	in	this	respect,	for	this	labour	so	that	I	do	not	see	how	this	task	

can	be	accomplished	without	Basay,	Dutch	or	Chinese.	Although	I	am	hoping	that,	I	may	be	

proved	wrong	and	matters	will	turn	out	all	right	for	the	Honourable	Company,	I	am	still	sceptical	

about	this	enterprise	but	(if	Your	Honour	persists	in	carrying	out	this	venture)	time	will	reveal	the	

truth.	However,	it	is	certain	that	if	Your	Honour	might	decide	to	have	four	wooden	carts	made	

with	two	wheels	and	a	shaft,	very	solid	and	iron-clad	as	the	carpenters	in	our	fatherland	are	using	

(to	transport	their	timberwork	from	one	street	to	the	other)	and	would	send	those	to	us,	many	

people	could	be	excused	from	this	labour.	However,	if	eight	yoke	of	oxen	or	bullocks	were	

provided	with	them,	without	a	doubt,	because	it	is	a	fairly	level	road,	this	timber	could	be	easily	

brought	to	the	beach	from	where	it	could	be	loaded	in	the	roadstead	there	onto	boats,	barges	or	

rafts,	whatever	Your	Honour	may	then	decide,	or	be	transported	to	Tamsuy,	This	is	a	description	

of	the	Sougan	forest,	I	cannot	tell	you	anything	more,	but	in	time,	when	someone	who	is	well	

acquainted	with	these	things	is	sent	over	here,	you	will	find	that	what	I	have	written	about	it	

would	be	without	any	error,	word	for	word.	Let	me	continue	with	the	forest	situated	close	to	the	

foot	of	the	Sulphur	Mountain,	there	I	found	various	camphor	trees,	but	not	in	as	large	a	number	

as	in	the	Sougan	forest	and	although	they	are	of	equal	height	and	thickness	as	the	ones	

mentioned	earlier,	I	could	not	find	good,	suitable	timber	there.	And,	even	if	it	were	found	there,	

the	road	would	be	unsuitable	because	of	climbs,	descents	and	brushwood	which	would	have	to	

be	cleared	before	it	would	be	transported	to	a	small	stream,	about	which	you	wrote	about	

blocking	it	off	in	order	to	raise	the	water	level	and	hence	transport	the	timber	to	the	main	river.	In	

my	opinion	this	is	not	necessary	because	the	timber	[will	be	transported]	during	the	northern	

monsoon	when	we	can	expect	most	of	the	rain	here	and	the	river	will	rise	sufficiently	of	itself	as	a	

consequence	of	the	excessive	drainage	without	any	need	of	a	dam,	as	the	people	we	

commissioned	have	reported	that,	with	the	continual	rain	we	still	had	during	the	month	of	June	

(although	exceptional),	the	water	in	the	afore-mentioned	small	stream	had	risen	more	than	the	

height	of	a	man	and	had	even	been	another	3feet	higher,	so	that	we	can	spare	ourselves	the	

trouble.	Leaving	all	this	aside,	I	cannot	refrain	from	adding	that	should	forty	men	come	to	lodge	in	

this	forest	for	a	month,	not	even	ten	of	them	would	return	to	Tamsuy	healthy.	Their	bodies	would	

be	stricken	by	the	cold	and	the	foul	and	pestilential	fumes	which	rise	from	the	nearby	pool	of	

sulphur,	which	will	ensure	a	richly	filled	graveyard	and	a	well-attended,	expensive	hospital	over	

here.	Therefore	I	am	of	the	opinion	that	this	enterprise	will	cost	enormous	trouble	and	effort,	and	

would	require	abundant	money	and	men,	whereas	the	effort	could	easily	be	in	vain,	but	I	shall	

defer	to	better	and	sounder	judgement	on	this	undertaking	and	shall	await	Your	Honour's	

forthcoming	opinion.	Let	us	move	on	to	the	other	side	of	the	river,	where	I	have	visited	a	certain	

forest,	the	same	as	the	people	we	commissioned,	and	where	I	found	the	finest	camphor	and	
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other	trees	suitable	as	for	timber,	situated	on	a	high	mountain	range,	about	a	mile's	climb	from	a	

certain	small	stream	by	which	the	timber	would	have	to	be	taken	down.	It	could	be	taken	from	

there	as	wood	for	mounts,	gun-carriages,	axles,	knees	and	boards,	if	it	is	sawn	there	on	the	site	in	

the	forest,	but	it	will	be	impossible	to	remove	planks	or	other	heavy	timber,	whatever	the	

material	may	be,	from	there	unless	(as	said	before)	it	has	been	cut,	sawn	and	carefully	dressed	for	

its	[future]	use	and	then	taken	down,	which	involves	enormous	effort,	but	could	yield	good	

results.	Concerning	the	Marnats	Mountain,	nothing	is	to	be	got	there	which	could	be	of	use	to	

the	Honourable	Company	so	that	I	do	[not]	think	it	necessary	to	write	much	about	it	and	

therefore	shall	conclude	the	discourse	about	the	forests	and	await	Your	Honour's	judgement	

about	all	the	foregoing	per	the	next	opportunity,	in	accordance	with	which	we	will	act.	[...]	

Regarding	the	pine	trees	70	to	80	feet	tall	and	of	proportionate	thickness,	suitable	for	masts,	this	

in	fact	turned	out	to	be	unfounded	talk	because	these	will	never	be	found	in	the	Tamsuy	district,	

as	no	one	here	has	any	knowledge	of	this	kind	of	wood.	It	is	true	that	in	the	village	of	Cackerlack,	

under	the	house	of	its	cabessa,	two	planks	of	exceptional	length	have	been	found	(which	I	have	

seen	with	my	own	eyes	and	have	offered	money	for	because	they	are	of	excellent	wood),	but	I	

cannot	label	them	as	pine.	Obviously	I	have	taken	great	pains	to	find	out	where	these	could	be	

obtained,	but	they	answered	me	that	the	man	from	whom	they	obtained	them	had	died	and	

were	not	able	to	tell	me	more.	Therefore	I	wish,	if	Your	Honour	intends	to	go	through	with	this	

undertaking,	that	the	carpenters	who	claimed	to	have	seen	these	trees	here,	be	sent	over	so	that	

they	could	point	out	where	we	might	find	them,	through	which	the	Honourable	Company	may	be	

served	and	the	person	may	gain	credit.	That	in	the	mountains,	as	Your	Honour	is	writing,	wood	for	

building	houses	and	ships	can	be	found	(and	can	easily	be	chopped	over	there)	is	true,	but	we	all	

are	of	the	opinion	that	the	transport	of	the	timber	to	the	river	or	the	seashore	by	hauling	and	

dragging	will	not	be	done	by	the	inhabitants	without	Basay,	Chinese	or	Dutch.	These	inhabitants	

will	certainly	not	be	unwilling	if	it	is	a	question	of	one	or	two	pieces	of	timber,	which	would	be	a	

small	matter	for	them,	but	to	employ	them	continuously	with	this	kind	of	labour	will,	as	I	have	

said,	be	impossible	to	realize.	However,	as	the	saying	inhabitants	for	the	beams	and	planks,	which	

Captain	Pedel	allegedly	forgot	to	investigate,	I	have...	this	with	the	Basay	...	to	confer	among	

themselves...	to	agree	what	they	would	...	for	the	...	not	listening	and	gave	in	...	gladly	be	

employed	in	the	service	of	the	Honourable	Company	under	adequate	...	of	8	pieces	per	day,	

which	would	drive	up	the	price	for	the	Honourable	Company	considerably	and	would	make	the	

cost	of	obtaining	this	timber	rather	unattractive	for	Your	Honour.	It	would	be	better	to	buy	these	

beams	in	Tayouan	for	7 	 reals,	than	to	believe	that	those	beams	could	be	brought	from	the	

wilderness	to	Tamsuy	for	D-h	or	3	reals	at	the	most.	With	regard	to	the	inhabitants,	we	have	not	

yet	spoken	with	them	about	it	because,	at	the	moment,	they	are	constantly	busy	in	the	rice-fields	

and	there	is	no	opportunity	now	to	speak	about	it,	but	we	shall	inform	Your	Honour	more	

extensively	at	the	next	opportunity.	However,	we	remain	of	the	opinion	that,	if	Your	Honour	is	

seriously	considering	undertaking	this	enterprise	of	setting	up	a	timber	industry	with	proper	

2
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equipment	including	all	the	necessary	tools,	and	the	timber	up	in	the	woods	is	prepared	in	such	a	

way	that	it	is	ready	for	use	and	the	sawing	of	the	boards	will	take	place	here	in	the	wilderness	

(because,	as	said	earlier,	no	beams	or	other	heavy	timber	could	possibly	be	brought	down,	while	

it	also	should	be	noted	that	the	trees	which	are	felled	in	one	year	have	to	remain	lying	in	the	

forests	to	season	until	the	next	year	because	they	are	impossible	to	saw	when	green).	Your	

Honour	will	find,	when	the	roads	are	built	and	the	forests	cleared	of	undergrowth,	that	although	

the	expenses	may	seem	high,	yet	the	abundance	of	the	timber	that	is	then	easy	to	handle	and	the	

multitude	of	fine	boards	of	camphor	wood	of	3,	4	or	5	feet	wide	which	would	be	available	to	Your	

Honour	in	large	numbers,	would	reduce	the	cost	enormously	and	the	Honourable	Company	

would	obtain	fine	timber	at	a	low	cost.	This	work,	if	at	all	possible	and	if	it	were	entrusted	to	me	

by	Your	Honour,	I	shall	surely	accomplish	in	such	an	excellent	way	that	Your	Honour	will	be	

delighted.	Regarding	the	time	of	the	year	at	which	this	timber	should	be	chopped,	it	should	start	

at	the	end	of	November	or	the	beginning	of	December	and	continue	until	the	beginning	of	the	

following	February,	when	the	trees	are	leafless	which	would	be	the	best	time	to	chop	the	wood.	

	 [...]……	

We	also	note	from	Your	Honour's	missive	that	our	letter	and	the	resolution	on	the	30	lasten	of	

rice	requested	which	was	passed	here	have	not	been	understood	correctly,	because	Your	Honour	

writes	he	has	seen	our	petition	for	30	lasten	of	rice	by	next	August,	whereas	we	were	not	request	

this	by	August,	but	as	soon	as	possible.	Indeed	this	was	known	to	Captain	Pedel,	who	assured	us	

that	as	soon	as	he	arrived	in	Tayouan	he	would	notify	Your	Honour	and	to	the	best	of	his	ability	

[...]	put	pressure	on	Your	Honour	so	that	we	would	receive	these	tons	of	rice	by	a	specially	

chartered	vessel.	If	this	had	happened	it	would	have	created	great	joy	among	the	poor	

inhabitants	(as	we	were	told	by	the	Interpreter	Thijmon	van	Breda	that	[the	people]	here	in	the	

Tamsuy	district	(God	Forbid!)	are	dying	from	hunger,	yea	even	to	have	seen	in	the	village	of	

Poenap,	situated	along	the	Quelang	River,	that	in	[one]	house	[eight	persons]	had	perished),	and	

would	have	brought	the	Honourable	Company	...	profit	and	honour.	[...]	

[...]	Being	reminded	of	the	promise	Theodoor	made	Your	Honour	about	some	camphor	trees	of	4	

to	5	fathoms	tall	and	of	proportionate	thickness	(to	be	supplied	to	the	Company),	I	must	inform	

Your	Honour	that	we	have	summoned	the	afore-mentioned	Theodoor	several	times	in	connection	

with	this	matter,	asking	him	whether	he	was	now	able	to	supply	the	Honourable	Company	at	such	

a	price,	namely	10,	8	and	6	reals,	camphor	trees	of	3	or	...	fathoms	tall	and	of	proportionate	

thickness	as	he	had	told	Your	Honour	in	Tayouan.	On	this	question	he	pretended	ignorance,	

saying	that	he	never	promised	or	told	Your	Honour	such	thing.	Therefore	we	asked	him	a	second	

time	if	he	did	not	know	a	way	to	obtain	such	wood	and	how	much	he	would	be	able	to	supply	

come	August,	Again	he	answered	that	he	did	not	know	how,	because	the	Honourable	Company	

did	not	have	any	rice	here	with	which	to	provide	the	workers,	and	it	would	be	impossible	to	

undertake	such	an	enterprise	without	food,	on	which	we	agreed	with	him,	but	we	have	taken	his	
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words	to	heart	and	kept	them	in	mind	until	the	arrival	of	the	junk	with	which	we	received	200	

bags	of	rice.	Then	we	summoned	him	to	appear	before	us	for	a	third	time,	telling	him	that	if	he	

now	knew	how	to	obtain	this	timber	we	would	provide	him	with	rice.	However,	seeing	that	he	

had	been	bested	and	not	being	able	to	make	any	more	excuses,	this	Theodoor	openly	admitted	to	

us	(as	well	as	to	Lieutenant	Baers	in	Quelang)	that	he	did	not	know	how	and	also	never	had	

promised	such	a	thing,	even	though	Your	Honours	wrote	this,	but	had	only	said	that	he	would	

point	out	to	the	Honourable	Commissioner	the	forests	where	this	timber	was	standing,	which	he	

had	done,	so	that	he	trusted	he	had	fulfilled	his	promises	and	did	not	want	to	have	anything	more	

to	do	with	it.	However	Your	Honour	knows	best	how	matters	stand.	

For	now	I	do	not	know	anything	more	to	write	to	Your	Honour	except	to	submit	to	Your	Honour	

this	essential	petition,	because	we	are	in	great	need	of	these	things	as	we	have	discovered	that	

Mr	Van	Iperen	has	stripped	us	of	everything	and	has	left	us	with	empty	stores.	Therefore	we	

respectfully	entreat	Your	Honour	please	to	provide	us	soon	with	the	following	commodities	listed	

below,	in	addition	to	our	previous	[request],	namely:	[...]	a	vessel	loaded	with	rice,	the	sooner	the	

better,	as	this	is	an	urgent	matter	in	this	time	of	famine.	[...]	[...]	Rattan	canes	mounted	with	silver,	

being	insignia	of	authority	to	be	handed	to	the	cabessas	when	they	are	appointed.	We	do	not	

even	have	one	single	one	available.	[...]	Furthermore,	out	of	Christian	compassion	and	as	another	

duty	to	God,	we	cannot	refrain	from	respectfully	requesting	Your	Honour,	if	possible,	please	to	

station	a	minister	here,	because	it	is	sad	thing	to	see	so	many	people	(who	already	have	received	

a	small	spark	of	the	fire	of	the	Holy	Spirit)	wander	in	the	wilderness.	Indeed	we	trust,	if	our	

request	be	granted	and	a	minister	could	be	stationed	among	these	half-converted	heathens,	that	

before	long	it	would	bear	rich	fruit	because	as	we	can	see	they	show	great	zeal	in	Christianity	

(insofar	as	their	limited	comprehension	allows).	Still,	we	are	aware	that	this	cannot	be	attributed	

to	negligence	on	the	part	of	Your	Honour,	but	to	the	dearth	of	the	teachers	mentioned	above.	

However	we	hope	that	Your	Honour	will	take	our	request	as	much	as	possible	to	heart	and	should	

no	one	be	spared	over	there	to	be	stationed	here,	that	at	least	in	August	one	could	be	sent	to	us	

to	baptize	the	children,	whom	we	will	await	with	eagerness.࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	

pp.	73-81.࣏	
	

1655ʕ 7ϐ 24Υ	

1Ӫ࣎.՘Ň¢ќ׳ࡆ՘ҖўŻ`ګࡽƬӘ̌½śԸ�͖ĞсƷ࣐ªˆ。ČζÀߌ׵v޾

	࣏ࡢ518ו3õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞
Missive	Governor	Cornelis	Caesar	to	Merchant	Pieter	Elsevier.	Tayouan6࣐	August	1655.	VOC	

1212,	fol.	367-368.	
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Elsevier՘·؛Ժވ࠴Ν 7ϐ 17Υてپߏӏ.ԺΝeϐ 24ΥˇҺ�՘ۡڌרͽݱo 1000

ÿͦ܉ԢƷ࣐׵ۺ ޷ӏՆɚŌѪȭҠپ˃ώ࣒̻࣎ۺ700 ࠙ڌȎԺ࣏ۺ100 Tangsisia࣎_

ԺƎ� Pauwٍ݊ٿƂ Phynguiah§¶ߌ࣏ʾ޾.׳ࡆ ۺѕ࣐׵ư`ۺ700 63Ζ࣎catty࣐࣏

×ϾӘѕ 51Ζ 2.125߷ӻ࣐ò` ޾�࣒̻࣎՘ì Ň¢ќ·޷˓Υđʒؗ܉ۺ12 ˒ۺ12

o࣐ڌ܁Č 8ϐʚしԺ Pelikaan޷I࣐࣏΃ԿY ֜ݘŻW֜߷,߻ؗݬ՘ĊӀۑˋ�ۺ688

՘Ň¢ќ.޾ś�ひ΅�½Ν࣐ګࡽ©òˎhîş࣐ƷϚªωĜ࠙ڌ.ˇࡥ Tangsisiaɉ

ʂϼࢆӏƎپ.h`ưډҖўը͊ˇ_࣐ײٿֈ֕ߌ܁ɉϏƷҖў࣐˃׳ࡆI޷׵ۺ700

ú࠙ڌ TangsisiaϜиÿSZ܉ࡍöݤ܌¥�ش.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

Your	latest	letter,	dated	the	last	of	June,	has	duly	reached	us	over	land	on	the	17thof	last	month.	It	

is	not	our	intention	to	answer	it	now	because	we	are	planning	a	consignment	at	the	end	of	the	

month,	when	you	will	also	receive	provisions	and	the	other	things	you	ordered,	as	far	as	it	is	

possible.	Therefore	this	only	serves	as	an	accompanying	letter	for	the	junk	of	Anachoda	Tangsisia,	

in	which	-	at	your	urgent	request	and	Merchant	Pauw	and	Interpreter	Phynguiah	standing	surety	-	

we	have	loaded	700bags	of	Chinese	rice	(each	bag	containing	63catties	and	costing	21 8	 reals	if	
fifty-one	are	bought.	The	two	inhabitants	who	have	delivered	your	letter	here	have	paid	for	12	of	

the	700	bags,	which	leaves	the	Company	688	to	be	sold	to	the	inhabitants	of	St	Jago	and	Kimaurij	

at	a	small	profit	so	that	their	hungry	stomachs	will	be	fed	and	they	will	not	die	of	famine	as	many	

have	already	been	felled	(by	that	sword)	according	to	your	letter.	We	trust	that	as	a	consequence	

of	this	shipment,	the	people	will	pledge	their	hearts	all	the	more	to	the	Company	and	that	some	

time	soon	they	will	acknowledge	this	once	more	and	hence	be	brought	to	greater	obedience.	

As	a	reward	for	transporting	this	rice	we	have,	with	the	approval	of	our	Council,	permitted	the	

Anachoda	Tangsisia	to	load	his	junk	with	sulphur	and	rattan	in	Tamsuy	and	then	sail	for	China	

without	being	obliged	to	pay	the	customary	tithe	for	the	export,	for	which	he	has	to	deliver	the	

rice	in	Quelang.	Therefore,	we	are	herewith	instructing	you	to	carry	out	this	order.	No	Dutchmen	

are	travelling	with	this	junk,	only	two	Basay,	the	ones	who	have	delivered	the	letter,	because	at	

the	moment	we	cannot	spare	any	people.	[...]	We	are	assuming	that	the	fluyt	the	Pelikaan	will	be	

sent	to	Quelang	at	the	end	of	this	or	the	beginning	of	next	month	to	load	coal	and	to	bring	the	

provisions	for	both	forts.	However	we	would	be	pleased	if	it	could	be	done	earlier.	[...]࣎The	

Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	88-89.࣏	

1655ʕ 8ϐ 15Υ	

ҖўbןPieter	Elsevierؾϗ7ϐ30Υ·࣐εS»࣎ݲࢍBasy࣏՘Ň¢ќˇҖў؛Ժވ࠴
》࣐ϱӪՍo〕ߧ�ʘf۞ڮϑ՘̖ߟߡƷ࣐Ƹˆռߍࡈˁ½࣐̌·ɇ޾ˇ.ª՘޷

ѸƦ߸Č,ʘǲđ࣐�½ʘf߃S»Êʡ՘̜ߧ�ZČ࣐ZߍԢƷʂࠜ؛ȋ޻ҾˠˉÊ
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ʡo.ϑS»ǧñŻߡ»Ӗ̗࠙࣎constapel࣏Ƭ޾Սْъxoܼ࣐Ѣŗ҇S»ߔՆ՘
�Iス޾�Ӗ̗࠙՘ 1࣎.ؼӪ۞ߖǄΥܰ23וõ࣏ࡢ531ו	

P.	EIsevier…ؗC.	Caesar՘·࣐Җў1655࣐ʕ7ϐ30Υ.VOC	1213࣐fol.	408-410.	

1655ʕ 8ϐ 27Υ	

ʔʚڌPellikaanۤ�ǲʂ؛ҩÐȅÿډqȮ࣐ŘĒήǲ܁܉ߞXʘ࡬ԁߌ܉࣐IҖў
	࣏ࡢ541ו3õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.Ըࡍ՘ߟߡ̂¬࣐ыدࢂࢀ

1655ʕ 8ϐ 31Υ	

ʔʚڌPellikaanۤԸʘڑҺ�՘9ڈڇĞのÿңǫ࣐ˇңǫΝYĶƐֱډʾҖўŻࡆ
194࣐׵eࣉzacken࣎ۺʇࢴŻ688࣏balen࣎ۺڪϑ200࣐ԃݞI՘ߌޓࢎƸܭӘ….׳

ĜX�đԸ2ߌڌרڑI܂ߡ՘ݞԃ࣐aخܗÃ2786.14.14ڮի.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ23וõ

	࣏ࡢ542ו
C.	Caesar…ؗP.	Elsevier՘·پ࣐ӏ1655࣐ʕ8ϐ28Υ.VOC1212࣐fol.	370-379.	

ãđì޷ڌרڑI՘1655࣎׵ʕ5ϐō8ϐ࣏ʂ25ߍݼ	lastށܭ࣐̂Ǯٿ֜߷,߻W֜ݘ՘Ň

¢ќͣࢶࡕߍZ͊՘ζϗ࣐ҡח࣐ګࡽߍČԹ܂՘ֶֹͽ̋.پӏƎࢆէđʂ؛ӜĚöͦÿ

ωǬֶחࡦˏ࣐׵ČˇΥϜª՘ڌてߏしϑࢅĚ.Ȇϫ׳ࡆҖўΜ࡚ߞϑ࣐̂܉ࡍöhپӏ

ƎࢆǓs.پӏƎࢆˇElsevier՘ϊ·ʂ؛ռߎƷҖўƸ1�ϙ՘̋Ϝˁܩ]_࣐࢛Əپӏ՘

Һ�εk࣐˲ࡲ�½l̈˙ՆƸ՘ՌՍܱ࣐Әݰ՘ϏјǶI՘ωǬ.öّ࣐Ł©ɉϙϟւY࣐

էđlѮϑަѻɉϙϟߌČپӏ̖࣐�ƷҖўƸ1�ϙ՘qКςζ͵پ.ؼӏƎࢆΜ࡚Řϗ

ˀҖўΜ࡚٪ǮՕ,50§܄óօϭ࣐ƬӘپӏߟ޾ʂ؛Ѯϑϙϟś�Ըo.тǫ࣐lʉϕ٪

ܼŇ¢ќւ1820ټt࠙՘Чϙ§ӘШϜࡍ̖ܗ�_࣐՘ݤԸ.پӏƎࢆlɉ޷ìޒޜŻï࡬

ɐԁIҖў.޾vԁߞϚ࣐تܛ؛�Һ�ռتܛࢵ˗ߎ�½の࣐ޒ΃ś�ȎԺҺ�ªÈ.پ

ӏΜ࡚էđʂӜѻͦÿωǬԁ࣐ߌ.࠿ŇƬεپӏࠧޮ՘ުԹZΛͶʴ࣐ˇ`ưªپӏࡈߜ

՘Һ�l܉ࡍԁ࠿ªٔ§.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

																																																								
194	 3200 Ż࣏balen࣎ۺڪ 688 đّ࣐4׵e࣏zacken࣎ۺ balen ƘΎӘ࣒baal	 §܄ʇࢴʌ̎ڪ§ś࣐݊

e3࣐4ۺ�zś݊Әϙ܄І՘3Ъ4࣓ ϑڊ�S࣐ήࡈSȿߺ߸܁̖࣐ۺڪ՘܂޾ 40ࣕ180 Ζ՘Ă

ĉ1ˇ࣐Υܰ2ò�թࠢݦΔփĈ࣐ś٪ј˃ّ՘޿࣎ۺʏ 100 Ζ࣏Әɑ࣐lܡƷ 60ࣕ80 Ζeࠝ._

J1࣒܋ΥϜҏǫࠢ°ŝΔIPQMƎ࠙ࢆΥܰʈŋȦ������ÞơwûUťɁÞơw�û¨ť2

ࡢ࣐࣏1976࣐Ą۲̖ضبϥ|ǱȡŝΔ࣒|ϥ࣎ 265࣓Uytrekening	van	de	goude	en	silvere	munts	

waardye,	inhout	der	maten	en	swaarte	der	gewigten,	in	de	respective	gewesten	van	Indiën,	(Middelburg:	

Johannes	Meertens,	1691),	p.	11. 	
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We	hope	that	our	latest	letters	of	the	6th	and	16th	of	this	month	of	August	per	the	junk	of	

Anachoda	Tangsisia	-	with	which	we	have	sent	688	bags	of	rice,	to	be	sold	among	the	inhabitants	

of	St	Jago	and	Kimaurij	-	have	reached	you	safely	with	the	three	Basay	who	also	sailed	in	it.	The	

day	after	this	junk	had	sailed	from	here,	two	Basay	arrived	over	land	from	Quelang	with	a	letter	

from	Lieutenant	Jacob	Baers	in	which	he	informed	us	of	the	great	misery	of	the	inhabitants	of	St	

Jago	and	Kimaurij	because	they	did	not	have	any	rice	and	he	was	doubtful	whether	you	had	

already	informed	us	because	you	had	not,	in	accordance	with	former	practice,	informed	him	of	

your	latest	letters	or	sent	them	to	him,	which	we	expressly	order	you	to	do	in	future	so	that	we	

will	[not]	be	receiving	letters	from	one	place	as	well	as	from	the	other	and	no	double	expenses	

will	have	to	be	paid.	[...]	With	the	junk	of	Merchant	Concqua	and	Anachoda	Tangsisia	we	have	

sent	you	more	than	25	lasten	rice	in	total	for	the	inhabitants	mentioned	before,	with	which	we	

trust	those	people	will	be	adequately	helped	and	be	able	to	await	the	crops	in	the	field	as	our	

warehouses	also	do	not	permit	us	to	send	more	before	the	ships	from	Japan	have	arrived.	Should	

you	need	more	help	in	future,	let	us	know	so	that	we	may	be	able	to	comply	in	time.	

From	your	closer	investigation	and	from	what	has	been	advised	to	us	by	Mr	Elsevier	about	the	

forests	and	timber	around	Tamsuy,	we	gather	that	[everything]	has	been	carried	out	in	

accordance	with	the	orders	we	issued	as	has	also	been	made	clear	in	the	letters	we	received	from	

you.	As	you,	we	tend	to	believe	that	it	will	be	difficult	to	obtain	a	reasonable	amount	of	timber	

there,	unless	as	high	a	price	is	paid	over	there	as	we	would	be	able	to	buy	it	for	over	here,	seeing	

that	it	would	have	to	be	taken	from	the	nearest	wood	with	carts	and	beasts	after	the	trees	have	

been	felled	by	us	or	the	Chinese.	Moreover,	if	it	were	to	be	put	into	effect,	we	are	certain	that	the	

lumberjacks	would	be	assailed	by	many	diseases	and	death	as	a	consequence	of	the	illness	which	

is	prevalent	in	those	lands.	The	Chinese	to	whom	we	proposed	that	they	go	and	chop	wood	over	

there	also	could	not	be	persuaded,	even	though	we	agreed	to	pay	double	their	daily	wages,	

because	they	were	all	scared	of	disease	and	death.	Indeed,	they	say	bluntly	that	if	we	went	there	

to	earn	a	stuyver	or	two,	we	would	soon	lie	sick	in	our	bunks	and	spend	more	than	we	would	

gain,	so	it	seems	they	will	not	be	persuaded.	However,	if	we	needed	their	services	to	have	

something	constructed	at	the	forts	in	Tamsuy	or	Quelang,	they	could	be	hired	for	the	customary	

wages,	so	that	we	have	decided	to	postpone	this	undertaking	for	the	time	being,	not	least	

because	at	the	moment	we	are	not	able	to	transport	the	timber	here	from	your	place	and	all	the	

more	because	for	the	present	we	can	obtain	as	much	as	we	need	which	is	satisfactory	here	at	a	

reasonable	price.	Therefore	it	will	not	be	necessary	to	trouble	yourself	about	it	this	year,	we	are	

only	expecting	the	50	mounts	or	gun-carriages	which	were	put	out	to	contract	and	which	are	

really	useful	here	because	we	have	no	timber	suitable	to	be	made	into	mounts.	However,	it	would	

not	be	unwelcome	if	you	had	the	inhabitants	chop	a	few	beams	of	camphor	wood	18	to	20	foot	as	

a	sample	and	in	order	to	know	the	fixed	price	of	what	it	is	going	to	cost	so	that	later	we	can	base	

ourselves	thereon.	Therefore	we	have	decided	to	send	you	in	accordance	with	your	request	two	
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carts	and	six	bullocks	to	try	and	find	out	if	these	can	be	of	use.	The	bullocks	have	not	yet	been	

trained	to	be	used	with	carts,	but	the	Chinese	living	at	your	place	will	know	how	to	make	them	

suitable	[to	the	task].	We	would	have	sent	others	if	we	had	them	but	we	are	in	need	of	them	

ourselves	and	it	is	impossible	to	make	the	Chinese	part	with	even	one	working	bullock	which	is	

suitable	to	the	work,	because	nowadays	farming	is	expanding	continuously	every	day,	partly	

because	of	the	fine	crops	which	can	now	be	farmed	in	the	fields	but	also	because	many	refugees	

are	arriving	from	China	who	take	up	farming	to	earn	a	living.	

We	are	greatly	surprised	that	Theodoor	has	dared	to	lie	so	insolently	and	say	that	no	beams	of	20	

to	30	feet	long	have	been	contracted	out	to	him	by	us,	even	adding	that	he	had	not	promised	to	

supply	these,	but	with	Granvello	had	undertaken	only	to	point	out	the	forests	where	such	tall	

camphor	and	oak	trees	were	growing.	I	declare	that	several	times	in	the	presence	of	some	

members	of	the	Council	and	others,	they	have	made	promises	and	undertaken	to	supply	these	for	

6,	8,	9	and	10	reals	a	piece,	just	as	the	Castilians	had	paid	before	when	they	were	living	there	and	

with	which	they	had	been	content.	Now	we	see	that	one	cannot	rely	on	Theodoor's	word,	

because	he	makes	a	host	of	promises,	but	keeps	only	a	few	and	therefore	in	future,	we	will	not	

involve	him	as	much	as	we	had	intended	before	all	this	[had	happened].	We	also	regret	the	rise	in	

pay	which	he	was	granted	to	encourage	his	diligence	and	hence	obtain	the	timber.	[...]	

[...]	For	the	digging	and	carrying	of	pit	coal,	we	are	sending	you	(though	less	than	you	requested):	

100	iron	wedges,	25	sledgehammers,	18	pickaxes,12	pikes,	10	crowbars,	4	spades,	4	shovels,	200	

rattan	buckets.	This	is	as	much	as	we	were	able	to	have	made,	because	in	making	the	wedges	all	

the	heaviest	square	iron	bars	would	have	to	be	re-forged	to	account	for	their	size	and	weight	if	we	

were	to	make	them	as	long	and	with	the	proportionate	thickness	as	your	order	indicates,	

therefore	for	this	year	you	will	have	to	make	do	with	these	until	we	are	supplied	with	heavier	iron	

in	future.	Furthermore,	because	Captain	Pedel	has	informed	us	that	this	ironwork	has	been	

ordered	only	to	hack	away	the	slate	crust	covering	the	mountains	from	under	which	the	coal	has	

to	be	dug,	also	that	in	the	mountains	where	the	coal-mines	are	situated	several	caves	have	been	

hacked	out	which	are	two	rods	square	and	that	have	only	a	narrow	entrance,	we	would	not	find	it	

extraordinary	if	these	slate	covers	were	to	be	blown	away	with	gunpowder	after	the	entrances	to	

the	coal-mines	had	been	shored	up	beforehand.	If	you	also	think	that	a	great	advantage	can	be	

gained	by	this	means,	you	will	have	to	test	it	even	if	you	have	to	use	a	hundred	pound	weight	of	

gunpowder,	which	...	you	can	take	from	the	Pelikaan	which	will	be	replenished	when	she	arrives	

back	here.	So	you	will	have	to	consult	each	other	carefully	about	this	first	before	it	is	carried	out,	

to	see	whether	it	will	be	effective	or	not,	to	which	we	will	conform,	leaving	it	up	to	you.	

We	notice	that	778	buckets	of	pit	coal	have	been	transferred	to	Mr	Elsevier	by	Merchant	Van	

Iperen	for	which	our	factory	has	already	been	charged	and	of	which	a	large	part	is	still	in	Quelang	

and	that	it	is	your	intention	to	ship	these	to	us	with	this	vessel	without	setting	a	value	on	them.	

We	are	instructing	you	otherwise,	because	we	are	now	planning	to	send	the	coal	which	will	be	

collected	in	its	entirety	to	Batavia	and	Coromandel.	It	is	essential	therefore	that	all	the	coal	which	
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you	ship	out	with	the	Pelikaan	will	come	with	an	estimated	value,	and	whatever	is	still	due	to	us	

by	next	May,	you	will	send	us	without	setting	a	value	so	that	every	region	may	bear	its	own	costs.	

It	will	also	be	necessary	that	you	send	along	with	the	Pelikaan	a	bucket	in	which	the	coal	is	placed	

so	that	for	forward	delivery	we	know	exactly	how	much	each	ship	shall	take	in	and	how	much	is	

shipped	to	every	region	and	[thus]	how	much	everyone	is	to	be	charged	for	his	share.	Please	see	

to	this.	[...]	

[...]	We	were	pleased	to	read	in	your	letter	of	the	30th	of	last	July	that,	at	the	entrance	of	the	

Tamsuy	River,	15	feet	of	water	was	measured	by	the	pilot	at	normal	tide,	having	deducted	4	feet	

on	account	of	the	sea	swells	so	that	a	ship	or	fluyt	with	a	draught	of	14	to	15	feet	should	have	no	

qualms	about	putting	in.	Therefore,	we	have	decided	to	order	the	fluyt	the	Pelikaan	to	put	in	at	

the	mouth	of	the	Tamsuy	[River]	to	unload	the	essential	foodstuffs	and	other	supplies	there,	as	

well	as	the	cattle	which	we	have	shipped	in	it	for	Tamsuy.	You	will	therefore	have	to	unload	these	

in	a	hurry	and	have	the	fluyt	continue	its	voyage	to	Quelang	as	soon	as	possible	without	delaying	

it	for	whatever	reason,	but,	as	said	before,	send	it	on	its	way	to	Quelang	as	soon	as	possible	to	

take	the	rest	of	the	supplies	and	other	necessities	there.	Moreover,	when	it	arrives	in	Quelang,	

you	will	work	assiduously	to	have	the	supplies	and	the	two	8-pounder	cannon	brought	ashore	and	

this	fluyt	loaded	with	coal.	Likewise,	you	will	also	ship	in	it	the	mounts	which	were	contracted	out	

if	they	are	ready.	[...]	It	would	be	desirable	if	you	were	to	be	able	to	have	the	Pelikaan	ready	in	ten	

to	twelve	days	to	sail	from	Quelang	to	the	Pescadores	to	take	the	coal	to	the	ship	Enckhuysen,	

and	from	there	return	here	with	timber,	which	will	be	possible	to	do	if	God	our	Lord	does	not	

place	any	major	obstacles	in	her	way,	because	next	month	is	the	month	of	the	change	of	seasons	

when	the	monsoon	begins	to	turn.	Therefore	we	are	instructing	all	of	you	to	use	every	possible	

means	to	send	the	afore-mentioned	Pelikaan	quickly	on	her	way.	[...]	

[...]	Tiles	or	paving	stones	are	sent	to	you	together	with	two	Chinese	bricklayers	to	pave	the	house	

of	Merchant	Elsevier.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	97-103.࣏	

1655ʕ 9ϐ 8Υ	

ߺ՘Ǳߌ܁٪̖܁çְ࣐܂ߡˇɉ_࣐ʾҖўډś݇ˇтƸÿܡɉ̸࣐ڌר�Һڑ1
Ϛ͐Ӟ՘ֈ֕ߌ࣐ƫтƸ͐Ӟyؗîş.ڌרܭԢʂҩÐȅÿ࣐ډÉƷ܂ߡҩÐ܉Ɛ

ֱ…Ƭт࣐࠙ȫࠞYؗҖў՘bן Pieter	ElsevierãԵ…ɇ·࣐s9܉�ܣĞڌڑ޾՘
ϋˍӻҏɬـʾ֪ߌ܉ȭࡧ¯�࣐ǮÙ○ƫªтƸ٪ڌרڑ޾©࣐bڌ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.IߌǮ٪࣐195՘ֈ࣏֕Choromandel࣎ 3õו 	࣏ࡢ551

																																																								
195  ΝĿʝ6ɱϥ:ߥҏɬ. 	
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C.	Caesarȷؗ P.	Elsevier՘·پ࣐ӏ1655࣐ʕ 9ϐ 8Υ.VOC	1212࣐fol.	380.	

Һڌ�brȫԕˆʾҖўょԵֈǉӢ	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ 	
This	only	serves	as	an	accompanying	[letter]	for	this	junk,	of	which	the	Chinese	Ziqua	is	the	

anachoda,	whom	we	have	licensed	to	obtain	as	much	unrefined	sulphur	there	as	he	can	take	in	

and	transport	it	back	untaxed	to	have	it	refined	here	and	then	supply	it	to	the	Honourable	

Company.	We	therefore	recommend	you	to	lend	him	a	helping	hand	so	that	he	may	return	here	

as	soon	as	possible	because	the	sulphur	has	been	destined	by	us	for	Coromandel.	So	please	see	to	

that.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	p.	104.࣏	

1655ʕ 10ϐ 30Υ	

ʔʚڌPellikaanۤΝ9ϐ8ψてߏҖў՘ңߎđΜ࣐Ƭܭңߎǳҝ࣐Ӝѻéң࣐Řȅډ
ʾߊߕ`޼.׳ࡆZɐ՘҈޹Żƭߡ࣓ࡈvԁ࣐Ƭܭʔʚڌ՘ެ࣐ࠜࡇ߁ѮϑƷҖў

BYْ࣐Ʒ׳ࡆXɬ࣐ò`ʂϑʘ࣐࡬ƬẐْߔъIo࣓	
ˇтƸ҇׵ߌI܂ߡ՘ߡì࣐ڌרڑˁ○ɕČߡ࣐܂ߡߏv׵ɎߡvŇ¢ќʒĞZ

ɐ࣐ƬӘ�½ٺʂ՘ͽֽߞZˁࡥĊ࣓	
Percoetsi-MattatasŻPergon՘࣐��đό؛εîşώȅ-ώ˔ݠ՘ɥќ࣐ Ν࡙ޮ
Җў՘ƸΜ࣐ԢƷȨëͿݎőݎ࣐Œّ޹.�½ծČʔʚڌPellikaanۤSࣈࠜࡇˇ
Җўډʾ࣐࣏׳ࡆ�ӘߕڌܭσࡷֆǢ׉࣐ďř¢Ʒܭҫѷɬ̖ϑ՘ɛќ̠܉࣐đª

ê࠴՘ݸݾ�۞ڮ.Әтߞ½�࣐ãÈ݂я՘ّ֛࣐פΝ9ϐ12Żl7Υ࣐Ʒܭҫ҈՘
Ɏɬ࣐яъS»޿qŻW»ǧñ࣐Ѯϑò�ԥԺ࣐ŘӘoIʕ࣐Ƭ�½՘ࠈߍǶ࣐ܵ

ْ׵ࢺࢺS½�ؽŘεؽۡܭݠò࣐߸ǳˆؽϏۡ݋ܧYperenŻ	Vanן՘b܂ߡۻ
ʂ.Ōܷ࣐�½Ɏîşź��½ˏࡦѕ߅ʎì࠿߹ԗIߡǄǏÿƊ࣐〔ČǠĚǳǱ࣓

ۻ࣐ωś٪՘ԥԺε࣐Ȇт݂я՘۲Әٽ՘ԥԺɕϏɏˋ؎ࢵ޾࣐·ϏZթ݋ܧ܂ߡ

՘۲Ә࣓ŗズҖўѲŻфϘӏ࢙࢘qσĚŌ޿vߡĂˌŐ՘ߍ࣐ĂȒ٬ߍ½�Ɏܣ͋

ϑì࣐o܂޾½ȷª̌ݺԢƷlSܣv͋޾࣐ܣv͋ߡҫѷɬŇ¢ќ՘࣏Pinoraang࣎
ܭя՘ŇƬ࣓݂޲X̋߂vŇ¢ќߡlεӥĤ½�ّ࣐̼ͦ܉۲Ә՘bִ޾qε޿«

ҫ҈՘Ň¢ќ࣐Ɏ޾v޿q՘۹ݸܹۻԢЛǱ՘】○࣐Ƭт࣐《Ѹ̂ܭϏȅ࣐ޢ�½

՘《ؤlϏƬْՂӘʔࡗYª.……	
ԸҺ�՘ڌרˇтƸߌI܂ߡ՘࣐׵ՕԢ߸ߺϑvZ࣐ށlՕԢԸPellikaanۤߌI՘
	ҸǶˁǬ࣓߭ڷڽ
߆ɓӜЭϏ࣐ƭǚ޲ԢƷƬX࣐АϩŐª՘ϙΔś�ԕˆǬɑ×Ͼeqߡˇަܪ܉

۲ْ࣓[̻Ӣ�½՘ծѻߡ࣐ШÈlZϏϑȅ࣐ۡƬӘڠŇ¢ќٟČтq࣐ˏϏܞ࢖

Zʂ࣓Җў՘ՌՍ�ˁԎԓ҈۲࣐ƬтՍࠬ܂ͳҳՍْ࣐�[�½Ʒߟߡ՘߳ۛΤع

gŌZȅܼ࣐ѢˇтƸ¬࣓̂	
	࣏ࡢ581ו3õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎
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Missive	Junior	Merchant	Pieter	van	Mildert	to	Governor	Cornelis	Caesar.Tamsuy,	7	September	1655.	

VOC	1212,	fol.	411-412,	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ	

After	he	had	been	visited	on	the	14th	of	the	past	month	of	August	for	the	second	time	by	the	fever	

of	this	land	it	has	pleased	Almighty	God	to	snatch	away	the	Opperhoofd	Mr	Pieter	Elsevier	from	

earthly	life	on	the	28th	of	that	month,	of	which	we	in	accordance	with	our	duty	would	have	liked	

to	notify	you	immediately,	but	that	could	not	be	effectuated	before	now	because	the	Lieutenant	

Jacobus	Baers,	in	Quelang	was	also	stricken	by	this	fever	and	has	therefore	not	been	able	to	come	

here,	consequently	we	have	been	prevented	for	some	time	from	dispatching	him	to	take	letters	

back	and	forth.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	p.	104.࣏	
	

Missive	Junior	Merchant	Pieter	van	Mildert	to	Governor	Cornelis	Caesar.	Quelang,	17	October	1655.	

VOC	1212,	fol.	413-426.	

Ϝʕ5ϐŻ8ϐࡂԸҺƎ޷ڌרI׳ࡆҖў՘ֶ࣐׵ĜXʔʚڌPelikaan޷I՘ֶخ࣐׵ðϑ

104798Ζ؂63࣎îƤށ࣐࣏ǮԸČىʕtϐ̎ïϐ.Tangsisia՘ڌרΝ8ϐ27Υて࣐ߏՆζŇ

¢ќʂ؛ͽĔȨՁ࣐ϑٺʁִ՘׵śŠ࣐΃Նζ՘《ĩʂ؛Z�5ϐConqua՘ڌרてߏζƦ

ɲ.�ƬӘϑˁǬֶ׵ʂݬ؛ÿ࣐ӜѻࡧϗČtϐζ܉ࡍߞǬɑ׵.ȆϫپӏƎࢆϑáށ՘

վɑ2004ߺ߸࣐׵I՘ֶߌI.�εeđԺҺƎTangsisiaߍۺ1000޷٪ҖўΜ࡚ϗˀ࣐׵ֶ

Ζ࣐ԺPelikaanߌI՘Đɑo18ۺð2309֒.тǫ׳ࡆҖў՘ºʟߞ܂ϑ34	 last؂51࣎îƤ࣏

՘ֶ׵.í߷Ƽ֜՘Ň¢ќ̦˝ѕv̙ì࠿߹ԗIҖўǏǡݬ՘܉Ѣ࣐Ɏ�½ªܷǳߍƦڞ.

ҖўΜ࡚ܱӘ޾εí߷Ƽ֜߫࠙՘Ə࣐࡯Ն޷�֜܉�߹ԗIҖўǏǡζ3ܷ�࣐֜ãؗ̌

ӥĤ՘εí߷Ƽ࡬ʎ࣐ȫƂܹϳ۞ڮ؛.Ĥ̗̙߫࠙ߞ½�˃4ώ࣍öªしεîş࣐ʁٺ½

֜՘bʍ࣎fisicaal࣏-߫࠙՘àʲ࣐�ōì ֜ܭŇ¢ќ.bʍ�՘ì ࡝�ۡۻّ࠼޵ą࣐

_Ըݺࠁࠊࠓª.߫࠙՘àʲݎ�ݏ࣐׵ؽˆω׆.ɎΝߡv࢛ƒ3ãؗٺʁ࣐öؗîş4

՘ؽ࣐��½ƷíČ2vêʎ16࡬߹ԗČҖўǏǡª.1654࣒̻࣎ʕݺ:ɴ՘ݵƎƷҖўǏ

ǡ՘b܉ࡍן՘《ѸY࣐ϑݠ�ѕϐ¬̂56ټス՘࣐١ࢯîşɉ�ѕス8߷ӻ՘×Ͼͽ࣏.ݱ

�εڮ۞ȫƂZܱӘѕvì࡬߹ԗ՘܉ѢǳߍĂ࣐Ձ׋߹ԗČۡߧε࣐lܱٺZόƷͽֽϗ

߷εíْ࣐կс՘ԥԺࡘ_߸ߍスݚԗ١՘̂¬ܾ͌½��̖࣐ζࠝI̙ԖڙѢŇ¢ќ܉ࠝ

Ƽ՘Ň¢ќZ【öŻîşÈϒMo.тǫ࣐Lucas	KilasۻȎܜԸࢮIࢯݣ՛ࡃ࣐ӝđ�ƎĦȫ

Elseviery��ˏࡦS̗yࢮS̗y՛ۻ�࣐ՕԢ�̠ࢮ�ì¼՘�×ؗoѮϑࢯ՛śؗ՘�.

�՛՘ࢯʵްѮϑ]_࣐՛ࢯˆŐ×�¥��˲ࡲ�۞ڮŇ¢ќ�ӘݏϏ޾࣐ȫƂܱӘ۞ڮ

։Iʬªࢯ՛޾࣐ś٪ɏٽí߷Ƽ֜՘Zҳ.ԺΝí߷Ƽ֜߂ŏڮ�̖࣐۞�ԢƷѮަѻ܉

Ň¢ќIւЩo࣐�eđՕ,՘օϭ࣐śϕƷىʕtϐɾŞy�.тǫԺΝϜʕ͉ĥАϩݦ

Ҩ՘ؔϫٿTheodore̖ܷ՘թʀǳǬْ࣐TheodoreǍֵ�Ř̹ݠݚÿ¥ۡϑАϩ޾�࣐Ш՘

《Ǔѕ»Basayߧ�ռ࣐ߎƬтҖў՘ڮ۞ȫƂ܉oԁ՘Theodoreшࡧߞ�՘200߷ӻ.ߞ�

o100߷ӻߞ࣐зS6Ѯߞ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ
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[...]	The	two	junks	which	were	sent	with	rice	have	arrived	here	safely,	God	be	praised.	This	rice	

plus	what	was	sent	with	the	Pelikaan,	which	amounts	in	total	to	104,798	catties,	will	be	sufficient	

to	last	until	next	May	or	June.	Since	the	rice	which	was	sent	with	Tangsisia's	junk	was	only	

received	on	August	27th,	the	majority	of	the	inhabitants	had	already	been	provisioned	to	some	

degree	with	the	new	crops	which	were	harvested	in	the	river	regions	so	that	they	will	not	trouble	

the	Honourable	Company	as	much	as	they	did	earlier	when	Concqua's	junk	arrived	here.	

Nevertheless,	a	considerable	quantity	is	being	sold	now	and	then,	and	the	sales	are	increasing	

daily	so	that	it	is	impossible	to	state	with	certainty	how	much	we	will	need	in	May.	If	there	is	

abundance	in	Tayouan,	we	will	expect	1,000	bags,	which	we	think	will	indeed	need	to	be	sent	so	

that,	should	there	be	an	accident	such	as	a	ship	going	adrift	(which,	as	we	have	now	seen,	could	

easily	happen	here),	we	do	not	find	ourselves	in	such	dire	straits	as	happened	in	the	days	of	

Keerdekoe,	when	the	barque	Amsterdam	went	adrift	in	the	year	1649	or	1650,	and	his	garrison	

had	to	support	itself	with	rice	from	the	inhabitants.	Indeed,	this	time	(God	be	praised)	we	would	

not	have	had	the	same	luck	if	the	ship	had	gone	adrift,	as	has	become	tragically	clear	because,	

apart	from	the	fact	that	they	do	not	have	this	abundance	of	rice,	we	are	also,	without	having	

realized	it,	surrounded	by	our	enemies	and	rebels	against	the	Honourable	Company,	of	which	we	

have	never	had	any	indication.	AS	soon	as	they	thought	that	the	ship	had	been	lost	or	gone	adrift	

our	old	and	faithful	friends	1	mile	on	the	other	side	of	the	river	as	well	as	6	miles	inland,	namely	

the	peoples	of	Parricoutsie,	Mattatas	and	Perragon,	tried	to	stir	up	the	river	peoples	against	us,	so	

as	to	murder	all	the	Dutch	they	could	capture	on	the	rivers	or	on	land,	presenting	themselves	as	

the	leaders	to	take	this	job	in	hand,	which	they	in	fact	have	confirmed	between	September12th	

and	13th	by	killing	the	interpreter	and	three	soldiers	on	the	other	side	[of	the	Tamsuy	River]	

The	reasons	these	inhabitants	are	opposing	the	Honourable	Company	so	insolently	is	according	to	

them	and	the	assertions	of	the	Basay	-	whom	we	had	sent	over	to	summon	the	Dutch	to	the	fort	-	

that	about	a	year	ago	now	those	from	Mattatas	were	penalized	too	severely	by	the	Opperhoofd	

Mr	Thomas	van	Iperen	and	the	Council	for	their	predatory	incursions	against	the	Parricoutsie	

people	and	the	war	they	provoked	against	them,	which	was	settled	with	great	difficulty	by	

sending	our	ensign	and	twelve	soldiers,	even	though	they	were	only	punished	with	a	small	

penalty	in	rice	for	starting	this	war	against	a	village	who	had	been	their	best	friends	and	closest	

neighbours.	

The	people	of	Perragon	are	also	claiming	that	this	has	happened	to	them	recently	and	also	that	

they	are	no	longer	able	to	comply	with	the	instruction	of	the	Company	to	bring	two	animals	to	

the	redoubt	every	week	against	payment.	The	first	issue	of	the	Perragon,	for	which	they	have	

been	sentenced	by	the	entire	Council,	concerned	the	fact	that	the	captain	of	the	Perragon	had	

lodged	serious	complaints	that	his	people	did	not	want	to	obey	him	and	when	he	ordered	them	

to	bring	animals	to	the	fort	they	dared	to	say	boldly:	"First	for	us,	then	for	the	Company",	even	

though	they	have	never	had	to	suffer	any	want	of	meat,	moreover	that	in	Company's	service	they	

often	refused	to	undertake	some	task	or	other,	and	when	the	captain	ordered	them	more	



	ՄܗࡁΔ՘͙ݦΐԘލήɧưȳîƲ�ΐŝ࠵

	ζϗаЃߩōή۞ڮ-ԡԀ܈(

	168	

forcefully,	they	beat	him	up	on	several	occasions.	The	main	instigators	have	been	the	fiscal	and	

two	other	villagers	as	well	as	the	captain's	brother,	who	had	all	been	indicted	by	the	captain	who	

had	confessed	it	to	be	true	that	this	is	what	happened.	Therefore	it	was	decided,	in	order	to	

safeguard	the	captain	against	future	violence	from	these	scoundrels,	to	have	the	fiscal	and	his	

mate,	who	were	the	ones	who	had	confessed	to	beating	him,	flogged	and	put	in	chains	and	to	

sentence	the	captain's	brother	to	a	penalty	in	rice	(to	be	given	to	the	poor)	and	also	to	impose	on	

the	rogues	who	had	haughtily	claimed	to	provide	first	themselves	and	then	the	Company	with	

meat,	[the	penalty]	of	bringing	16	animals	to	the	fort	within	eight	to	ten	weeks.	

These	we	believe	are	all	mild	sentences,	imposed	only	to	keep	the	inhabitants	under	control,	

because	we	are	well	aware	of	the	fact	that	we	are	not	allowed	to	take	them	to	task	too	rigorously.	

Honourable	Gentlemen,	these	are	the	words	of	the	Basay	whom	we	had	sent	over	to	tell	the	four	

deceased	to	come	to	the	fort,	who	came	bringing	us	this	sad	news	with	great	dismay,	because	

some	bows	already	were	bent	to	treat	him	to	an	arrow,	but	this	was	prevented	by	the	captain	

who	spared	his	life	to	tell	the	Dutch	his	story,	which	would	have	been	of	no	avail	if	he	had	not	

exploited	his	fleetness	of	foot,	because	in	the	turmoil	scant	attention	was	paid	to	the	words	of	the	

captain.	Concerning	their	claim	that	the	instruction	of	the	Company	was	too	harsh	for	them,	we	

consider	this	unfounded	and	completely	untenable,	because	we	have	never	bothered	them	with	

hunting	during	sowing	or	harvest	seasons	and	moreover	hunting	is	not	a	burden	for	them	seeing	

that	they	have	fed	the	Spaniards	in	times	of	emergency	for	a	whole	year	(although	presumably	

under	duress),	which	they	were	easily	able	to	do	from	their	abundant	and	excellent	hunting-

grounds.	So	what	sort	of	burden	can	it	be	to	bring	us	two	animals	per	week	(for	which	they	are	

paid	in	cash)?	However,	in	our	opinion	that	was	not	their	real	reason,	this	was	instead	that	they	

no	longer	wanted	to	put	up	with	the	poaching,	extortions,	violence,	or	the	threats	that	they	will	

be	taken	into	custody	in	the	fort	because	of	some	trifling	misdemeanours	and	then	have	to	face	

serious	charges	-	which	[crimes]	were	patently	obviously	perpetrated	by	the	interpreters	-	plus	

the	fact	that	time	and	again	fines	were	extorted	from	them,	as	[can	be	seen]	in	the	general	points	

of	complaint	lodged	by	the	River	peoples	who	are	also	plainly	say	that	these	their	points	of	

complaint	are	the	reason	that	they	do	not	want	to	maintain	the	peace	with	the	Honourable	

Company	and	that	we	can	gather	from	these	why	the	Dutch	have	been	slain	(as	can	be	seen	by	

Your	Honour	in	the	annex	under	the	letter	A)	[...]	

[...]	The	afore-mentioned	Lucas	Quilas,	who	had	been	sent	all	over	the	region	by	the	Merchant	Mr	

Elsevier	to	barter	hides	for	salt,	has	furthermore	sold	this	[salt]	for	double	the	price	to	some	

inhabitants	who	did	not	have	skins,	which	he	himself	has	admitted.	We	do	not	doubt	that	he	

caused	the	poor	people	to	believe	that	the	Opperhoofd	wanted	skins	from	them	at	any	cost,	they	

should	obtain	them	wherever	they	could,	although	he	himself	had	confessed	that	Mr	Elsevier	had	

told	him	that	he	should	only	hand	over	the	salt	on	delivery	of	skins	and	that	they	might	wait	with	

payment	for	four	or	five	months,	which	has	also	stirred	up	great	anger.	[...]	
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[...]	We	found	a	deficit	of	2,760	catties	in	the	rice	which	was	sent	by	the	junk	of	Tangsitin.	They	

have	delivered,	as	I	have	written	on	September	7th	no	more	than	41,340	catties.	According	to	

what	appears	from	the	accompanying	note,	756dittos	should	be	deducted	from	these	2,760	

[catties]	for	the	12	bags	which	were	forgotten	to	be	loaded	and	were	sent	on	afterwards	with	the	

fluyt	the	Pelikaan	so	that	2,004	catties	are	still	missing.	In	the	rice	sent	with	the	Pelikaan,	there	is	

a	deficit	in	numbers	of	18	bags	and	in	weight	of	2,309	pound.	The	master	says	he	delivered	what	

he	had	received.	Your	Honour	will	be	in	the	best	position	to	investigate	what	has	gone	wrong.	We	

found	that	there	still	are	34	lasten	of	that	grain	in	our	warehouses.	

[...]	At	the	moment	we	have	nothing	and	in	Tamsuy	it	is	impossible	to	catch	even	one	animal	

because	of	the	troubles	caused	by	the	inhabitants,	so	that	this	northern	monsoon	we	will	have	to	

manage	with	eating	salted	meat	and	bacon.	In	Tamsuy	and	Quelang	there	is	also	not	one	grain	of	

wheat,	of	which	we	are	also	in	great	need	and	we	request	[...]	may	be	sent	in	May.	[...]	

[...]It	had	pleased	Your	Honour	to	write	us	that	in	order	to	find	out	at	what	price	we	could	obtain	

camphor	wood	timber	18	to	20	feet	long,	we	should	try	to	have	a	few	of	those	cut	by	the	

inhabitants,	for	which	purpose	you	have	also	sent	us	two	carts	and	six	bullocks	(of	which	there	

are	three	still	alive).	This	we	will	have	to	be	suspended	this	northern	monsoon	on	account	of	the	

afore-mentioned	rebellion	by	the	inhabitants.	With	due	respect,	in	our	humble	opinion	in	future	

there	is	no	point	in	committing	another	letter	to	paper	on	this	matter,	because	we	chase	these	

people	away	whenever	we	start	talking	about	it.	However,	they	are	still	prepared	to	supply	us	

with	the	mounts	which	were	contracted	out	[to	them]	and	which	they	have	promised	to	make	

ready	at	the	first	opportunity	and	to	deliver	around	about	next	May.	Once	again,	we	have	

confronted	Theodoor	with	Your	Honour's	displeasure	with	how	brazenly,	he	dares	to	lie	and	say	

that	he	had	not	contracted	to	supply	timber	for	the	price	which	was	fixed	at	the	time	of	the	

Spaniards,	but	had	only	said	that	he	would	point	out	the	woods	where	it	was,	in	which	he	still	

persists.	This	is	truly	a	poor	excuse	because	there	is	no	Basay	but	does	not	know	those	woods	so	

that	we	can	be	sure	Your	Honour	did	not	offer	him	such	an	advantageous	deal	for	this.	As	a	partial	

repayment	of	the	200	Spanish	reals	which	it	pleased	Your	Honour	to	lend	him	in	Tayouan,	this	

Theodoor	has	paid	us	half	so	that	he	still	owes	us	100	Spanish	reals,	which	we	have	also	ordered	

him	to	settle	first	thing.	[...]	

[...]	The	ironwork,	shovels,	spades	and	200	rattan	buckets	that	were	made	for	the	digging	and	

carrying	the	forge	coal,	we	have	duly	received.	I	will	store	these	safely	here,	because	we	will	have	

no	more	coal	dug	before	we	receive	further	orders	from	Your	Honour,	since	we	still	have	so	much	

in	stock	as	two	such	Pelikaans	can	carry	away.	Regarding	your	suggestion	[to	see]	if	it	was	possible	

to	blast	away	the	slate	crusts	on	the	coal-mines	with	gunpowder,	I	have	put	this	to	the	Council	

here	as	well	as	our	friends	on	the	ship	and	asked	them	for	their	opinion.	They	unanimously	

considered	this	inadvisable,	so	that	we	did	not	go	ahead	with	it.	

With	the	fluyt	the	Pelikaan	Your	Honour	will	receive	500	buckets	of	coal,	17	buckets	for	5	reals,	

which	amounts	to	147	reals	or	f	374:17.	Over	and	above	the	quantity	which	Mr	Van	Iperen	has	
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transferred	[to	us]	and	must	be	shipped	out	without	setting	a	value,	we	are	still	keeping	786	

buckets	in	stock	here.	We	have	loaded	the	buckets	with	which	we	have	measured	the	[amount	of]	

coal,	on	board	the	fluyt.	[...]	

[...]	The	two	Chinese	bricklayers	who	were	sent	over	are	returning	with	the	ship	because,	during	

the	northern	monsoon,	they	cannot	accomplish	anything	because	of	the	rain.	[...	]࣎The	

Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	125-134.࣏	

Missive	Governor	Cornelis	Caesar	to	Governor-General	Joan	Maetsuijcker.	Tayouan,	14	November	

1655.	VOC	1212,	fol.	284-349.	

ǓsخոïϐζܩƏҺƎɉݥΰズ׳ࡆټ֯ࢺ՘ś٪˜࣐�ҺƎܷߧ�࡬Zś࣐�½јޗƕ

пԸɐǀڌרČپӏݥΰ࣐`ࠝϑӃҥś��、׳ࡆ࣐ࡷߜɕѮϑ޾Ш՘Ûࢺ.ҺƎŘϑƷ

ѕʕìиȝ͓ޢࡷζしϏÉ࡙࣐׳ࡆ�lZȴΰÉѺ.Ϝʕʝ߻,߷֜ŻW֜ݘƬӘӜѻˇ

ƣԫ۞Őˆֶ࠳�̖࣐׵éپ.ګࡽӏƎͦࢆÿ25	last՘ֶ޾ؗݬ׵vŇ¢ќ࣐�ӘoƫǓ

eđ׵ֶ܉ࡍ�۞ڮζŇ¢ќ՘͊Ӈݬ�̖࣐×Z࢛.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

From	Your	Honour's	letter	of	[...]	May14th	we	learned	that	bearing	in	mind	the	shallowness	of	the	

channel	of	Tayouan	and	in	order	to	avoid	the	dangers	of	the	severe	gales	to	which	the	ships	are	

subjected	when	they	anchor	in	the	outer	roads	of	Tayouan	during	the	southern	monsoon.	Your	

Honour	tentatively	suggested	to	our	Lords	and	Masters	would	it	not	be	better	to	move	the	trade	

to	Quelang	because,	when	entering	port	there	is	more	depth,	while	that	place	is	also	not	more	

distant	from	China	than	Tayouan.	Therefore	Your	Honour	is	ordering	us	to	test	this	[theory].	[...]	

Our	answer	to	Your	Honour	is	that	it	has	been	investigated	very	thoroughly	by	us	and	the	Council,	

[...]while	we	have	also	deliberated	with	all	[Chinese]	cabessas	and	the	major	merchants	of	

Tayouan	and	listened	to	their	opinion,	who,	like	us,	suspected	that	it	would	be	very	difficult	to	

move	the	trade	there.	[...]	In	the	first	place	because	in	China	[...]	trade	has	come	to	a	standstill	

and	Coxinga	keeps	his	junks	cruising	from	the	river	of	Amoy	right	up	to	Nanking,	watching	out	for	

all	vessels	which	sail	without	his	consent	or	pass.[...]	On	the	other	hand,	they	claim	that	even	if	

there	were	peace	between	the	Ch'ing	Emperor	and	Coxinga	and	the	Chinese	were	at	liberty	to	

trade	at	both	places,	they	would	always	prefer	Tayouan	to	Quelang	as	long	as	it	was	at	all	possible	

to	sail	to	Tayouan	with	small	junks,	partly	because	Tayouan	can	be	reached	more	safely	than	

Quelang	since	the	Pescadores	lie	between	Tayouan	and	China,	where	they	can	always	anchor	on	

the	voyage	out	and	when	returning	should	they	encounter	bad	weather.	[...]	Furthermore,	we	

should	add	that	in	Tayouan	the	Chinese	always	find	something	to	buy	which	is	to	their	liking,	

deerskins,	rattan	and	such	like	merchandise	from	the	Formosan	inhabitants	and	in	return	a	large	

amount	of	small	Chinese	merchandise	on	which	a	pretty	penny	could	be	earned,	is	being	brought	

over.	On	the	other	hand,	in	Quelang	there	is	neither	meat	nor	rattan	to	be	had.	From	long	

experience	we	know	that	trading	junks	arrive	seldom	or	never	from	China,	or	return	there,	

without	having	brought	some	trifling	goods	and	in	return	having	spent	some	money	on	
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indigenous	rattan	or	venison.	We	also	inform	you	that	Quelang	is	not	as	easy	to	navigate	as	Your	

Honour	supposes,	either	from	Sansieuw	or	Hocksieuw,	because	only	sporadically	have	they	called	

at	this	place,	just	twice	a	year	and	then	always	at	the	turn	of	the	monsoon,	either	because	the	

Castilians	were	there	or	that	they	went	there	to	get	sulphur,	and	this	because	there	is	very	little	

anchor	ground	to	be	found	for	them	near	Quelang,	since	they	have	to	be	close	to	shore	before	

they	can	drop	anchor	because	generally	their	cables	are	36	to	40fathoms	long,	[...	]	and	it	is	often	

easy	to	run	into	trouble	there	by	variable	and	baffling	winds	and	when	these	shift	to	the	north	a	

lee	shore	is	created.	[...]	

[...](On	22	May,	Captain	Thomas	Pedel,	who	had	spent	about	a	month	in	the	north	a	

commissioner,	returned	to	Tayouan	in	the	pilot	boat,	in	the	company	of	the	former	Opperhoofd	of	

Tamsuy,	Merchant	Thomas	van	Iperen.	Among	other	things,	they	reported	that:)	[...]	The	peoples	

of	St	Jago	and	Kimaurij	were	greatly	in	need	of	rice	because	this	year	they	could	not	get	any	from	

the	Cavalang	villages	from	where	they	are	used	to	obtain	their	rice,	so	that	many	people	have	

perished	from	hunger	and	we	were	forced	to	send	about	25	lasten	of	rice	there	to	sell	to	the	

inhabitants	for	cash	at	their	request,	on	which	a	reasonable	profit	will	be	made.	However	we	have	

stipulated	that	it	should	not	be	sold	at	too	high	a	price	because	at	the	time	of	Mr	Overtwater	

when	we	were	in	need	of	rice,	these	inhabitants	had	assisted	us	well	with	rice	at	a	civil	price,	so	

that	we	trust	that	through	this	means	these	inhabitants	will	be	encouraged	to	show	obedience	to	

the	Company	with	all	the	more	affection	and	love.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	141-

	࣏.146
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Ň¢ќƷͽĔֶֹe˃ރߞ࣐IҖўǏǡܷ܉߸Κڮٿ۞�Mȅթ࣐ۡ�Ȇϫڮ۞�Ze

࣐Chenaer֜Ň¢ќŏŒ՘ŇƬ.�۞ڮωӅәƸ΀ͮ]_࣐܈ђ̖̓ϑ՘ϥ܉ɕ½�࣐˲

ٿ 1644ʕ࠙߫֜ܭ MaronƬɎўҨYіْݺ̡�۞ڮۻª޷ʾپӏϑࠢ.Maron՘èȘƷ

1646̎ 1647ʕࠝۻ�źӘ࣐߫࠙��ζζ【ڻӘӹˉ�.ọ̆ڮ۞�՘Ň¢ќȒڮٿ٬

۞�Mȅ՘ Basayܷ࣐�Ȇϫ Basay�ύڮ۞�ʎϥ࣐܈�½ɕϏӭ̓ Basay�՘Ϡ࣐֜ӝ

˃̠�½ëߥʎƫٺʁ՘֜܂Ә�½ÈתנŻࠓơ.Ƭт޾vś˼՘ Basay�ɕZˆZݎ

՘ޤvӜ޾࣐�фĚƫˉŇã՘ؘѵ܉�۞ڮεڠ.��՘΍۞ڮ̋ Basay�٥ȭl܉ő

ČÔȲ.тǫ࣐Basay�ŻܭƸ1òȢϠ֜޿ߍ޺ߧȔْϑȑ܎Ż۱̖࣐°ࠢا�ド�Ň¢

ќ՘ọ̆YI࣐Basayߗ�ΨlϏࠜȋọ̆ڮ۞�.ҖўΜ࡚ȫƂܱӘݾ܉Ʒ 11ϐ՘ͽֽ

ȝeđࠐǠŇ¢ќ.ȆϫݏŇ¢ќͽĔ�½՘ֶ§࣐�½ɕś�Ʒ࠷ޓ۞ڮČߏζޑČɧ

X̎Аϩࡼ׽࡙࣐܂È̸d̑.�½ܱӘͽֽȝeđεࠐǠ՘ώȅЭϏ࣐ʉϕپӏƎࢆ٪

҇ 40fڮ۞ǧñ࣐ĜXìW՗fɎîş˔ܴ՘Ň¢ќ.XࠐǠ.ࠢΝ޾v࠷ޓ՘࣐ؗ܀Җ

ўΜ࡚ܱӘƷ Plockhoy՘�ê1650࣎ʕɾŞ࣐࣏Ԗǔʂ؛ʇҳoْ࣐ࠤ࠳[тζԖǔlߞ

Ʒڮ۞�͋čY޾࡙࣐vԗ١ɕś࠷ޓࢁࢇ�.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

The	day	before	yesterday	Your	Honour's	missive	of	January	8	was	handed	over	to	us	by	the	

Chinese	adventurer	(sent	by	us	to	Your	Honour	over	land	on	the	12th	of	December).	Therein	we	

read	to	our	great	despair	that	Your	Honour	has	not	yet	been	able	to	decide	to	send	an	armed	
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force	in	this	direction,	since	Your	Honour	always	has	to	be	prepared	(as	rumour	had	it	a	few	years	

ago)	for	Coxinga,	whenever	he	should	be	chased	from	his	territory	and	try	to	undertake	some	

unpleasant	act	as	taking	up	residence	in	Formosa.	We	are	fully	aware	of	this,	since	we	too	have	

been	hearing	these	rumours	quite	often	from	time	to	time	since	September	1651.	However,	this	

causes	us	a	lot	of	worries,	because	this	warlord	is	perfectly	aware	that	Tayouan	would	be	to	bite	

off	more	than	he	can	chew	but,	on	the	other	hand,	if	he	is	chased	out	of	the	Chinese	land,	he	will	

have	to	penetrate	somewhere	with	his	forces.	He	might	just	as	well	come	to	visit	Tamsuy	instead	

of	Tayouan	simply	to	get	a	foothold	in	Formosa	for	a	while.	In	which	case	(God	forbid),	you	would	

see	a	sad	tragedy	being	played	out	with	us,	which	in	all	probability	could	not	be	told	by	any	of	us	

(after	we	had	fought	with	all	our	men	to	the	last	drop	of	blood).	

And	what	is	more	(and	is	most	valued	by	us	in	honour	of	the	Honourable	Company,	for	there	is	

rather	more	at	stake	in	this	what	we	already	have	than	of	that	about	which	it	is	not	yet	clear	if	it	

will	happen	or	not),	day	by	day	our	enemies	act	more	as	if	they	were	the	rulers	-	those	on	the	

other	side	[of	the	Tamsuy	River]	such	as	Perragon,	Parricoutsie	and	Mattatas.	Not	only	do	they	to	

our	regret	harass	and	rob	our	mussel	and	oyster	pickers	from	the	beach	every	day;	they	also	bar	

the	paths	so	closely	that	not	one	Chinese	can	come	from	there	to	bring	a	little	venison	for	our	

garrison,	and	these	inhabitants	strip	everything	from	all	the	Chinese	they	can	lay	their	hands	on,	

so	much	so	that	they	have	nothing	left	with	which	to	cover	their	intimate	parts,	as	the	one	who	

brings	you	this	letter	can	explain	to	Your	Honour	in	more	detail,	since	it	has	happened	to	him	

personally	on	several	occasions.	This	Chinese	has	been	in	great	danger	of	being	massacred	by	

them,	since	they	have	accused	him	of	having	come	from	Tayouan.	The	which	the	Chinese	denied	

with	many	well-contrived	and	misleading	stories,	saying	that	he	had	only	been	to	Dockodockol	to	

serve	his	master,	and	claimed	that	if	he	came	from	Tayouan,	he	would	be	carrying	letters	from	the	

Honourable	Lord	Governor	(which	he	had	hidden	in	the	false	bottom	of	the	water	canteen	in	

which	he	was	carrying	drinking	water).	This	was	accepted	by	them,	so	that	they	let	the	Chinese	

go,	who	is	now	rather	scared	about	arriving	safely	with	this	letter.	However,	he	thinks	he	run	the	

risk	of	undertaking	the	venture	yet	another	time.	

The	people	of	Pillien,	Rappan	and	Chenaer	are	acting	even	more	brutally	and	daringly,	for	they	

have	not	hesitated	(as	they	trust	their	fast	feet,	of	which	they	show	the	Dutch	soldier,	

approaching	them,	their	heels)	to	shoot	down	five	cows,	two	horses	and	a	donkey	and	leave	them	

stinking	in	the	field	as	a	prey	for	the	raven,	because	it	is	against	their	law	and	marenats	for	them	

to	eat	them,	saying	that	if	we	shoot	dead	the	cattle	of	the	Dutch	and	prohibit	anything	being	

delivered	from	their	villages,	they	will	starve	to	death.	On	top	of	that,	they	have	massacred	three	

of	our	Chinese	since	our	last	letter	and	tried	to	destroy	the	remains	of	the	quarter	(that	had	not	

caught	alight	the	first	time)	by	setting	fire	to	it,	at	which	time	they	wounded	many	Chinese	(who	

jumped	out	of	their	cover	to	extinguish	the	fire)	badly	from	behind	the	bushes	and	the	hills.	They	

also	dare	threaten	us	that	as	soon	as	they	have	sown	their	fields,	they	will	come	to	our	redoubt	

with	their	entire	band,	to	offer	the	Dutch	[the	pledge]	that	they	are	once	again	willing	to	live	in	
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peace	with	them,	and	if	this	is	not	accepted,	they	will	destroy	all	that	remains	by	fire	and	will	

attack	us	even	more	grievously	and	more	severely	than	they	did	on	December	8.	This	would	be	a	

rather	desperate,	and	nevertheless	most	distasteful	decision	for	us,	for	we	cannot	resist	them	

honourably	because	they	will	rally	up	at	the	foot	of	the	hill	and	march	up	right	under	our	canon.	

And,	once	their	eyes	are	opened,	they	could	camp	at	the	foot	of	the	hill,	when	our	firewood	and	

water	(of	which	you	understand	they	cannot	rob	us)	will	be	sufficiently	cut	off,	but	thank	God,	

Who	is	keeping	their	minds	ignorant	of	this	[tactic]	so	far,	and	we	shall	pray	that	this	situation	will	

continue,	God	have	mercy.	

Your	Honour's	letter	in	which	you	write	that	as	long	as	we	are	affable	to	the	Basay,	this	necessity	

cannot	be	taken	from	us,	alas,	matters	will	have	come	to	a	pretty	pass	if	we	have	to	rely	on	this	

small	bunch	of	fearsome	people.	For	these	rebels	can	threaten	them	that,	if	they	deliver	anything	

to	the	Dutch,	they	will	burn	down	their	village	and	take	them	all	to	their	own	villages	to	make	

arrows	and	other	iron	utensils.	In	that	case	these	poor	people	would	be	forced	to	become	the	

enemies	of	our	state	and	many	of	them	would	be	innocently	killed	should	Your	Honour	ever	wish	

to	restore	this	place	to	its	former	shape.	That	Your	Honour	esteems	these	rebels	harmless	we	can	

understand	as	it	derives	from	their	presumed	weakness,	but	with	all	due	respect,	you	are	wrong,	

for	the	old	captain	of	Chenaer	was	banned	from	Formosa	ten	or	twelve	years	ago	because	of	his	

treacherous	nature	and	because	he	wanted	to	poison	our	drinking	water.	His	son,	who	was	

appointed	in	the	captain's	place	at	the	time	of	Mr	Nolpe,	still	seems	to	be	looking	for	a	means	to	

avenge	this.	Also,	the	people	of	Pillien	and	Rappan	strongly	supported	the	Pinnerouan	during	the	

Pinnerouan	war.	They	have	even	often	spied	on	our	situation,	but	they	knew	how	to	dissimulate,	

so	that	they	could	never	openly	be	declared	enemies.	Your	Honour	will	have	to	reckon	that	the	

same	support	is	being	given	to	them	now	again,	for	most	Formosans	in	this	region,	the	Basay	

included,	are	blood	relatives	through	bonds	of	marriage,	so	that	all	these	people	might	conspire	

together	some	day,	and	then	will	come	to	raid	us	with	an	excellent	force,	unless	these	rebels	are	

destroyed	immediately.	Your	Honour	will	probably	say	or	think	that	Van	Mildert	has	little	

experience	of	war,	and	come	to	the	conclusion	that	he	fears	for	his	life,	but	no,	you	have	the	

wrong	end	of	the	stick,	for	I	think	my	respect	to	the	Company	and	my	private	honour	are	more	

important	to	me	(than	my	life).	Actually	my	intention	was	not	to	send	Your	Honour	our	letters	full	

of	complaints,	as	if	we	seemed	to	want	to	disturb	your	very	important	affairs	with	difficult	letters,	

for	that	would	not	satisfy	Your	Honour,	but	rather	to	lighten	the	worries	which	Your	Honour	might	

have	about	this	northern	district,	we	have(with	all	due	respect	for	Your	Honour's	wiser	opinion)	

been	thinking	of	measures	to	extinguish	this	blazing	fire	for	the	time	being	(without	Your	Honour	

having	to	send	over	a	big	military	force).	But	we	cannot	think	of	better	or	more	sufficient	

measures	(because	you	have	to	keep	the	soldiers	at	hand	in	Tayouan),	than	that	Your	Honour	

would	send	us,	upon	receipt	this	letter,	under	the	command	of	such	as	sage	a	man	as	you	think	is	

necessary,	a	small	troop	of	about	forty	Dutch	men,	together	with	200	or	300	of	the	most	loyal	
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inhabitants,	with	bows	and	arrows.	For	a	short	sally	we	will	be	able	to	add	as	many	people	from	

both	these	garrisons,	so	that	there	will	be	enough	Dutchmen	to	open	a	passage	along	for	the	

swift	Southern	inhabitants,	who	can	pursue	these	scoundrels	into	the	woods	and	the	mountains.	

For	we	are	very	fearful	and	can	hardly	doubt	that	we	would	be	tarrying	too	long	if	Your	Honour	

should	decide	to	wait	until	November,	since	those	people	will	have	harvested	their	rice	by	then,	

that	we	could	now	destroy	completely,	and	afterwards	remain	in	the	mountains	as	long	as	the	

armed	force	should	be	here.	The	harvest	time	is	also	a	very	convenient	time	to	ruin	their	fields,	

but	[this	has	to	be	undertaken]	with	boats,	and	we	can	understand	that	Your	Honour	cannot	

decide	to	send	so	many	inhabitants	hither,	yet,	if	you	want	to	achieve	this	task	with	Dutchmen,	

you	can	be	sure	that	you	will	have	to	feed	most	of	them	in	hospital,	and	many	of	them	can	forget	

about	ever	returning	[from	here],	because	of	the	venomous	stings	and	the	stench	of	the	

unhealthy	air	and	the	stinking	quagmires.	For	which	reason,	as	said	before,	in	our	opinion,	but	we	

shall	always	bow	for	Your	Honour's	wiser	opinion	[but]	we	think	it	advisable	that	this	task	be	

undertaken	as	quickly	as	possible,	to	which	end	the	last	month	of	March	(which	was	very	dry)	has	

offered	the	right	opportunity	so	that	the	road	will	be	agreeably	passable,	and	[caught]	between	

hope	and	fear	we	are	longing	for	it	and	praying	to	God.	Your	Honour	is	right	when	you	write	that	

we	do	not	have	the	provisions	to	feed	such	an	armed	force,	that	is	true	if	this	required	to	be	done	

with	meat	and	bacon,	but	we	have	already	found	another	remedy	for	this,	so	that	we	would	have	

given	those	people	no	reason	to	complain	about	their	victuals.	For	during	the	time	of	Plockhoy,	

pits	have	been	dug	and	traps	have	been	laid	everywhere,	to	make	a	good	living.	How	much	more	

convenient	it	would	be	to	do	so	in	times	of	emergency,	to	feed	our	soldiers,	and	in	doing	so,	we	

too	(because	the	hunting	fields	would	then	be	opened	to	us	instead	of	to	the	enemies)	would	

have	a	fresh	morsel	every	now	and	then,	and	our	ears	could	be	spared	the	wailing	and	

complaining	of	the	soldiers	about	the	scurvy,	diarrhoea,	and	the	treacherous	Tamsuy	fevers,	

which,	God	have	mercy,	grieves	us	all	to	the	core	of	our	hearts,	and	the	hunting	fields	out	here	

would	not	be	rapidly	exhausted	by	this.࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	152-155.࣏	

1656ʕ 3ϐ 12Υ	

YʌƎĦȫPieter	van	MildertãԵˇҖўª·ؾ࣐ϗϜϐlΥ.…Ͻズܭ·êȴ࣐�½
ࢴ߸՘Ʀ̋߂½�ؗ܂ߡvŒ˅ƷߡˉIǓ࣐܂ߡ½�Iވ࠴Ժ؛࠷ޓÀSͼחƷߞ

ӣŻۚߡ࣐܍vŒ˅Ʒ2ϐʚ׋ΉǱٶド࣐ܬ�½ɉΝޮΥʎࡪј�đωǱ՘фĚª
΀̙ҖўǏ܉_࣐яъԄՀ�ōƷߡSʎծČ՘Să࣐ӝ˃�½Ϗ޸Iڮ۞�IZČ

՘ɧִ܂Г�½՘ֶԹ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ24וõ࣏ࡢ31ו	
P.van	MiIdert…ؗC.Caesar՘·࣐Җў1656࣐ʕ3ϐ1Υ.V0C1218࣐fol.	482-483.	

2ϐ24Υ࣐ϩ�ọ̆ڻ߈e֜՘֜ќۻε½�ܷ࣐ןª̜Җў՘bڻ՘߫࠙Ɔ࣏Chenaer࣎֜

Җў̹࣎ђ̓cantadoor܉�՘Ň¢ќȒ٬ܷ۞ڮvọ̆ߡ.՘ޤ�Ż�՘ȳ�εӜ࣐�۞ڮ
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՘b࣏ן՘̕Ș࣐я̓�՘ԄՀ࣐ÎݸǏǡ՘ФЊ࣒̻࣎ś٪ۗ܉тƭ¢࣐࣏�۞ڮӝ˃ޑČ

�Ƭтϩ࣐�v޾ΗoܛBasay߫࠙ ޾.ʁ՘Թٺ½�ִ܂�ZΉI՘ɧ۞ڮ֜ɕтドYф

ơo.Ň¢ќܷ�½ռߎԢ�bןvan	MildertεҬŻ՘࣐��½G『՘εđ�bןElsevier.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ 	
[...]	On	the	27	February	the	Cabessa	of	Chenaer	and	his	entire	family	have,	with	tears	in	their	

eyes,	complained	(justas	they	had	done	several	times	to	the	Interpreter	Gravel	Loemas)	to	our	

Interpreter	Theodoor.	Captain	Gravel	Loemas	and	Fiscal	Thoebas	Bouw,	that	they	are	not	guilty	of	

the	war	now	raging,	but	that	it	was	initiated	by	some	obstinate	subjects	of	the	same	village,	and	

that	they	themselves	wished	to	get	rid	of	this	bunch,	but	do	not	have	the	guts	to	contradict	them	

for	fear	of	being	beaten	to	death,	so	that	they	are	caught	between	two	fires.	

At	the	same	time	the	rebels	of	the	same	village	have	threatened	us	more	vehemently	and	more	

daringly	than	they	have	ever	done,	and	among	their	threats	have	used	many	curses	which	are	

intolerable	to	the	Honourable	Company,	such	as	saying	with	their	bows	stretched	and	while	

slapping	on	their	arses:	"What	is	the	Company	and	what	kind	of	people	are	you,	who	are	under	its	

obedience?	If	we	want	to,	we	could	shoot	you	down	right	away,	and	tell	the	cantadoor	(that	is	

what	they	call	the	opperhoofd),	that	we	are	going	to	destroy	his	house	and	his	cattle	by	the	rising	

of	the	next	moon,	and	are	going	to	steal	away	the	steps	in	front	of	the	redoubt,	after	which	we	

shall	leave	for	the	mountains,	where	the	Company	cannot	chase	us	away,	to	plant	our	rice	

paddies."	For	this	vain	speech	they	were	reprimanded	by	the	said	Basay	and	urged	to	beg	for	

forgiveness,	so	that	at	the	moment	all	village	peoples	are	under	obedience	to	the	Company,	and	

are	keeping	quiet	in	peace	just	as	we	wanted,	without	a	single	extortion.	Upon	this	the	scoundrels	

answered	that	they	knew	very	well	that	the	present	cantadoor	was	a	mild-mannered	man,	and	

that	the	present	war	was	being	waged	against	him	undeservedly,	but	that	the	former	cantadoor	

had	embittered	them,	and	now	that	they	were	embroiled	in	it,	they	had	to	get	on	with	it.	We	shall	

endure	this	foolhardy	decision	with	manly	courage	(as	far	as	we	can),	without	running	the	risk	of	

easily	spilling	Dutch	blood,	according	to	the	order	wisely	given	by	Your	Honour.[...]࣎The	

Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	156-157.࣏	

1656ʕ 3ϐ 18Υ	

ڎ○ѪȭԸ_࣐》՘q׳ࡆҖўŻߟ.ܚϏƎ݋ܧ Zoutelande࣐ۤŻ̌½ڑߡɐ՘ࡪ
ң࣐ڌª7޷ǧñ8I݋ܧ࣐]ْ.܂ߡϏ݋Ƃ½ܱӘ࣐Ժʄ؞ߏwࠞY҇ªтƸܹ

ϳεkśܠѻnʰҺ�ª׳ࡆyΰ.ƎĦȫ Johannes	van	den	EyndeãԵӘ޾է՘࣐
с܉Iߚ�̖࣐܂ߡ�ス�X޲ìǄǏ7׳ࡆŻҖў8՘ώ࢛̈́жّ࣐Ƭтࠞ�࣐Y

ɉ޾ޅи҇ߓ՘ǧñSݺÿՕǏ࣐׳ࡆ½l܉ҩÐS�҇�I܂ߡ՘ܮ؎̹�ؗ�
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ʎI.Ϗ݋ϑࠢ՘šִ《ʹ࣐ˇ�ǲ՘Ѫࠄ݋śܮܮ�؎؎ƸծČ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2

ו 4õו 	࣏ࡢ34
ؗ J.	van	den	Eynden՘̹ٿ��źԉپ࣐ӏ1656࣐ʕ 4ϐ 8Υ.VOC	1218࣐347-331࣐

348.	

Resolution.	Tayouan,	18	March	1656.	VOC	1218࣐fol.	81-83.	

ӘǜʵҖўǏǡ՘֤ࠥĚ࣐Ѫ݋ǜ҇ 80fǧñٿ࣐ՆƸ՘ 30fǧñS֤ࠥݺҖў.Җў

Ǐǡ՘ɞࡣXɉǜĜ֤ࠥɽq࣐_ͦÿ 1500֒՘Ӑۛٿ 20	last՘ֶ׵§Әؗ܀.ˇʄ؞ߏ

w҇ªܹϳ׳ࡆεkϑś٪nʰҺ�ªݥΰ՘ƎĦȫ Johannes	van	den	Eyndelۻ�źӘࡆ

ƎĦȫ.ߎӏңپ՘࠽ŀٮ�ɕ٪タ۞ڮ࣐ΰݥ׳ࡆȆϫ٪nʰҺ�I.ןҖў՘b׳ van	

den	EyndeΝ 4ϐ 8ΥÿՕ.X.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

From	this	moment,	proceedings	have	been	commenced	to	consider	how	to	provision	the	afore-

mentioned	districts,	to	strengthen	them	to	their	defences	and	to	equip	them	with	food	and	

martial	outfits,	and	it	has	initially	been	concluded	to	strengthen	the	garrisons	out	there	with	fifty	

military	men,	and	the	remaining	twenty	men	in	the	Quelang	area.	

Also,	that	the	Tamsuy	redoubt,	under	which	the	enemy	can	loiter	and	not	be	harmed	at	all	by	

those	who	are	inside,	as	became	all	too	clear	during	the	recent	assault	on	December	8thlast,	

should	be	made	easier	to	defend.	So	it	has	been	concluded	and	decided	that	this	redoubt	will	be	

provided	with	two	protruding	ramparts	on	top.	[...]	Also,	the	said	districts	will	be	provided	with	

1,500	pounds	of	good	gunpowder,	plus	twenty	loads	of	rice	for	provisions,	to	satisfy	the	whole	

order	required	from	there	as	well	as	is	in	our	power.	Among	their	wishes	are	included	6,000	

pieces	of	Spanish	reals,	but	there	are	no	more	than	1564	remaining	in	our	store	houses,	to	which	

will	be	added	and	sent	over	2436	pieces	of	statendaalders,	in	order	to	complete	the	amount	of	

4,000	pieces	in	all.	These	statendaalders	as	well	as	the	Spanish	reals	will	be	sent	over	there	as	

commodities	or	silver,	against	62	stuyvers	each.	[...]	

Furthermore,	the	said	Van	der	Eijnden	will	be	provided	with	full	instructions	by	us,	so	that	

everything	in	those	Northern	districts	will	proceed	in	good	order,	mostly	in	this	troublesome	state	

of	war	and	rebellion	in	Tamsuy,	and	also	on	the	subject	of	improving	trade	in	Quelang.࣎The	

Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	163-164.࣏	

1656ʕ 4ϐ 8Υ	

XʌƎĦȫ Johames	van	den	EyndeãԵҩÐȅ܉࣐IҖўŻ׳ࡆ՘̖ϑq《ޅ_࣐
࠙ȫࠞYާ۲e˃࣐�ǲ`Ķ࣐ɕイڈڇÿң࣐Iイ○ڎ Zoutelandeۤ.Van	den	
Eyndeε܉�Xߡ޲ì»ƸΜ՘ԅ�ώ࢛bސןĂI܂ߡ՘࣐ԅĉεߘ܉Ӣʄ؞ߏw
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«޾yؗ½̌.˜࠽ӏңǫ՘ŀپࡇ Van	den	EyndeS�ˁܮ؎՘̹�©�ࠞYռ̖
ծČ.198܂׮·�śƷϊ̹�޾࣐ˊߘ

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 4õו 	࣏ࡢ48
Instruction	from	Governor	Cornelis	Caesar	for	Senior	Merchant	Joannes	van	den	Eijnden,	

departing	to	Tamsuy	and	Quelang	as	opperhoofd.	Tayouan,8	April	1656.	VOC	1218,	fol.	331-347.	

ӏͦÿ՘پˇ 50fǧñ30࣐f҇ࢎҖўǏǡ20࣐f҇׳ࡆࢎǏǡپ࣐ӏƎࢆΜ࡚ܱӘ޾

ШɕށǮࠥ۵޾ì»Ǐǡ._[܉Ѿ˲Ȇ¥nʰҺƎIݥ׳ࡆΰ.߸޲ 1655ʕ 12ϐ 8Υ

Pillien-Rappan-ChenaerW֜՘Ň¢ќŚࡁS՗�,ƱҖўǏǡ࣐ӭ̓ǏǡɧٲYҺ�Ż

îşٞƂ՘̕Ș.Ň¢ќイݺ ࣐ͮߞР̎ǱօزѮަѻ�Ӑޓȥ۞ڮْ࣐΀߆՘ФЊ࠸28

ŏْࠀˇۻղɈ߆՘נջяъW�.�Ň¢ќlőČSv͗Ô̖࣐�ώ˃ߞεͥ޶o.e

˃ọ̆՘Ň¢ќя̓îş՘ԁࢍ.Basay�Ѯϑ߂ڻޅŏ࣐�ՆƸbן van	MildertɎтթ

ՆѮϑ·ˎ.پӏƎࢆΜ࡚ռ࣐ߎѕՆîş՘ΚbןてߏҖўζ࣐ҖўƸ1՘Ň¢ќߧϏ

Iпޭ۹֛_࣐�˔ܴ.§ӘΚ�b࣐ןvan	den	EydenˏؗࡦŇ¢ќƦϾ՘̹֛ࠥ�࣐�

ŻҖў՘Ň¢ќ՘Ե҆Μʮј׳ࡆ࣐Μ࡚߲͐ࢆӏƎپ.ªݺ�՘Ϡٜ֜a۞ڮọ̆ٿ½

ܱ�۞ڮ.ܕ』חx�½Әԋ-『Ѝֵ¯࠼�Zś࣐ˀe֥�ࡦˏ΃࣐՘Ň¢ќΐήߥ:

Ә޾࣐εƬӘ�½őČ܈ԡԀ�՘ʻ࣐ࡡSζࠝã̠ީؿūYI࣐�Υ˃Ϗö̜ЭϏˉ

�.тۡŌ߸޲ van	MildertΝ 3ϐ 1Υª·՘Ǔsܷ࣐ Chenaer֜�Ȱֵ�½εްۻéǰ

ọ̆ڮ۞�՘.тǫ࣐van	Mildert̖͐ߓ࣐҇݋ 400f:ߥŇ¢ќ.XࠐǠeqپ࣐ӏƎ

࠳ƬӘ࣐̽lZś۲࠷ޓࢂ١ªؗࢯԸ࣐ࢯ́ࠤ࠳Ł©Ʒ:ɴƸ1࣐̽Μ࡚ܱӘZś۲ࢆ

ŏ՘Ň¢ќ͋č߂ۻ؛ǔʂࢯöܷԢƷ:ɴ՘࣐S»ϐし٪Ȩ̋ڙ�ƪt2fҺ܉ࡍࠤ

o.خeࠐ܉࣐ǠŇ¢ќ՘࣐ܬώȅחʄ؞ߏwΜ࡚՘ǜ͖Čªöܷ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

It	is	known	to	Your	Honour	as	well	as	to	us,	[...]	how	bad	these	matters	in	Tamsuy	are,	after	not	

only	the	Pocael	people,	but	also	the	inhabitants	of	Perragon,	Parricoutsie	and	Mattatas	have	

declared	themselves	to	be	enemies	of	the	Company,	and	now	that	they	have	been	supplemented	

by	those	from	Pillien	and	Rappan,	as	well	as	those	from	the	village	Chenaer.	All	these	villages	are	

situated	close	to	the	redoubt	of	Tamsuy,	except	that	of	the	people	of	Pocael,	who	are	living	

fourteen	to	fifteen	hours'	walk	farther	south.	It	is	necessary	that	they	be	punished	as	an	example	

to	others,	but	since	nowadays	we	lack	the	power	to	execute	this	in	the	safest	possible	way,	we	

have	written	about	this	to	Batavia.	So	we	have	no	doubt	that	Their	Honours	will	send	us	some	

help	with	the	ships	they	are	about	to	dispatch,	so	that	we	can	avenge	the	injustice	done	to	us,	

and	consequently	we	have	to	be	patient	until	that	time	comes.	But	we	could	not	refrain	from	

withdrawing	fifty	sturdy	soldiers	from	our	garrison,	of	whom	you	will	have	to	place	thirty	in	

Tamsuy	and	twenty	in	Quelang.	We	think	that	in	doing	so,	these	places	can	be	sufficiently	

																																																								
198	 ԺтюݦΔ࣐śׇռʄ؞ߏwՆɚ【̠܉ VOC Ʒپӏ՘΂ѵ-؛Ӈ-ݥΰ`ˎپˇ࣐ӏ֯ߙIࡆ

.׳ 	
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defended	for	the	time	being,	provided	that	no	sorties	are	made,	you	are	under	strictest	orders	to	

refrain	from	doing	so,	unless	there	should	be	a	considerable	profit	in	doing	so,	but	not	otherwise.	

It	seems	that	the	redoubt	of	Tamsuy	is	the	weaker	of	the	two	strongholds.	On	the	8	December	

last	it	happened	that	the	people	from	Pillien,	Rappan	and	the	village	of	Chenaer	did	not	hesitate	

to	assault	this	fort	with	a	force	of	about	a	hundred	men,	after	they	had	first	set	fire	to	the	Chinese	

quarter	and	the	houses	of	the	Company's	servants	which	were	situated	below	the	fort,	and	then	

came	running	up	the	slope	of	the	redoubt	in	a	fury	and	so	recklessly,	that	they	seemed	out	of	

their	minds	and	tired	of	life.	But	their	assault	was	not	unlucky,	because,	when	they	had	mounted	

some	twenty-eight	steps	to	the	redoubt,	they	could	not	be	shot	at	with	muskets	or	canon	by	our	

men,	and	fired	so	many	arrows	through	the	canon	ports	that	three	of	our	men	were	killed.	But	

some	of	the	rebels	were	killed	and	wounded	(as	we	were	told),	so	that	in	the	end	they	retreated.	

But	afterwards	they	dared	to	kill	some	of	the	Company	horses	and	cows,	just	at	the	foot	of	the	

fort,	so	that	our	men	had	to	stay	patiently	inside	the	fort,	as	if	they	had	been	locked	in.	They	even	

feared	that	the	wretches	would	cut	them	off	from	their	water	and	firewood.	This	we	think	is	not	

possible,	as	long	as	the	Basayos	remain	true	to	us,	even	though	Junior	Merchant	Van	Mildert	is	

very	pessimistic	about	it.	The	said	rebels	are	even	threatening	our	men	boasting	that	they	will	

repeat	their	assault	soon,	so	we	have	thought	it	wise	to	have	made	two	protruding	wooden	

ramparts	on	this	redoubt.	[...]	In	this	way	it	can	be	prevented	that	even	any	cat	or	mouse,	as	it	

were,	will	be	able	to	get	under	[the	shelter	of]	the	redoubt	without	being	shot	at	from	all	sides,	

and	can	be	kept	away	from	there	with	hand	grenades,	to	which	end	we	have	given	orders	to	ship	

the	materials	and	other	necessities	

[...]Undoubtedly,	whenever	the	peoples	of	the	villages	which	are	situated	along	the	Tamsuy	River	

(who	at	the	moment	are	keeping	quiet,	and	are	considered	to	be	so-called	friends)	receive	the	

news	that	Your	Honour	has	personally	come	ashore	to	take	up	the	high	command,	they	will	come	

over	to	bid	Your	Honour	welcome.	You	should	receive	them	all	well,	and	remind	them	of	their	

obligations.	You	should	also	give	them	strict	orders	that	they	will	maintain	no	alliance	with	any	of	

the	rebels	who	turn	against	the	Company,	or	even	less	assist	them,	on	penalty	that	next	time	they	

will	be	punished	with	the	rebels.	Please	be	aware	that	the	said	inhabitants	who	live	around	

Tamsuy	and	Quelang	are	much	more	civilized	in	their	way	of	life	and	behaviour	than	any	

inhabitants	on	this	side,	and	for	that	reason	you	must	treat	them	very	courteously	and	not	call	

them	dogs,	scoundrels	and	the	like.	For	they	have	to	some	extent	absorbed	the	Spanish	nature	of	

containing	themselves	whenever	they	are	being	scolded,	but	will	not	hesitate	to	take	their	

revenge	if	an	opportunity	arises	later	on,	even	if	it	cost	them	their	lives.	[...]	

[...]It	could	also	happen	that	some	rebels,	according	to	what	was	heard	from	those	of	the	hamlet	

Chenaer,	are	inclined	to	make	peace	with	the	Company,	since	there	are	some	headmen	in	that	

village	who	have	been	forced	to	join	the	rebels,	for	fear	of	being	beaten	to	death	by	them.	This	is	

similar	to	what	Junior	Merchant	Van	Mildert	tells	us	in	his	letter	of	the	first	of	last	month,	in	

which	he	says	that	on	February24thlast,the	Cabessa	of	Chenaer	and	his	entire	family	complained	



	ՄܗࡁΔ՘͙ݦΐԘލήɧưȳîƲ�ΐŝ࠵

	ζϗаЃߩōή۞ڮ-ԡԀ܈(

	180	

with	tears	in	their	eyes	on	our	Interpreter	Theodoor,	Captain	Granvello	Loemas	and	Fiscal	Thobas	

Bauw,	as	has	happened	several	times	to	the	interpreter	Granvello	Loemas,	that	they	were	not	

guilty	of	waging	war,	and	that	they	wanted	to	live	in	peace	with	the	Company	as	before,	and	be	

free	of	the	rebels,	or	would	try	to	reduce	them	to	obedience.	They	[the	rebels]	had	been	

exhorted	several	times	by	them	to	do	so,	but	it	has	been	to	no	avail,	and	they	said	that	the	said	

rebels	did	not	want	to	listen.	But	they	confessed	they	had	done	wrong	to	wage	war	against	Van	

Mildert,	who	was	innocent,	but	that	Mr	Elsevier	had	caused	this	and	so,	now	that	matters	have	

come	so	far,	they	had	to	manage,	and	trust	upon	their	stretched	bows	and	their	fast	feet.	

Furthermore	they	spoke	very	audaciously:	"What	is	the	Company,	and	who	are	you	who	bow	

before	it,	if	we	want	to,	we	can	shoot	you	all	down,"	while	they	were	slapping	their	backsides.	

They	also	threatened	us	that	they	wanted	to	fight	us	again	soon,	by	the	next	full	moon,	and	after	

they	had	accomplished	this	they	would	go	into	the	mountains,	where	they	think	our	people	

would	not	be	able	to	come,	to	set	out	their	rice	paddies.	Therefore,	it	has	been	concluded	by	us	in	

the	Council	of	Formosa,	should	some	people	from	the	rebellious	villages	appear	before	you	with	

the	request	again	to	be	granted	your	mercy,	to	deliver	you	a	mandate	that	you	should	not	accept	

this,	unless	the	suppliants	should	hand	over	to	you	from	every	village	which	makes	the	request,	

five	or	six	of	the	main	villains	and	perpetrators	of	their	murders	and	villainies,	so	that	we	can	

punish	them	as	we	think	best.	If	all	goes	in	this	wise,	you	may	accept	them	again,	but	not	

otherwise.	Because	the	deeds	they	have	committed	are	too	wicked	and	if	we	get	more	help,	we	

still	intend	to	punish	them	as	an	example	in	such	a	way,	that	afterwards	nobody	will	dream	of	

taking	up	any	arms	against	the	Company,	and	even	less	commit	such	crimes.	[...]	

…To	want	to	take	another	fifty	Dutchmen	away	from	the	garrisons	of	Quelang	and	Tamsuy	and	

then	join	them	to	the	said	force	in	order	to	deal	with	the	rebels,	what	other	upshot	could	there	

be	than	that	both	the	forts	would	be	put	at	risk,	and	the	rebels	given	a	wonderful	opportunity	to	

take	them,	for	he	complains	that	they	had	no	end	of	trouble	when	a	hundred	men	launched	an	

assault	on	the	redoubt	of	Tamsuy	on	the	8th	of	December.	What	would	have	happened	if	the	

majority	of	the	men	had	been	sent	out	to	be	used	for	an	expedition?	Do	not	hesitate	to	think	that	

the	rebels	would	know	how	to	take	advantage	of	the	situation,	therefore	it	is	best,	in	our	opinion,	

that	we	wait	patiently	for	the	help	demanded	and	ensure	our	forts	are	well	maimed	until	the	time	

has	come	for	a	strong	armed	force	to	be	sent	there	to	avenge	everything	with	such	power	as	the	

circumstances	require,	instead	of	organising	such	a	heedless	excursion.	Therefore,	Your	Honour	

should	order	him	not	to	endanger	his	men,	but	to	persevere	with	the	defence	of	himself	and	his	

people,	in	case	the	rebels	should	come	to	harass	him	again.	Moreover,	Your	Honour	is	advised	to	

ensure	this	is	what	happens.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	169-172.࣏	
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1656ʕ 5ϐ 3Υ	
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	࣏ࡢ57ו4õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ƫªтƸڻ࠼ӡӕ܁ZoutelandeۤZdlϏڎ○

J.	vandenEynden…ؗC.	Caesar՘·1656࣐׳ࡆ࣐ʕ4ϐ24��VOC1218࣐fol.484-485݊͟ڢ࣐

	࣒ࠄ

	 [...]	

The	rebellious	villages	situated	around	Tamsuy	seem	to	be	very	sorry	for	their	mistakes,	so	that	

they	have	been	asking	by	way	of	several	commanders	among	our	friends	in	other	villages	to	be	

accepted	under	our	indulgence	again.	To	which	I	have	answered	that	they	should	first	hand	over	

the	most	important	scoundrels	to	us,	and	we	would	then	write	to	the	Honourable	Lord	Governor	

in	Tayouan.	That	they	have	promised	to	do.	Time	will	tell	what	will	come	of	it,	I	am	absolutely	

confident	that	for	the	time	being	we	need	not	fear	that	anything	will	be	attempted	by	the	

inhabitants	on	the	redoubt	or	against	the	Company	servants.	However,	I	have	advised	the	

[Company]	authorities	in	Tamsuy	very	urgently	that	they	should	always	be	on	the	alert.	How	the	

Pergon	have	been	treated	by	those	from	Pocael	or	Dockodockol,	Your	Honours	will	please	see	for	

yourselves	in	the	extract	from	the	dagregister	of	Tamsuy.	The	wood	which	has	been	put	out	to	

tender	for	the	gun	carriages	is	showing	up	very	slowly,	both	here	and	in	Tamsuy,	no	more	than	

two	planks	have	arrived	here	and	ten	in	Tamsuy.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	p.	183.࣏	
P.	vanMiIdert…ؗC.	Caesar՘·࣐Җў1656࣐ʕ4ϐ28Υ.VOC1218486�487࣐.	

1656ʕ 5ϐ 16Υ	

֣ӻ͡Ѱ݋ܧϏ�ʕ 4ϐ 20ΥѪ݋՘S»s֛࣐…Ʀ֡ƷҖўŻ׳ࡆ�ǫ՘֣ӻ͡
Ѱɱ՘.ߥƸ1yΰ࠿ڌّ࣐�ߐ࣐ŻݞԃɉۻѮͽeǫߞ�࣐ɉőČܭs֛…ή՘

w՘вϳȫ-֫ϊŻî݇�ɉ{a܈ɫـӏ�ōƷκپðŻưƷ޾lî�ࠢΝ.ؽۡ

ѻݦە՘֏ȭ܌Đ.ώ˃lî�S»�Ǝʛ՘۲ߘ�՘ɐʝ۷ߺ՘܌ȭ.޾vîs՘

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ࡤq݋Υϗ՘թࠢѪ޲Xࠄ݋s֛�ōѪܭêȴśJࠠ؎ܮ 4õו

	࣏ࡢ65
Resolution.	Tayouan,	20	April	1656.	VOC	1218࣐fol.	88-101.	

֡рƷ׳ࡆŻҖў�ǫ՘پӏ.ݥ۲߆ߥΰ..ߥ՘פƱˇԁ֜ؿɎɬ�.࣎מݺŁ�Ǳ

Իҫ�.࣐࣏,Ů:ɴ-אǙ-Cinkanjaڝ�࣎Ϲ˃ࣂΚң�.ӏɱپ࣐࣏ɷɧ࣎Pangswa-࣏

	.۲݇՘Ǝ�ś�«ǫ޿ɬŻϥɬ.Řϑ̸ԅĉϼú܈՘ߥ

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]Furthermore,	[...]	for	important	reasons	it	has	been	agreed	and	decided	in	this	meeting	that	all	

and	everyone	is	strictly	forbidden	by	placard	from	now	on,	to	trade	in	merchandise	or	to	barter,	
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on	a	big	or	small	scale,	on	land	or	on	water,	directly	or	indirectly,	in	whatever	way,	in	the	northern	

part	of	Formosa,	counting	from	the	other	side	or	north	of	the	village	Goemach	to	the	north.	That	

means	in	the	districts	of	Lamcan,	Tixam,	Cinkanja,	Pangswa	and	that	area,	or	wherever	it	may	be	

in	the	northern	district	of	Formosa,	and	also	on	the	western	side	or	the	eastern	side	of	this	island,	

or	inland,	but	only	with	the	Honourable	Company	in	Quelang	or	Tamsuy,	where	and	with	whom	it	

will	be	allowed.	But	with	nobody	else	but	the	Honourable	Company,	unless	a	written	passport	

that	has	been	issued	in	someone's	name	for	some	reason	or	other	and	permission	for	this	should	

be	given	and	handed	over	at	any	given	moment	in	the	future.	But	the	trade	in	the	above-

mentioned	manner	will	be	strictly	forbidden	in	the	afore-mentioned	northern	district,	on	the	

penalty	of	confiscation	of	all	boats	and	goods	with	which	it	should	be	found	out	to	have	been	

transacted	against	this	in	the	same	northern	district,	just	as	goods	which	might	be	found	over	

there	without	our	express	consent	in	writing,	unless	it	should	prove	to	be	made	clear	that	such	a	

vessel	as	was	found	in	that	district	had	come	to	that	district	because	of	a	storm,	lightning	or	

severe	damage.	In	that	case,	however,	trade	will	remain	absolutely	forbidden,	on	the	penalty	of	

confiscation	as	above.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	p.	181.࣏	

1656ʕ 5ϐ 19Υ	

XʌƎĦȫJohannes	van	den	Eynde·͐Č࣐YʌƎĦȫVan	MildertˇҖў…·sܣ�
�ọ̆՘ϩ࣐ܷ֜՘Œ˅࣐ծČ̌½_Ѯϑ҇ÿށǮɎ��½՘ޓĚI࣐܂ߡɕŌࠜ

ȋσĤݺª࣐�½SǱل�ˁǱٶƸªČ7ߡࡇބҖў՘8֋Ǐ؂2tĂֱވࠒ՘Ƹ

Μ܉½�࣐ܷ࣐ªȒߡ٬֋Ǐ࣐ɕÖאǙ֜�ȅd�đȒߡߍ٬Ш.޾֋Ǐ՘ΕӼʂ

࣐ࡣΚ֋Ǐ՘ɞٍߥë܉ࡍߞ˃�.ˁϑࠥ۵՘٪Ěo؛֋ǏʂܭԢƷ࣐ȅȨ̋߂؛

ƬӘߡɞࡣϑࠜ۽՘ŀ1࣎.࠽Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ24וõ࣏ࡢ67ו	
J.	van	den	EyndenٿP.	van	Milder…ؗC.	Caesar՘·1656࣐׳ࡆ࣐ʕ5ϐ9Υ࣐VOC	1218࣐fol.	488-

490.	

ϩ�࣏֜Chenaer࣎ ծČڮ۞�ǜ͖՘࠷ޓѮϑ΀ͮ�½࣐Ōࠜȋ߂ŏ.�½Ǳ̛ٚࡁΝࡇҖ

ўîşǏǡ0.25ڮƄ؂15࣐Ăֱވࠒ՘Ѱɶ࣐�Ōֵٝ�½εőČȒ٬しࢵ޾È՘.Ә֤ࠥ

ҖўǏǡ࣐ǜצ՘֤ࠥɽqʂΝ5ϐ6ΥȨɽ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...	]	Junior	Merchant	Pieter	van	Mildert,	whom	I	have	summoned	here	from	Tamsuy,	has	(God	be	

praised)	arrived	in	good	order,	and	has	told	us	that	the	desperate	inhabitants	of	Chenaer	are	

beginning	to	stick	their	horns	up	again,	since	they	were	not	assaulted	or	destroyed	upon	our	

arrival	(of	which	they	seemed	to	be	scared).	They	even	have	the	guts	to	venture	into	the	sand	

dunes	(lying	about	 mile	from	the	redoubt)	in	big	bands,	just	as	before,	and	as	it	is	said,	they	

explain	orally	that	they	are	being	threatened	only	[by	the	Company],	just	as	the	Pocael	people	
4
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were	threatened	for	many	years.	While	we	know	that	this	will	put	them	on	quite	a	different	

footing,	and	that	this	will	come	upon	them	as	they	were	seized	by	fever.	Therefore	we	request	

that	what	was	concluded	in	the	Council	of	Formosa,	namely	to	send	a	sufficient	armed	force	from	

Tayouan	to	us	in	September,	may	be	realized,	since	I	notice	that	if	not	the	rebels	will	turn	against	

our	state	more	violently	than	ever	before.	[...]As	soon	as	possible	we	have	begun	to	build	the	

ramparts	on	the	redoubt	Anthonio	as	ordered	by	Your	Honour,	and	they	were	completed	on	the	

6th	of	this	month.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	p.	184.࣏	

1656ʕ 6ϐ 24Υ	

Jࠠڎ○࣒ؗ Arnemuydenۤ-ʔʚڌ ConinckDavidۤٿǱʈڌ RodeVosۤ՘bן½՘̹

1656ʕ࣐w؞ߏʄ࣐� 5ϐ 19Υ.VOC	880189-188࣐.	

J.	Maetsuycker…ؗ C.	Caesar՘·࣐ʄ؞ߏw1656࣐ʕ 5ϐ 19Υ.VOC	880࣐fol.	189-219.	

ȆϫҖўǏǡ՘࠷ޓ۞ڮӜѻˠˉՆƸ՘ؘѵ֮ʙ࣐ŌŘ٪࡙پӏΜ࡚࣐ؗ܀ɉϏࠩ¡î

ş՘Ȓ·࣐ɎؘѵZĊ.Ƭтʄ؞ߏwΜ࡚e˲پӏƎࢆΜ࡚ĤԸپӏ՘ޓࢎょŐ۲Ĥ.

�l܉Ѿ˲ти՘Ň¢ќọ̆ߥĂlεƬӘٺ�۞ڮʁؘѵǶՆ̖࣐ٽ΃̍̄܉Ԉّ࣐ࠈ

	.ڡќçőǶ΂eٸӏɱX՘پݏ

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	The	gold	weighing	8	 	 reals	bought	in	Tamsuy	in	exchange	for	iron,	which	was	sent	to	us	by	

Your	Honour	last	year	has	been	sold	in	Coromandel	at	an	unheard	of	profit	of	59	per	cent,	so	that	

it	would	be	desirable	if	more	could	be	got.	[...]	

[...]	(The	situation	in	Tamsuy	had	deteriorated	considerably,	since	the	villages	Perragon,	

Parricoutsie,	Mattatas	and	others	had	rebelled	and	had	killed	four	Dutchmen:),	the	more	so	

because	the	said	rebels	had	conspired	with	the	inhabitants	of	Pocael,	Pillien,	Rappan	and	

Chenaer,	which	are	situated	very	close	to	the	redoubt	of	Tamsuy,	and	have	become	so	daring	that	

one	evening	they	attacked	the	Chinese	quarter	and	reduced	it	to	ashes,	and	also	have	ventured	to	

make	a	furious	assault	on	the	redoubt	Anthonio.	We	think	this	rebellion	will	have	a	dangerous	

sequel,	and	are	very	worried	that,	before	Your	Honour	will	have	taken	measures	against	this,	the	

rebels	will	augment	in	such	large	numbers	and	will	seduce	so	many	villages	which	live	in	

friendship	with	us	on	their	side,	that	it	will	be	very	hard	to	lead	them	back	into	the	old	way	of	

peace	and	tranquillity,	let	alone	obedience.	However,	it	is	necessary	that	we	do	our	utmost,	or	

else	our	people	in	Tamsuy	will	be	besieged	all	the	time	and	will	have	no	other	provisions	than	

what	is	sent	to	them	from	Tayouan.	This	would	diminish	the	respect	for	the	Company	

considerably	in	that	region,	and	apart	from	that	we	would	have	to	endure	observing	their	

harassment,	as	far	as	the	Poncan	River,	to	which	they	have	easy	access.	In	that	case,	villages	north	

of	it	will	not	be	out	of	danger	of	being	ruined,	or	at	best	will	be	forced	into	a	bloody	war	against	

these	enemies.	Therefore	we	agree	with	Your	Honour	that	it	is	indeed	urgent	to	take	measures	as	

4
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soon	as	possible,	and	that	such	a	considerable	force	be	put	up	against	this	as	is	in	our	power,	on	

Tayouan.	We	shall	leave	the	management	and	execution	of	the	matter	to	Your	Honour's	wisdom,	

and	shall	wait	to	hear	what	success	you	will	have	achieved	in	future.	We	praise	Your	Honour's	

intention	to	undertake	this	expedition	with	the	military	over	land	at	the	most	convenient	time	of	

the	year,	and	to	appoint	Merchant	Joannes	van	den	Eijnden	as	the	commander,	who	will	come	

and	assume	the	authority	over	Tamsuy	and	Quelang	[...]	and	can	remain	there	until	the	turmoil	is	

stopped	and	everything	is	restored	to	good	order.	[...]As	we	notice,	this	revolt	has,	again,	sprung	

from	the	violence	which	our	own	people	have	used	against	the	inhabitants.	This	deserves	a	much	

stronger	correction	than	what	has	been	meted	out	so	far,	for	it	is	clear	how	much	the	Honourable	

Company	is	often	being	hampered	by	this.	So	this	must	be	punished	vigorously,	and	the	

[Formosan]	subject	must	be	freed	from	this.	[...]	

(The	High	Government	had	understood	that	considerable	quantities	of	timber	were	not	to	be	

obtained	from	the	woods	near	Tamsuy.)	You	need	not	provide	us	with	huge	amounts	of	coal,	

because	the	cargo	holds	of	the	ships	could	better	be	used	for	loading	sugar,	in	part	because	

nowadays	we	are	reasonably	provided	with	coal	from	Patria.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	

4,	pp.	191-192.࣏	

1656ʕ 7ϐ 21Υ	

ŏŒ՘:ɴ࣎Percoutsi࣏֜�ŌւяS»Һ�՘࠮.ࡶ࡬тeǫמߞ½�࣐ʔࡗӜ
q.Zd�đ࣐`ң֜࣎Tockudekol࣐�࣏Ըл̗ܥюƷí߷Ƽ࣎Perragon܂࣏֜
Řϑ࣐ъ̙ۻߧϑ՘̋�Ǩǧ̖֜ܭ©࣐ܙê̋߂࣏lεŏŒ՘Ϡ֜޾࣎ ޸«5-6
	.ࡈ՘¿çΝݸ
ˇ֣ɻוrиϑڌרªҖўߌ࣐ªS̛ࢲȘ࣐Ѯϑò�߸܉՘ԃž.̌½Ʒ܂ߡ՘�

٥ȭƸܷ࣐ȆϫîşƷҖў̎׳ࡆÐϑۍݓ١-T٨-ࢌД-ࠇ-ײ-ۜϙ-ǹЙϙ

lϑ.ݸߌSȭϏϑ�ˁ○ɕªyΰ࣐ԃח࣏ࢌѬ࣒§࣐݊̎calimback࣎ ˇڌרڑ2
ʣࠚIČߧ࣐܂ߡεIߌֈ֕՘.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 4õו 	࣏ࡢ103

P.van	Mildert…ؗC.	Caesar՘·1656࣐׳ࡆ࣐ʕ7ϐ13Υ࣐VOC1218࣐fol.	492-498.	

ʘfѮϑҺƎ՘ڌרªݥ׳ࡆΰ࣐Řϑìڑˇʣࠚª՘܉ڌרªyΰאȘŻֈ֕.Һخ�

εݏŇ¢ќ̗Xǘҳ֥ԃ̖࣐��½ࠢ°Mȅ࣐�εֈ֕՘yݞˁ˷࣐ƬӘ͋č֕ɧ՘Ň

¢ќZࡲ˲߬a׳ࡆ࣐ҖўΜ࡚՘ȫƂܱӘՆڮ۞՘࠷ޓªࠐǠ˃࣐Ϗ޾ݏv͋č֕ɧ՘

Ň¢ќјٿ˲ࡲޗîşa§.ƬӘ۩ӓٿՌՍڡ׆࣐՘Ň¢ќƷͽֽȝףԴࡦˏټドY�

½՘ַ࣐ڰʎڻȊȘŻɐȟIӘȺ�՘֔ƻɽ§.޾Ř٪ܓվϗe࣐ڡήʕ࣐Դټε�

ʕ࣐�½ŌϏ̋ݎȺ�՘ȁ࠾.ƬӘҖўѲ҈ǇȆт࣐׽عBasay�lѮϑށǮ՘ࡼԃo࣐

΃ܼѢپӏƎࢆƷíϐ޷ª1500Ъ̎200	last՘ֶ׵.тǫϑªٺҺٿ�Basay�՘《Ǔ࣐ϑ

56f˃Ǥ֜࣎Tockedukol࣏ǨTܟ߂í߷Ƽ֜܋܉½�ܷ࣐Җў՘b࣐ןƬӘeđ�½Ѯϑ
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JĜland	dag.í߷Ƽ֜ZՊϑ̱࣐�ˀ˃Ǥ֜٤_٤࣐�SݺŠࡾ.ׂӝ˃Ǥ֜�ՕĤׂ

3í߷ƼܝтŁҺΐŝΔ̖࣒̻࣎.тĠߍ޸ώ˃í߷Ƽ֜ŘϑïfǨT࣐Ǳࠜя࣐̍܇

	࣏.4ִߛэeʘӜ࣐˦Ǥώ˃࣐ζ۞ڮҫ࣓ݓe࠙:܈ƷҖўңڂ࣐֜

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	(No	Chinese	traders	had	appeared,	except	for	two	junks	from	Amoy.	Those	traders,	who	

intended	to	buy	bamboo	and	sulphur,	were	however	forced	to	wait:)	because	of	the	unwillingness	

of	the	inhabitants,	who	are	still	friends,	for	the	Chinese	have	always	to	fill	the	hands	of	many	of	

the	most	important	captains,	according	to	their	contract,	so	that	the	sulphur	usually	costs	them	

quite	a	lot	of	hoping	and	giving	presents,	before	it	eventuates.	They	would	be	willing	to	do	so	if	

they	were	helped	out,	but	they	complain	especially	about	the	long,	sad	waiting,	which	we	cannot	

remedy	unless	the	people	who	control	the	Sulphur	Mountain,	that	is	Backie	Goemau	and	Backie	

Teneyl	and	their	followers,	are	made	more	co-operative	by	the	power	of	the	Company.	I	hope	this	

will	happen	when	the	armed	force,	which	is	due,	has	arrived,	and	we	do	not	doubt	that	it	will	be	

sent,	if	not	Tamsuy	will	be	badly	off.	The	day	before	yesterday	I	received	news	from	Tamsuy	that	

the	people	from	Parricoutsie	had	killed	a	Chinese	and	some	other	people,	who	had	sailed	there	to	

pick	up	a	few	bulls.	Had	this	not	happened	we	were	intending	in	good	faith	to	let	the	Chinese	

adventurer	who	arrived	last	year,	march	back	over	land,	in	order	to	be	more	certain	that	this	

message	be	carried	across,	but	this	cannot	happen	now,	for	the	afore-mentioned	reasons.	[...]	

We	have	a	very	small	stock	of	rice	up	here	and	we	cannot	find	anyone	to	work	unless	we	should	

pay	him	in	rice.	This	is	very	hard	for	us,	for	the	people	who	work	in	the	coal-mines	cannot	be	

refused	rice,	because	they	are	with	...	men,	for	most	of	them	went	to	Cavalang,	Tarraboan	and	the	

gold-mine,	for	they	have	promised	to	deliver	them	1,600	buckets,	which	is	about	200	lasten,	of	

coal	before	the	ship	or	ships,	arrives.	[...]	

What	is	more,	these	inhabitants	have	not	been	able	to	recover	their	losses	since	the	time	the	

locusts	and	death	were	visited	upon	this	place	by	God	the	Lord,	but	deteriorate	with	each	year	

which	comes.	This	most	affects	the	poor,	who	cannot	save	enough	to	have	something	to	put	in	

the	ground	during	the	sowing	season,	because	of	which,	in	order	to	keep	the	rice-mill	open,	they	

are	forced	into	the	service	of	the	rich	with	their	wives	and	children,	but	this	is	only	a	short-term	

solution,	so	that	the	next	year,	or	even	already	this	year,	they	will	again	be	slaves,	as	they	can	

hardly	scratch	a	living.	Because	of	the	scarcity	of	rice	along	the	rivers,	the	Basay	have	also	fallen	

short	of	rice	every	year	during	this	same	period.	For	which	reason	we	request	Your	Honours	

please	to	provide	us	with	1,500	buckets	or	200	lasten	of	rice	in	August.	

According	to	testimonies	given	by	the	Chinese	and	Basay,	some	time	ago	of	their	own	accord	the	

people	of	Dockodockol	have	made	an	assault	on	the	village	Perragon	with	fifty-six	able-bodied	

men.	Those	villagers	who	were	eager	to	learn	what	they	were	intending	to	do	asked	them	why	

they	had	come.	Upon	this,	they	were	answered	that	they	intended	to	present	themselves	to	the	

cantadoor	and	obtain	some	presents,	since	they	had	not	attended	the	landdag.	After	which	

speech	the	people	from	Paragon	served	them	food	and	beverages,	and	were	sitting	together,	until	
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the	men	from	Dockodockol,	...	who	hardly	betrayed	that	they	had	come	for	some	purpose	other	

than	they	had	pretended,	suddenly	sprang	up	uttering	loud	screams	(which	was	their	signal)	and	

struck	out	at	everyone	who	was	sitting	around	them	to	welcome	them	as	guests.	So	that	hardly	

six	able	Perragon	men	remain.	And	from	there	the	Dockodockol	men	set	out	to	their	own	village	

again.	[...]	

While	he	was	still	alive,	the	Honourable	Van	den	Eijnden,	and	then	we,	have	been	requested	here,	

that	Acting	Sergeant	Gabrieldu	Pon	may	get	married	to	Coeno	Caban,	inhabitant	of	the	village	

Gouma,	widow	of	the	former	Chinese	farmer	in	Tamsuy.	Every	day	this	man	does	his	utmost	to	

instruct	this	woman	and	make	her	ready	to	enter	into	Christianity.	The	same	request	has	come	

from	Michiel	Michielsz,	from	Hayman,	to	marry	Maria	Gouw,	a	Basay	Qiristian,	widow	of	Josephus	

Pandang.	We	request	Your	Honour	please	to	send	us	instructions	about	this	in	your	next	letter.	

	࣏.196-198	pp.	4,	vol.	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎[...]

P.van	Mildert…ؗ C.	Caesar՘·࣐Җў 1656ʕ 7ϐ 15Υ.VOC	1218450-499࣐.	

1656ʕ 8ϐ 31Υ	

҇�۹IҖўŻ׳ࡆҟԥʍ׮_֏ȿƸoܓSă.…ؗ Van	Mildert՘ϊ·Żyؗ�
۹ Van	Borselen՘̹�՘êȴ࣐śˇϊ·܂׮ծČ.	

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 4õו 	࣏ࡢ122
ؗ P.	van	BorseIen՘̹�ŻȎ�ԉپ࣐ӏ1656࣐ʕ 8ϐ 29Υ.VOC	1218361-349࣐.	

C.	Caesar…ؗ P.	van	Mildert՘·پ࣐ӏ1656࣐ʕ 8ϐ 29Υ.VOC	fol.	1218330-316࣐.	

͐ō van	Mildertʎڻƪ»ڮ۞ñイڌXҭѲ҈て࣐׳ࡆߏѷ޼ѮϑőČ࣐ࠦ֘ś܋ọ̆î

ş՘Ň¢ќŘϑߡv¢ƷҖўǏǡࠧޮ՘ࡘْ࣐¢Ʒê࠴՘.پӏƎͦࢆÿ 20	last՘ֶ׵

a՘ڸɹӶƀĨñɎ̣۞ࠇwΜ࡚сƷ؞ߏƬӘʄ࣐՘Лࠪ̂¬٪̖ࢆӏƎپε޾࣐ߌ.

ؘѵّ࣐тSĤn©Ӷƀɱlپˇ܉ࡍ࣐׵عӏ¬̂.Ƭт̹֛ҖўŻ׳ࡆ՘b޾࣐ןv

܉ࡍʕtϐ.öܷŇ¢ќϑىǮŠČܭШ̂޾࣐Ň¢ќؗݬ�Zś࣐ǧñ۞ڮ̂¬Ř׵ֶ

ζٺ½�࣐ʁϏIƣԫ۞࣐ݣZ܉ࡍԺڮ۞�¬̂.ҖўŻ׳ࡆ՘Ǐǡšٺϑj2fڮ۞

ǧñࠥȥ.پӏ࠙ȫ̹֛ՆƸbןǍȥǏǡ࣐Z܉bĤÿ࣐ͮƽծŇ¢ќٺթьяח࣐Č

иʕϑǜ͖e˃öِ˹ࠐǠ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

It	pleased	us	to	learn	from	the	letter	of	the	late	Mr	Van	den	Eijnden,	dated	24	April	last	[...]	that	

the	elders	of	the	villages	situated	along	the	river	have	come	from	all	sides	to	bid	His	Honour	

welcome.	Also,	that	His	Honour	understood	from	those	chiefs	that	the	rebels	had	regretted	their	

rebellion	and	requested	to	be	pardoned	and	to	be	granted	mercy	again.	To	which	the	said	Van	

den	Eijnden	had	answered	that	this	would	be	their	due	as	soon	as	they	had	delivered	us	the	

rascals	who	had	committed	it.	Which	they	said	they	would	do,	but	we	cannot	presume	it	has	been	
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done,	whereas	we	learn	from	your	letter	of	May	9th	that	the	people	from	Chenaer	had	begun	to	

grow	more	audacious	and	to	rise	up	again	after	Mr	Van	den	Eijnden	had	departed	for	Quelang,	to	

the	extent	that	they	approached	with	troops	to	within	a	quarter	of	an	hour's	walking	distance	of	

the	environs	of	the	redoubt	Anthonio,	and	they	stated	that	they	did	not	ask	for	us,	since	they	saw	

that	they	were	merely	threatened	and	no	soldiers	were	sent	over	to	take	up	arms	against	them.	

However,	we	cannot	see	that	they	have	taken	any	further	action	against	us.	We	also	suppose	that	

the	same	rebels	will	be	already	a	trifle	apprehensive,	since	we	understand	that	Mr	Van	Mildert	

has	had	the	guts	to	sail	up	the	river	to	Quelang	from	Tamsuy	with	four	Dutchmen.	Which	is	a	sign	

that	the	people	along	the	river	are	not	up	to	much	mischief,	but	that	only	the	people	who	live	

close	by,	on	the	other	side	of	the	Tamsuy	River,	are	those	who	oppose	the	Company.	Also,	that	

the	people	from	Pocael	or	Dockodockol	came	to	the	village	of	Perragon	some	time	ago,	

pretending	to	be	friends	with	them,	and	that,	when	they	were	entertained	with	food	and	

beverage	those	from	Dockodockol	beat	all	of	them	to	death,	with	the	exception	of	five	or	six	

persons.	This	will	give	cause	for	a	good	fright	among	the	said	rebels,	afraid	of	being	visited	by	

them	one	evening	or	morning,	which	will	be	a	good	thing,	We	are	very	sorry	that	we	are	still	not	

in	a	position	to	send	any	armed	force	to	Tamsuy	now,	to	punish	or	revenge	the	opprobrium	we	

suffered	from	the	rebels,	because	we	have	only	received	a	few	soldiers	from	Batavia	this	year.	[...]	

(The	Company	had	to	employ	the	soldiers	elsewhere,	in	Ceylon	and	in	Java,	against	the	ruler	of	

Bantam.	In	Java,	the	irregularities	had	caused	a	shortage	of	rice,	therefore	Batavia	had	requested	

rice	from	other	VOC	settlements	such	as	Tayouan:)	this	is	the	reason	we	can	send	you	only	20	

lasten	of	it,	with	which	you	will	be	lavishly	provided	until	the	month	of	May,	which	is	nine	months.	

That	means,	for	your	people	in	the	garrison,	but	not	for	the	inhabitants,	so	you	will	not	sell	them	

any	rice	for	cash,	or	hand	it	out	to	the	coal-miners.	

(The	fact	that	Cheng	Ch'eng-kung	had	forbidden	his	subjects	to	send	out	junks	to	Tayouan	to	trade	

with	the	Company	was	considered	a	bad	omen	portending	that	his	landing	might	be	imminent)	So	

you	will	always	have	to	remain	on	your	guard,	just	as	we	are.	We	order	you	to	keep	no	more	than	

180	Dutchmen	to	occupy	Tamsuy	and	Quelang,	that	is	ninety	men	in	each	fort,	in	this	like,	with	

which	we	think	you	will	have	enough	people	to	defend	the	said	forts	should	there	be	an	

unexpected	strike.	But	above	all	you	will	have	to	refrain	from	making	any	assaults	yourselves,	[...]	

and	leave	the	rebels	kick	their	heels	a	while,	until	next	year,	when	we	hope	our	force	will	be	

bigger	to	avenge	ourselves	respectably.	[...]	Should	it	happen	that	some	of	the	friendly	villages	

come	to	ask	you	for	what	reason	so	few	military	men	were	sent	to	you	by	us,	you	will	have	to	

pretend	that	this	is	so	because	Mr	Van	den	Eijnden	and	you	yourselves	had	written	to	us	that	it	

was	not	necessary	that	an	armed	force	be	sent,	because	the	elders	of	the	friendly	villages	had	

come	to	meet	His	Honour	upon	his	arrival	and	had	spoken	on	behalf	of	the	rebels,	on	condition	

that	they	had	promised	to	try	and	deliver	the	rebels	into	our	hands,	and	that	the	fulfilment	of	

their	promise	was	expected	soon,	and	for	that	reason	we	are	not	inclined	to	spill	innocent	blood.	

But,	should	we	be	forced	to	take	up	arms	against	them,	we	shall	try	to	take	our	revenge	in	such	a	



	ՄܗࡁΔ՘͙ݦΐԘލήɧưȳîƲ�ΐŝ࠵

	ζϗаЃߩōή۞ڮ-ԡԀ܈(

	188	

way	that	the	rebels	will	remember	this	forever.	So	you	will	have	to	see	to	it	that	they	fulfil	their	

promise,	if	they	do	have	some	love	for	their	neighbours,	and	for	this	you	will	have	to	encourage	

the	good	ones	to	deliver	us	the	bad	ones.	[...]	

[...]The	1134	bags	of	coal	and	the	eighty-five	elk	skins	which	were	sent	to	us,	plus	the	seventy	

pieces	of	cabessa	and	fifty	pieces	of	mountain-goat	skin	have	arrived	in	good	order	in	the	yacht	

Zoutelande	and	the	pilot	boat.	[...]	We	learn	from	your	letter	that	every	year	the	coal-miners	

require	many	tools.	We	cannot	fathom	where	the	tools	sent	are	going,	for	it	is	not	possible	that	

they	can	be	worn	out	in	such	a	short	time.	We	are	inclined	to	think	that	many	of	them	are	stolen	

by	the	inhabitants,	as	the	iron	is	very	popular	among	them.	At	the	moment	these	tools	are	not	

being	sent,	but	[instead]	some	iron	bars,	because	we	suppose	that	at	the	moment	200	loads	of	

coal	are	in	stock	over	there,	so	that	for	the	time	being	no	more	needs	to	be	dug,	unless	it	is	

ordered,	because	Batavia	is	provided	with	this	from	patria,	and	for	Coromandel	one	flute	load	will	

be	sufficient	for	this	year,	so	for	the	time	being	the	digging	of	coal	can	be	cut	back.	[...]	The	gold	

to	the	weight	of	143	reals,	that	was	bought	in	Tamsuy	and	Quelang	during	the	time	that	Merchant	

Thomas	van	Iperen	was	opperhoofd	there	and	that	was	sent	over	here	by	him,	was	sent	to	Their	

Honours	in	Batavia	to	be	tested,	and	from	there	it	was	sent	on	to	Coromandel	to	determine	the	

right	alloy.	On	Coromandel	it	has	made	a	profit	of	59	per	cent,	so	if	there	is	much	more	of	that	

mineral	to	be	had	in	Tamsuy	or	Quelang,	it	would	be	agreeable	to	the	Company.	[...]	

[...](Only	twenty	loads	of	rice	had	been	sent)	so	you	should	sell	no	more	rice	to	the	Basay,	and	also	

halt	the	digging	of	coal,	since	the	Basay	will	have	ample	supplies	of	rice	now	that	we	have	peace	

with	the	Cavalang	people.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	202-206.࣏	

1656ʕ 11ϐ 10Υ	

151ו4õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.՛ࢯϑӡӕŻSvޘ࣐Breuckelenۤڌª՘ɐʔʚ׳ࡆˇ

	࣏ࡢ
Missive	Governor	Cornelis	Caesar	to	Governor-General	Joan	Maetsuijker.	Tayouan,	20	November	

1656.	VOC	1218,	fol.	1-76.	

Κ҇�՘YʌƎĦȫΝ9ϐ17Υて׳ࡆߏζ׋࣐ӝՕԢՆƸȥޓʂ؛ϑWǲѮ׵Šo࣐ŇƬ

εݬǳǬؗBasay࣐̎�εԸǳǬ׵I࢔©Ň¢ќ̽ӡӕ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

(In	August,	Junior	Merchant	Pieter	van	Borselen	had	been	sent	to	the	north,	as	commissioner	in	

the	company	of	Junior	Merchant	Egbert	Codde,	who	was	to	be	appointed	second	man	in	Tamsuy.	

On	17	September	both	of	them	travelled	to	Quelang:)	and	found	the	affairs	of	the	Company	out	

there	in	such	bad	shape	that	there	was	hardly	enough	rice	for	three	days	in	fort	Noord	Holland,	

because	too	much	of	it	had	been	given	to	the	Basay	for	cash	or	for	digging	coal	by	Van	den	
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Eijnden	or	Van	Mildert,	when	alive,	for	if	the	truth	be	told	they	had	been	richly	provided	with	it.	

We	cannot	fathom	what	moved	them	to	hand	out	as	much	rice	as	this,	for	Van	den	Eijnden	had	

been	expressly	instructed	not	to	sell	too	much	rice	to	the	Basay,	but	to	make	sure	that	there	was	

enough	rice	for	the	garrison,	so	that	it	would	not	fall	short	at	any	moment.	They	seem	to	have	

paid	little	attention	to	this,	which	is	a	sorry	plight.	That	they	pursued	such	a	bad	policy	and	put	

the	Basay	first,	could	have	caused	the	ruin	of	all	of	them,	which,	God	be	praised,	has	now	taken	a	

turn	for	the	better.	For	if	the	Breuckelen	had	not	appeared,	who	knows	how	the	matter	would	

have	ended.	It	is	quite	clear	that	forts	which	are	situated	so	far	away,	ought	to	be	provisioned	for	

at	least	six	months,	for	it	can	easily	happen	that	this	or	the	other	ship	might	drift	off	or	be	

wrecked,	in	which	case	they	[...],	would	be	in	extreme	misery.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	

4,	p.	232.࣏	

1657û	

1657ʕ 3ϐ 27Υ	
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ʕZϏ޾ܷךȫƂƫ۞ڮʕʚѮϑަlanddagࣔࢵ�Ә࣐ןҖў՘Ň¢ќIƏՆƸbٿ׳ࡆ

ަo޾�࣐Ѯϑ޾ݏv【ªŠƖ̷֥ԃ՘Ň¢ќ࡬�ҳ˲̖࣐�îşԸǱߺ՘߭ڴŻ֥ԃ
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Goemauъo̖࣐�߷΢֜՘߫࠙Teneyl̋ݎҖўƸ1Ň¢ќe࠙.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ
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[...]	Both	in	Quelang	and	Tamsuy	(God	be	praised)	we	are	still	living	in	peace	with	our	so-called	

friends.	After	the	departure	of	the	Commissioner,	Mr	Pieter	van	Borsselen,	all	the	cabessas	of	the	

Tamsuy	River	appeared	before	us,	both	here	and	in	Quelang,	claiming	that	they	had	come	only	to	

welcome	the	Opperhoofd,	and	to	see	why	the	Landdag	was	not	being	held,	as	of	old.	We	told	

them	that	this	was	not	the	case	this	year,	which	did	not	please	them	at	all,	because	they	are	of	an	

importunate	nature	and	love	to	be	given	presents	and	make	merry	at	times.	So,	in	order	to	satisfy	

those	secret	traitors	completely,	we	have	given	them	a	present	each,	and	treated	them	copiously	

to	food	and	drink,	until	they	returned	happily	and	completely	drunk.	

Also,	most	of	the	cabessas	of	Cavalang	have	appeared	before	us,	except	those	from	the	villages	

Tomegoch,	Pattongadiwan	and	Pinabarath;	they	came	only	to	welcome	the	newly	arrived	

Opperhoofd,	just	as	the	former	Tamsuy	headmen.	When	we	asked	them	why	the	captains	of	the	

other	three	villages	had	not	come,	they	answered	that	they	were	unwilling	to	come	hither	

because	they	were	afraid	of	suffering	some	harm,	but	were	truly	our	friends.	This	is	hard	to	

believe,	but	they	promised	to	do	their	utmost	to	send	them	to	us.	So,	after	they	had	been	regaled	

with	some	presents	and	drinks,	they	have	returned	to	their	dwelling	places	as	a	group.	So	that,	as	

said	before,	the	situation	in	this	northern	region	is	still	in	a	reasonably	good	order.	Sometimes,	

however,	we	hear	from	the	Basay	who	live	in	the	village	of	Kimaurij	that	the	River	people	are	not	

greatly	to	be	trusted,	but	for	the	time	being	we	have	not	been	informed	that	they	are	actually	

undertaking	anything	against	us.	Nevertheless,	they	are	expert	in	enforcing	the	conditions	of	

[former]	treaties	from	us,	for	we	cannot	get	anything	done	by	them,	unless	we	pay	them	dearly.	

Everything	is	fine	as	long	as	we	are	happy	to	fill	their	hands	with	presents	and	their	bellies	with	

drink,	but	if	we	did	not,	we	would	see	that	these	so-called	friends	would	be	alienated	from	us,	

and	turn	out	to	be	declared	enemies.	Yes,	the	captain	of	the	village	Poenap,	called	Teneyl	alias	

Bootsman,	even	had	the	impudence	to	state	in	our	presence	that	because	Interpreter	Theodoor	

Hermano	(who	died	on	November	15,	last,	and	is	supposed	to	have	been	poisoned,	so	we	have	

been	told)	is	now	dead,	that	they	requested	that	the	Cahessa	Bamabe,	son-in-law	of	Theodoor,	

should	take	his	father's	place	and	be	appointed	interpreter.	And	if	this	were	not	done,	that	he	

would	leave	[the	protection	of]	the	Company,	and	wreak	havoc	to	Tamsuy.	To	this	we	answered	

that	Theodoor	had	just	recently	died,	and	that	we	would	write	to	Tayouan	about	it.	Tart	words	

indeed,	especially	since	you	have	to	consider	how	we	are	subject	to	this	insolent	pack	which	has	

already	started	to	issue	orders	to	us.	This	is	intolerable	for	the	Dutchmen	out	here,	and	it	is	

disrespectful	to	the	Honourable	Company	to	be	controlled	by	such	uncivilised	people.	Matters	

will	not	improve,	unless	we	can	[go	there]	with	an	armed	force	and	smite	a	bunch	of	these	tyrants	

with	the	sword.	For	this	reason,	it	would	be	advisable	if	the	Honourable	Company	were	to	send	us	

some	soldiers,	for	I	am	convinced	that	eventually	it	will	be	as	the	saying	goes	(the	pitcher	goes	to	

the	well	so	often	that	it	is	broken	at	last),	which	means	that	some	time	in	the	future	they	will	do	

us	harm.	[...]	
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[...]We	also	heard	in	a	message	from	the	22nd	of	the	same	month	that	the	inhabitants	of	

Kimassauw	and	Pillien	have	come	to	Tamsuy	with	three	heads	which	were	taken	from	those	of	

Perragon,	for	which	former	opperhoofden	have	promised	them	a	big	reward	because	these	are	

rebellious	people	who	earlier	had	massacred	four	Dutch	men	who	had	crossed	the	Tamsuy	River	

to	go	hunting.	We	did	the	same,	by	giving	them	a	present,	so	that	this	pack	from	Perragon	has	

almost	earned	its	just	desserts.	[...]	

[...]We	still	have	a	sufficient	stock	of	coal	over	here.	[...]	We	have	not	received	any	gold	so	far	[...],	

since	the	trip	to	Tarraboan	has	not	yet	been	made,	as	this	usually	takes	place	in	the	month	of	

April.	[...]	

Several	times	we	have	offered	the	hoorns	from	Banda	for	sale,	which	were	sent	by	Your	Honour	

on	the	flute	Breuckelen,	to	the	inhabitants	of	Cavalang	and	others,	but	they	are	not	interested	in	

them,	since	they	are	too	small.	If	only	they	were	bigger,	we	could	get	1 	 real	per	two	pairs.	[...]

	࣏.244-247	pp.	4,	vol.	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎
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ϑS̸ڌרڑ۲݇޿ÿډđʾ׳ࡆŻҖў܁ߞڌרڑ޾……࣐ϑYĆԃž:54׻ࢹ199׳

-ہlスǱ-࣏auyen࣎ۋlス-׵ۺ50-׻ø׳15Ъӭ߭-2-ڪӠׯ5-࣏zuycker	bruyne࣎
l50ػW߭Żlス׻ў-イ20»܁_࣐�ϑ20ۺîşʍê՘ΥϜߌ܉࣐׵Iؗޓࢎߟߡ՘.
	࣏ࡢ176ו4õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎

1657ʕ 7ϐ 15Υ	

Sߥ.ˇڌרڑ՘ҖўªČтƸ࣐イ6»ߌ࣐�ªYĆԃž10࣒スײŻ-330スࢯ՛.
	࣏ࡢ208ו4õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎

1657ʕ 7ϐ 21Υ	 	

ވ࠴ٿvҫ҈ߡƬӘѷ࣐࠽۲ӜࠦѮϑŀ޿ԢƷ࣐ވ࠴Җўeࠝ՘ҫ҈Żٿ׳ࡆ……
ɛ¢՘̌½՘ɥќ۹Ԣˆˁ�ϓ࣐�εọ̆՘í߷Ƽ࣎Parragon࣏-:ɴ
½࣐̌ś�IƦŉǓˉ�½.Ύ�đ】½�࣐ʵọ̆ࡨ֜חMattatas-࣏Pa1rkoutsi࣎
՘޿�ռ޾vọ̆Ϡ֜՘࡬է࣐ś�ȦˎƸªƎܺࠢΝ܉yÿߡvb܉՘ّ̼ͦe

																																																								
199
ӏʜپ1ٺʰ࣐ӏʜˑ2پ¸߸1࣐Žڤ.S՗Uí2Ζ4׫3ѕ.ܗ׳�׻܁࣐kanassers࣒ŇΐӘ࣐׳

ˑ2ڵ`࣒|.࣎ϊɚʻĿࡢ࣐࣏1984࣐ 2267. 	

4
1



	ՄܗࡁΔ՘͙ݦΐԘލήɧưȳîƲ�ΐŝ࠵

	ζϗаЃߩōή۞ڮ-ԡԀ܈(

	192	

q.Ɏт࣐�½ƫ࣐�ך�½lˁ【܉Żʔ࣐Z҇ࡦˏߍS»ϑáĂжĚ՘ڮ۞�I

�đ՘îş࣐�ߞ�ʵọ̆.Pillienࡨطص܉ɕ½�࣐Zӝ࣐ƎܺŻʔeq܂֜½�
bןKeerdekoeŻElsevierǳߍĂ̖࣐½�ࡈ���½Zöթ·ڮ۞�o࣐�½ɀśԿ
Ʒٺʁ՘Ϡ֜܂ª¶۵ٺʁ.	
Օ࢛ӭ՘Ս࣐Ʒ׳ࡆŻҖўωĜƦ߸ݺªo࣐X»ϐ࣐Ʒ׳ࡆϑYǧVan	der	Laakъ
I.ƷҖўlϑS»YǧŻƪ»ǧñъI࣐тǫߞϑʘ»Ս�¢߆Սࠬ.	

YʌƎĦ࣐ܷٟ܂ߡƷ࣐ҖўߍI˃�׳ࡆࠜࡇ�࣐ܷ½̌ܣs࣏Taikon࣎ɽڋXڌ
ȫEgbert	CoddeI\࣐�тq̌½ѮϑˇҖў՘�¥�͊ČǓs.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ24ו

õ࣏ࡢ211ו	
P.	Boons…ؗF.	Coyett՘·࣐׳ࡆ࣐l657ʕ6ϐ27Υ.VOC1222413-410࣐.	

P.	Boons…ؗF.	Coyett՘·࣐׳ࡆ࣐l657ʕ6ϐ4Υ.VOCl222409-402࣐.	

1657ʕ 7ϐ 22Υ	

Sڑɐ׳ࡆˇڌרéң࣐イ 200-ײ14ǖЧϙϙϧ-10ス࣒ªYĆԃžߌ࣐�«19
ϪԒ՛-100Ϫࢯ՛-1スֈ֕-8»غ3-ࠋࡾѴŻ غ2 zardain.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו
4õו 	࣏ࡢ213

1657ʕ 7ϐ 23Υ	

SڑɐڌרˇҖўŻ׳ࡆªČтƸ࣐イ18»Խߌ࣐�ªYĆԃž28࣒ǖϙϧ-30ۺ
	࣏ࡢ213ו4õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.Ż-105ϪԒ՛ײ5ス-׵࣏baliën࣎

1657ʕ 7ϐ 27Υ	

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎ 4õו 	࣐࣏ࡢ216
P.	Boons…ؗF.	Coyett՘·1657࣐׳ࡆ࣐ʕ7ϐ10Υ࣎_ϑ1657ʕ7ϐ16Υ՘࣏ࠧࠄ.

VOC1222࣐fol.	414-418࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐	

[...]	We	shall	do	our	utmost	to	have	the	300	lasten	of	coal	ready	by	September	next,	as	Your	

Honour	has	ordered.	To	this	end,	we	have	already	ordered	the	Kimaurij	Basay	to	dig	coal	in	the	

mountains,	but	they	urgently	need	tools	for	digging	and	nothing	of	this	like	has	been	transported	

to	me.	However,	to	comply	with	your	order	I	have	visited	the	houses	of	inhabitants	and	Chinese,	

and	have	thus	managed	to	collect	only	a	few	tools	which	were	hidden	here	and	there,	and	I	shall	

ask	our	blacksmith	to	make	some	more	of	them,	so	that	they	can	start	digging	and	comply	with	
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your	request,	and	a	big	quantity	of	coal	can	be	dug	every	year	from	now	on.	Nevertheless,	we	are	

looking	forward	to	receiving	the	first	shipload	of	coal-digging	tools,	and	we	shall	take	better	care	

of	them	than	we	have	done	in	the	past.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	p.	306.࣏	

1657ʕ 9ϐ 3Υ	

ؗT.Pedel-F.	SchedelŻT.	van	Iperen՘̹پ࣐�ӏ1657࣐ʕ9ϐ3Υ.VOC	1222396-390࣐.	

Ʒт̹� -ќ߹۰࠴՘Ǳޮߪvɱќј޾Әܱ½�.ݕo�½ɎŇ¢ќ՘ĿسӏՆɚ͏پ࣐̀

Ӝߎˍ〔-Zԥ˜࣐ƬӘ�½ˇªѮϑۻƘS՘жȒؘ̖ѵ.޾Ш՘˜Ͼپˇ࣐ӏŇ¢ќĂ

ْ֜ɛ-Ӝi࠙-ܷZe՘࣐ܳܕɎߪɛSӜ̖ռخ࣐εsթւяחԉѸɕś�ˆ݇.ڮ۞

�ܱӘîş՘ؘѵϏɉŇ¢ќ՘ΐ-ɏhȅ՘Μ࡚̗�࣐юś٪εԸŻʔ՘Ĭ࣐̍̎εԸф

Ě՘̄̍.�էđ՘̋ɕŘϑݏ¢Ʒڮ۞�ࠧޮ՘Ň¢ќݎˆј3ޗΐή4࣐�½ܱӘŇƬ

ε޾vŇ¢ќْ࣐ޮˆ¢�۞ڮٿ[ϑXȡ.ڮࡇ�۞�јߒޗ՘Ň¢ќ࣐�­ズŇϜߡv

ɥΝ3『4ࢡ՘˂ѻٿǯǚªԵ҆.࣒̻ܺ࣎ȨŇ¢ќ՘˜Ͼe˃ࠜ�̹�޾࣐ȋчΎߍIʘ

ʕŇ¢ќ՘ọ̆۲Ә࣐ՙӘ߸ڂ޲q.࣏	

J࣒ࠠVOC122299࣐.	

Missive	President	Frederick	Coyett	to	Merchant	Pieter	Bons.	Tayouan,	3	September	1657.	VOC	1222,	

fol.	371-379.	

էđ՘ٍ݊ƂBarnabeS�ʂށ؛Ǯ࣐Z܉ࡍ�źωǬ�.Ȇϑ࣐܉ࡍĞԥJacob	Balbiaenߞ࣐

ε�¥ө˥ՆƸܳܕ՘࣐�Դټεߧ�߷,߻ś�řªʒ˓.̸֡طрҺ�I׳ࡆŻҖў՘

Аϩ�ϙ࣐hŇ¢ќݣϙϟ࣐̎εÿSϙϟ.ԥԺεݏҺ�͊ܔŇ¢ќś٪Ϗ̋߂Ĥn࣐֡

рݥΰϙϟ՘؂Ϣlśࡇ࠹Һٿ�Ň¢ќ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	Since	we	deem	it	unnecessary	to	keep	more	interpreters	than	Bamabe,	whom	we	agree	to	be	

engaged	as	such,	for	he	can	always	be	summoned	up	in	important	affairs	over	there,	while	in	daily	

matters	Assistant	Balbiaen,	one	of	the	schoolteachers,	or	anyone	who	is	familiar	with	the	

language	there,	as	well	as	almost	all	Kimaurij,	can	be	called	upon.	[...]	From	now	on	you	will	not	

allow	any	Chinese	who	come	from	elsewhere,	to	enter	into	the	forests	any	longer	to	chop	wood,	

nor	to	buy	wood	from	the	inhabitants,	or	export	it.	It	is	disquieting	to	allow	that	nation	to	

associate	too	much	with	the	perfidious	inhabitants	and	they	will	have	to	comply	with	the	order	

that	they	are	not	allowed	to	speak	to	them,	however,	it	is	not	very	likely	that	any	trespassing	of	

this	order	can	be	discovered	by	us	in	time,	so	it	is	actually	[issued	out]	in	vain.	[...]The	Formosan	

Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	315-316.࣏	
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1657ʕ 10ϐ 18Υ	

ϏƷĚ݋ܧScheedelãԵōò	ySɇƸΜȫô̑Ƹ̹͕ȫFreederik࠙ڌ՘ڌǱʈڑ޾
ʔٿZeehontۤڎ○イ½�࣐ܷ½̌ܣs܂·࣐½̌ؗ·ϗϜϐl5Υ՘ªؾ࣐…̖֜߷
ʚڌWachterۤΝ�ʕ9ϐl0ΥˇтƸÿ࣐ډǱʈڌAppelboomۤ࠼˃ÿ࣐ډĂĉΝeϐ
՘l3ΥŻl1ΥࡥߧĊてߏҖў.Ʒ܂ߡծČƎĦȫBoonš࣐ �ٟŐߡvŒ˅՘ԉѸח.

�ŚܭࡁƸ1՘šُ࣐֜࠙,̲MƑ՘ŻZMƑ՘Ϡ֜࠮࣐oPillen-RappanŻϩ�֜
՘ُ࠙عʌeǫ࣐ò�š֜՘ُ࠙ߧªÿʌo.ò`ϑvُ࠙Ƭ�½՘Zˁࡥϓْۻ

࣐ϓࡥǍȭɎîş՘ߧШŌ©Ǳȳ޾ɕ࣐ݐֵۻȅ۹Ԣْړò�ُ࠙ĐƬ�½՘࣐Ðݠ

Ʀ߸Ԉࢵߡ՘ܷ̖ןʂI\՘b ߡȸؔa.тǫ_ѮϑՕԢϑǬɑ�Öآîşٿ_

	࣏ࡢ286ו4õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ࠈ
F.Schedel…ؗF.Coyett՘·࣐Dockodokol1657࣐ʕ10ϐ15Υ.VOC	1222࣐fol.	442-449.	

�࡬�Pillien-Rappan-ChenaerW֜՘࣐�࡬ҖўƸ1՘š֜ࡁŁŚ࠼࣐˃Җўߏてޓʿߒ

Ѯª.ªҖў՘࡬� ݴٿϑvĐƬò˔ْܴő۹࣐͒ÐѮϑ΄˔îşݠ�۞ڮۻϑv࣐̀ .֥

Mildert_ѮϑɉҖўƸ	vanٿElsevierןI\՘đ�b؛Әʂܱ࣐˃ƏŇ¢ќܩȫƂ۞ڮv޾

1՘ȿ《ǓsؗپӏƎࢆռ˥࣐ŏْߜ޳կс՘ŇƬ�͍ٺۅʁ՘Ƕ΂.�½ܱӘ࣐©Ň¢

ќ߂ŏ՘ŇƬεđ�bן½ɎŇ¢ќ࡬�՘࣐߸ߍؽݠʾʾɉ�½̰ࠊࠓ�Ϣ̎ࠢ߆դԑ࣐

࣐�࡬εí߷Ƽ֜՘ࢋтִ߯ą.�½ܱӘώǱ՘֢࠮3Ϛࠜ-4՘Ň¢ќѪˎọ̆�çݏ޾

�½εώãٿîş΍Ɏ՘࣐�ӝ˃ӥĤò�Ϡ֜Ĝé�½.ƷŚࡁϠ֜࡬�ìиe˃ڮ࣐۞

۞ڮ.�՘Pillien-Rappan-ChenaerW֜۞ڮ˙îࠜȰֵZټԴ࣐ZČߧѪȭʿ�ìи࠷ޓ

Ƹ՘éS࢛.܂Ƹ՘Аϩ࢛ČޑŇ¢ќë࣐9ϐ18Υ࣐ԹֶٿW֜՘̕ɞ޾�ëĚࠜh࠷ޓ

թՆࠫɯڮ࣐۞ñˏࡦS»S»�ӷXI.Ʒ͹Ք՘࣐`޼Ň¢ќՕĤ΀ͮנ࣐ȆࡉYڮ࣐

۞�ծZČɎΜ࣐Ř٪hנɈª՘ΜhࠜР.ìɐζ՘y̑ڮ̋߂۞Μ࡚ϑW�࠭x2࣐�

őÔ.Ň¢ќ՘ъÔZή࣐�ˇ˶řٝśռzъÔZɑ.Նؑ࠷ޓ۞ڮΝݸÿڪœČࠡࠜߏ

Ƹ࣐Ň¢ќZΉ࣐͊̑Ř٪ղննƸծڮڻ۞�ӭ̓�½՘̕ɞֶٿԹ࣐ǶI̖ϑ՘ࡼ׽.

࣐࣏ߒӘ5Ƅמś࣐͌מªֱވ�1ƄӘSɐζֱ࣒̻࣎ވҖўǏǡtɐζࡇࢺи̑ʼ՘Ƹ޾

΃خðڙoìǲ.9ϐ20Υ݋࣐Ϗe˲࠙࠷Pedelԙ120ࡪfǧñ20ٿfў̗࣒̻࣎ś܋εhڌ

ò`S όƷ࣐oʘ»µ̡ۣ_࣐Թֶٿӭ̓�½՘̕ɞ࣐՘Chenaer֜ߟ.IҖў࣏Iߍ

1655ʕ12ϐ΀ͮҖўǏǡ18࣐Υ՘y̑`�lƷǔ.ڮ۞�ɂƏ޾»µۣe˃Ĉۡъą̠࣐

�՘࡬ւYª͑ƷǏǡđבȘX֛ճ.ʿ�ҖўƸ1՘ọ̆Ϡ֜e˃܉�۞ڮ࣐ҖўѲɎɬ

՘í߷Ƽ֜Ż:ɴ֜࡬�ªҖў࣐тζƾ�:ィČ؛ʂ࣏Sijnaney࣎ŻȂȂ࣏֜Mattatas࣎֜

ɴ֜ɛ¢.ؔϫí߷Ƽ֜Zª࣐:ɴ֜ĐyÿeđяȲڮ۞�՘â̗.࠷ޓ۞ڮΝ9ϐ28Υ-

29ΥҡߍҖўѲ࣐ӭ̓í߷Ƽ֜՘Ϡ֜e˃طصʾ:ɴ֜߆Օ.e˃ƬӘ:ɴ֜Zࡲ˲ʒĞ

̖࣐ޓ۲ �l̠:ɴ֜ӭ̓o.:ɴČאǙࠝεҵ}՘ʔŇ࣐�Wǲ՘ֱވŘծČtï࣐ࢯ࡬

ƷѷވϠ֜܂Ř̜ČSv١ࢯ-׵-Ճ࣐ۖϽϜZǮŠ࣐΃࠷ޓ۞ڮƷ̾ࢄ՘《ѸYʾ:۲

	.ޓ
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	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

So	we	immediately	summoned	all	the	elders	of	both	the	rebellious	and	the	friendly	villages	along	

the	Tamsuy	and	Pinnerouan	Rivers	and	the	adjoining	region,	to	the	redoubt,	who	came	all	

together,	except	those	from	Pillien,	Rappan	and	Chenaer.	Some	of	the	elders	or	village	people	

have	been	reprimanded	for	their	lack	of	obedience	and	zeal,	others	have	been	praised	for	their	

good	behaviour,	and	have	been	presented	with	some	cangans	and	tobacco,	so	that	all	respective	

villages	north	of	the	Tamsuy	and	Pinnerouan	Rivers	to	their	pleasure	were	taken	into	the	

Company	alliance	as	before,	and	the	old	friendship	has	been	renewed.	For	some	petty	crimes,	for	

which	they	excused	themselves	again	and	promised	to	do	better	when	we	admonished	and	

threatened	them,	we	have	made	allowances,	the	more	so	because	they	were	not	as	guilty	as	

reported	by	the	deceased	Opperhoofden,	the	late	Messrs	Elsevier	and	Van	Mildert.	Yes,	it	would	

have	been	a	good	thing	if	those	men	had	informed	the	High	Authority	from	time	to	time	about	

the	real	cause	and	reason	for	the	disorders,	but	it	seems	that	even	when	it	came	to	the	most	

important	matters	they	often	preferred	to	refer	to	other	topics	to	cover	up	for	their	own	mistakes,	

instead	of	telling	us	the	real	causes	of	the	war.	So	far	the	situation	has	not	been	reversed,	and	we	

shall	explain	to	You	Honourable	Gentlemen	upon	our	arrival	in	Tayouan	why.	[...]	Quite	often	the	

said	Opperhoofden	put	several	of	the	elders	or	other	persons	in	chains	or	imprisoned	them	in	

some	other	way,	and	made	their	punishment	felt	in	their	purses	or	with	other	matters	in	such	a	

way,	that	it	is	no	wonder	that	these	savage,	untamed	people	eventually	took	the	road	they	did,	in	

order	to	get	rid	of	such	cruel	procedures.	Although	the	rebels	cannot	be	excused,	as	they	have	

shed	so	much	blood	among	the	Dutch	and	have	done	more	evil,	[this	was]	only	because	they	

were	incited	[to	do	so]	by	one	or	two	of	the	most	important	leaders	of	Perragon,	who	were	the	

first	to	turn	away	from	us,	because	of	the	said	ill	treatment	with	which	they	had	been	welcomed	

by	our	men,	and	took	up	arms	against	the	Company.	

And	to	continue	this	report	and	show	you	briefly	what	our	armed	force	has	accomplished	under	

our	command,	we	shall	begin	with	the	three	hostile	villages	situated	north	of	the	Tamsuy	River,	

which	are	Pillien,	Rappan	and	Chenaer,	which	did	not	only	disdain	our	second	summons,	but	also	

daringly	let	us	know	that	they	were	not	afraid	of	us,	but	were	expecting	us	with	their	bows	and	

arrows.	Thereupon,	according	to	the	last	resolution	and	after	reconsidering	the	matter,	we	

headed	for	the	houses	and	rice-fields	of	the	inhabitants	of	Pillien,	Rappan	and	Chenaer,	with	the	

complete	force	except	the	sailors	[...],	on	the	18thSeptember.	They	had	all	gone	into	hiding	in	a	

secret	place	situated	in	a	wood	on	a	high,	and	precipitous	slope	of	which	the	entrance	or	path,	

which	presented	a	horrible	prospect,	we	had	to	climb	one	after	the	other.	While	climbing	we	

came	under	heavy	fire	from	them,	so	that	it	seemed	to	be	raining	arrows,	and	as	a	consequence	

we	had	three	men	killed	and	ten	wounded	within	about	two	hours.	But	after	we	had	reached	the	

open	field	and	were	out	of	the	tall	green	grass,	which	refused	to	catch	alight,	they	did	not	have	

the	courage	to	approach	us,	so	they	had	to	witness	with	their	own	eyes	how	we	set	fire	to	their	

houses	and	destroyed	all	of	their	rich	and	beautiful	rice	crop,	which	was	their	only	food,	so	that	
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they	will	undoubtedly	succumb	to	the	darkest	misery	of	starvation.	On	the	other	hand,	it	is	deeply	

to	be	regretted	that	we	have	had	to	suffer	so	many	losses	in	our	army	because	of	these	villains,	

although	we	also	trust	that	many	of	them	will	have	been	killed	by	our	musketeers	who	constantly	

fired	their	weapons	against	the	oncoming	arrows	(for	we	could	hardly	see	any	people,	let	alone	

the	bottom	of	the	place),	which	could	be	sufficiently	heard	from	the	terrible	screams	and	moans	

of	these	people.	This	said	place	is	situated	in	the	mountains	about	five	hours	from	Tamsuy,	so	that	

this	expedition	took	us	two	days.	It	is	almost	impossible	for	me	to	explain	how	difficult	this	road	

is,	because	of	the	steepness	of	the	mountains	and	the	swampy	valleys	in	between,	on	which	

those	scoundrels	have	no	doubt	relied,	and	must	have	thought	we	could	not	possibly	do	it.	

Also,	on	the	20thfollowing,	we	agreed	to	send	Captain	Thomas	Pedel	with	120	soldiers	and	twenty	

sailors	(in	order	[not]	to	tire	the	entire	army	[too]	much)	to	Chenaer,	a	small	village	which	is	

situated	in	the	plain	quite	near	Tamsuy	[but]	to	the	north,	in	order	to	set	it	on	fire,	and	also	to	

bum	down	and	destroy	their	rice	crop,	which	to	our	joy	was	completed.	The	c[aptain]	took	some	

prisoners	from	there,	among	whom	one	of	the	principal	villains	who	had	stormed	the	redoubt	

before	and	also	fought	in	the	battle	of	the	18thof	September	last,	and	after	they	had	interrogated	

him	sharply	and	condemned	him	to	death	in	the	presence	of	many	elders,	they	have	put	his	head	

on	a	pole	in	front	of	the	redoubt.	

While	we	were	punishing	the	River	peoples	in	order	to	make	them	obedient	and	reaffirm	their	

previous	friendship	with	us,	we	also	summoned	up	the	elders	of	Parricoutsie	and	Perragon,	which	

are	situated	across	the	River,	since	[the	villagers	from]	Mattatas	and	Sijnaney	have	moved	to	live	

in	Parricoutsie.	Those	from	Perragon	refused	to	come,	but	those	from	Parricoutsie	appeared	upon	

the	first	call,	and	have	at	last	handed	to	us	two	culprits	of	the	bloodshed.	One	of	them	had	killed	

a	Dutchman,	the	other	a	Chinese,	but	the	third	murderer,	who	lives	in	the	same	village,	had	

promptly	taken	to	his	heels,	those	two	have	been	beheaded	and	their	heads	have	also	been	put	

on	poles.	

(On	23	September	the	ships	the	Zeehond	and	the	Wachter	departed	for	Quelang	to	deliver	

provisions	and	to	load	coal,	while	the	Appelboom	was	to	sail	to	Sinkanja	to	await	the	army's	

arrival	there.)So	that	after	we	had	accomplished	everything	north	of	the	Tamsuy	River,	we	have	

led	the	whole	army	to	the	other	side	on	the	28thand	29th.	We	reduced	the	village	Perragon	to	

ashes	and	continued	our	march	to	Parricoutsie,	whose	people	invited	us	in	voluntarily,	but	we	

found	the	common	people	to	be	very	stubborn,	notwithstanding	the	well-meant	upbraiding	and	

punishment	of	their	elders,	coupled	with	our	threats.	They	claimed	they	wanted	to	remain	under	

the	Honourable	Company	as	before	and	remain	friends,	to	which	end	they	also	said	they	had	

delivered	the	culprits	to	us,	but	they	remained	obdurately	unwilling	to	give	us	the	necessary	

provisions	for	which	we	wanted	to	pay	them,	or	to	help	us	carry	our	luggage	and	our	sick	and	

wounded,	remaining	in	hiding	in	their	rice	paddies	and	field	houses,	which	were	all	surrounded	

with	foot,	leg	and	belly	traps.	For	that	reason	we	were	forced	to	set	the	village	on	fire	(for	
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otherwise	it	was	impossible	to	proceed	on	the	road	again),	in	order	to	let	them	feel	what	came	of	

their	stubbornness	and	disobedience,	and	make	them	more	careful	in	the	future,	saving	only	the	

houses	of	the	elders.	After	we	had	done	this	the	first	day,	we	summoned	them	up	again	the	next,	

to	give	us	a	clear	explanation	of	what	they	were	intending	to	do,	giving	them	to	understand	they	

still	had	an	opportunity	to	be	forgiven	for	the	recalcitrance	committed	if	they	promised	to	obey	

the	Honourable	Company,	just	as	we	promised	them	before,	but	that	otherwise	their	rice	crop	

would	be	dealt	the	same	treatment	as	their	houses.	Upon	this,	they	immediately	changed	their	

minds,	begged	for	mercy,	promised	to	help	us	in	any	possible	way,	which	they	did	indeed	

afterwards,	so	that	this	village	is	now	completely	back	in	its	alliance	with	the	Honourable	

Company.	It	is	a	rich,	strong	and	powerful	village,	which	would	be	hard	to	conquer	using	an	

armed	force	without	the	loss	of	many	men	because	of	the	steep	entrances,	woods	and	swamps.	

Their	arrogance	has	been	directed	in	the	ways	of	righteousness	and	without	any	bloodshed,	for	

we	are	absolutely	certain	that	if	we	should	have	had	to	conquer	it	with	our	arms,	we	would	in	all	

probability	not	have-been	able	to	do	so	without	the	loss	of	at	least	fifty	men,	both	killed	and	

wounded.	For	all	these	villages	we	have	passed	by	are	real	lairs	of	murderers,	situated	in	swampy	

woods	and	on	steep	mountains,	cluttered	with	foot	and	leg	traps,	from	where	they	could	have	

done	great	harm	with	their	bows	and	arrows	before	we	could	even	have	entered	them	with	some	

armed	soldiers.	And,	if	we	had	failed	in	Parricoutsie,	this	punitive	expedition	would	no	doubt	have	

brought	us	little	success	on	this	side	of	the	river,	because	matters	are	starting	to	look	very	bleak	

for	the	army	now	(God	help	us),	as	we	are	lacking	provisions	and	every	day	more	men	are	falling	

ill,	some	of	them	even	drop	down	along	the	road	because	of	extremely	high	fevers,	so	that	we	can	

hardly	find	enough	inhabitants	to	carry	the	people,	let	alone	the	provisions,	for	all	the	River	

peoples	from	Tamsuy,	about	200men	together	with	those	from	Parricoutsie,	have	done	this	heavy	

work	for	about	nine	days	now,	while	we,	when	we	left	Tamsuy,	only	took	provisions	for	the	army	

for	a	fortnight,	having	left	the	remaining	[provisions]	in	the	Appelboom,	as	1told	you	before.	The	

villages	where	we	can	obtain	any	cereals	to	feed	the	bearers	and	the	soldiers	are	few	in	this	area,	

whereas	in	between	Parricoutsie	and	Pocael,	which	is	a	three	days'	march	with	the	army,	we	have	

only	managed	to	come	up	with	five	or	six	deer.	Moreover,	the	villages	themselves	have	very	few	

cereals,	because	most	of	their	crops	are	still	in	the	field,	and	they	would	have	to	harvest	them	by	

the	armful	were	they	to	feed	this	body	of	men.	Because	of	this	shortage	of	rice	our	soldiers	have	

had	to	make	do	with	dry	millet	without	anything	added	to	it	in	order	to	fill	their	knapsacks,	which	

are	only	supplied	with	bread	and	bacon	for	about	four	more	days,	for	they	fear	that	they	will	not	

find	the	galliot	the	Appelboom	anchored	in	the	Sinkanja	River	(which	God	forbid)	when	they	get	

there.	Apart	from	the	provisions	distributed,	only	sixteen	cannassers	bread	are	left,	half	a	barrel	

of	bacon,	forty	jugs	of	arrack	and	fifty	jugs	of	wine.	On	the	other	hand,	since	we	left	Tamsuy	the	

29th	of	September,	about	thirty	to	forty	men	have	fallen	ill,	and	those	who	are	most	afflicted	must	

be	carried	by	at	least	four	men.	(If	only	they	would	find	the	Appelboom	as	planned	at	the	

rendezvous,	the	men	would	manage	to	get	by)	The	more	so,	as	from	now	on	we	are	no	longer	
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expecting	much	danger	from	enemies,	since	we	are	now	staying	in	the	village	Pocael	with	the	

entire	expeditionary	force,	about	which	we	will	tell	you	after	this.	[...]	

We	would	never	have	thought	to	find	so	little	to	eat	in	these	villages,	be	this	rice,	venison,	

pattattesen	or	whatever	else,	because	neither	in	Tamsuy	nor	during	the	whole	trip	through	the	

country,	have	we	been	able	to	get	enough	fresh	food	for	the	men,	notwithstanding	all	our	hunting	

dogs	and	the	inhabitants	who	have	been	helpful,	yea,	it	is	even	worse,	for	between	Tamsuy	and	

up	to	about	a	four	miles	from	Pocael,	still	on	this	beautiful	plain,	we	have	not	seen	more	than	

twenty	or	twenty-five	deer.࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	337-342.࣏	
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P.	Boons…ؗF.	Coyett՘·1657࣐׳ࡆ࣐ʕ10ϐ28Υ.VOC1228585࣌572࣐.	

VOC	1222279-277࣐.	

Missive	Merchant	Pieter	Boons	to	President	Frederick	Coyett.Quelang,	28	October	1657.	VOC	

1222,	fol.	419-441.	
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	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	After	a	walk	lasting	about	nine	or	ten	hours,	about	five	miles	from	the	redoubt,	we	arrived	in	

the	mountains	where	the	rebels	remained	in	hiding.	We	had	to	climb	up	a	narrow	path	with	a	

frightfully	steep	cliff	on	one	side	and	on	the	other	side,	deep	down,	primeval	forest,	with	foot	and	

leg	traps	set	all	along	it.	As	we	were	passing,	the	rebels	who	were	lying	in	ambush	in	the	grove	

unseen	by	us,	started	bravely	to	shoot	their	arrows	at	us,	so	that	our	men	began	to	shoot	at	

random	at	the	grove	from	where	the	arrows	came,	in	the	meantime	trying	to	evade	the	hostile	

arrows	which	came	pouring	at	us	as	if	it	were	raining.	In	this	encounter	we	had	ten	men	injured	

and	three	dead.	There	is	no	doubt	that	the	enemy	has	been	hit	as	well,	and	since	our	army	could	

not	hunt	the	villains	out	of	the	bushes	and	caves	in	which	they	were	hiding	and	we	could	not	aim	

at	the	people	directly,	the	next	day	we	destroyed	the	rice	crop	of	the	Pillien	and	the	Rappan,	

which	was	standing	in	plentiful	abundance	in	the	fields,	while	they	looked	on.	Then	none	of	the	

villains	had	the	courage	to	come	and	defend	it,	but	stayed	in	their	murderers'	lairs,	to	which	they	

had	withdrawn,	forced	to	see	how	the	food	that	they	needed	to	feed	their	evil	bellies,	was	ruined.	

That	is	how	they	tasted	the	fruit	of	their	rebelliousness.	(On	the	21stCaptain	Pedel	left	with	a	

troop	of	a	hundred	soldiers	and	forty	armed	sailors	to	destroy	the	rice-fields	of	Chenaer,	situated	

at	about	three	miles	north	from	the	redoubt.)	He	found	the	rice	crop	very	fine	indeed	and	ready	

to	be	cut,	as	some	of	the	rebellious	Chenaer	had	been	doing	before	he	arrived,	but	they	went	into	

hiding	and	had	to	watch	from	afar	how	our	men	destroyed	and	ruined	their	living	crop,	and	how	a	

number	of	Basay,	Cackerlack	and	Sougan	[who	accompanied	the	army],	made	use	of	the	situation	

to	take	as	much	of	it	as	each	of	them	could	carry	as	his	booty.	Thanks	to	a	smart	trick,	a	man	from	

Rappan	named	Moinats	was	caught,	who	was	also	part	of	the	rebellious	pack	and	had	laid	out	his	

rice-field	here	with	the	Chenaer.	He	was	taken	prisoner	and	brought	to	the	redoubt,	where	he	

was	tortured	and	confessed	that	he	had	taken	part	in	the	recent	fight	of	our	men	against	the	

Pillien	people	in	the	mountains	on	the	18th,	mentioned	above,	and	that	they	had	been	fifty	men	

armed	with	their	bows	and	arrows	against	us.	He	also	said	that	they	had	put	the	heads	of	two	of	

our	soldiers	who	had	been	lying	dead	over	there,	on	poles,	and	declared	also	that	in	the	fight	

some	of	them	had	been	injured,	and	he	thought	one	of	them	had	died	of	this	already.	He	also	

confessed	that	he	had	participated	in	the	storming	of	the	redoubt,	which	had	been	undertaken	in	

December	1655.	Thereupon	this	person	was	sentenced	by	the	Honourable	Field	Commander	

Frederick	Schedel	and	his	council	to	have	his	right	hand	chopped	off	and	his	head	be	put	before	

his	feet.	This	was	executed	in	the	presence	of	various	villagers,	thinking	that	it	would	give	the	

spectators	a	big	fright,	and	would	turn	them	away	from	evil.	The	head	and	the	hand	of	the	

scoundrel	have	been	put	on	show	in	front	of	the	redoubt,	for	the	passers-by	[to	see].	As	for	the	
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said	rebellious	in	Pillien,	Rappan	and	Chenaer,	they	have	left	their	villages	and	remain	in	hiding	in	

barely	accessible	places	in	the	mountains,	from	where	they	will	now	be	chased	away	because	of	

the	hunger	which	will	fill	their	bellies,	since	their	rice	crop	has	been	destroyed.	They	will	have	to	

hover	around	like	birds	of	prey,	which	everybody	will	attempt	to	catch,	and	we	have	already	given	

orders	to	all	our	allied	villages,	under	severe	penalty,	that	no	one	may	secretly	give	the	villains	any	

food	or	render	them	assistance,	but	do	everything	they	can	to	deliver	them	into	our	hands	alive,	

or	just	their	heads,	for	which	they	will	receive	a	certain	reward	in	cangans,	so	that	the	villains	

should	be	afraid	wherever	they	are,	and	we	have	good	hopes	that	they	will	one	day	get	their	

rightful	punishment.	

(The	headmen	of	the	villages	situated	along	the	Quelang	and	Pinnerouan	Rivers	all	came	to	meet	

the	field	commander,	and	expressed	themselves	to	be	loyal	allies	of	the	Company.)	We	have	

reprimanded	some	people	who	have	been	discovered	to	have	committed	some	minor	

misdemeanour,	and	in	thus	kept	them	as	friends	and	allies	of	the	Honourable	Company,	as	of	old.	

On	the	28thof	September,	the	elders	of	Parricoutsie,	Monel	and	Broer,	delivered	two	men	named	

Marikout	and	Gagourille,	who	were	both	guilty	of	manslaughter;	Marikout	killed	Interpreter	

WillemTelyoor,	and	the	other	one,	Gagourille,	killed	a	Chinese	leaseholder	of	the	above-

mentioned	village,	Parricoutsie.	They	both	confessed	this	without	having	been	put	to	torture,	so	

that	they	were	sentenced	the	same	day:	Marikout	to	have	his	hand	and	head	cut	off,	and	the	

other	one,	Gagourille,	to	be	beheaded,	which	was	carried	out	immediately	at	the	usual	execution	

site	and	iii	the	usual	way,	in	front	of	a	big	crowd	of	inhabitants,	and	afterwards	the	same	was	

done	with	their	heads	and	hand	as	with	the	above-mentioned	Moinats.	

(On	29	September	the	entire	army	crossed	the	Tamsuy	River:)	as	there	was	nothing	left	to	be	

carried	out	against	the	rebels	who	live	at	the	northern	side	of	the	river,	because	they	were	holed	

up	in	the	mountains	and	caves.	They	marched	up	to	Perragon.	Upon	arrival	they	found	this	village	

to	be	completely	empty,	because	the	people	had	fled,	so	it	was	sacrificed	to	the	flames.	From	

there	the	army	left	for	Parricoutsie,	which	invited	them	in,	but	later,	because	they	were	reluctant	

to	deliver	this	or	that	and	because	[many]	fled	the	village,	they	loosed	the	red	cock	through	the	

entire	village,	and	only	the	houses	of	the	elders,	who	behaved	well,	were	spared.	Finally	the	

villagers	who	had	run	off	understood	that	their	rice	crop	was	also	going	to	be	burned	if	they	did	

not	do	as	they	were	told,	so	they	came	forward	in	order	to	save	it,	and	after	they	had	confessed	

their	crimes	and	showed	repentance,	they	were	acquitted	on	condition	that	they	promised	to	

behave	as	obedient	subjects	and	friends	in	the	future.	[...]	

[...]Rumour	was	spread	by	the	Chinese	in	Tamsuy	that	the	rebellious	people	of	Pillien,	Rappan	and	

Chenaer	are	about	to	come	to	us	soon,	or	will	request	through	others	to	be	forgiven	for	their	

crimes,	and	give	up	the	fight.	[...]	A	few	days	ago	the	flow	of	water	at	the	redoubt	of	Tamsuy	was	

blocked	again	by	the	rebels,	but	this	is	of	no	importance,	because	we	are	lucky	that	it	can	easily	

be	redressed	by	our	Basay.	We	do	trust	they	are	just	wagging	their	tails,	and	they	will	learn	soon	
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enough	from	the	sharp	hunger	they	suffer,	into	what	kind	of	situation	their	heedless	

rebelliousness	and	hostility	have	brought	them.	In	the	meantime,	we	shall	not	behindhand	in	

persecuting	the	Pillien	villagers	and	their	supporters,	plus	the	other	Pocael	and	Perragon	most	

severely	indeed	for	being	public	enemies	[risen]	against	the	rule	of	the	Honourable	Company,	and	

harm	them	in	every	possible	way.	The	Dockodockol	have	been	declared	good	friends	and	allies	of	

the	Honourable	Company	by	the	Lord	Field	Commander	and	his	council.	They,	and	their	closest	

neighbours,	have	promised	that	if	they	are	invited	to	come	to	the	Landdag	as	usual,	they	will	

appear	obediently	and	behave	as	true	allies.	[...](The	governor	had	ordered	that	Chinese	were	not	

allowed	to	chop	wood,	or	buy	it	from	the	inhabitants,	so	that	the	Company	could	obtain	the	

quality	wood.)There	is	a	chance	for	the	Honourable	Company	to	amass	a	reasonable	amount	of	

wood	in	Tamsuy,	if	Your	Honour	will	be	pleased	to	send	the	Chinese	who	work	for	us.	There	are	

only	thirty-one	Chinese	living	in	Tamsuy,	of	whom	most	are	ill	and	invalid.	They	all	make	a	living	

by	selling	small	necessities	to	the	soldiers	and	inhabitants.	The	same	is	the	case	with	the	

seventeen	Chinese	who	are	staying	in	Quelang.	It	would	be	extremely	expensive	for	the	Company	

to	have	the	inhabitants	chop	wood	in	the	woods,	and	they	will	also	do	this	much	against	their	

will,	whatever	they	get	paid	for	it.	[...]	

As	for	the	coal,	consisting	of	40	buckets	which	was	sent	to	Your	Honour	in	the	Chinese	junk,	you	

inform	us	that	you	are	eleven	buckets	short.	This	we	can	believe,	for	as	you	keep	asking	in	your	

letters	we	gather	only	big	lumps	of	coal,	and	the	inhabitants	deliver	that	to	us.	Upon	being	

shipped	they	are	measured	into	the	buckets	in	which	they	are	received.	When	they	are	being	

carried	aboard	the	coal	often	has	grown	smaller	because	it	has	passed	through	many	hands,	

which	is	the	reason	the	buckets	seem	to	be	fewer	in	number.	The	Basay	who	delivers	it,	profits	

most	of	this,	for	big	lumps	take	up	a	great	deal	of	space.	[...]	

Last	time	while	coal	was	being	dug,	two	young	Basay	lads	were	terribly	crushed	when	a	big	chunk	

broke	off	the	coal	mountain,	and	died,	this	is	sad.	

I	notice	that	Your	Honour	is	not	too	pleased	with	the	fact	that	we	have	sent	Assistant	Balbiaen	

and	a	Dutch	soldier	to	Cavalang,	accompanied	only	by	some	from	Kimaurij.	We	request	Your	

Honour	to	understand	that	we	found	out	the	Honourable	Company	has	been	blindfolded	for	

many	years	in	the	Bight	of	Cavalang,	and	that	the	annual	visit	to	that	area	has	been	usurped	by	

some	mean	Kimaurij,	such	as	the	late	Company	Interpreter	Thedoor,	Cabessa	Loupo	who	is	still	

alive	and	some	of	their	consorts.	These	people	have	acted	as	they	please	in	that	Bight	for	their	

own	profit,	in	the	name	of	the	Honourable	Company,	and	acted	as	masters	there	instead	of	the	

Honourable	Company	itself.	Whenever	they	returned	from	there	with	their	booty	of	rice,	skins,	

slaves	and	whatever,	they	silently	hid	it	in	their	own	village	before	one	of	them	went	to	whoever	

was	stationed	here	as	opperhoofd,	lying	to	him	by	telling	him	a	nicely	contrived	story	to	cover	up	

the	truth,	saying	that	the	Cavalang	would	come	over	to	congratulate	the	Opperhoofd,	who	then	

believed	it	and	even	presented	the	Kimaurij	with	a	gift	for	the	trouble	they	had	taken	in	service	of	

the	Honourable	Company.	And	when	the	Cavalang	people	showed	up,	most	of	the	time	they	were	
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carrying	loads	of	rice	and	skins	the	Kimaurij	had	bartered	from	them	for	themselves	on	the	

pretext	that	they	had	to	deliver	these	in	Quelang.	While	they	were	present	over	here	the	

Cavalang	then,	who	sometimes	came	to	us	with	as	many	as	100or	120	people,	expected	to	be	

entertained	and	be	merry	for	a	while,	so	that	the	Kimaurij	traffickers	kept	this	nice	practice	of	

bringing	the	Cavalang	to	the	Opperhoofd,	thus	being	freed	of	having	to	entertain	them	

themselves,	while	the	Opperhoofd	was	none	the	wiser,	and	thought	they	had	indeed	come	to	

honour	him.	Thinking	that	was	the	case,	he	then	regaled	them	abundantly	with	arrack	and	

tobacco,	according	to	the	custom	of	this	country,	while	the	Kimaurij	boozers,	who	also	used	to	act	

as	interpreters	for	the	Cavalang	as	well	as	for	the	Opperhoofd	himself,	joined	in	too	and	told	them	

just	as	much	as	they	wanted	each	of	them	to	know.	As	a	consequence,	the	Honourable	Company	

was	barely	anything	but	a	name	to	the	Cavalang,	while	the	Company	actually	incurred	plenty	of	

expenses	because	of	them	when	they	came	for	a	visit,	and	the	Kimaurij	took	the	profit,	and	if	the	

Company	wanted	to	have	skins,	it	had	to	try	and	get	them	out	of	the	hands	of	the	Kimaurij	first.	I	

found	out	about	this	said	deception	during	my	presence	here,	for	almost	the	entire	Bight	of	

Cavalang	has	come	to	pay	me	a	visit,	mostly	in	order	to	deliver	the	rice	and	skins	Cabessa	Loupo,	

who	had	been	in	Cavalang	a	few	months	before	to	make	himself	a	profit,	had	bought	from	them.	

Now	he	came	himself	too	and	told	me	very	convincingly	that	they	had	come	over	just	to	greet	

me,	and	if	I	had	not	paid	sharp	attention	to	their	wit,	I	would	have	believed	it	all.	But,	I	regaled	

them	abundantly	with	arrack	and	tobacco,	in	order	to	win	their	hearts	ever	more	for	the	

Honourable	Company,	while	saying	that	if	they	had	any	rice	or	skins	for	sale,	the	Honourable	

Company	would	like	to	buy	it	too.	They	then	replied	that	a	huge	quantity	of	rice	and	skins	had	

been	exchanged	in	their	country	with	the	Kimaurij,	in	the	name	of	the	Company.	Then	I	perceived	

the	sinister	scheme	of	these	Kimaurij.	So	I	asked	the	Cavalang	if	they	would	do	business	if	I	were	

to	send	one	or	two	Dutchmen	to	them	to	exchange	some	rice	and	skins	for	the	Honourable	

Company?	They	answered	yes,	and	why	would	they	do	him	any	harm,	as	they	were	indeed	friends	

with	the	Honourable	Company;	Thereupon	I	decided	to	send	Assistant	Balbiaen	over	to	Cavalang,	

in	order	to	exchange	some	goods	for	rice	and	skins	on	behalf	of	the	Honourable	Company,	by	

means	of	a	test.	Consequently,	he	left	on	the	6thJuly	last	and	was	welcomed	by	the	Cavalang,	and	

has	exchanged	an	amount	of	rice	from	the	remains	of	their	old	crop,	as	well	as	some	skins.	The	

experience	of	the	assistant	was	that	they	would	rather	trade	with	us	than	with	the	Kimaurij,	as	

some	of	them	openly	said	to	the	Kimaurij:	"We	don't	want	to	give	our	skins	for	a	rag	or	a	piece	of	

trash,	when	we	come	to	the	cantadoor	in	Quelang	he	gives	us	a	Spanish	real	for	a	bundle	or	five	

pieces	of	deer	skins."	There	is	a	village	situated	in	the	Bight	of	Cavalang	called	Talabiawan,	in	

which	would	be	extremely	useful	to	station	two	or	three	Dutchmen	permanently,	who	could	trade	

rice	and	skins	on	a	small	scale.	This	village	lies	in	a	good	position,	for	every	ship	which	comes	from	

or	goes	to	Cavalang,	can	be	seen	from	there.	This	village	is,	as	it	were,	the	marketplace	of	the	

entire	Bight	of	Cavalang.	The	inhabitants	are	very	similar	to	our	Kimaurij,	both	in	their	build	and	in	
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their	manner	of	dress,	they	earn	their	living	by	making	salt	and	they	also	trade	rice	and	skins,	

which	they	buy	in	other	villages	or	is	brought	to	them	for	sale.	As	the	above-mentioned	assistant	

points	out,	they	would	not	mind	if	two	or	three	Dutchmen	came	and	lived	there,	since	it	would	be	

to	their	own	profit.	And,	moreover,	the	place	supplies	abundant	provisions,	more	than	any	of	the	

other	Cavalang	villages.	The	Cavalang	themselves	now	realized	that	the	Kimaurij	had	been	fooling	

them	by	using	the	name	of	the	Honourable	Company.	They	requested	the	assistant	that	

whenever	anyone	from	the	Honourable	Company	should	come	in	future,	he	should	carry	a	sign	

that	he	was	coming	on	behalf	of	the	Company.	The	entire	Bight	of	Cavalang	is	obedient	to	the	

Company,	and	all	elders	and	fiscals	have	been	visiting	us,	some	of	them	even	twice.	Three	small	

villages	situated	in	a	distant	comer	in	the	mountains	are	not	enemies	of	the	Honourable	

Company,	but	keep	to	themselves.	We	shall	have	to	go	to	some	trouble	to	become	friends	with	

them	too,	and	a	Kimaurij	Basay	has	offered	us	to	bring	the	elders	of	those	villages	for	this	

purpose.	Of	this	we	will	take	notice	in	due	course,	and	will	not	refrain	from	doing.	[...]	

Your	Honour	mentioned	that	Their	Honours	in	Batavia	would	be	inclined	to	build	a	warehouse	on	

the	Bay	of	St	Laurens,	so	that	we	can	be	a	little	bit	more	assured	of	the	friendship	of	the	Cavalang,	

this	would	be	to	our	profit,	as	it	will	make	up	for	the	risk	and	the	expenses.	We	think	[...]	we	have	

already	proof	enough	of	this,	and	we	shall	never	be	surer	of	their	friendship	than	we	are	now,	for	

they	come	to	us	as	our	allies	and	treat	us	as	their	friends	in	their	own	country.	As	for	the	profit	we	

would	make,	we	shall	have	to	learn	about	that	in	time.	We	might	obtain	a	considerable	number	of	

skins	and	amounts	of	rice	over	there,	which	could	be	exchanged	profitably	for	lijwaeten.	A	

wooden	trading-post	with	a	clay	roof	should	not	be	too	expensive,	and	could	be	defended	by	

twelve	to	fifteen	soldiers,	including	the	assistant	as	a	resident,	if	any	scoundrels	tried	to	

undertake	anything	against	it.	The	Bight	of	Cavalang	lies	about	one	and	a	half	hour's	walk	from	

the	village	Talabiawan	I	mentioned	above.	[...]	

[...]	

(Assistant	Balhiaen	returned	to	Quelang	on	17	August,	reporting	about	the	willingness	of	the	

Cabalang	and	Tarraboan	people	to	enter	into	the	Company	alliance.	It	had	become	clear	that)	the	

shrewd	Kimaurij	Basay	have	steadily	denigrated	these	peoples	with	a	black	brush,	so	that	we	

were	suspicious	of	them,	and	they	have	always	said	that	if	any	Dutchman	was	sent	there,	he	

would	be	beaten	to	death.	This	has	turned	out	to	be	the	contrary,	and	instead	of	being	murdered,	

they	have	been	treated	well.	But	this	claim	of	the	Kimaurij	was	based,	in	our	opinion,	on	the	

intention	to	keep	our	people	away	from	Cavalang	and	Tarraboan	by	this	ruse,	in	order	to	keep	the	

trade	for	themselves,	under	the	pretext	of	acting	on	behalf	of	the	Honourable	Company.	[...]

	࣏.355-364	pp.	4,	vol.	Encounter,	Formosan	The࣎
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1657ʕ 11ϐ 19Υ	

VOC	122243-17࣐.	

Missive	President	Frederick	Coyett	to	Governor-General	Joan	Maetsuijcker.	Tayouan,	19	November	

1657.	VOC	1222,	fol.	17-43࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ࣐	

But	when	we	weighed	it	in	our	council,	we	found	it	to	be	no	more	than	760	condrijn.	Balbiaen	

bartered	it	for	two	picol,	which	is	a	very	low	price,	for	on	the	touchstone	we	found	that	the	

biggest	nuggets	and	the	grit,	which	have	not	been	melted	by	them	nor	been	forged	with	silver,	is	

23	carat.	[...]	

[...]	In	Talabiawan,	a	Cavalang	village	in	a	very	favourable	situation	one	and	a	half	miles	from	St	

Laurens	Bay,	Mr	Boons	thinks	a	small	wooden	house	could	be	sturdily	built	at	low	cost.	The	trade	

in	skins	and	rice	can	best	be	done	over	there,	as	it	also	is	the	marketplace	of	the	other	

surrounding	villages.	We	shall	[...]	order	him	to	start	doing	so.	[...]	

After	the	punitive	expedition	of	which	we	told	you,	all	peoples	living	in	the	plain,	from	the	north	

all	the	way	to	the	southern	tip,	are	living	fairly	quietly	and	obediently.	A	few	weeks	ago	many	of	

them	died	from	smallpox.	

In	future,	we	shall	[...]	hold	the	annual	Landdag	in	the	old	way,	as	Your	Honour	thinks	it	is	the	best	

way.࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	370-371.࣏	

1657ʕ 11ϐ 24Υ	

ࢹ࣏balien࣎7スnitay-30І࣒ªߌ࣐�«イ33࣐ªČтƸ׳ࡆ՘ҖўŻߥ.ˇڌרڑ2
	ϗ11ϐl0Υ՘Sɇ·ªؾBoonsãԵן44ǖϙϧ.b-࣏swartzaet࣎Ș׶ڕ
ʘfծߞټԴ࣐ʏʀࡘˆ۲߆࣐՘qɽࡠƸ1Ň¢ќバɏǋո֣ߡh࣐ܷ˝l̦܂·

Zÿϑ�¥ήࡵ՘ݺу࣐ŘϑƷޮࠧ׳ࡆ՘࣎߷,߻Ouiemauurie࣏֜ŻҖўࠧޮ՘
Tappare֜ԕˆÕϑ՘̋ϫߟߡ�࣐՘ȟ࣐׍,̲Ǳ՘Żɐ՘࣐ώǬlZ30ߍČ32»࣐
	.ΐバɏƍϊ۞ڮԸۻˁɑƷȡϺߞ½�]ْ
ϑʘ»ߡvMȅϠ֜՘ُ࠙I܂ߡ�Əܷ࣐ƸΜϏ޿࣎݋ʏƷ12ϐ࣏۲ځśkZˏÿ
ʌJĜ.Ɏт࣐�ƫߡ࣐ܷ½�ך.ʿ͕̹࠷ޓȫʂˁҟИsࡦˏ½�ܣÿʌJĜƸ

ΜϏ࣐݋�½ѕS»�ˇࡪ�ČթՆ՘ݴž࣐lɎ�ҟИ̂ךϏߘźÿʌo.ࡃӝȆ

т࣐ܷ½�࣐Ʒ࣑ߡʕSʝ՘ࡁϏζ܉½�࣐IߡҏӏԊڅԏ࣐މƖ߱߭ª۲ٺŐТ࣐

�½ZϏٟܬIÿʌƸΜϏ݋.Ƭт࣐BoonsȆϫӜѻߔՆƸ֯ޢ�½՘〕ʝ࣐Č�ʕ
l2ϐ՘ζÀڙˆߞ�࣐Sࠜࢺͼܼ޾v�Š࣐ࡾԸ̸؞�_Ĝʵޅ�½՘Mȅ՘ࠢ°.
	࣏ࡢ314ו4õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎

P.	Boons…ؗF.	Coyett՘·1657࣐׳ࡆ࣐ʕ11ϐ10Υ.VOC	1228࣐fol.586-593.	



	ŝΔʸΌ	Wࠄࠧ

	 205	

ϑΎ Ň¢ќ࡬�ªƏӘ޾ࢵ�ʕZ۲ځlanddag׳ࡆ࣐Μ࡚ȫƂƫךƬӘߒʿޓΝjϐて

ՄȆϗܗʕĐى.ަځʕ2rϐZϏö޾΃࣐landdagoמɕߡ࣐�࡬Ň¢ќߍࡁŚ؛ζʂߏ

ì࣐֜ϫ̋ࢺŻҖў՘Tapparij֜ϑ֜߷,߻՘׳ࡆlanddag.ɎΝŇ¢ќ՘3バ-4ŘƷަځ

½�࣐Җў՘ȡԵωɑ.Նɐȟ࠙Ǳ.ܳڮȡ࣐ϑ30Č32f՘ɐȟXȡ׳ࡆεBasay�.Ʒߧ

՘ӹєɕϏ܉Ѣ�½Iょࢢ́-ࡁ-̎εӢࡴ§ԃ࣐ծࡼ׽ן.Ն�½ࠜࡇȡϺSюζ࣐ࠝ

ڮƬӘ࣐�lѮަѻ̠�½ԿƷȡϺƄ۞ڮ࣐˃�I̖ȡ՘ɕë˒äo.ɐȟ࠙Č2íцߍ

۞�l޾࡙܉vŇ¢ќ̙́ࢢԖ¬ؗࡼ׽.тǫ࣐ӹєˏࡦӘîş̽ӡӕ࣐ょࡼࡁԃ՘ɽ§

ɕڹƷɐȟސXo.ϑvӹєI̽ӡӕζϏ̠ɐȟԿƷȳ࣐̎ࢄ̾܂ε̠ɐȟSݺʎI̽ӡ

ӕ.خe׳ࡆ࣐Μ࡚ȫƂܱӘƷ޾Ш՘ԉѸYˁࡈÓͨǋոバ՘バ-.Boonsl͏޲o�Ɏ

Basay�՘ќ´ܑȽܱ࣐Ә܈ԡԀ�Ɏ�½՘ʻࡡˁǱ.ՆBasayۻ�ƏōεZεǋո˅ζ࣐

�½ϏࢍXԸ܈ԡԀܳƫ3ךε՘࣐Ǳ࣐̌�εԳؙٷǲbバ՘ȅȘќ4.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	The	Basay	from	Quelang	and	Tamsuy,	who	should	be	used	to	this	unhealthy	climate,	[...]	are	

sometimes	dealt	a	severe	blow	by	it	too.	

Several	elders	from	allied	villages,	both	on	the	Quelang	River	and	elsewhere,	have	come	to	ask	us	

this	year	if	they	had	to	attend	the	annual	Landdag,	which	is	usually	held	in	December,	and	that	it	

has	already	been	two	years	since	it	had	been	held.	I	answered	them	that	it	cannot	be	held	this	

year,	since	the	Honourable	Company	has	actually	held	an	adequate	Landdag	upon	the	arrival	of	

the	army,	and	that	each	of	them	had	been	presented	with	many	gifts,	with	which	they	had	to	be	

satisfied.	Some	of	those	beggars,	among	whom	our	Kimaurij	Basay,	did	not	like	this	too	much,	

because	their	hearts	and	greedy	eyes	only	desire	presents.	[...]	Next	year	[...]	the	Landdag	has	to	

be	held	according	to	the	annual	custom,	because	they	hold	this	holy	day	in	extraordinarily	esteem	

and	do	not	wish	to	scratch	it	from	their	calendar,	for	then	they	will	not	be	treated	well	with	food	

and	drinks,	a	thing	they	like	so	much.	We	are	afraid	that	we	will	have	even	more	visitors	and	for	

that	reason	we	shall	invite	them	to	the	Landdag	in	a	strictly	formal	way.	Whenever	it	occurs,	we	

shall	economize	as	much	as	possible,	and	do	our	duty	in	agree	that	whatever	we	do	in	these	

regions	is	the	most	proper	and	useful	to	the	position	of	the	Company.	If	the	matter	is	going	to	

work	out	this	way,	we	shall	also	invite	our	friends	from	Cavalang	to	this	end,	who	have	not	been	

at	the	Landdag	for	such	a	long	time,	and	this	will	improve	the	friendship	between	them	and	the	

Honourable	Company.	

In	our	last	missive	I	did	not	mention	the	situation	of	the	church	and	the	schools	to	Your	Honour	

[...]	In	the	first	place	I	am	very	sorry	to	tell	you	that	the	propagation	of	the	fertile	and	sanctifying	

teaching	of	Christ	does	not	even	stir	the	tiniest	beginnings	in	them.	The	only	places	where	we	

have	any	pleasing	result	is	in	the	hamlet	Kimaurij	at	Quelang,	and	the	hamlet	Tapparij	at	Tamsuy,	

both	Basay	villages.	In	the	hamlet	Kimaurij	in	Quelang	thirty	to	thirty-two	children	at	the	most,	

both	large	and	small,	attend	school,	though	still	rather	seldom,	and	are	taught	to	read	in	the	

Dutch	language.	In	Tamsuy	there	are	even	fewer	schoolchildren,	and	they	receive	the	same	

lessons.	Among	these	schoolchildren,	some	are	grown	so	big	that	their	parents	(many	of	them	
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poor	people)	need	them	to	search	food	in	the	fields	or	to	catch	fish	on	the	beach,	to	look	for	

periwinkles,	or	to	take	care	of	other	provisions.	For	that	purpose,	the	children	stay	away	from	

school	and	forget	what	they	have	learned.	The	parents	of	those	children	have	to	deliver	the	

annual	amount	of	coal	which	is	required	by	the	Honourable	Company,	because	the	payment	[they	

receive].	So	when	they	are	working	in	the	coal-mine,	the	children	stay	away	from	school	too,	and	

walk	along	the	beach	to	scrape	a	living	from	fishing	and	otherwise.	It	is	impossible	to	get	people	

over	eighteen	years	old,	who	are	living	in	these	two	Basay	villages,	to	come	to	school,	for	they	are	

the	ones	who	have	to	feed	our	Dutchmen	who	are	posted	to	these	two	northern	forts,	selling	

them	their	catch	of	fish	and	meat.	They	allow	themselves	be	employed	by	them	[the	Dutch]	in	all	

kinds	of	chores,	wherever	it	is	needed	for	the	Honourable	Company,	for	which	they	can	work	for	

four	double	stuyvers	a	day.	Poor	parents	also	send	their	children	or	sons	of	fourteen	and	fifteen	

years	old	for	this	purpose;	they	reckon	that	this	extra	support	of	four	dubbeltjes	is	more	welcome	

to	them	than	sending	their	children	to	school.	When	they	go	out	digging	for	coal,	some	people	

leave	their	children	at	home	without	food,	which	they	forage	for	themselves,	as	said	before,	by	

staying	away	from	school.	Others	sometimes	take	their	children	with	them	to	dig.	It	is	a	pity	that	

the	possibility	to	spread	Christianity	in	these	regions	with	great	zeal	and	to	a	good	effect	is	not	

working	out	better.	If	this	is	so	difficult	in	the	villages	which	are	our	best	friends,	Your	Honour	

should	consider	how	impossible	it	would	be	in	other	allied	villages,	which	are	of	a	more	stubborn	

and	irascible	nature,	for	this	to	be	successful.	It	seems	that	before,	the	Basay	were	better	

Christians	than	[they	are]	now.	We,	and	everybody	else,	find	that	the	Basay	make	pigs	of	

themselves	day	in	day	out,	and	spend	their	lives,	if	they	do	not	work,	in	drunkenness	and	hinging.	

Often,	when	I	have	made	inspection	trips	to	their	village	of	Kimaurij	and	the	other	one	in	Tamsuy,	

I	found	them	living	as	filthy	drunkards,	lying	in	front	of	their	doors	or	in	the	middle	of	the	road,	

sleeping	off	their	hangovers.	This	way	of	life	is	not	just	a	matter	of	today	or	yesterday,	but	is	an	

ancient	habit	among	all	these	Northern	heathens.	The	Spaniards	did	not	inculcate	enough	

civilisation	in	them	to	have	them	turn	their	backs	on	this	shameful	way	of	life.	However,	the	Basay	

have	adopted	the	Spanish	temperament	and	many	other	evils.	In	many	other	habits,	like	

trimming	money	and	so	on,	they	equal	the	Jew.	That	they	inclined	towards	Christianity	more	than	

two	or	three	years	ago	is	because	they	have	been	taught	as	much	by	the	Spaniards,	but	we	think	

they	only	did	it	to	make	a	better	impression	in	court,	and	to	stay	with	our	people	as	if	they	were	

more	civilised	and	more	modest	than	their	other	northern	neighbours,	If	we	ask	a	Basay	

nowadays	whether	he	is	a	Christian,	he	will	immediately	answer:	"Si	Signor	igo	sta	buno	Christan	

del	Casteliano",	and	some	of	them	are	just	as	fluent	in	reciting	the	Lord's	Prayer	as	a	magpie	in	

chattering,	as	Your	Honour	can	also	see	from	interpreter	Gravel	Loemas,	who	has	come	to	Your	

Honour	with	the	army.	It	becomes	even	more	evident	that	they	do	not	feel	the	slightest	bit	akin	

to	Christianity,	as	the	Reverend	Minister	Marcus	Masius	has	not	baptised	a	single	child	of	the	

Basay	in	the	two	years	he	has	been	here.	No	doubt	the	reasons	this	does	not	happen	are	known	
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to	His	Honour.	Nevertheless,	we	hope	with	all	our	heart	that	Almighty	God	will	one	day	rest	His	

merciful	eyes	on	these	blind	heathens.	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	367-369.࣏	

1658û	

1658ʕ 2ϐ 22Υ	

ϑSɇPieter	BoonsãԵؾϗIʕlϐ11Υ՘ª·…ߡví߷Ƽ֜՘̌ۻ̠࣐�Μ՘�ӭ
̋ӑӲ՘ϠȘ�Ȣګʧ࣐Iޮࠧߡɧ܂Ƹĩ܉࠽՘ɳ߂ݑɞɛ¢.	
Iʕl2ϐl7Υ࣐Ʒʘ»࡬էZΛ՘܉ѢY࣐Ʒ۲ځ܂ߡoƸΜϏߡ࣐݋SʎMȅϠ֜՘
ُ࠙½ǱߥĂߧIÿʌo࣐Řϑʘ»ƬՍZ٪ÿʌ՘࣐҇�½՘ȊȘŻ̏܎ʎײϡI

Ʒ�½̝݁Ϗ࣐ϡIÿʌײʎ�½՘ߧ½�࣐ĂIÿʌoߥϏ.ƣԫ۞՘ُ࠙lǱݹ

4õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.ス�ُ࠙8طصŇϑ՘жĩ7طص½�ݏ࣐՘îşeYݢϓɌࡥ

	࣏ࡢ368ו
P.	Boons…ؗF.	Coyett՘·1658࣐׳ࡆ࣐ʕ1ϐ11Υ.VOC1228࣐fol.	567-571.	

Ʒʘ ߫࠙՘Ǎ̸Y࣐ҖўƸ1՘landdagߞεƷ12ϐ17Υ࣐۲ځƬӘ׳ࡆƸΜȫƂܱӘZځ

ަ՘࣐ܬŏْٿîş՘Ċ՝۶ׂ.ҖўƸ1՘Ϡ࣐֜,ŮҖўǏǡ˃Μ՘eբϠ֜ߧőČߝ

Ăߥ՘ȊȘ̎àʲªJĜ.Ǳ½�ߓÿʌّl҇ٺ܎ʘ ƬՍӜѻ࣐ÿʌߧ�࡬ĂߥǱ࣐ܼ

՘ƣԫ۞Ϡ֜࡬�lÿʌo.޾ɇ··޲o1657ʕlanddagަځ՘ֱߍ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	Everything	continues	to	be	quiet,	both	here	and	in	Tamsuy	(apart	from	the	rebellious	

enemies).	The	Pocael	keep	the	land	road	unsafe,	and	of	late	some	of	them	have	told	the	

Parricoutsie	that	if	they	could	lay	their	hands	on	a	Dutchman,	a	Basay,	or	another	one	of	them	

they	would	kill	him	and	chop	his	head	off.	For	this	reason	the	Basay	are	now	nervous	and	afraid	to	

come	to	Pocael.	The	Parricoutsie	also	told	us	that	the	Pocael	were	again	rebuilding	their	houses,	

which	were	destroyed	by	the	fire.	They	did	not	mention	their	number,	but	as	for	the	people	who	

died.	Interpreter	Bernabe	informs	us	he	has	heard	from	the	Parricoutsie	themselves	that	it	

amounts	to	twenty-five.	We	cannot	believe	this,	since	the	Dockodockol	alone	have	captured	and	

taken	with	them	as	many	heads	as	the	above-mentioned	[sum].	Let	alone	the	multitude	who	

were	shot	and	killed	throughout	the	bush	[area]	by	our	people.	

The	Parragon	headman	is	leaving	his	destroyed	village,	which	has	been	burnt	to	ashes	by	our	

people,	as	it	is,	and	is	now	living	at	various	spots	in	the	awesome	gorges	in	the	mountains.	As	long	

as	the	Pocael	headman	sticks	to	his	attitude	of	attack	and	defence,	we	do	not	see	it	happening	

that	the	Parragon	headman	will	be	well-inclined	towards	the	Company.	But	they	are	not	terribly	

important,	as	they	number	only	ten	or	twelve	families.	The	Parricoutsie	have	these	two	

neighbours	on	either	side	and	are	terrified	of	them.	But	in	our	opinion	these	fellows	understand	
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each	other	fairly	well,	and	cunningly	act	as	if	they	are	scared.	We	shall	tell	them	very	

circumspectly	to	take	care,	and	try	to	keep	them	as	much	subjected	to	Company	obedience	as	

possible.	The	Dockodockol	cannot	come	to	the	redoubt	because	of	the	risk	posed	by	the	Pocael	

keeping	the	roads	unsafe,	and	they	do	not	dare	to	confront	them	[armed	just]	with	their	own	

weapons.	

Because	several	cabessas	kept	insisting	on	it,	we	held	a	Landdag	on	the	17thDecember	last.	We	

would	have	liked	to	skip	it,	but	considered	that	this	would	only	have	worked	counter	to	the	

interest	of	the	Honourable	Company,	therefore	we	sent	our	interpreter	to	invite	all	elders	and	

fiscals	from	all	the	friendly	villages,	situated	both	along	the	Quelang	and	Pinnerouan	Rivers,	as	

well	as	those	situated	in	the	hinterland	of	the	redoubt.	Most	of	them	did	indeed	come	to	the	

Landdag,	apart	from	a	few	who	could	not	pleading	ill	health,	but	who	have	sent	their	wives,	and	

some	their	brothers	and	sons	with	their	Company	canes	as	a	token	of	their	obedience.	The	

majority	of	the	Cavalang	people	also	appeared.	First,	we	welcomed	the	elders	from	the	rivers	and	

the	surrounding	villages,	and	an	hour	later	we	welcomed	the	elders	and	fiscals	from	Cavalang.	We	

had	them	stand	all	together	in	an	orderly	fashion	at	a	place	we	had	arranged	in	front	of	the	house	

of	the	Opperhoofd,	and	had	a	salute	of	three	cannon	shots	fired	from	the	castle	out	of	respect	for	

the	Honourable	Company.	After	that	we	were	seated	and	had	the	audience	commence	and	we	

had	every	village	elder	come	forward	and	had	each	of	them	hand	over	his	cane	to	us.	Upon	this	

we	asked	them	about	the	situation	of	their	village	and	to	swear	their	obedience	to	the	

Honourable	Company,	to	which	they	all	answered,	both	from	the	Pinnerouan	and	the	Quelang	

Rivers,	that	they	lived	in	obedience	to	the	Honourable	Company,	and	whenever	the	Company	

needed	their	services	somewhere,	that	they	were	always	willing	to	perform	those	duties.	Then	

we	asked	some	elders	in	public	why	their	villagers,	who	had	been	ordered	to	accompany	the	army	

as	carriers,	had	run	off.	Some	cabessas	stated	that	this	had	been	done	because	they	were	hungry	

and	exhausted,	but	that	they	had	not	accepted	this	excuse	and	had	reprimanded	their	people	for	

their	premature	departure	homewards	and	had	threatened	to	send	them	over	to	the	Cantadoor.	

They	begged	us	to	overlook	this	mistake,	and	forgive	them.	They	hoped	to	prevent	this	from	

happening	again.	We	advised	them	that	they	had	to	behave	as	alert	and	valiant	people,	and	

always	to	be	on	a	lookout	for	an	advantage	to	destroy	the	proud	Pocael,	who	are	their	mortal	

enemies	and	have	now	almost	been	completely	annihilated	by	the	Honourable	Company,	just	like	

those	from	Parragon,	Pillien,	Rappan	and	Chenaer.	They	promised	us	this	and	hoped	that	it	would	

turn	out	to	be	so.	After	that	we	returned	the	Company	canes	to	the	elders,	one	after	the	other,	

thanked	them	for	the	good	service	they	had	rendered,	and	bestowed	a	proper	gift	on	them.	We	

did	the	same	with	their	fiscals.	After	we	were	finished	with	this	Tamsuy	area,	we	gave	an	

audience	to	the	Cavalang	village	elders,	who	all	appeared	obediently	before	us	and	handed	their	

canes	over	to	us.	We	asked	them	about	the	situation	in	their	village,	and	whether	their	obedience	

was	still	voluntary,	to	which	they	all	answered	yes,	and	why	they	would	do	wrong,	because	the	
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Honourable	Company	was	their	benefactor	and	regaled	them	whenever	they	came	over.	They	did	

say	that	indeed	there	were	a	few	who	did	not	like	the	Honourable	Company	overly	much,	but	that	

these	were	fellows	who	looked	for	wealth	by	pillaging,	and	lived	here,	there	and	everywhere.	We	

advised	them	to	join	together	to	fight	these	men	and	bring	them	down,	which	they	promised	to	

do,	if	an	opportunity	should	present	itself.	I	ordered	them	again	to	welcome	any	Dutchmen	who	

should	come	to	Cavalang	as	friends,	just	as	they	could	see	that	the	Honourable	Company	received	

them,	in	order	to	remain	friends	with	the	Honourable	Company,	which	always	wreaks	revenge,	as	

everybody	could	see	from	the	Pocael	and	the	way	in	which	they	had	been	punished.	After	we	had	

made	this	crystal	clear	to	them,	they	promised	us	from	the	bottom	of	their	hearts	to	remain	

obedient	to	the	Honourable	Company,	upon	which	I	presented	the	elders	and	fiscals	with	a	

proper	gift.	Now	that	this	audience	had	come	to	an	end,	we	have	regaled	all	elders	and	fiscals	

with	food	and	drink	and	made	merry	as	usual.	They	were	all	gay	in	the	manner	of	their	village,	

which	was	very	peacefully	and	harmoniously.	The	people	who	had	had	more	than	enough,	were	

helped	into	their	vessels	by	their	companions.	So	everybody	returned	home	in	good	spirits,	and	

so	the	Landdag	came	to	an	end.	

We	asked	the	cabessa	from	the	village	Riebats	situated	along	the	Pinnerouan	River,	who	had	

arrived	by	now	too,	why	he	and	his	villagers	had	taken	the	heads	of	thirteen	people	from	one	of	

the	Coulon	villages	named	Sincala	some	time	ago.	He	answered	that	they	had	done	so	for	

revenge,	since	the	villagers	of	Sincala	had	chopped	off	the	heads	of	sixteen	of	their	people,	

earlier.	I	advised	him	not	to	wage	any	more	war	now	that	he	was	allied	to	the	Honourable	

Company,	but	to	come	to	me	first,	and	tell	[me]	the	reason	for	their	discontent.	I	would	then	look	

into	the	matter	and	see	how	important	it	was,	and	tell	them	what	to	do.	He	promised	to	do	so,	

and	that	he	would	only	wage	war	with	our	consent.	This	village	Sincala	is	situated	high	up	in	the	

mountains,	and	has	entered	into	the	alliance	with	the	Honourable	Company	in	the	past,	but	we	

do	not	remember	that	they	have	ever	appeared	at	any	Landdag	to	pay	their	respects.	In	time	we	

shall	send	our	interpreter	over,	who	can	look	into	this	and	other	matters	in	the	region	and	the	

villages	out	there.	

As	for	the	Tarraboan,	we	have	not	been	able	to	invite	them	to	the	Landdag	because	it	is	

impossible	to	sail	there	this	season,	as	the	weather	is	turbulent	over	there,	and	over	land	[their	

village]	is	inaccessible	because	of	the	terribly	dangerous	cliffs	between	Cavalang	and	Tarraboan.	

May	or	June	next	is	the	right	season	to	sail	there,	and	then	we	shall	pay	a	visit	just	[as	we	did]	last	

time,	unless	Your	Honour	gives	other	orders.	

Interpreter	Gravel	Loemas,	who	has	returned	hither	over	land	on	the	23th	November	last	year	

with	Your	Honour's	amiable	missive,	arrived	in	Tamsuy	on	the	13th	December	last,	and	then	here	

in	Quelang	on	the	15th,	delivering	us	the	said	missive.	He	said	that	he	had	visited	the	

Dockodockol,	who	he	thought	were	inclined	to	be	friends	with	the	Honourable	Company,	and	

who	also	accompanied	him	on	the	way	for	a	while,	in	order	to	get	him	safely	past	Pocael.	When	
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they	saw	some	Pocael	during	the	day,	they	hid	in	the	reeds,	but	during	the	night	he	finally	passed	

them	by.	

(Boons	promised	to	follow	the	orders	given	to	him	by	Governor	Coyett	as	best	as	he	could,	so	that	

the	Northern	allies	would	remain	loyal	subjects	of	the	Company:)	and	if	they	cannot	be	destroyed	

by	force	or	cunning,	to	pardon	the	evil	mutineers	from	Pillien,	Rappan	and	Chenaer,	who	are	still	

dwelling	in	their	inaccessible	caves,	and	receive	them	back	into	our	alliance	should	they	ask	for	it,	

under	solemn	oaths	and	promises.	In	that	case	we	shall	also	ask	them	for	the	restitution	of	the	

heads	of	the	two	Dutchmen	they	captured.	

On	the	9thlast	month	December,	Cabessa	Gallaban	from	the	village	Cackerlack	came	complaining	

that	during	the	night	a	party	of	the	abovementioned	rebels	had	been	in	the	rice-fields	of	

Cackerlack,	and	had	stolen	an	amount	of	rice	from	them	as	well	as	other	goods.	Afterwards,	on	

the	26ththey	had	warned	the	Company	Interpreter	Gravel	and	Cabessa	Taboas	Parouene	of	the	

Little	Grove,	that	no	Dutchman	should	come	over	now,	so	they	knew	that	these	said	scoundrels	

were	watching	out	for	our	men	at	every	vantage	point.	Our	good	allies	from	the	village	Rappan,	

whose	elder	had	left	his	fellow	villagers	who	had	started	earning	themselves	a	living	by	robbing,	

and	who	had	been	pardoned	by	the	Honourable	Landdrost,	settled	down	with	fourteen	families	in	

the	said	Little	Grove	to	live	among	the	Basay,	in	order	to	be	safe	from	the	rebels.	[...]	

Cabessa	Sinaij	from	the	village	Rauwerewats,	situated	along	the	Pinnerouan	River,	has	notified	

the	cabessas	of	Kimaurij	that	he	intended	to	invite	the	principal	headmen	of	the	above-

mentioned	rebels,	especially	Tagoriep,	Crabbe	and	Pillien,	to	the	field,	to	lure	them,	and	to	get	

them	drunk	and	then	try	to	chop	off	their	heads	with	his	men,	and	then	bring	the	heads	to	us,	in	

order	to	receive	the	promised	premium	from	us.	If	this	plan	of	theirs	is	carried	out	and	those	

three	principal	scoundrels	are	killed,	we	trust	that	the	rest	of	this	evil	pack	will	come	and	beg	for	

mercy.	We	shall	learn	in	due	course	if	this	will	succeed.	

Seven	inhabitants	of	the	village	of	Illiene	have	been	out	to	the	Parragon	and	have	exchanged	

some	arrows.	They	said	they	had	shot	a	man	and	woman	from	Parragon,	and	would	have	

chopped	off	the	head	of	the	woman	right	away	if	one	of	them	had	not	been	shot	in	his	thigh	by	

the	Parragon,	so	that	they	fled	back	home	without	capturing	a	head,	for	which	they	had	gone	out.	

Our	master	surgeon	did	a	good	job	in	bandaging	the	wounded	men	from	Illiene.	[...]࣎The	

Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	381-384.࣏	
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1661û	

1661ʕ 3ϐ 29Υ	

ʔʚڌde	Vinckۤ,�ǲ࢐ÿپӏң࣐ߎI:ߟѺۡڌにࠆÉѺ.`Ķ࣐̌½՘ࡪңڌ
1Ӫ࣎.ŻҖў׳ࡆIߌڌʔʚ޲IyؗXޘ׵v޾ɉ܉࣐ңǫ޾ÿ࢐l࣐׵15スڻޘ
	࣏ࡢ396ו4õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞

1661ʕ 4ϐ 1Υ	

ªӘîş࣐Ȇт҇Ը܂ߡƷ܉࣐ڌڑì޾Immenhornۤٿ՘VinqۤډʘǲɉˇтƸÿ޾
΄ħ࣐ŁڑߡImmenlloomۤɉډʾҖў࣐ƬӘߌ܁ڌܭ՘ԃžεԅĉӘҖў܉ǘߌI
՘࣐Ʒ܂ߡBڌܭ҇܉࣐˃�ݞˇҖўډʾImaɱ࣐ŁHarp՘ɱ࣐I̠IʕʔʚڌHarp
ۤƷ܂ߡǶq�˃ԿƷ܂ߡծȥ՘�͊ƫª࣐Ȇϑś٪࣐I͊ƫߡv��˃࣐ö޾�

ࡆؗ܉I՘ԃžεߌ࣐׳ࡆʾډVinqۤɉը͊ڑߡƫтƸ࣓ߌӡӕ܁Immenhoomۤڑ
	.ӝ˃Ù○҇ƫтƸ࣐ԃח՛ࢯ-ӡӕ܁܉l࣐˃eݞB࣐�ǘ՘܉׳
Ɍݢ՘îşƷߟߡ�½ºʟ܂ȚԿ՘࣐ࡼ׽śԺҖў׳ࡆٿ՘ߡvbןѪȭ©Ը࣐Ł

śؗ�½՘ٺʁȳ�ґٺ�7̖࣐݃ݤʁȳ�8Zˆ,̲ǳǬǫ�̎Ѯϑ܉ࡍ՘ȁ࣐࠾

lZˆ̠Ʒհ࣐ݤࡼٵeǫlZˆŗؗࡼ׽̂¬o࠮YʌƎĦȫٿ՘ƎĦȫ܂ߡࢎ҇

հҫࣈGingnerz	rivier࣏すԿYª՘٧֡ߐڑߡ�՘ڌרX՘ݞԃ̷ªґߡ࣐ݤvݞԃ࣐
ƎĦȫLoeniusˏࡦƷ܂ߡî̭࣐ࠜݬÿƊؗÿ×ώ࢛՘࣐�ÿƊ̖ˆ܉шîşͽé࣐
�εƷ:ɴ՘ݵƎ՘ڌרX̜Č՘̠ߡւā࣐Ƭܮ《…Ʒ·܂՘ԥԺ܉࣐~ӜվعƸ

ëߥшߞԃb.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ24וõ࣏ࡢ398וVOC	1235818࣐.	

1661ʕ 5ϐ 10Υ	

OssewayerãԵ…ưȍӺܗՄ҇܉W3»ф܁ǧñˇ࠴X࣐W2ڌרڑˇҏX࣐IҖў
Ż׳ࡆǿŐɌݢ՘îşƷ܂ߡ՘Anthonio܉ǘŻ.࣎۞ڮNoort	Holla܉࣏ǘ.࣐ܷߞϑ
W»ڢư࣐��đイ�½՘ڌƷ`ưѷҏ͵ҝǶq˃ɕIӘưȍӺɽ§޾࣐W»ڢư

�ԢƷlSۻݺʎªтƸ࣐Ƭт࣐¥ΑƏOssewayerܷ܉�࣐Z܉lªӘưȍӺɽ§࣐
Ɏт࣐�。ՆƸƫ࣐ܷךZ1࣎.܉Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ24וõ࣏ࡢ446ו	
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1661ʕ 5ϐ 23Υ	

ƎĦȫNicolaes	Loenius࣐ŁîşƷ׳ࡆŻҖў՘܉ǘē࣎࠙ࢋsubalterne	hooft࣐࣏Ʒ�
Ϝϐ14Υ̖…՘ª·࣐܂s࣐ڑߡ࣐ܷ½̌ܣ’s	GravelandeۤIČٟڌܭˇ½�࣐܂ߡ
Č̌½՘ԉѸ՘ґ、�˃࣐ɕŚࠜ݋ܧϏ࣐ƎܚȆ¥٪©̌½ś΋՘îşˆČώǱ՘

՝࣐ۡcѪ҇܉࣐݋Xߡ޲WڌڑŻò࠿ڌ�ªтƸߞ࣐ź�Ȅ½ܷڠ࣐ӜѻªČт

Ƹ࣐ɕˏࡦƫI࣐܂ߡ�ƫČ࣐˃�܂ߡ’s	Gravelandeۤڻޘ܉ʂ܁؛ƷڌX՘800ߡ
ࢵ˗ܭYSуߟߡΝټ.ʾΥϜIډ࣐ԃݞ�՘òߌΰ͊ޛŻSvśˇHarp࣐ۤ׻ס
ן՘b࠿ڌ՘ۡڌѷҏѺ޾vÉѺƷߡ.ח݋�ZΉ͐ÿ�¥ʫ࣐ѸY》ִ޾Ʒ࣐ަ

½…ª՘ϊ·s࣐ڎ○ڑߡ࣐ܷ½̌ܣ’s	GravelandeۤΝϜϐ10ΥIČ̠࣐̌׳ࡆ½〈
Ô࠽『՘《λԉѸsܣo�½࣐_[Ʒ�½て׳ࡆߏ�đǿŐoSڑˇҖў܉Iپӏ

՘ڌ࣐ڌרXイ11»ߌޘ࣐�YĆݞԃ࣒l60スm՘5-ٯࢯスטࢯŻ-3Ոࢴʇ.1࣎Ӫ۞
	࣏ࡢ464ו4õוǄΥܰ2ߖ

VOC	1235825-824࣐.	

1661ʕ 5ϐ 24Υ	

ϑS»ȫƂܷ޾࣐ߍǄǏ̢ࠩؗưȍӺe˃࣐ưȍӺϏ̌ݏ½ś΋՘îş~ӜࠦͺƸ

I׳ࡆŻҖў޿Ǝݥΰ.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ24וõ࣏ࡢ473ו	

1661ʕ 8ϐ 24Υ	

ˇʄ؞ߏw҇ª՘ώ˃S࣐ڌڑε Domburgh࣐ۤΝ 7ϐ 27Υ޾࣒ܤّ݊`࣎Υϗ࣐`
Υΐ1ʄ؞ߏwǄΥܰ2ߧ§ 7ϐ 21Υ1661࣒܋࣐ʕ 12ϐ 21ΥЉ.ࠞۻ࣏Y�½҇ࡇډߓʄ

Ãخ࣐Ըžࡍ՘šִ࠷ޓтƸ՘ؗ܉ԃεݞʎª՘࣐wđªтƸ՘؞ߏ 25,902:13:10
	.իڮ
ڑS܋ߊ࣐`՘ǲѝࡒƷϑ࣐ߟ޾ɱ՘لࠚƷӄ½�࣐ܷٟ࠙ڌ«ߡˇ�࣐ܷ̗ڋ

ډÐϑ½�࣐ܷܬh�½ƒ½ן՘bڌרܭ࣐ڌרֈ֕՘Һ�՘ߌޘ࣏Җўª՘ˇ࣎

ҏ۲݇޿Żΐ�࣓ΝεՂˋࡇډe˃࣐�½ŌՕօìڌרڑߡ�ࡡª�½࣐܂ߡ_�

ĝ՘ǲѝe』޾ߍ۶ח࣐՘۶ͮࡷ.܈őߕޮࠧߡ۲࣓�Ʒډ.hݺS½�ޅڌרܭ

܋e˃ɕölѮծ࣐½�ࡇࡺ؛ʂ࣏ڌȅ՘ړ߬܁]թՆǱْڑεS࣎ڌרڑߡ࣐˃

וǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.oڌܭ 4õו 	࣏ࡢ591

1661ʕ9ϐ3Υ	
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¶է՘࡬�I7:őՆƸ۞ڮ՘ߥ:ΜǮ࣐׳ࡆǧñIҖўŻ̎ڌרѮ҇ߞߧ�ޫ

	࣏ࡢ602ו4õוǄΥܰ2ߖ۞1Ӫ࣎.݌
	

1661ʕ 11ϐ 4Υ	

ƎĦȫ Nicolaes	Loenius࣐ΝXϐ 18Υ࣐ˇΥϜÿɱ࣎’t	eylant	Schiema࣏…ؗ࠙ȫࠞ
Y֣ٿӻ͡Ѱ݋ܧϏ࣒࣐݃�½ˇ’s	GravelandeۤޓȫٟČҏաưȍӺԙࡪʵǱޓ
ڎ○ڑߡlٟČ…࣐ӻ͡Ѱׂ֣࣐ͮ࠷ HectorۤӳӗْÔˎ࣐eζlٟČڑߡMaria
	ڑ޾҇܉࣐Ѫȭ݋ò��Ǝޅ࣐o.Ƭт܂ߡࡇډۤ ’s	Gravelande࣐ۤÇe De	Vinck
ٿۤ Emmenhoorn࣐ۤÙ○イh̑ǧډ࣐ࡍޓߌ܁࣐ªтƸգĚ΀ͮ΍࣐�_ªтƸ
ٟÀ࠙ȫࠞY՘ź�࣓Νεߡ࣐v࠿ڌɕ̻Ӣ޾ѪȭƐֱÿډo.	
ȋ΍࣏ࠜbasayers࣎�ݲࢍvߡ࣐ǿŐ֣ӻ͡Ѱ؛ÓܷȅÖưȍӺʂܕζϑ҈ߡ

Ɏîş…….e˃ߡ»ϐ࣐Ł 6ϐ 13Υ࣐’s	Gravelandeۤٿ De	Vinckۤוrиˇپӏ
IČߡ࣐׳ࡆζ߆࣐éҖў՘ߎ޿ʂۻՆƸɛќ̖࣐ࠦͯ…�ʕ 5ϐ`࣐ό҇؛Sڑ
޼�Ʒ࣐IҖў޷܉ŻSvϙΔ࣐ࢲ�ō2スɐ࣐ϮѴ-٣١-Ը՘ʶۛ̑§ߌ܁ڌ

`΍�ɕԸزȘ̠ݞ̠࣐¢ؓڌڑߡԃĠ͇Io.1࣎Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 4õו 	࣏ࡢ683

N.	Loenius…ؗ F.	Coyett՘·࣐ÿɱ1661࣐ʕ 10ϐ 18Υ.VOC	1235࣐fol.	827-837.	

tϐݺɕϑ҈ܷܕưȍӺʂ؛ǿŐ֣ӻ͡Ѱߍ�̖࣐Iώࡥϓîş՘ Basay�lࠜȋ߂ŏ

o.5ϐ`ˇ҇׳ࡆIҖўؗ܀՘࣐ڌƷ޼`ɕۻ΍�ԸزȘ̠࣐¢ؓڌĠݞݸԃ.6ϐ

13Υ࣐Җў՘Ň¢ќࠦͯңߎZ߆ڌݏéҖў.�½lƷ׳ࡆծČ§̑Ը՘ڌרƷ׳ࡆҢ

ZȆ̠࣐òƽ�ˀΏٿӘܱ½�࣐Ƭт.׳ࡆΨϏ΀̙ߗ࠷ޓӘưȍӺ՘ܱ½�࣐ңӏߺ

îşݦԶ܁ߧX࣐ڌhࡷIΥϜ࣐ӝ˃Ʒȝ͓ޢࡷe˃ĜéˇΥϜǜ͖پӏ՘࠷ޓ.΃ώ

˃ɉ׳ࡆȥޓëͥߥʾΥϜ࠙ɵÿɱ՘ڮ۞Ǝࢆ.	

	࣒ࠄ݊͟ڢ

[...]	(Early	in	May	the	troops	had	left	Tamsuy:)	but	alas	the	afore-mentioned	military	expedition	

returned	on	May	15th	having	achieved	nothing;	its	attack	turned	out	very	badly	as	you	perhaps	

can	see	in	the	enclosed	daily	journal,	kept	by	Ensign	Lijpach	mentioned	above.	The	misfortune	of	

this	undertaking,	from	the	human	point	of	view,	and	subject	to	Your	Honour's	more	mature	

judgement,	in	my	opinion	was	caused	by	the	unfamiliarity	with	the	roads	there	and	in	particular	

by	the	duplicity	of	our	treacherous	interpreters	and	guides.	Unquestionably	it	can	be	believed	

that	no	Formosan,	although	they	seem	to	be	loyal	and	helpful,	wholeheartedly	tried	to	do	his	best	

[to	assist]	this	assault	because	it	was	a	matter	which	is	contrary	to	their	laws,	since	almost	all	of	

these	nations	are	related	to	each	other	and	there	is	mutual	respect	and	awe	[between	them].	

Therefore	we	acknowledge	that	these	are	the	grounds	and	reasons	the	Honourable	Company,	

when	served	by	such	indolent	and	callous	heathens	by	their	underhanded,	knavish	tricks,	time	

and	again	accomplishes	so	little	with	an	armed	force	in	that	region,	as	if	the	purpose	of	that	
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nation	is	to	wear	down	the	Honourable	Company	and	cause	it	to	abandon	such	assaults,	

especially	since	they	are	fully	aware	that	every	time	it	will	cost	copious	Dutch	blood	because	of	

the	unhealthy	climate,	while	they	are	fairly	indifferent	to	the	losses	they	suffer.	[...]	

(On	5	May	the	crew	of	the	's-Gravelande	had	brought	the	grim	news	of	Coxinga's	landing	to	

Quelang	and	the	tragic	events	which	had	occurred	in	the	aftermath.	Loenius	reported	that	

thereupon:)	all	the	Basay	began	to	rise	in	revolt	and	oppose	the	Honourable	Company	with	[open]	

hostility	against	which	we	have	employed	all	the	means	which	could	be	thought	of	in	order	to	

reduce	this,	but	alas	all	in	vain,	because	they	were	continually	crying	out	and	insisting	that	they	

would	no	longer	be	slaves	of	the	Honourable	Company,	meanwhile	complaining	about	the	low,	

stingy	payment	which	was	handed	over	for	their	services.	Also,	that	they	had	asked	Commissioner	

Harthouwer	for	payment	for	some	camphor	wood	planks,	supplied	for	mountings	during	the	term	

of	the	former	chief,	the	late	Mr	Van	Mildert,	but	all	they	could	get	was	a	gruff	response	and	no	

money.	Furthermore,	that	for	each	journey	they	made	to	Cavalang	to	bring	back	some	of	the	

remaining	goods	of	the	shipwrecked	junk	the	Hollandia,	they	had	received	only	two	Spanish	reals	

and	a	little	Chinese	tobacco	from	the	afore-said	commissioner,	against	which	they	had	grumbled,	

but	were	told	that	this	was	enough	and,	after	several	altercations,	in	which	they	gave	vent	to	

[their]	displeasure,	they	were	told	that	they	had	no	choice	but	to	do	it	for	the	Honourable	

Company,	and	if	they	were	unwilling	they	would	be	made	to	do	it.	They	displayed	suchlike	

displeasure	about	their	voyage	to	Tarraboan,	especially	because	lately	their	vessels	were	

investigated	and	searched	so	thoroughly	that	they	could	take	hardly	anything	to	trade	for	

provisions;	whereas	earlier	this	was	allowed	them	in	quite	generous	quantities	by	the	other	

opperhoofden,	provided	that	they	did	not	receive	payment.	In	the	third	place,	they	complained	

sorely	that	for	their	services	in	travelling	to	Tamsuy	with	the	commissioner	and	his	company,	they	

were	only	given	some	Chinese	tobacco,	which	in	their	opinion	was	[worth]	one-tenth	of	what	

they	had	spent,	Many	such	reasons	for	their	rebellion	since	last	year	they	pinned	on	me,	including	

the	fact	that	they	could	not	go	to	Cavalang	or	to	the	Tamsuy	River	whenever	they	requested	to	

trade	provisions,	not	realizing	that	this	had	never	been	the	practice	before	the	regular	ships	had	

left,	because	only	then	and	not	earlier,	could	their	service	be	missed,	and	then	their	request	was	

always	granted.	In	the	fourth	place	that	their	children	were	forced	to	go	to	school	and	could	not	

get	permission	at	any	time	to	forage	for	food.	In	the	fifth	place	that,	when	one	of	their	people	

went	elsewhere	without	permission,	they	were	condemned	in	accordance	with	their	custom	to	

bring	to	the	fort	some	baskets	of	oyster	shells	or	coral.	In	the	sixth	place	that	whenever	they	

wanted	to	buy	some	broad	beeuwtas	from	a	private	person	they	had	to	pay	three	Spanish	reals	

for	it.	In	the	seventh	place,	that	time	and	again,	day	or	night,	they	were	ordered	by	Interpreters	

Jan	Harmensz	and	Barnabe	to	render	service	to	the	Company	and	had	to	go	to	Tamsuy	and	

Cavalang	to	deliver	letters	for	only	a	trifling	payment,	a	little	tobacco	according	to	them,	while	

they	sometimes	had	to	haul	their	proas	over	the	mountain	in	order	to	accomplish	what	they	were	
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ordered	and	all	that	for	a	little	tobacco	or	arrack.	In	the	eighth	place	that	when	they	sold	some	

fish	and	some	fire	wood	they	received	less	payment	for	each	tael.	Previously,	when	the	fish	were	

weighed,	one	had	to	pay	a	tenth	to	the	person	who	occupied	the	position	of	market	

superintendent,	so	that	these	people	would	not	be	cheated	with	regard	to	the	weight.	In	the	

ninth	place	that,	when	the	forge	coal	was	weighed	again	on	delivery,	this	was	done	with	a	bigger	

basket	than	the	one	used	earlier.	

……	

However,	all	these	incidents	and	complaints	which	were	mentioned	would	not	have	been	

powerful	enough	to	use	as	an	excuse	to	oppose	the	Honourable	Company,	if	they	had	[not]	

previously	been	reinforced	by	some	of	the	Tamsuy	River	peoples	and	the	Basay	there,	as	well	as	

the	Cavalang,	who	are	all	turning	out	to	be	enemies.	

……Therefore	I	am	of	the	opinion	that	this	was	caused	by	nothing	other	than	the	afore-mentioned	

rumours	and	in	particular	the	provocations	by	the	selfish	Basay.	From	pure	bitterness	these	Basay,	

just	as	I	tried	to	bring	about	a	reconciliation,	did	not	shrink	from	shooting	some	arrows	when	our	

people	were	sailing	to	their	village	to	get	some	firewood,	so	that	they	were	forced	to	turn	back,	

which	made	us	decide	to	embark	the	most	able-bodied	soldiers	in	the	boat,	the	barge	and	the	

small	Chinese	sampan	in	order	to	take	our	revenge	for	the	hostility	they	had	shown	us	earlier,	

which	has	taken	them	most	part	of	a	day,	losing	off	volleys	along	the	bank	as	they	sailed	up	and	

down	the	river;	it	was	not	advisable	to	land,	while	we	could	not	but	notice	that	they	were	

continuously	present,	everywhere	behind	rocks	and	undergrowth,	reinforced	by	people	from	

Tamsuy,	We	were	not	able	to	determine	what	damage	we	have	caused	them.	The	next	day,	these	

heathens	continually	paraded	up	and	down	the	beach	cursing	us	vehemently	and	maliciously,	

shouting	that	they	had	also	turned	the	people	from	the	Tamsuy	River	against	the	Honourable	

Company,	that	they	also	intended	to	lord	it	over	the	people	in	Cavalang	and	Tarraboan	in	the	

same	way,	and	that	they	were	planning	to	sail	there	the	next	day	with	all	their	vessels.	The	only	

conclusion	we	could	draw	was	that	this	had	actually	been	carried	out,	except	for	some	of	them	

who,	reinforced	with	people	from	Tamsuy,	kept	the	passage	to	Cavalang	and	Tamsuy	occupied,	

having	set	fire	to	their	village	beforehand.	During	the	night	they	also	tried	their	best	to	destroy	

the	warehouses	of	the	Company	and	the	houses	of	the	Dutch	[in	Quelang]	by	fire,	but	in	each	

case	were	prevented	from	doing	so	by	our	strong	advance	guard.	However,	finally	they	succeeded	

in	setting	fire	to	half	of	the	Chinese	quarter,	and	would	have	[destroyed	it]	completely,	if	[the	

blaze]	had	not	been	extinguished	in	time	by	the	Dutch	and	Chinese.	

Ensign	Lijpach	has	written	us	[from	Tamsuy]	that	such	acts	of	wilfulness	and	rebellion	have	also	

been	perpetrated	over	there	by	the	Basay	and	the	people	of	Tamsuy,	slaughtering	almost	all	of	

Company	cattle	and	mortally	wounding	some	others,	which	were	retrieved	by	a	sortie	by	our	

Dutchmen	and	taken	inside,	but	had	to	be	killed.	They	had	also	burned	to	the	ground	the	

Company	lodge	and	the	whole	Chinese	quarter.	On	this	occasion,	the	Interpreters	Barnabe	and	

Gravello	Loemas,	whom	we	trusted	most	of	all,	turned	out	to	be	the	principal	and	worst	
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instigators	and,	instead	of	being	loyal	to	the	Company,	they	insulted	us	the	most.	From	time	to	

time	it	became	clear	to	us	that	the	Basay	had	been	becoming	increasingly	degenerate	because	of	

our	leniency	to	which	they	had	been	used	for	a	long	time	now.	They	were	accustomed	to	liberal	

gifts	and	payments	and	were	not	prepared	for	the	fact	that	there	would	ever	be	such	a	stringent	

curtailment.	It	seems	that,	on	this	occasion,	it	has	really	annoyed	them	and	caused	them,	plus	the	

aforementioned	reasons,	to	be	all	the	more	disappointed	and	rebel	against	the	Honourable	

Company.	Apart	from	that,	this	nation	has,	under	the	guise	of	loyalty,	continuously	been	causing	

us	exceeding	harm	in	Cavalang	as	well	as	Tarraboan,	always	trying	to	set	these	against	trading	

with	the	Company.	For	this	reason,	subject	to	your	more	mature	judgement,	it	would	be	better	if	

these	Basay	were	rigorously	pursued	and	punished,	allowing	them	to	preserve	their	lives,	unless	

necessity	requires	otherwise,	and	keeping	them	in	such	obedience	that	they	would	be	forced	to	

take	up	residence	where	the	Honourable	Company	should	wish	them	to,	which,	in	my	opinion,	

should	mean	that	[...]	two	small	strongholds	should	be	established	in	and	near	the	Bay	of	St	

Laurens,	and	they	be	ordered	to	live	near	these	on	the	shore	in	this	bay	for	the	convenience	of	

the	Dutch.	Without	a	doubt	this	would	please	this	nation	better	than	being	in	the	vicinity	of	

Quelang,	especially	because	they	are	closer	by	to	obtain	their	provisions	there	-	either	mixed	with	

the	Cavalang	or	else	on	their	own	-	on	condition	that	good	rules	have	been	established	in	all	

political	matters	which	differ	as	little	as	possible	from	their	own,	leaving	school	discipline	aside	for	

the	time	being,	in	a	manner	which	you	deem	suitable.	And	the	other	[stronghold]	a	bit	farther	

away	to	the	inland,	so	that	by	that	means	not	only	the	Basay	but	also	the	Cavalang	would	be	

protected	from	all	fighting,	in	particular	with	the	Poelecheron,	and	would	be	kept	in	check.	If	this	

were	effectuated,	it	would	be	possible	to	obtain	at	least	4	to	5,000	bundles	of	elk,	deer	and	

mountain	goat	skins	yearly	from	these	inhabitants	with	the	Poelecheron,	who	are	at	times	friends	

of	the	Cavalang	and	at	times	their	enemies,	which	good	relations	we	should	bring	about.	It	would	

also	be	a	better	means	once	in	a	while	to	try	and	reach	the	passage	to	Tarraboan	and	the	gold-

mine,	especially	if	only	mild-mannered	and	patient	fellows,	[lacking]	a	cunning	disposition	were	

employed	in	those	parts.	It	would	also	not	be	a	bad	thing	if	the	Honourable	Company	did	not	

come	to	harass	them	to	achieve	their	goal,	which	cannot	be	done	quickly.	Especially	because	the	

Tarraboan	themselves	have	already	requested	that	between	Tarraboan	and	Parenan	-	which	are	

almost	adjacent	and	are	obstructing	each	other	in	the	search	for	gold	because	of	their	

Marnatsen,	that	is	to	say	matters	that	go	against	their	laws,	which	we	could	then	prevent	

amicably	-	a	trench	with	palisades,	an	earthen	rampart	and	a	considerable	moat	be	erected,	

maimed	by	forty	to	fifty	people,	which	without	a	doubt	would	inspire	exceptional	awe	in	those	

parts	and	would	allow	us	to	obtain	considerably	more	gold,	especially	if	we	try	to	prevent	the	

Cavalang	and	Basay	from	[participating	in]	the	gold	trade.	So	that	without	a	doubt	the	

Honourable	Company,	when	the	foregoing	had	been	realized,	would	obtain	substantially	more	
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advantages	than	in	Quelang	and	Tamsuy	and	it	could	be	arranged	that,	[...]࣎The	Formosan	

Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	461-464.࣏	

	Quelangs	voor	motieven	de	nopende࣐Maetsuycker	J.	aan	Loenius	N.	door	Rapport࣒܋_

opbraak	en	de	verdere	desoIate	staatvandatgewest7N.Loeniusrؗخո J.	MaetsuyckerࠢΝͥ

1661ʕ࣐Ƹ1ֆǢԉѸ՘Ǔs8ܭ՘ŇƬ�ō׳ࡆࡇ 11ϐ 27Υ.VOC	1237࣐fol.	45-52ڢ࣐

	࣒ࠄ݊͟

However,	the	first	indication	we	had	of	this	was	with	the	Basay-	who	have	been	the	biggest	

instigators	-	when	we	heard	from	Tamsuy	that	they	showed	up	there	in	broad	daylight	very	

insolently	around	the	fort	accompanied	by	more	other	inhabitants	trying	to	break	into	it	and	very	

fiercely	firing	arrows	at	our	people	(as	a	result	of	which	one	Dutchman	was	wounded	in	the	head)	

[who]	defended	themselves	with	cannon	and	volleys	of	musket-fire.	And	what	is	more,	they	

showed	no	compunction	about	burning	Company	houses,	all	other	houses	as	well	as	the	Chinese	

quarter	to	the	ground,	besides	wounding,	killing	and	destroying	all	the	cattle.	The	Basay	from	

Quelang	also	have	not	flinched	from	such	violent	rebellion	and	robbed	and	held	up	a	vessel	

(which	had	been	sent	to	Tamsuy	with	provisions	and	some	ammunition)	even	before	we	had	

knowledge	of	their	animosity.	And	later	they	manifested	their	bloodthirsty	nature	even	more	

[luridly]	and	murdered	Corporal	Frans	van	Eycken	who	had	been	sent	out	from	Tamsuy	with	two	

soldiers	after	the	afore-mentioned	vessel,	which	had	been	gone	too	long	in	the	opinion	of	the	

ensign,	to	find	out	where	it	might	have	ended	up,	-	but	that	was	already	suspected	-	and	

confirmed	by	these	two	soldiers	on	their	return	who	reported	they	had	seen	that	the	corporal	

had	been	wounded	in	his	shoulders	by	two	arrows	and	had	then	crept	into	the	undergrowth	of	

the	forest,	while	they	had	been	closely	pursued	as	far	as	the	fort.	During	the	night	these	Basay	

devised	various	ruses	in	order	to	set	fire	to	Company	rice	warehouse	and	more	other	houses	in	

Quelang,	all	with	thatched	roofs,	which	was	clearly	advertised	by	several	little	pots	of	coal	and	

straw	which	they	had	hidden	near	those,	or	[...]࣎The	Formosan	Encounter,	vol.	4,	pp.	468-469.࣏	

1661ʕ 11ϐ 19Υ	

1661ʕ 8ϐώ˃Sǲ࣐ƎĦȫ Daniel	Sixҟݞ׸ࢺºʟ܂՘Țݞζ̖ծČ՘Ț࣐ݞΝ
�ǲyÿª՘ҟƘ࣐܂ӢՆζծČ՘۹࣐ĆòšࡤȚݞȆY࣒	

……-525Ζֈ֕-	
……-646,625Ζ1࣎.……-߾Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2ו 4õו 	࣏ࡢ708

1664ʕ	

	�۞ڮϑ˲ĔҖўؗ؛ߩ
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……heducht	zynde,	dat	de	vyant	middelertyt	daerin	weder	soude	comen	nestelen,	hehhen	het	
selve	Goutsoe.	mitsgadcrs	Colongsoe,	weerloos	gemaekt.	Doch	aen	een	rendevous	en	can	het	
de	Comp"	niet	onstaen,	als	men	maer	den	handel	vast	en	heeft:	en	sonder	den	handel	en	is	een	
rendevous	ook	niet	noodigh,	ten	sy	men	den	oorlogh	tegen	het	ryk	selve	aenvange.	Ende	meent	
de	commandeur,	Bort,	dat,	soo	de	vicerey	en	veldheer	den	handel	voor	ons	nu	niet	en	
verwerven,	zy	het	selve	noyt	en	sullen	doen.	
	 	 	 	 Na	dat	de	schepen	aen	het	eyland	Kemuy	gerepareert	waren,	is	de	commandeur,	Bort,	met	
de	geheele	vloot,	versterkt	met	2	veroverde	vyands	jonken	en	2	Tartarische	jonken,	op	den	29en	
Decemher	verleden	jaers	van	daer	vertrocken	ende	eerst	in	de	Piscadores	versehenen,	
hehhende	onderwegen	genootsaekt	geweest,	door	hard	weer,	tot	tweemael	toe	hy	tyts	weder	
onder	Kemuy	te	loopen,	om	niet	na	Batavia	te	verdryven.	Als	hy	d'eerste	mael	onder	Kemuy	was	
gekeert,	quam	aldaer	een	vaartuygh	van	Tangsoa,	door	den	vyand	expresselyk	afgesonden	met	
een	hrief	van	de	Nederlanders,	in	Tajoan	gevangen	sittende,	in	date	den	6,	n	Decemher	
lestleden	aen	den	commandeur	geschreven,	houdende	advertentie,	datse	wcl	getracteert	
wierden	ende	dat	de	vyand,	inclinatie	toonende	om	van	vrede	met	ons	te	handelen,	ons	
presenteerde	de	possessie	van	Tamsuy	of	Kelang	of	Lammo;	maer,	alsoo	de	hriefhrenger	geen	
schriftelyke	last	zeyde	tc	hehhen	om	met	d'onse	te	handelen,	is	hy	weder	met	een	troosthrief	in	
antwoord	aen	onse	voorsz.	gevangens	afgeveerdigt.	Ende	na	dat	de	commandeur	met	de	vloot	
op	den	3en	January	in	de	Piscadores	was	gecomen.	in	de	Zuydoosthaey,	aen	de	huytencant	van	
Pehoe,	liet	hy	een	gedeeltc	van	het	krygsvolk	landen	om	te	sien,	hoe	sich	nu	de	vyand	tegens	
ons	zoude	houden.	

Dagh-register	gehouden	in't	Casteel	Batavia	van	't	passerende	daer	ter	plaetsw	als	over	geheel	Nederlandts-

India,(1ʄ؞ߏwǄΥܰ2)	anno	1664,	p.	38.	

1664ʕ 11ϐ 28Υ	

	.��ҖўŇ¢ќ_ZÔȲҺ࣐ČҖў޸�՘Һ׳ࡆ࣐׳ࡆ¤�ö۞ڮ
	 	 	 	 Den	27en	des	voornoemde	maents	quamen	d'onse	voor	Quelang.	Het	jaeht,	Nieuwendam,	
ende	de	jonk,	Quemuy,	die	van	de	vloot	afgeraeet	waren,	wierden	daer	gevonden	en	wisten	de	
opperhoofden	te	verhalen,	datse	op	hare	aencomste	aldaer	geen	vyanden	vernomen	hadden,	
maer	wel	gesieu,	dat	enige	Chinesen	tot	omtrent	30	in	4	getal	na	de	overcust	waren	gevlucht.	
Op	het	strant	vonden	sy	enige	van	derselver	huysen	en	een	heplante	tuyn	met	aerd	en	
hoomvruchten	ende	enige	andere	hlyken	ende	tekenen,	datse	daer	met	de	Formosanen	handel	
hadden	gedreven.	Terwyl	onse	schepen	daer	lagen,	quam	een	kleene	wankan	voor	de	
haeyseylen,	maergewaer	wordende,	dat	de	hakens	verset	waren,	sogt	sich	met	de	vlucht	te	
salveren,	het	welk	hem	door	de	stilte	en	contrary	stroom	helet	wierd;	hy	weerde	sich	in	't	eerste	
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seer	dapper	en	heschadigde	al	vele	van	ons	volk	met	het	werpen	van	eenig	hrandent	tuyg	in	
onse	schuyts,	alsse	hem	wat	te	na	hy	quamen;	doch	siende	eyndelyk,	datter	geen	cans	van	
ontcomen	was,	sette	het	omtrent	Tamsuy	tegens	strant	aen	en	salveerde	syn	volk	en	goederen,	
het	welk	de	Formosanen,	daer	op	strant	zynde,	aensagen	sonder	de	Chinesen	eenig	leet	te	
doen,	soo	datter	in	het	genoemde	vaertuyg	niet	anders	als	een	weynig	sout	gevonden	is.	

Dagh-register	gehouden	in't	Casteel	Batavia	van	't	passerende	daer	ter	plaetsw	als	over	geheel	Nederlandts-

India,(1ʄ؞ߏwǄΥܰ2)	anno	1664,	pp.	514-515.	

1664ʕ 12ϐ 16Υ	

	.׳ࡆČݞߌт˃ˁɑٺҖўŇ¢ќ࣐Җў؃љǄצ¸ªҖўڌ�Rࠜޓߩӏپ
volgens	het	seggen	van	de	inwoonders,	soo	,vaeren	ses	Tayoanse	koyans	in	de	Tamsuyse	rivier	
gecomen	met	omtrent	70	gewapende	Chinesen,	behalven	de	zeevaerende	,	die	aldaer	de	
vervallen	reduyt	Anthonio	omgepaggert	hadden.	Sedert	de	comste	derselver	en	waren	geen	
Tamsuyse	inwoonders	in	Quelangh	verschenen,	dat	groote	schaersheyt	in	de	levensmiddelen	
veroorsaeckte,	soo	dal	nootsackelyck	gcmelte	vyanden	van	daer	sullen	moeten	gedreven	
worden….	

Dagh-register	gehouden	in't	Casteel	Batavia	van	't	passerende	daer	ter	plaetsw	als	over	geheel	Nederlandts-

India,(1ʄ؞ߏwǄΥܰ2)	anno	1665,	p.	412.	

1665ʕ	

1665ʕ 10ϐ 30Υ	

8Υԕˆґ、࣐`ư�,ƱȦϥɘǏ.	
Since	the	8th	when	we	sent	over	our	express	messenger,	Teniel,	who	told	us	that	[the	
Chinese]	want	to	occupy	the	redoubt	Anthonio	[at	Tamsuy],	as	they	have	surrounded	it	
with	entrenchments,	and	then	placed	some	guns	on	top	of	it.	And	that	he,	(around	the	
8"""",	since	we	last	received	a	hasty	message)	had	seen	but	seventy	armed	soldiers	there,	
and	that	he	had	thought	the	others	were	sailors,	but	now	we	have	received	the	message	
that	altogether	they	are	a	700	men	strong.	During	this	bad	weather,	six	of	their	coja	are	
moored	in	the	river	closer	to	Redoubt	Anthonio,	and	that	the	Chinese	had	erected	a	
bamboo	fence	around	it,	and	when	it	was	shut	off,	they	[the	Chinese]	remained	on	guard	
on	the	vessels	anchored	in	front	of	it.	We	also	understood	that	two	of	them	had	returned	
to	the	mouth	of	the	river	loaded	with	rice,	to	return	to	Tayouan.	We	have	sent	a	messenger	
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to	obtain	some	information,	but	we	do	not	know	what	to	think,	as	he	has	remained	away	a	
very	long	time.	
Missive	Commander	Hermanns	de	Bitter	to	Senior	Merchant	Constantijn	Nobel.	Quelang,	30	October	

1665.VOC1254,	fol.	838-841.	Extracts.	FE4,	pp.	506-507.	

1666ʕ	

1666ʕ 5ϐ 14Υ	

	.׳ࡆ΀߆ޓߩ
(On	14	May,	the	enemy	attempted	three	times	to	storm	the	redoubt	Victoria.	It	seemed	that	
they	did	not	have	any	heavy	calibre	guns,	so	that	they	possibly	intended	to	take	Quelang	with	a	
superior	number	of	troops.)	(fol.	1554)	[...]	The	Cabessas	Loumas	Ticktick	and	Seghou,	from	the	
second	village	situated	along	the	Tamsuy	River,	have	come	to	visit	me.	They	say	that	there	are	
no	more	Chinese	remaining	in	their	villages,	also,	that	the	seven	coja	have	taken	all	the	
remaining	Chinese	from	Tamsuy,	and	that	they	carry	eighteen	to	twenty	guns.	The	Chinese	
wanted	to	obtain	rice	from	them	too,	but	they	have	not	given	it	to	them,	and	because	of	that	
the	latter	had	laid	waste	to	some	of	their	fields.	
	
Dagregister	Merchant	Joan	de	Meijer.	Quelang,	8	March-21	October	1666.	VOC1258,	fol.	1516-1650.	Extracts.	FE4,	

p.	602.	

1667ʕ	

1667ʕ 1ϐ 19-20Υ	

Җўޓߩ՘҆Ĥ《Ѹ࣐�ōɎޓڮ׳ࡆÓܬ.	
	 [...]	Wednesday,	Thursday	and	Friday	19,	20	and	21	[January	1667]:	On	[January]	11th	the	two	
brothers	Taboas	paid	us	a	visit.	They	were	accompanied	by	two	other	men,	named	Naris	and	
Catadis,	from	the	village	Chinaer,	situated	at	a	distance	of	a	gunshot	from	the	redoubt	at	
Tamsuy.	Taboas	Bouw	reports	that	he	had	been	summoned	for	by	the	Cauja,	Chief	Commander	
of	the	Cheng	troops	in	Tamsuy,	a	fortnight	ago	who	had	already	summoned	him	about	five	or	six	
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times	previously	wanting	to	speak	to	him,	threatening	him	that	if	he	did	not	present	himself	that	
he	[Cauja]	would	send	300	Chinese	soldiers	to	capture	his	head,	as	well	as	to	seize	his	rice	
stores,	his	people	and	other	possessions,	and	destroy	everything.	Taboas	was	truly	shocked,	and	
afraid	that	this	would	really	happen,	so	finally,	having	been	urged	by	his	people,	he	went	to	the	
said	Cauja,	who	is	residing	in	the	mud-brick	house	on	the	site	where	the	Dutch	opperhoofden	
used	to	live.	The	soldiers	live	in	thatched	huts	and	they	use	the	fort	as	a	storage	for	their	rice.	
They	have	six	canons	and	ninety	blunderbusses	placed	around	the	fence,	but	as	darkness	fell	he	
was	not	able	to	see	more	of	the	situation.	Cauja,	surrounded	by	many	of	his	men,	addressed	
Taboas	Bouw	as	follows:	"Go	to	Quelang	and	ask	the	chief	of	the	Company	whether	they	want	
to	make	friends	with	us.	We	want	to	know	this.	If	they	want	to	be	friends	with	us,	I	shall	not	be	
obliged	to	write	to	Tayouan	for	more	troops,	if	not,	he	would	call	for	some	10,000	men."	[...]	
Dagregister	Merchant	Joan	de	Meijer.	Quelang,	22	October	1666-2	February	1667.	VOC1264,	fol.	
177-183.	Extracts.	FE4,	pp.	647-648	

1667ʕ 12ϐ 11-14Υ	

ҖўܪޓߩƴÖãđǱ̛фĚ΀̙࣐׳ࡆ�Ϛǉ۲.	
Op	Quelangh,	nae	luyt	van	de	brieven,	stonden	de	saecken	wel	en	op	de	dreygementen	van	de	
Coxinse	vyanden	om	met	een	grooter	magt	als	te	voren	die	plaets	weder	aen	te	tasten	was	niet	
gevolght;	ondertusschen	hadden	d’onse	de	fortresse	…….	
Dagh-register	gehouden	in't	Casteel	Batavia	van	't	passerende	daer	ter	plaetsw	als	over	geheel	Nederlandts-

India,(1ʄ؞ߏwǄΥܰ2)	anno	1667,	p.	400.	

1667ʕ 12ϐ 16Υ	

Җўڮ̢ޓߩӮ	
Van	Tamsuy	waren	34	Kocksinse	soldaten	op	Quelangh	comen	overlopen,	die	te	rapporteren	
wisten,	dat	het	daer	ter	plaetse	secr	sober	was	gestelt.	Voorsz.	overlopers	waren	met	Overveen	
nae	Hocksieuw	gesonden	en	dat	op	haer	eygen	versouck,	doch	en	heeft	niet	geschenen,	
hetselve	de	Tartarise	regenten	aldaer	aengenaem	is	geweest.	De	reden	daervan	en	connen	wij	
niet	wel	bedencken.	Men	opinioerde,	dat	in	corte	wel	meer	van	dat	volck	tot	de	onse	soude	
overcomen,	maer	soo	haest	als	Sepoan,	wesende	de	zone	van	Kocksinja,	de	begonnen	viugt	van	
sijne	soldaten	vernam,	heeft	al	het	oude	volck	van	daer	geligt	en	andere	in	de	plaetse	geleyt,	
waerdoor	de	vordere	fuge	is	voorgecomen,	sijnde	aen	haer	wegblijven	weynigh	gelegen,	alsoo	
maer	een	deel	schelmen	en	snode	verraders	syn,	die	men	in	't	minste	niet	vertrouwen	raagh.	
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	 Generale	Missiven	van	Gouverneur-Generaal	en	Raden	aan	Heren	XVII	der	Verenigde	Oostindische	Compagnie.	

Deel	III:	1655-1674,p.	614.	

	

1672ʕ	

ϑڌ○۞ڮڑ CuylenburghݹΥߊҏ࣐ࡈҵپڻӏ࣐ߥ.܈ŁҖўࡈߊ.ZɑڌƂۻя࣐
S6hƂ߂ɐݹࡇ޸ڌΥ࣓ŗS6W2ࢅ�ÉԿܭƸ̖́ޓߩۻ.	
ϥɀeê�����ޮ̖�����200Լ̖
o���ԼÀࣇǭ`�ْࡷࡉʵ�ˈʞÀ


	ࣇֆ͗�Àڌࣇ�̙͒
ɨࣇǱѽ�ْࣇ�éԼÀˆð֊ࣇռZԼÀ΃ܒΜࣇ�
ࡢ࣐2X̋ࡁϊܷࡷ۞ڮ1 61-62.	
……de	fluyt	Cuylenburgh	in	sijn	laatste	reyse	na	Japan,	wanneer	op	de	Noortwesthoeck	van	
Formosa	quam	te	verongelucken,	met	50	officieren,	daeronder	vier	opper-	en	twee	
onderstuyrluyden,	twee	derdewaecken,	drie	hooghbootsluyden	met	een	hooghbootsmansmaet,	
een	bottelier	met	drie	botteliersmaats,	een	opper-	en	twee	onderkuypers,	vier	chirurgijns	met	
een	jongh	barbier.	 	
P.	van	Dam,	Beschrijvinge	van	de	Oost-Indische	Compagnie,	Deel	III,	427	
	.183	p.	1602-1785,	Asia,	in	Mariners	and	Merchants	Dutch	Boxer,	C.R.࣒܋_

�٪Ɯսپ1࣐ӏΐ-ܰ2`łࡢ࣐ 901.	

ズ1پӏǫ࣒2ܝџυ 29ʕ2࣏1675࣎ϐ؛ߩ࣐΀Y҈ド̝҄ՇeȐǧέ-ǧˡٌٿϩЗ
ήԤrȳձSð՗ࢅ�ΝҖў-2࣓׳ࡆϐ࣐΀Yҽɻ࣐Ō҈ドښࢶʝձSΝҖў.	

1688ʕ	

ϑҖўŇ¢ќҵ҈ČΥϜjɻ́ۻ࣐͡۔éԑ࣐Սъ. 	

																																																								
200	 ՘ܳ۞ڮŁ࣐����� 	 zandduin࣐Ѱ]-Ѱɶܷࡷ۞ڮ�1࣍ϊّܤب2̋ࡁń3̋ܤǋ࠶ңê

.࣐ܵ4ࢿ҃� 	
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˘ˌ¨	 	w��ȗ˜ŗê�ʺƖ�À!ɲ	
	ࡳeڱϽ-ڴی-׵ֶ	8ࡼ׽7
7y8޿	Җўࠝ׳ࡆy޿	
7ֈ֕8	թࠢ҆Ĥ	
7Ň¢ќ8	�ź-ŏn-ي´	
7ыќ8	ԅܡyΰ-Һ�թࠢ-Һ�֯ќ	
7ĤГԃ8	אȘ-Щϙ-ϙϟ-ࢯ՛-ݗ-ࡆ-ײ-١ࢯ-ԁ	
	
	ӏ201=Ȧʔ-ǱƂپ
ҖўƸ1=پ.՜Ƹ	
	Żʔɱ=׳ࡆ
	՘Ѽֵߥ.ӏپ=ŻҖў׳ࡆ
	ߟңv࠶ǋ=߷,߻
W֜ݘ=Κ.ʆݜɅ1Sʎ	
Ζ࣎catty؂=࣏ 0.6îΖ	
؂=࣏pound࣎֒ 0.5îΖ	
ス࣎picul؂=࣏ 60îΖ100࣎Ζ࣏	
Ъ࣎balij1644=࣏ʕ̽ӡ՘ШžЪȴߺӘ ؂࣐364֒ 180îΖ	
last=؂ 1500îΖ	
t࣎voet؂=࣏ 0.3îɗ	
Ơ࣎fathom؂=࣏ 1.8îɗ	
Ƅ࣎mijlވݸ=࣏Sɐζ՘ࡇބ	

1626û	

ST	1626-07-30࠙ݧ˂ڶ202࣐ȫ de	SilvaXǼ܈ԡԀưԛ࣒	

7ыќ8܈ԡԀ࠷ޓԺɑϺ Antonio	Carreño	de	Valdésԙ࣐ࡪhìڑСʈ࣐ڌΝ 5ϐ 5Υࠜࡇ
Cagayan11࣐Υてܭ࣐׳ࡆߏҏӏϑ 18ƠҘ࣐ś�ÉѺ 	.ư`ޮߪ]ْ࣐ڌڑ500

7Ň¢ќ8܈ԡԀ࠷ޓて׳ࡆߏζ࣐ՕԢۡܭϑʞ 1500̕ɞ՘Ǆ࣐̕ࠐɞԸࢌϙ࣐̋ۅɛќ
�ࡳ Cagayan࣐��εܳܕZe.	

																																																								
201	 Teijouan࣐Ň݊3ǱƂ4פ࣐ƱƷŕƸƴXۻՄ§Ǳӏ՘ƸΜ࣐Ϝܗĕՙ݊Ә3پӏ4. 	
202	 ST Ә Spaniards	in	Taiwan. 	
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ST	1626ֺ࣐ٗϏʕǓьа࣒	

7Ň¢ќ8Ň¢ќϏʎࡼԃªh܈ԡԀ�y͓ػȘ-ԠɆ-ԫԨ-߿Ș࣐�½ө˥޾vϥ࣐܈

lռߎ�½՘×Ã.Ň¢ќѮϑؘS՘i࣐࠙ѕ»Ϡ֜ٺʁןԥٺʁ࣐_[ʽтӸ

̑.	

1627û	

ST	1627-09-10࣐࠙ɵ՘ڮ۞ȫƂª·࣐ǓsˇϴǅɁ՘܈ԡԀڌˆČ՘《Ǔ࣒	

7ыќ8ټ 1627ʕ 2ϐߏ࢛࣐ 250fɾŞ՘܈ԡԀ�Ż Pampanga�ъIڻ҆ߞ࣐՘lթՆ
ۢʳ.ŇƬεŮֈ֕՘ўࡘʏZÊʡ.܈ԡԀ�Ʒ׳ࡆ՘ǏǡŘϑǋϜ՘֤࣐ࠥծݺ

ªÖεٹζ˜՘.܈׳ࡆΜϑS»ңӏ࣐Ʒ׳ࡆ՘Һ�ֵȢӘҖў.޾vڮ۞�Ʒ؛

	.î̖ܷ՘ƸΜ÷ÿªڋ�Һ޲ŘϑӠˇđ࣐ҖўζѮϑՕԢ�¥֤ࠥɽqߍ
7ֈ֕87ĤГԃ8Һ�Ϗڌר࢏I׳ࡆIŐˆֈ֕-ր࣐߻�ōւ�Svϙϟ.	

1628û	

ST	1628-07-30ֺ࣐ٗϏ֠ӹ͏޲ 1627ʕ 7ϐټ 1628ʕ 7ϐࠝلݧ˂ڶɱٿvߟƸ1ԉѸ࣐ࠢ
ΝپӏɱߥĂ࣒	

ŁҖўѲŞ࣒̻࣎ߟS޾ԡԀǏǡ܈࡙࣐87Ň¢ќ8ҖўѲìɬ՘Ň¢ќsթ΍Ɏࡼ׽7

ɬ࣏՘Ň¢ќ【܈ٿ܉ԡԀ�ؔբ.ǋΝ·܈࣐܉ࡍٿ�ԡԀË҇ÿޓȫ Antonio	de	
Veraʎ 20fǧñČҖў࣐b܉է՘ε͎װ܉Svֶٿ½�.׵Ň¢ќSݺԵ҆oS
ì»ϐ࣐�Ň¢ќߗߗZ͐¬ֶݏ׵�½Ȩ̋�Ħ.܈ԡԀٿ�ҖўŇ¢ќ۶ׂ.Ն

Lazaro	de	Torresʎڻǜ͖ؗ܀ٿて࣐׳ࡆߏ�Ѫȭ܉Әтqˉ�.�ԙࡪS՗fǧñ
イhСʈڌՔ࠴Җў࣐Ň¢ќ܋ԉŁࡇ޸�½՘Ϡ֜.܈ԡԀ�͝ǿܭϠ֜՘׽º࣐

	.ࢊǖƶƸթՆȺ޾Җў֛ࡵ࣐ˁǬࡼ׽՘܂º׽
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1631û	

DZ	1631-06-30203࣐ï»ÿࢍސɘ̫ࠧޮ܈ۻ࣐ԡԀ�ʎČ.پӏÈɽ՘܈ࡇ޸࣐�ࢹԡԀ�՘

͔̈́ªČپӏƎ͐ࢆ¬《Ǔ࣒	

7Ň¢ќ8�½ܷ܈ԡԀٿ�Ň¢ќ՘ࠢ°ϑζϑȅ࣐ϑζ΍Ɏ࣐�ѮϑկсĤф̙�.	
7ĤГԃ8ҖўߞϑŇ¢ќʎࢯ-ɧق-ўϫƶԶחԃžªyΰ࣐��½lʉϕ٪ٺʁ̙vԖ

ԃȅŻŇ¢ќyΰ.	
7y8޿ҖўŻࠝ׳ࡆϑìЉy࣐إވ޿SЉѷڻҏɬ࣐SЉߍ؛ê࠴.	

ST	1632-11-24࣐Ʒپӏ.ߍ¢ߥʘ»ϐ՘ Diego	Aduarte֠ӹ̖…՘֣ӻ͡ѰÐ˒࣐͐ࠄÿʫ
	࣒Č՘̋ɕߏ؛ƷтɱXʂ̸؞�ʉϕưԛ՘ʒĞś࣐݋

7y8޿Aduarteˇ؛׳ࡆ 20߷Ͼ՘ҏވČҖў࣐ƫֱݸê࠴Ѳ҈؂࣐ 30߷Ͼ.�ܷ֠ӹś
�Ʒ׳ࡆŻҖўࠝ՘Ƹ1࣐�ōìʞǏǡ�ǫΎ߷Ͼ՘Ƹ1ٺԺ۲Ĥ࣐ZϏߕČŇ¢

ќ՘΀࣐ͮŇ¢ќԴټʉϕ�½ś�ƷϠ֜¢Yª.	
7ֈ֕8AduarteܱӘ؛ӇX՘Ċ՝ε̸؞ɱXズࢺ՘ԥԺࡃ࣐ӝԢƷղđߞծZČ޾�࣐ɕ

ÖִͨČͽֽ܉ࡍζࠝSШ.Һ�ϏӘo֙߿-֙߻-ֈ֕֙חԶܟ߂тɱ.חČζ

Эܡś࣐ɉś�ԸŇ¢ќְݜ՘ʹʮªࠜՕ޾v֙Զ.	
ࡆv޾΃࣐ށٺؗٺӜѻߞ՘߳ࠬ׳ࡆԺΝ.١ࡆ܉ࡍ�v޾࣐ԡԀ�ԵՍ܈8ϑˁǬࡼ׽7

࣏.ࠄܝ՘ࡆ҆׳ʘߌƘ`ϑÿԢݞ޷՘ؗ܀ɘ̫ࢍƷ࣒̻࣎.ؗ܀ɘ̫ࢍˇ܉ࡍ١

	܉ࡍѕ�ѕʕ࣐ԃࡼ܉߸՘ώ§ߌɱ«޾̸؞ε׵ֶ 24	gantas࣐ŁS՗܉ࡍ� 5000	
cavans؂࣎ 15000îΖ̎ 10	last׵ֶ࣏.тۡ՘Ύșε�֑ߍ՘࣐מܗֻ࢚Ȇϫ޷ª
՘ֶ׵εϚ֑ߍ՘࣐ĐΎ܉ߞߺĜ¼࣐ƬӘϏϑS6՘ĂߺƷ֑׵՘ֱߍ`ٕ͗.΃

׵.ࠝ׀ڒݞլף��ś࣐Z٪࠙d¶Ț׵՘ֶߍӝ֑ࡃ࣐՘ߍώȅε֑׵՘ֶؗ܀

ś�ˇ PampangaŐˆ.ؗ܀޷ߌ՘࠿ڌѕʕ̂ĂӘìԡ࣐SԡƷtϐ࣐SԡƷí
ϐ࣐š޷ 2500	cavans՘ֶٿ׵òؗ܀�žI1631.׳ࡆʕ 5ϐζѮϑڌؗ܀Čª࣐
Ѫӫܓし࣐׳ࡆÍӝÉѺƷڌ՘׵ϴǅɁҳƷֶˇڑȅƷϑS࣐՘ƭǚࢄࡽé࠳ޓࢎ

խe˛.ѕʕƮȭìԡڌlś׳ࡆֻ؍�՘ݥΰٝϕ࣐ՆҺ�ռ׳ࡆߎϑ܈ԡԀؗ܀

ɕϏ͌ҢíϐlѮϑ࣐ªߍڌϑԵ˲śÈ.�Ȇϫ�½ՕԢtϐѮϑߎɕռ࣐ªڌ

	.՘ŇĤĚࢺズ׳ࡆԡԀƷ܈̸؞ε׵ֶٿؗ܀࣐eخ.ΰݥ׳ࡆώ˃ɕZª࣐ڌ
7ыќ8Aduarteʫߔݏ܉݋Ȕʕࣁ՘Ȁ�ʎڻȗȇ֯ɛپӏٿ࣐ՆƸ�ؔȔ࣐�ǜĜ�S.

ҖўƸ1ѫ߹3߷࣐ś�ִГšִ§ԃؗܭ࣐̂pҺִ޾��½Ʒ֞ư̖Ѯϑ՘¯

Ċ࣐�nʰ�½ªࠜǟ.޾ШSª࣐ZÿʘʕтۡԵԶ՘ֶ׵ɕϏј̖ߞࡍǬ࣐ϑࢅ

Ěś�ÿS.	

																																																								
203	 DZ Ә1Ӫ۞ߖǄΥܰ2 	
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1632û	

ST	1632࣐Jacinto	Esquivel֠ӹ/ږӻ͡Ѱɱ《ѸթࠢqĦ՘Ǔs0-/ϑࠢږӻ͡ѰɱޮѸݎ-
՘Ǔs0࣒	

¢7Ň	8޿87yࡼ׽Ɏ7࣐գ՘Ն�ŝΔܮӏώپ.ԡԀؘѵ՘܈ǓsεࠢΝץì޾࣒̻࣎
ќ87ыќ87ĤГԃ8	חb࡯ՙϑܾō࣐ԅĉεŇ¢ќ՘Ăʇߞ࣐´ࡷٿϑ܈ԡԀ
ؘѵŇ¢ќ՘͎Ξחчŝ࣐ՙϑܮ؎Ǔɏ.JِϞї`bپ1࣐ܤ݊بӏ܈ٿԡԀŝ

Δʸו2بWõ̢࣒:࣐ưŝپࢆӏΐԘࡢ࣐2013࣐ࢆ 	࣏.1-98

1633û	

DZ	1633-03-23	

7ֈ֕8࠙ڌ۞ڮ Claes	JanssenˇࢠңŻrϩࠝ̐ԕS࣐ڌרڑđSʕˇ֣ɻÿ࣐ډÉ࡙׳ࡆ
˃Iࢍߍɘ̫࣐�ʕhȝࡷöČڌ.׳ࡆbε܈ԡԀ�.ڌêϑ 30スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ
֕.	

1636û	

DZ	1636-03-14࣐ϑSڑɥΝ܈ԡԀ�̖ϑ՘ڌרªČپӏƎ࣐ࢆ�½Νrϐˇ׳ࡆÿՕđʾࢍ
ɘ̫࣐ࡷ޹ߊߕ࣐ǶIЂϝŻ࣐ڋڌZˆʂٺʁ̢éڮ۞�՘̗`.ˇ޾v�S`ƏČࠢΝࡆ

	࣒՘《Ǔ׳

7Ň¢ќ8܈ԡԀޮߪٿ��½՘Ň¢ќŻʔð࣐ۡƷ׳ࡆϑì»܈ԡԀ֠ӹhŇ¢ќÓバ࣐

ƷҖўlϑì .܈�ԡԀߒޗٿ�՘ʘ»Ň¢ќϠطص�ڹ§̑.	
	.׳ࡆԃIࡼח׵Ԛ-׵՘ֶߺǱߌ܂ߡˇ]_࣐ǄǏ߂ԡԀ�ƷҖўʫ܈8ࡼ׽7

DZ	1636-05-21࣐ˇ`ưª՘ڌרʎª《Ǔ࣒	

7Ň¢ќ8Җў՘Ň¢ќƷǭࠝ܈ͮ܇ԡԀ�՘ǄǏ࣐ドӐӭ̓ࢎ޻࢔࣐ȥҖў՘ 60f܈ԡ
Ԁ࣐�ò`S6ۻяъ࣐òݸ޸ࢅo.	
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1637û	

DZ	1637-11-19࣐ˇ`ưª՘Ҵڌʎª《Ǔ࣒	

7Ň¢ќ8܈ԡԀٿ�Җў՘Ň¢ќئŻ࣐�εҖў՘Ň¢ќlスˎ܈ԡԀ�ϏӘoIʕ՘߸

Ǳ͗ǶْĤԸ࠷ޓǓˉ.܈ԡԀ�̠Җў՘ǄǏëߥとђ࣐ëͥޓʾ׳ࡆ.	

1638û	

DZ	1638-01-15࣐ªČپӏƎࢆ՘Һ�ʎªپӏ.ߥ՘《Ǔ࣒	

7ыќ8׳ࡆ՘܈ԡԀ�̠ǄǏ՘ޓࢎʘfëܹߥƫࢍɘ̫࣐ŘԿY 50Č 60»ǧñȥ۵׳ࡆ
՘ǄǏ.	

DZ	1638ʕ 1ϐټ 4ϐ	

7ĤГԃ8܈ԡԀ�ͥࡇҖўe˃1638࣐ʕʕćࠜݺȋÿԢҺڮ̸ڌר�۞�Օ՘۲݇޿I
Җў́ࢢŻͽࢯݱ՛՘ޘܝ.	

1639û	

ST	1639-09-07࠙ڌ࣐ؗMaerten	Gerrits	de	Vries՘ÌȽٿ׳ࡆҖў܈ԡԀズࢺ՘̹࣒̻࣎�ώ
˃ƬǲÀZ¨Ӝěْޯ࣒࣏	

7ֈ֕87ĤГԃ8ãđڮ۞�ʂߓ҇؛Ǝ� Peco՘ڌרIͽݱֈ֕Żࢯ՛࣐VriesɉϏߊČ
Peco՘܍࣐̂ڌ《Ѹh�ɍѢ9Ğ࣐�Zś�ȉ֘�½՘Ե˲.	

7Ň¢ќ8̂ƝٿܪҖў՘Ň¢ќʫࠢ׉°.ズҺ�ªǓ࣐ϑ 18֜՘Ň¢ќʂࠜ؛ȋọ̆܈
ԡԀ�.	

7ыќ8ˏࡦՄƸƴ-ҢўҘ࣐Ȇϫś٪࣐ś�̡ҴќªƏ《Ǔ.	

ST	1639-10-04ߎ࣐ήϏ֠ӹ Teodoro	de	la	Madre	de	Biosߎ·ٽήϏƷࢍɘ̫՘࣒̻࣎࠙ࢋ§
ّк࠙ݧ˂ڶٿȫ Corcueraͥࠥ׳ࡆ՘Μ߼§Ɏ࣐΃Ǭ§ܯǱe࣒࣏ܨ	

ԡԀ�ŻҺ�.ϑWʞֈ֕܈ࢂࢇ�ś࣐ȺݔߺԶ׵ֶ࣐ӏɱƶƸ٣ѫپ7ֈ֕8	8ࡼ׽7
࠶ǋࡇ࣐֙ 16Č 20߷ϾۡϑWʞֵ࣐֙߻§ JorboanŻ Parusarun࣐ҏވSǲś
ō.тǫߞϑўξ֙-կԠ-ԧԝ.	
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7ĤГԃ8	پӏɱϑݔȺ՘ҴԶ.ƬӘѝÀӆӀ࣐ԂڪŐeZգ࣐ʏ¶Κ؜ًࢤ.ɧߞ܂ϑ
ˁǬ߹ԗś�ԌԖ.ܭɱÿԶϑࢌѝ՘ϙϟ࣒̻࣎бϙ࣐࣏ࣔŇ¢ќԸִ޾ϙϟ߂

ś�Ըt2ʕZǢ.ŗϑSִ࣐ڌ pinabetes՘ϙϟ࣐Һݣ�IÈȫƂ՘Вϟ࣐ƬӘ
ズִܷ޾ϙϟZϏٰӵ.	

1640û	

DZ	1640	

7ֈ֕8ڮ۞�ࠜȋɉֈ֕ߌÿپӏ.	

1641û	

DZ	1641-01-10	

7ֈ֕8Ν؅:پ-ֈ֕.	

1642û	

DZ	1642-09-14̑׳ࡆ࣐Ƹ̹͕ȫŚࠜ݋Ϗ࣐È̋Ѫ݋`ϑ࣒	

7Ň¢ќ8Ѯϑԅĉźڮ࣐�۞ǧñޓٿȫZˆҡҏ࣎íɗ࣏ࠚIŇ¢ќϠڹ՘̕ɞ-ַڰ.

ƬӘŇ¢ќʂ؛ш࣐ࡥ΃Zˆ®ȲŇ¢ќ՘ݛԶ.	
7ыќ8	Zˆ͗ȲҺٿ�Һ�ȳʠ՘̕ɞ-ַ࣐ڰ�ō�¥ϥ܈.	

DZ	1642ʕ 9ϐ	

7Ň¢ќ823Υ Kijpatou֜Ż Pinorouan֜՘�Č׳ࡆrԘƶƸؗڮ۞�.	

DZ	1642-10-04࣐Sڌרڑˇ֣ɻてڌ࣐׳ࡆߏƂܷ࣒	

7ֈ֕8ټW֜ݘͽݱֈ֕.	

DZ	1642-10-07	
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7ĤГԃ8ټҖўࠧޮ՘Ϡ֜y͓Κࡼࢤԃ.	
	.׵؃ٿ׵Ⱥ՘ՖݔՆƸϑ࣐8Ǔsࡼ׽7
7Ň¢ќ8Ǔs࣐Ň¢ќࡼ՘ي˸.	
7y8޿Ϝиˇ׳ࡆIҖў͓ŐΚࡼࢤԃe۲࣐lܑȽoˇ׳ࡆČҖў՘ê࠴y࣐إވ޿_·

	.ʾYҤ՘《ѸچXҤhԔϙˇ޲

DZ	1642ʕ 10ϐټ 1643ʕ 4ϐ	

7ĤГԃ8ڮ۞�ZΛ܉ѢҖўѲXҤ՘Ň¢ќʎאȘڪ࠙ٿªҖў࣐ÈӘʫ׉Ǐǡٿ¢̖՘

ʫϟ..	

FE	1642-10-19׳ࡆࢎ࣐Xɋ HarrousseٽҖў̹͕ȫ Lamotiusϊ·࣒	

7y810޿ϐ 14ΥˇҖўՕ՘·18࣐ΥČ19࣐׳ࡆΥƫ·20࣐Υߏ޷ވ࠴؛Җў.	
DZ	1642-11-13	
7Ň¢ќ8	7ĤГԃ8Ň¢ќªҖўшࡥ.`ɋ PedelhŇ¢ќȰ̑ݍƸ̹͕ȫԿY՘Љ

м࣐ź�ªшࡥ՘Ň¢ќ̠�½՘ўϫ-Ͻۧࡆ-ڱ-ȳՀ-ࢢʎČʆࡁªݬ.т

	.ZΛϑŇ¢ќđª࣐˃

DZ	1642-11-20	

7y8޿Җўb҇ןϏ܈ԡԀܳ՘ǧñ Joost	de	Hontٿì» Cenar֜׳ࡆؗ·޷�՘Xɋ
Harousee࣐_ź܉��ѷܑ޼Ƚɛќ՘ވߎ-˜ي-ɐ˄-Ѳɺח《Ѹ.�Ʒ 11ϐ
28ΥƫČҖў࣐Ǔs؛.ҏɬČ׳ࡆ՘ވѸ࣎DZ	1642-11-28࣏.	

DZ	1642ʕ 12ϐ 8Υټ 15Υ࣐`ɋ Pedelɼ܍ҖўѲXҤš࣒֜	

7ĤГԃ87Ň¢ќ8߷΢֜՘ԃԶٿ《Ѹ.	

1643û	

DZ	1643-03-12	

7Ň¢ќ8�ʕ�ª࣐Ň¢ќʎoZɑՃ߭࣎massecauw࣏ČҖўªڮ࣐۞�ܱӘ޾ε܉ªӍ
߱ǧñ՘࣐΃Ʀ�֡рǧñyΰՃ߭.	

7ֈ֕8ڮ۞ȫƂɼ܍ֈ֕ɧƫª޲͏࣐oՆƸ՘《Ѹ.	

DZ	1643-04-10	
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7ĤГԃ8ҖўǄǏՕԵӐӓ࣐Ӯ̕Żʨ:�՘̕Șۻߧӭђo.ǄǏ՘ƱӼlӭђ࣐΃܉Ը

	.Ș߸ʫא

DZ	1643-08-21پ࣐ӏƎ݋ࢆϏѪ࣒݋	

7ֈ֕8�˃Ʒ׳ࡆŻҖў͐Ӟߍ՘ֈ֕ˏ؄شࡦ�Sְ.	
	.؄�Sְشࡦˏl࣐࣏חȘݓ-׷ࢳ-ࢲɐ-׵࣎S՘ֹԃ߆8̖ϑࡼ׽7

DZ	1643-10-08پ࣐ӏƎ݋ࢆϏѪ࣒݋	

7ֈ֕8̛úҺ�Լܼ۲݇޿I׳ࡆҖўyΰֈ࣐֕_Ѫȭѕ՗スϚ͐Ӟ՘ֈ࣐֕ƷҖўͽ

20߷ӻ՘ְ࣐Ʒ׳ࡆͽ 30߷ӻ՘ְ.	

ST	1643-03࣐Juan	de	los	Angeles֠ӹܾ֣ӻ͡Ѱ՘࣒ڹ࠳	

7ыќ8ڮ۞Ľ׳ࡆࡪ˃Łcъï»Ň¢ќ࣐Ăĉª߻ٺ,߷֜-W֜ݘ-Taparri࣐֜ƬӘ޾
W֜Zࡼ�۞ڮ¬͐˲ࡲԃٿƥɏ.	

7ֈ֕87ĤГԃ8ڮ۞ˁ○ɕƷҖўߍI܈ԡԀʫצǏǡ՘ƸΜݺۅϙ߂ǄɁ޾࣐Шɕś�

͋čֈ֕-ࢯ-ײ՛חԃԶ՘ݥΰ.	

ST	1643-07-26ߎ࣐ήϏ֠ӹ Teodoro	Quirosܾ֣ӻ͡Ѱ՘࣒ڹ࠳	

7ֈ֕8֣ӻ͡Ѱϑƪ»ֈ֕ƾ࣐ԢƷڮ۞�͋čֈ֕ƾݬ࣐ֈ֕ؗҺ࣐�ӝ˃Ըݰª՘ࠅɎ

	.�ԡԀ܈̣
7ĤГԃ8֣ӻ͡ѰÿԶܡǬֶࡳࢢ-׵-ўϫ-࠿ࢯ-߹ԗ܈ٿࡳִ࣐ԡԀŻ`ưթ�.	

1644û	

DZ	1644-02-09پ࣐ӏƎ݋ࢆϏѪ࣒݋	

7ֈ֕8Þܡˇ֣ɻª՘`ưȫƂƷٿ׳ࡆҖўyΰֈ֕ݒ_࣐ç�՘ÿSְ.	

DZ	1644-03-29پ࣐ӏƎ݋ࢆϏѪ࣒݋	

7ыќ8ÞܡҺ�¢ƷҖў׳ࡆٿ՘ǄǏYōթࠢ܌ȭqࡤ.	

DZ	1644-05-10	

	.ךŇ¢ќ՘Ə֜߷,߻ٿ�۞ڮ7Ň¢ќ87ĤГԃ8	87ֈ֕8ࡼ׽7
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FE	1644-07-04࣐Җў՘ Pedelª·࣒	

7ĤГԃ8ҖўƸ1š֜Ň¢ќˇϜʕUϐࠜȋࡦˏ࣐ÖƷپӏ՘Ň¢ќSШࢯ�࣐՛ݜ؄ش

ְ.	

1645û	

DZ	1645-07-15پ࣐ӏƎ݋ࢆϏѪ࣒݋	

7ֈ֕8݋ϏѪ݋Һ��˃ŘúƷߍݽîşࢍʢ՘ƸΜ࣐̎εƷݷɴ͐Ӟ.	

1646û	

FE	1646-02-09࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ Nolpeª·࣒	

7Ň¢ќ81645ʕ՘ landdage˃࣐ҖўƸ1ՕԵՑՋ࣐�SǱߺъx࣐΃ҖўՆɚ҇ÿǧñ
Willem	AlbertusIɼ܍šϠ࣐֜�¯ĆÿԢȚϠ֜-̓Ύٿ�SΎ.тqòȿʂ؛ʪ
ȩܡd࣐ƬӘڮ۞�lőՑՋʻ࣐ࡡՍˆӜѻǉ۲�Ħ.	

DZ	1646-03-27پ࣐ӏƎࢆѪ࣒݋	

7ыќ8ƬӘҖўŻع׳ࡆgࡼ׽ŻΥԸžߙ˲ࡲ�̖࣐ɛܭƸ՘Һ࣐�ɉ­Ӣ۲К{ϑΎʕ

՘çְÛ」ְ࡬�ش܉��࣐._[ࠜドˇ`ưđʾ׳ࡆŻҖў՘ݞ߆±�࣐ߌډԃ

	.ְشӏSШپhƷ܉��࣐Ժªʾٺ

FE	1646-05-08׳ࡆ࣐YʌƎĦȫ Nolpeª·࣒	

7Ň¢ќ87ĤГԃ8	ҖўϠ֜Ż߻,߷֜՘ࢯ՛ְݜʂࣀ؛ëخ࣐ðϑ 3010Ϫўࢯ՛Ż
4260Ϫࢯ՛࣎DZ	1646-05-23࣏Łɉپټߌӏ.	

FE	1646-09-03࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ Nolpeª·࣒	

Җў.׵ֶݱͽ߻�ҖўՆɚѪȭ�Ԣ̖࣐ߥ.ӏپČ޷׵Ǯ՘ֶށ8ƬӘӜѻϗˀϑࡼ׽7

Նɚɉ҇SfǧñIƣԫ۞׵ֶݣ.ƣԫ۞՘ֶ׵žݮZȆҖў࣐�ŻXиˇپӏޢ

	.ʀZǬݮž׵ª՘ѿưߌ
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1647û	

DZ	1647-05-15	

7ĤГԃ8ÜドƷҖўŻ׳ࡆºʟ܂՘՛࡛ߌČپӏ.	

FE	1647-07-11࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ Nolpeª·࣒	

7ĤГԃ8Җў՘ڮ۞ȫƂsܣҖў֜࣎Tapparij࣏Ň¢ќܼٙ܉】࣐�½ʒ˓�ϙ.޾vŇ
¢ќٟoe˃ǱӘآʴ࣐ƬӘ܉�۞ڮ՘ϙϟZε࠙Ʒҏ̎ߟεʔƸْ࣐εܡݽٍ܉

ǬҘɧɲݑし٪Őˆ࣐§ӘЏУ՘ϙϟ.�½ܼѢپӏ࠙ȫZ޾̠܉Ш՘߸スĜƷ�

	.Xސ½

DZ	1647-07-25	

ֵ࣐·8Җўªࡼ׽7 1646ʕҖўbןͽݱ՘׵ʂࠜ؛ȋԵٰۭӵo࣐Әߜç͗Ƕݻܭ࣐̂
ЭÿƊ࣐ƬӘ޾»Ǫǲߞϑτ׵ـś�Š.	

DZ	1647-08-20پ࣐ӏƎ݋ࢆϏѪ࣒݋	

7ĤГԃ8҇ڌđʾҖўŻ܉࣐׳ࡆʎؗ܀Ż 	.ӡӕޘ܉ƫֱĐ࣐Iߍԁ࡬40

FE	1647-08-25پ࣐ӏƎ࠙݋ࢆ Overtwater…·ؗҖўYʌƎĦȫ Nolpe࣒	

7Ň¢ќ8ë֣ӻ͡Ѱɱ՘ߧְݜʂ؛ç࠮.	
7ĤГԃ8پӏƎࢆΜ࡚ӂҟ�½_Zε܉ʵްŇ¢ќ�ϙ܉�࣐Ѣ޷՘ϙϟШϜ.	

1648û	

DZ	1648-05-14پ࣐ӏƎ࠙݋ࢆ Overtwater…·ؗҖўYʌƎĦȫ Plockhoy࣒	

ԃ՘sֹߌ֡ߟ޾ӏپ̠_࣐ʾ`ưߌۻѻ֡р�¥ֹԃܠ܉Ϗ݋ٿ8ź�Җў՘ȫƂࡼ׽7

֛.	

FE	1648-07-08࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ Plockhoyª·࣒	

7Ň¢ќ8	787ࡼ׽ыќ8̋߂࣐ࡷࡸˁǱ͗Ƕ.	
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FE	1648-08-19پ࣐ӏƎ࠙݋ࢆ Overtwaterؗ࠙࠷ Pedel՘̹࣒�	

ߓ8Ϝи҇ࡼ׽7 PedelI׳ࡆŻҖўͽ࣐׵ֶݱƬӘՆƸʂ࡚ࡼ׽ٹվع.	

1651û	

FE	1651-07-19࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ Keerdekoeª·࣒	

7ĤГԃ8Һ�ͽࢯݱ՛ڮ©࣐۞�ӜѻݣČࢯ՛࣓Җў߂א՘̕ɞсƷZΛٰӵ.	

1654û	

FE	1654-03-05پ࣐ӏ࠙ȫ Caesar…·ؗҖўYʌƎĦȫ van	Iperen࣒	

7ĤГԃ8پӏ࠙ȫ̹֛ҖўƸΜȫƂܹϳȆ¥ࡂԸҺ�-ڮ۞�-̎εŇ¢ќªւ�ϙϟ.	

DZ	1654-03-22࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ van	Iperenª·࣒	

7Ň¢ќ8׳ࡆŻҖўՑՋ҈۲ޮ࡙࣐Җў՘Ѱí߷ϑ 60fŇ¢ќъI׳ࡆ࣐՘߻,߷֜ъ
I 	.ʔȦӜqߧ�۞ڮǹ՘ε֠�࣐�37

7ыќ8ٿ׳ࡆҖў՘݋ϏѪ݋ょԸS ө˥܈ԡԀܳŻՆƸܳܕ՘Һ࡬�ȳ࠱ƃՆ޿q.	

DZ	1654-04-30پ࣐ӏƎ݋ࢆϏѪ࣒݋	

7ыќ8̛úҺƎ Pau࣎ś٪ε̆ߦS՘àʲ࣏ԸSڌרڑƷҖў׳ࡆyΰ.	

FE	1654-06-11࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ van	Iperenª·࣒	

7ĤГԃ86ϐ 6ΥҖўƸΜՕԵ2ʕϚ܋۩ӓ࣐۩ۭhڻϥߍއߟ:ˇࡷҖўѲࡻª.	

FE	1654-11-12࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ van	Iperenª·࣒	

7Ň¢ќ878ࡼ׽	ҖўՆƸȫƂѪȭƷ 12ϐ՘ҳϐeΥ۲ځƸΜࡁϏ࣎landdag࣏.	

DZ	1654-11-15࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ van	Iperenª·࣒	

7ыќ87Ň¢ќ8ҖўՑՋ҈۲ٿ�۞ڮ࣐Ň¢ќߧǱߺъx.	
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1655û	

DZ	1655-03-26࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ van	Iperenª·࣒	

©࣐ࡷ.oođ̖Ϛϑ՘mӯ؛81654ʕʚ�ªʂࡼ׽7 1655ʕוSϗֶ§՘đλǑ˹.	

FE	1655-04-19پ࣐ӏ࠙ȫ CaesarؗΚ�Җў׳ࡆbן Elsevier՘̹࣐��ōپӏ࠙ȫ Caesarؗ
ҖўYʌƎĦȫ van	Iperen՘ϊ·࣒	

7ĤГԃ8ࠢΝ�ϙeq࣐ɉȎ࠙࠷� PedelIҖў׳ࡆSʎ͉ϳ.پӏƎࢆΜ࡚ɉࢯ՛-ɧ
	.ΰݥ֨ݸр̖ϑ࣐֡ΰͽӘîşǣΛݥƎž՘ח՛ࢯ՛-ўف

	

DZ	1655-05-22	

7ĤГԃ8࠙࠷ PedelЩϙݦҨܹϳǓs.	

FE	1655-05-22࣐ɼ܍Җў՘࠙࠷ PedelŻƎĦȫ Elsevierٜf…ؗپӏ࠙ȫ՘·࣒	

	.ќࡽ΅ɣひ࢛ϏܼѢîş݋Җў՘࣐ګࢉҖўƸ1՘̋߂81654ʕՕԵ՘۩ӓࡼ׽7

FE	1655-05-30پ࣐ӏ࠙ȫ Caesar…ؗҖўƎĦȫ Elsevier՘·࣒	

7ĤГԃ8Ͻズ Pedel͉ĥҖўࠧޮАϩ˃՘Ǔs࣐ŗ� Elsevierܹϳߔa�ϙ՘ȝף.	
	.Ň¢ќؗݬ_ޓՆƸȥֶֹּؗٮɉϚ࣐ռҖўΜ࡚޿8ࡼ׽7

DZ	1655-06-28	

7ыќ8�Υپӏ࠙ȫ֣ٿӻ͡Ѱ݋ϏŚࡁҺ࡬�ȳٿb܉Ǝܾܚ࣐�Ȇ¥҆ؖپӏ՘ݥΰ࣐

	.ΰݥ׳ࡆεkϏnʰ֣ɻ̎Ѱǆ՘Ǝ�I࣐׳ࡆSvƎžIߌȆϫܩ͉_

FE	1655-06-30࣐ҖўƎĦȫ Elsevierª·࣒	

7ĤГԃ8Elsevierֵ�Ʒ Pedelࠜࡇ˃ŌٺʁIծߡߍvАϩܑ࣐ȽČ՘ԉѸј Pedel¶ȥ.	
7ыќ87ֈ֕8̸îş۲݇޿ƷҖўょֈ֕՘࣐ڌר�fۗԺょֈ՘fنƷÈòȢԵ˲࣐ɉ

	.Ň¢ќؗݬƎžחʇ-ࠓ-ࢮ

FE	1655-08-28پ࣐ӏ࠙ȫ Caesar…·ؗҖўƎĦȫ Elsevier࣒	
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Ě.ȆϫࢅしϑߏてڌČˇΥϜª՘חࡦˏ࣐׵ӜĚöͦÿωǬֶ؛էđʂࢆӏƎپ8ࡼ׽7

	.ǓsࢆӏƎپöĥ࣐܉ࡍϑߞҖўΜ࡚׳ࡆ
7ĤГԃ8ƷҖўƸ1�ϙ՘qКςζ͵پ.ؼӏƎࢆlɉ޷ԁIҖў.	

FE	1655-10-17࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ van	Mildertª·࣒	

7ĤГԃ87Ň¢ќ8	ٿí߷Ƽ֜՘Ň¢ќ՘۶ׂ.	

FE	1655-11-14پ࣐ӏ࠙ȫ CaesarٽϥĿʝخոMaetsuijckerϊ·࣒	

7ыќ8ǓsخոïϐζܩƏҺƎɉݥΰズ׳ࡆټ֯ࢺ՘ś٪˜࣐�ҺƎјޗƕпԸɐǀڌר

Čپӏݥΰ.	

1656û	

FE	1656-02-17࣐ҖўYʌƎĦȫ van	Mildertª·࣒	

7ыќ8ٺ 1651ʕ 9ϐ�ªZΛϑ۹֛ٝࡷưȍӺś٪Ϗ΀Őپӏ࣐ś٪Ϗ߆΀Җў.	
	.87ĤГԃ87Ň¢ќ8Ň¢ќ՘ọ̆ࡼ׽7

FE	1656-03-18پ࣐ӏƎ݋ࢆϏѪ࣒݋	

7ыќ8ǜʵҖўǏǡ՘֤ࠥĚ.	

FE	1656-04-20پ࣐ӏƎ݋ࢆϏѪ࣒݋	

7ыќ8֡рƷ׳ࡆŻҖў�ǫ՘پӏ.ݥ۲߆ߥΰ࣐Řϑ̸ԅĉϼú۲݇޿՘Ǝ�ś�«

ǫ.	

FE	1656-05-19࣐ϥĿʝخոMaetsuijckerª·࣒	

7ыќ8ʄ؞ߏwΜ࡚e˲پӏƎࢆΜ࡚ĤԸپӏ՘ޓࢎɎҖўょŐ۲Ĥ.	

FE1656-07-13׳ࡆ࣐YʌƎĦȫ van	Mildertª·࣒	

7ֈ֕8ʘfѮϑҺƎ՘ڌרªݥ׳ࡆΰ.	
7Ň¢ќ8ƬӘ۩ӓٿՌՍڡ׆࣐՘Ň¢ќƷͽֽȝףԴࡦˏټドY�½՘ַ࣐ڰʎڻȊȘŻ

ɐȟIӘȺ�՘֔ƻɽ§.	

FE	1656-08-29پ࣐ӏ࠙ȫ Caesar…·ؗYʌƎĦȫ van	Mildert࣒	



	ՄܗࡁΔ՘͙ݦΐԘލήɧưȳîƲ�ΐŝ࠵

	ζϗаЃߩōή۞ڮ-ԡԀ܈(

	238	

.	
	.ߌ.׵ͦࢆӏƎپ8ࡼ׽7
7ыќ8پӏ࠙ȫ̹֛ҖўŻ׳ࡆbןǍȥǏǡZ܉bĤÿͮ.	

1657û	

FE	1657-09-03پ࣐ӏƎ݋ࢆϏ࠙݋ Coyett…·ؗ׳ࡆƎĦȫ Boons࣒	

7ĤГԃ8̸֡طрҺ�I׳ࡆŻҖў՘Аϩ�ϙ࣐hŇ¢ќݣϙϟ-ÿSϙϟ.	

FE	1657-10-15࣐ԙߒࡪʿޓ՘ߤȥ Schedel-࠙࠷ Pedel-ƎĦȫ van	IperenW�ª·࣒	

7Ň¢ќ8ߒʿޓてߏҖў˃ٿ࣐Ň¢ќ՘《Ѹ.	

FE	1657-10-28׳ࡆ࣐ƎĦȫ Boonsª·࣒	

7Ň¢ќ8܀áǓsߒʿ͕̹ޓȫW�՘ԉѸ	

1658û	

FE	1658-01-11׳ࡆ࣐ƎĦȫ Boonsª·࣒	

7Ň¢ќ8·޲o 1657ʕƸΜϏަځ݋՘《Ѹ.	

1661û	

DZ	1661-05-10	

7ыќ8¥ΑܷưȍӺܗՄ҇W3ф܁ǧñ؛Ժ࣐ވ࠴öĜXW2࣐ڌרڑҏ߆࠴΀ڮ۞�Ʒ

	.Җў՘Ǐǡٿ׳ࡆ

DZ	1661-05-24	

7ыќ8S»ưȍӺ՘ȫƂܷ࣐Ȇϫڮ۞�̠Ӫ۞ߖǄyؗưȍӺ࣐ưȍӺɕϏݏîşI׳ࡆ

ŻҖўݥΰ.	
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DZ	1661-11-04࣐Ň׳ࡆ�ƎĦȫ Loeniusˇ࠙ɵÿɱª·࣒	

7ыќ86ϐ 13Υ࣐Җў՘Ň¢ќࠦͯңߎZ߆ڌݏéҖў.ܱӘưȍӺ՘ߗ࠷ޓΨϏ΀̙
	.ࢆƎ۞ڮʾΥϜ࠙ɵÿɱ՘ͥߥëޓȥ׳ࡆώ˃ɉ.׳ࡆ

1664û	

11ϐ 28Υڮ࣐۞�ö¤׳ࡆ.	
12ϐ 16Υޓߩ࣐ªҖў¸צҖў؃љǄ.
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˘ˌ$	 	Ťʉɲˌ	

˜ŗê«ÕV­ȌǍɗ	

104ûÇɱʥǍŸ	
�˜ŗê«ÕV­)ŋ�ʝŋ《ʓŌǞĺˢɮǚ—ɢ》、 Ɍɖ�

ŗʾŝŨƉŸ�ŨbÜŶŤʉȗˌ	

� �Ťʉŝ˔�104û 3ť 23œ�ŚŨ���x 2ŝ 30_	

" �Ťʉ²̀�ŭɗ"ƄŤʉÔ	
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